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Forward-Looking Statements

We have included or incorporated by reference into this report, and from time to time may make in our public
filings, press releases or other public statements, certain statements, including (without limitation) those under
“Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 (“MD&A”), and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market
Risk” in Part II, Item 7A, that may constitute forward-looking statements. In addition, our management may
make forward-looking statements to analysts, investors, representatives of the media and others. These forward-
looking statements are not historical facts and represent only Morgan Stanley’s beliefs regarding future events,
many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyond our control.

The nature of Morgan Stanley’s business makes predicting the future trends of our revenues, expenses and net
income difficult. The risks and uncertainties involved in our businesses could affect the matters referred to in
such statements and it is possible that our actual results may differ from the anticipated results indicated in these
forward looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from those in the forward-
looking statements include (without limitation):

* the effect of political, economic and market conditions and geopolitical events;
* the availability and cost of capital;

* the level and volatility of equity prices, commodity prices and interest rates, currency values and other
market indices;

* the actions and initiatives of current and potential competitors;

 the impact of current, pending and future legislation, regulation and regulatory and legal actions in the
U.S. and worldwide;

* our reputation;
* investor sentiment;
* the potential effects of technological changes; and

e other risks and uncertainties detailed under “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A, “Competition” and
“Regulation” in Part I, Item 1 and elsewhere throughout this report.

Accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as
of the date on which they are made. Morgan Stanley undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any
forward-looking statements to reflect the impact of circumstances or events that arise after the dates they are
made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise except as required by applicable law.
You should, however, consult further disclosures Morgan Stanley may make in future filings of its Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments
thereto.
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Part 1

Item 1. Business.
Overview.

Morgan Stanley is a global financial services firm that, through its subsidiaries and affiliates, provides its
products and services to a large and diversified group of clients and customers, including corporations,
governments, financial institutions and individuals. Morgan Stanley was originally incorporated under the laws
of the State of Delaware in 1981, and its predecessor companies date back to 1924. Morgan Stanley conducts its
business from its headquarters in and around New York City, its regional offices and branches throughout the
U.S. and its principal offices in London, Tokyo, Hong Kong and other world financial centers. At November 30,
2005, Morgan Stanley had 53,218 employees worldwide. Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms
“Morgan Stanley,” the “Company,” “we” and “our” mean Morgan Stanley and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Financial information concerning Morgan Stanley, our business segments and geographic regions for each of the
fiscal years ended November 30, 2005, November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003 is included in the
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto in “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in Part
I, Item 8. See also “Results of Operations—Executive Summary” in Part II, Item 7 for an overview of Morgan
Stanley’s fiscal 2005 performance.

Available Information.

Morgan Stanley files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). You may read and copy any document we file with the SEC
at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330 for information on the public reference room. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains
annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy and information statements and other information that issuers
(including Morgan Stanley) file electronically with the SEC. Morgan Stanley’s electronic SEC filings are
available to the public at the SEC’s internet site, www.sec.gov.

Morgan Stanley’s internet site is www.morganstanley.com. You can access Morgan Stanley’s Investor Relations
webpage through our internet site, www.morganstanley.com, by clicking on the “About Morgan Stanley” link to
the heading “Investor Relations.” You can also access our Investor Relations webpage directly at
www.morganstanley.com/about/ir. Morgan Stanley makes available free of charge, on or through our Investor
Relations webpage, its proxy statements, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Morgan Stanley also makes available, through our Investor
Relations webpage, via a link to the SEC’s internet site, statements of beneficial ownership of Morgan Stanley’s
equity securities filed by its directors, officers, 10% or greater shareholders and others under Section 16 of the
Exchange Act.

Morgan Stanley has a Corporate Governance webpage. You can access Morgan Stanley’s Corporate Governance
webpage through our internet site, www.morganstanley.com, by clicking on the “About Morgan Stanley” link to
the heading “Inside the Company.” You can also access our Corporate Governance webpage directly at
www.morganstanley.com/about/inside/governance. Morgan Stanley posts the following on its Corporate
Governance webpage:

* Composite Certificate of Incorporation;
* Bylaws;

e Charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation, Management Development and Succession Committee
and Nominating and Governance Committee;
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e Corporate Governance Policies;

* Procedures for Reporting Auditing and Accounting Concerns;

* Policy Regarding Communication with the Board of Directors;

* Policy Regarding Director Candidates Recommended by Shareholders;

* Policy Regarding Corporate Political Contributions;

* Policy Regarding Shareholder Rights Plan; and

* Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.
Morgan Stanley’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct applies to all directors, officers and employees,
including our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and our Controller and Principal Accounting
Officer. We will post any amendments to the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, and any waivers that are
required to be disclosed by the rules of either the SEC or the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (“NYSE”), on our
internet site. You can request a copy of these documents, excluding exhibits, at no cost, by contacting Investor

Relations, 1585 Broadway, New York, NY 10036 (212-761-4000). The information on Morgan Stanley’s
internet site is not incorporated by reference into this report.
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Business Segments.

Morgan Stanley maintains leading market positions in each of its business segments—Institutional Securities,
Retail Brokerage, Asset Management and Discover. These segments consist of the products and activities set

forth below.
Institutional Securities Retail Brokerage Asset Management Discover
Investment banking Clients Global asset Discover Financial

» Capital raising
* Corporate lending

 Financial advisory
services, including
advice on mergers
and acquisitions,
restructurings, real
estate and project
finance

Sales, trading, financing
and market-making
activities

» Equity securities and
related products

¢ Fixed income
securities and related
products, including
foreign exchange
and commodities

Other activities

¢ Benchmark indices
and risk
management
analytics

¢ Research

¢ Investments

e Individuals

¢ Small-to-medium
size businesses and
institutions

Products and Services

* Brokerage and
investment advisory
services

* Financial and wealth
planning services

e Annuity and
insurance products

¢ Credit and other
lending products

* Banking and cash
management

e Retirement plan
services

e Trust services

management products
and services

* Equity
¢ Fixed Income

e Alternatives

Three principal
distribution channels

* A proprietary
channel consisting of
Morgan Stanley’s
representatives

* A non-proprietary
channel consisting of
third-party broker-
dealers, banks,
financial planners
and other
intermediaries

¢ Institutional sales

Services

e Discover®-branded
cards

¢ Other consumer
finance products and
services

Discover Network

¢ A network of
merchant and cash
access locations
primarily in the U.S.

¢ Transaction network
for Discover®
Network branded
cards

PULSE® EFT
Association LP
(“PULSE”)

e An automated teller
machine (“ATM”)/
debit and electronic
funds transfer
network

Consumer Banking
Group International

* Morgan Stanley-
branded and affinity
credit cards and
other consumer
finance products and
services in the U.K.

e Credit cards issued
on the MasterCard
network

Institutional Securities.
Morgan Stanley provides financial advisory and capital-raising services to a diverse group of corporate and other
institutional clients globally, primarily through wholly-owned subsidiaries that include Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated (“MS&Co.”), Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited, Morgan Stanley Japan Limited and

3
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Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Asia Limited. These and other subsidiaries also conduct sales and trading activities
worldwide, as principal and agent, and provide related financing services on behalf of institutional investors.

Investment Banking.

Capital Raising. Morgan Stanley manages and participates in public offerings and private placements of debt,
equity and other securities worldwide. Morgan Stanley is a leading underwriter of common stock, preferred stock
and other equity-related securities, including convertible securities and American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”).
Morgan Stanley is a leading underwriter of fixed income securities, including investment grade debt,
non-investment grade instruments, mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities, tax-exempt securities and
commercial paper and other short-term securities.

Financial Advisory Services. Morgan Stanley provides corporate and other institutional clients globally with
advisory services on key strategic matters, such as mergers and acquisitions, divestitures, corporate defense
strategies, joint ventures, privatizations, spin-offs, restructurings, proxy and consent solicitations, tender offers,
exchange offers and leveraged buyouts. Morgan Stanley provides advice concerning recapitalizations, rights
offerings, dividend policy, valuations, foreign exchange exposure, financial risk management strategies and
financial planning. Morgan Stanley furnishes advice and services regarding project financings and provides
advisory services in connection with the purchase, sale, leasing and financing of real estate.

Corporate Lending. Morgan Stanley provides to selected corporate clients through subsidiaries (including
Morgan Stanley Bank) loans or lending commitments, including bridge financing. These loans and commitments
have varying terms, may be senior or subordinated and/or secured or unsecured, are generally contingent upon
representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable to the borrower, and may be syndicated or
traded by Morgan Stanley.* The borrowers may be rated investment grade or non-investment grade (as
determined by Morgan Stanley’s Institutional Credit Department using methodologies generally consistent with
those employed by external rating agencies).

Sales, Trading, Financing and Market-Making Activities.**

Morgan Stanley conducts sales, trading, financing and market-making activities on securities and futures
exchanges and in over-the-counter (“OTC”) markets around the world. In fiscal 2005, Morgan Stanley combined
management oversight of the Equity and Fixed Income divisions to improve the delivery of services to clients
across asset classes.

Equity Securities and Related Products.

Core. Morgan Stanley acts as principal (including as a market maker) and agent in executing transactions
globally in equity and equity-related products, including common stock, ADRs, global depositary receipts, and
exchange-traded funds.

Derivatives. Morgan Stanley’s equity derivatives sales, trading and market-making activities cover equity-
related products globally, including equity swaps, options, warrants and futures overlying individual securities,
indices and baskets of securities and other equity-related products. Morgan Stanley also issues and makes a
principal market in equity-linked products to institutional and individual investors, including principal-protected
securities, Stock Participation Accreting Redemption Quarterly-pay Securities® (SPARQS®), Performance
Leveraged Upside SecuritiesSM (PLUSSM) and Strategic Total Return Securities.

*  Revenues and expenses associated with the trading of syndicated loans are included in “Sales, Trading, Financing and Market-Making
Activities.”

**  See also “Risk Management” in Part II, Item 7A for a description of Morgan Stanley’s trading risk management structure, policies and
procedures.
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Equity Finance Services. Morgan Stanley provides equity finance services, including prime brokerage, which
offers, among other services, consolidated clearance and settlement of securities trades, custody, financing and
portfolio reporting services. Morgan Stanley also acts as principal and agent in stock borrowing and stock
lending transactions in support of its global trading and brokerage, asset management and clearing activities and
as an intermediary between broker-dealers.

Proprietary Trading. Morgan Stanley engages in proprietary trading and investing activities utilizing several
strategies and involving, among others, equity securities and derivative instruments related to equity securities.

Fixed Income Securities and Related Products.

Credit Products. Morgan Stanley trades and makes markets and takes proprietary positions in fixed income
securities and related products globally, including investment grade corporate debt, non-investment grade
instruments, credit derivative products (including credit default swaps), distressed debt, bank loans, convertible
bonds, preferred stock and commercial paper, money market and other short-term securities. Morgan Stanley
trades, makes markets and takes proprietary positions in, and acts as principal with respect to, mortgage-related
and other asset-backed securities and real estate loan products. Morgan Stanley also provides financing to
customers for commercial and residential real estate loan products. Morgan Stanley advises on investment and
liability strategies and assists corporations in their debt repurchases and tax planning. Morgan Stanley structures
debt securities and derivatives with risk/return factors designed to suit client objectives, including using
repackaged asset vehicles through which clients can restructure asset portfolios to provide liquidity or
reconfigure risk profiles.

Interest Rate and Currency Products. Morgan Stanley is a primary dealer of U.S. government securities and a
member of the selling groups that distribute various U.S. agency and other debt securities. Morgan Stanley
trades, makes markets and takes proprietary positions in interest rate, currency and other fixed income swaps and
derivative products, OTC options on U.S. and non-U.S. government bonds and mortgage-backed forward
agreements, options and swaps. Through the use of repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements, Morgan
Stanley acts as an intermediary between borrowers and lenders of short-term funds and provides funding for
various inventory positions. Morgan Stanley also trades fixed income futures. Through its triple-A rated
subsidiary, Morgan Stanley Derivative Products Inc., Morgan Stanley enters into swaps and related derivative
transactions with counterparties seeking a triple-A rated counterparty. Morgan Stanley also trades and makes
markets in U.S. and non-U.S. government securities, municipal securities and emerging market securities.
Morgan Stanley is a primary dealer or market-maker of government securities in numerous European, Asian and
emerging market countries. Morgan Stanley is a market-maker in foreign currencies. Most of Morgan Stanley’s
foreign exchange business relates to major foreign currencies such as Yen, Euro, Sterling, Swiss francs and
Canadian dollars. Morgan Stanley trades on a principal basis in the spot, forward, option and futures markets and
takes proprietary positions in such currencies.

Commodities. Morgan Stanley trades as principal and maintains proprietary trading positions in the spot,
forward and futures markets in several commodities, including precious metals, base metals, crude oil, oil
products, natural gas, electric power, emission credits and related energy products. Morgan Stanley is a market-
maker in exchange-traded and OTC options and swaps on commodities, such as metals, crude oil, oil products,
natural gas and electricity, and offers clients hedging programs relating to production, consumption, reserve/
inventory management and energy-contract securitizations. Morgan Stanley is an electricity power marketer in
the U.S. and is the sole shareholder of three wholesale generators in the U.S. and one in the Netherlands from
which Morgan Stanley is the exclusive purchaser of electric power.

Other Activities.

Benchmark Indices and Risk Management Analytics. Morgan Stanley’s majority-owned subsidiary, Morgan
Stanley Capital International Inc. (“MSCI®”), calculates and distributes over 25,000 international and U.S. equity
benchmark indices (including the MSCI World and EAFE® Indices) covering over 55 countries, and has a

5 Morgan Stanley



36-year historical database that includes fundamental and valuation data on thousands of equity securities in
developed and emerging market countries. MSCI also calculates and distributes over 7,500 fixed income and 190
hedge fund indices. MSCI’s subsidiary, Barra, Inc., is a global leader in providing risk analytic tools and services
to investors to help them analyze, measure and manage portfolio and firm-wide investment risk.

Research. In fiscal 2005, Morgan Stanley merged its equity research and fixed income research departments
into a combined global research department (“Research”). Research, comprised of economists, strategists, and
industry analysts, engages in equity and fixed income research activities and produces reports and studies on the
U.S. and global economy, financial markets, portfolio strategy, technical market analyses, individual companies
and industry developments. Research examines worldwide trends covering numerous industries and
approximately 2,300 individual companies, approximately half of which are located outside of the U.S. Research
provides analysis and forecasts relating to economic and monetary developments that affect matters such as
interest rates, foreign currencies, securities, derivatives and economic trends. Research provides analytical
support and publishes reports on asset-backed securities and the markets in which such securities are traded.
Research reports and data are disseminated to investors through third-party distributors, proprietary internet sites
such as Client Link, and Morgan Stanley’s sales forces.

Investments. Morgan Stanley from time to time makes investments that represent business facilitation or
principal investing activities. Business facilitation investments are strategic investments undertaken by Morgan
Stanley to facilitate core business activities. Principal investing activities are capital commitments provided to
private companies, generally, for proprietary purposes to maximize total returns to Morgan Stanley. Morgan
Stanley has committed to increasing its principal investing activity in an attempt to improve its financial
performance. Morgan Stanley expects to make additional principal investments over time. These principal
investment activities are conducted within the investment banking and sales and trading areas in Institutional
Securities.

Morgan Stanley sponsors and manages investment vehicles and separate accounts for clients seeking exposure to
private equity, real estate-related and other alternative investments. Morgan Stanley may also invest in and
provide capital to such investment vehicles. See also “Asset Management-Alternatives.”

Operations and Information Technology.

Morgan Stanley’s Operations and Information Technology departments provide the process and technology
platform that supports Institutional Securities sales and trading activity, including post-execution trade
processing and related internal controls over activity from trade entry through settlement and custody, including
asset servicing. This is done for proprietary and customer transactions in listed and OTC transactions in
commodities, equity and fixed income securities, including both primary and secondary trading, as well as listed,
OTC and structured derivatives in markets around the world. This activity is undertaken through Morgan
Stanley’s own facilities as well as through membership in various clearing and settlement organizations globally.

Retail Brokerage.

Morgan Stanley’s Retail Brokerage business provides comprehensive financial services to clients spanning the
wealth spectrum through a network as of November 30, 2005 of approximately 9,500 representatives with over
530 global locations, including 485 U.S. retail locations. As of November 30, 2005, Morgan Stanley had $617
billion in client assets.

Clients.

Retail Brokerage professionals serve individual investors and small-to-medium size businesses and institutions
with an emphasis on affluent and high net worth investors. In the U.S., products and services are delivered
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through several channels. Through Morgan Stanley’s wholly-owned subsidiary Morgan Stanley DW Inc.
(“MSDWTI”), Retail Brokerage’s network of financial advisors and wealth advisors provide solutions designed to
accommodate individual investment objectives, risk tolerance and liquidity needs for high net worth and affluent
investors, and call centers are available to meet the needs of emerging affluent clients. Specialized investment
representative teams trained to leverage full firm resources provide sophisticated investment solutions and
services for ultra high net worth individuals, families and foundations, primarily through MS&Co.

Outside the U.S., Morgan Stanley offers financial services to clients in Europe, Asia and Latin America. In
addition to serving ultra high net worth clients throughout these regions, Morgan Stanley’s international
operations also include Quilter & Co. Limited, a U.K.-based business, which provides asset management and
advisory services to affluent private clients, charities, trusts and pension funds in the U.K.; and Morgan Stanley
S.V., S.A. (Spain) and Morgan Stanley Gestiéon SGIIC, S.A., which provide investment advice and execution,
and discretionary investment management services, respectively, to individual investors in Spain.

Products and Services.

Retail Brokerage provides clients with a comprehensive array of financial solutions comprising both Morgan
Stanley’s products and services as well as products and services from third-party providers such as insurance
companies and mutual fund families. Morgan Stanley offers brokerage and investment advisory services
covering various investment alternatives, including equities, options, fixed income securities, mutual funds,
structured products, alternative investments, unit investment trusts, managed futures, separately managed
accounts and mutual fund asset allocation programs. Morgan Stanley also offers financial and wealth planning
services, including education savings programs, as well as annuity and insurance products, including life,
disability and long-term care insurance. Credit and other lending products are also available, including
CreditSource®, which provides residential mortgages and home equity lines of credit originated through Morgan
Stanley’s affiliated entities. Morgan Stanley’s BusinesScapeSM program offers cash management and commercial
credit solutions to qualified small businesses in the U.S. Morgan Stanley offers banking and cash management
services, including cash sweeps into bank deposits and money market funds, check writing, direct deposit, debit
cards and business cash management. Morgan Stanley also provides retirement services, including defined
contribution plans, 401(k) plans and stock plan administration to businesses of all sizes and trust and fiduciary
services to individual and corporate clients. Retail Brokerage also provides clients with transactional services in
futures, foreign currencies and precious metals.

Retail Brokerage offers its clients a variety of ways to establish a relationship and conduct business to help meet
their unique needs and preferences, including transaction-based pricing and asset-based fee pricing. The Active
Assets Account® offers clients brokerage and banking services in one transaction-based pricing account. For
clients who prefer fee-based pricing, the Morgan Stanley ChoiceSM account charges an asset based fee in lieu of
commissions. Clients can also choose to have a fee-based, separately managed account managed by affiliated or
unaffiliated professional asset managers.

Operations and Information Technology.

Morgan Stanley’s Operations and Information Technology departments provide the process and technology
platform that supports its Retail Brokerage activities from trade capture through clearance, settlement and
custody, including asset servicing. This activity is undertaken through its own facilities, through systems at
computer centers operated by an unaffiliated services provider and through memberships in various clearing
corporations.

Asset Management.

Morgan Stanley Investment Management is one of the largest global asset management organizations of any
full-service securities firm and offers individual and institutional clients a diverse array of equity, fixed income
and alternative investment strategies. Morgan Stanley had $431 billion of assets under management or
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supervision as of November 30, 2005. Morgan Stanley’s asset management activities are principally conducted
under the Morgan Stanley and Van Kampen brands. Portfolio managers located in the U.S., Europe, Japan,
Singapore, and India manage investment products ranging from money market funds to equity, taxable and
tax-exempt fixed income funds and alternative investment products, in developed and emerging markets. Morgan
Stanley offers clients various investment styles, such as value, growth, core, fixed income and asset allocation;
global investments; active and passive management; and diversified and concentrated portfolios.

Individual Investors.

Morgan Stanley offers open- and closed-end funds and separately managed accounts to individual investors
through affiliated and unaffiliated broker-dealers, banks, insurance companies and financial planners. A small
number of unaffiliated broker-dealers accounts for a substantial portion of Van Kampen fund sales. Morgan
Stanley also sells Van Kampen funds through numerous retirement plan platforms. Internationally, Morgan
Stanley distributes investment products to individuals outside the U.S. through non-proprietary distributors.

Institutional Investors.

Morgan Stanley provides asset management products and services to institutional investors worldwide, including
pension plans, corporations, private funds, non-profit organizations, foundations, endowments, governmental
agencies, insurance companies and banks. Products and services are available to institutional investors primarily
through separate accounts, U.S. mutual funds and other pooled vehicles. Morgan Stanley Investment
Management also sub-advises funds for various unaffiliated financial institutions and intermediaries. A global
sales force and a team dedicated to covering the investment consultant industry serve institutional investors.
Morgan Stanley offers clients alternative investment products primarily through Alternative Investment Partners,
which utilizes a fund-of-funds strategy to invest in hedge funds and private equity funds.

Alternatives.

Morgan Stanley offers a range of alternative investment products for institutional investors and high net worth
individuals, including hedge funds, private equity funds, funds of hedge funds, funds of private equity funds, and
portable alpha overlays. Morgan Stanley typically acts as general partner and adviser of its alternative investment
funds and typically commits to invest a minority of the capital of such funds with subscribing investors
contributing the majority.

Operations and Information Technology.

Morgan Stanley’s Operations and Information Technology departments provide or oversee the process and
technology platform required to support its asset management business. Support activities include transfer
agency, mutual fund accounting and administration, transaction processing and certain fiduciary services, on
behalf of institutional, retail and intermediary clients. These activities are undertaken either through its own
facilities or through agreements with unaffiliated third parties.

Discover.*

Based on its approximately 45.5 million general purpose credit card accounts at November 30, 2005, Morgan
Stanley, through its Discover business, is one of the largest single issuers of general purpose credit cards in the
U.S. Morgan Stanley’s Discover business includes Discover Financial Services, which offers Discover-branded
credit cards issued by Discover Bank and other consumer products and services; Discover Network, which
operates a merchant and cash access network for Discover-branded cards; PULSE, an ATM/debit and electronic
funds transfer network; and its Consumer Banking Group International in the U.K.

*  See also “Risk Management” in Part II, Item 7A for a description of Morgan Stanley’s interest rate and credit risk management structure,
policies and procedures.
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Credit Cards and Services.

Discover offers several general purpose credit cards that are designed to appeal to different market segments of
consumers and that are used exclusively on the Discover Network, including the Discover Classic Card, the
Discover Platinum Card, the Discover Gold Card, the Discover Titanium Card, and the Miles Card from
Discover as well as affinity cards and Discover gift cards. Discover offers other consumer finance products and
services and credit protection products. Discover offers cardmembers certificates of deposit and money market
accounts and the ability to transfer balances from other accounts or credit sources. In the U.K., Consumer
Banking Group International offers the Morgan Stanley Card, the i24™ Card, the Leeds Building Society Card,
the Black Horse Card, the Morgan Stanley buy and fly! MasterCard on the MasterCard® network, personal loan
products and insurance products. In December 2005, Morgan Stanley entered into a definitive agreement to
acquire the Goldfish credit card business from Lloyds TSB.

Discover offers cardmembers other customer services. Pursuant to the Cashback Bonus® reward program,
Discover provides certain cardmembers rewards based upon their level and type of purchases. Cardmembers may
register their account online at www.discovercard.com, which offers cardmembers options such as timely e-mail
reminders that help cardmembers avoid late payments, the capability to redeem Cashback Bonus rewards, make
payments and view detailed account information. In addition, Discover offers secure online account numbers that
allow cardmembers to shop online without having to reveal their actual card number. As of November 30, 2005,
Discover had over 14 million Discover cardmembers registered at www.discovercard.com.

Network.

Only participants in the Discover Network accept Discover’s general purpose credit cards. Established in 1986,
Discover Network is the largest proprietary credit card network in the U.S. GE Money Bank issues two consumer
credit cards, the Wal-Mart® Discover® and SAM’S CLUB® Discover® cards on the Discover Network. Discover
also has entered into agreements with several other financial institutions to issue cards on the Discover Network.
In addition, Discover and China UnionPay have a reciprocal agreement that enables China UnionPay cards to be
accepted on the PULSE network in the U.S. and will enable Discover Network cards to be accepted at China
UnionPay ATMs and point-of-sale terminals in China by the end of 2006.

Discover Network operates the network and acquiring businesses primarily in the U.S., provides customized
programs to its merchants in such areas as processing, and otherwise tailors program terms to meet merchant
needs. Discover Network utilizes its own national sales and support force, independent sales agents and
telemarketing force to maintain and increase its merchant base.

Discover’s business also includes PULSE, an ATM/debit and electronic funds transfer network. As of
November 30, 2005, PULSE links cardholders of over 4,200 financial institutions and almost 250,000 ATMs and
approximately 3.4 million active POS terminals located throughout the U.S. PULSE offers financial institutions
of various sizes a full-service debit platform and a complete product set, including signature debit, PIN debit, gift
card, stored value card and ATM services.

Operations and Information Technology.

Discover performs the functions required to service and operate card accounts either by itself or through
agreements with unaffiliated third parties. These functions include new account solicitation, application
processing, new account fulfillment, transaction authorization and processing, cardmember billing, payment
processing, fraud prevention and investigation, cardmember services, collection of delinquent accounts and other
activities. Discover maintains several operations centers throughout the U.S. and one in Scotland. Systems at
computer centers operated by an unaffiliated services provider also support the operations of Discover.

Competition.

All aspects of Morgan Stanley’s businesses are highly competitive and Morgan Stanley expects them to remain
so. Morgan Stanley competes in the U.S. and globally for clients, market share and human talent in all aspects of
its business segments. Morgan Stanley’s competitive position depends on its reputation, the quality of its
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products, services and advice. Morgan Stanley’s ability to sustain or improve its competitive position also
depends substantially on its ability to continue to attract and retain qualified employees while managing
compensation costs.

Institutional Securities and Retail Brokerage.

Morgan Stanley’s competitive position depends on innovation, execution capability and relative pricing. Morgan
Stanley competes directly in the U.S., and globally with other securities and financial services firms, brokers and
dealers, and with others on a regional or product basis. Morgan Stanley competes with commercial banks,
insurance companies, sponsors of mutual funds, hedge funds, energy companies and other companies offering
financial services in the U.S., globally and through the internet.

Morgan Stanley’s ability to access capital at competitive rates (which is generally dependent on Morgan
Stanley’s credit ratings) and to commit capital efficiently, particularly in its capital-intensive underwriting and
sales, trading, financing and market-making activities, also affects its competitive position. Corporate clients
continue to request that Morgan Stanley provide loans or lending commitments in connection with certain
investment banking activities and Morgan Stanley expects this activity to continue in the future.

Over time, certain sectors of the financial services industry have become considerably more concentrated, as
financial institutions involved in a broad range of financial services industries have been acquired by or merged
into other firms. This convergence could result in Morgan Stanley’s competitors gaining greater capital and other
resources, such as a broader range of products and services and geographic diversity. It is possible that
competition may become even more intense as Morgan Stanley continues to compete with financial institutions
that may be larger, or better capitalized, or may have a stronger local presence and longer operating history in
certain areas. Many of these firms have greater capital than Morgan Stanley and have the ability to offer a wide
range of products that may enhance their competitive position and could result in pricing pressure in our
businesses. The complementary trends in the financial services industry of consolidation and globalization
present, among other things, technological, risk management, regulatory and other infrastructure challenges that
require effective resource allocation in order for Morgan Stanley to remain competitive.

Morgan Stanley has experienced intense price competition in some of its businesses in recent years. In particular,
the ability to execute trades electronically through the internet and other alternative trading systems has increased
the pressure on trading commissions. The trend toward the use of alternative trading systems will likely continue.
It is possible that Morgan Stanley will experience competitive pressures in these and other areas in the future as
some of its competitors may seek to obtain market share by reducing prices.

Asset Management.

Competition in the asset management industry is affected by several factors, including Morgan Stanley’s
reputation, investment objectives, quality of investment professionals, performance of investment products
relative to peers and an appropriate benchmark index, advertising and sales promotion efforts, fee levels, the
effectiveness of and access to distribution channels, and the types and quality of products offered. Morgan
Stanley’s products compete with the funds and separately managed account products of other asset management
firms and other investment alternatives, including hedge funds.

Discover.

Discover competes directly with other bank-issued credit cards (the vast majority of which bear the MasterCard
or VISA servicemark), charge cards, credit cards issued by travel and financial advisory companies and debit
cards. Credit cards that may be issued on the Discover Network by other financial institutions may also compete
with credit cards offered by Discover through Discover Bank. Competition centers on merchant acceptance of
credit and debit cards, account acquisition and customer utilization of credit and debit cards. Merchant
acceptance is based on competitive transaction pricing and the volume and usage of cards in circulation. Credit
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card account acquisition and customer utilization are driven by competitive and appealing credit card features,
such as no annual fees, low introductory interest rates and other customized features targeting specific consumer
groups. Credit card industry participants have increasingly used advertising, targeted marketing, account
acquisitions and pricing competition in interest rates, annual fees, reward programs and low-priced balance
transfer programs to compete and grow.

The Discover Network competes with other card networks, including among others, VISA, MasterCard and
American Express. The principal competitive factors that affect the network business include the number of cards
in force and amount of spending on these cards, the quantity and quality of places where cards can be used, the
economic attractiveness to card issuers and merchants participating in the network, reputation and brand
recognition, innovation in systems, technology and product offerings, and quality of customer service.

Regulation.

Most aspects of Morgan Stanley’s business are subject to stringent regulation by U.S. federal and state regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges and by non-U.S. government agencies or regulatory bodies and securities
exchanges. Aspects of Morgan Stanley’s public disclosure, corporate governance principles, internal control
environment and the roles of auditors and counsel are subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related
regulations and rules of the SEC and the NYSE.

New laws or regulations or changes to existing laws and regulations (including changes in the interpretation or
enforcement thereof) either in the U.S. or elsewhere could materially adversely affect the financial condition or
results of operations of Morgan Stanley. As a global financial institution, to the extent that different regulatory
regimes impose inconsistent or iterative requirements on the conduct of its business, Morgan Stanley faces
complexity and additional costs in its compliance efforts.

Consolidated Supervision and Revised Capital Standards.

In June 2004, the SEC issued rules that permit certain highly capitalized broker-dealers that are part of a
consolidated supervised entity to apply to the SEC for approval to use an alternative method for calculating net
capital charges (the “CSE Rules”). To obtain approval to calculate capital under the alternative method in the
CSE Rules, a broker-dealer’s holding company must consent, on a voluntary basis, to group-wide supervision
and examination by the SEC and must have in place group-wide internal risk management controls and calculate
capital in a manner generally consistent with the standards of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
(“Basel II”). The CSE Rules are intended to reduce regulatory capital costs for qualifying firms by permitting
such firms to use proprietary mathematical risk measurement models for regulatory capital computation and
internal control purposes.

On July 28, 2005, the SEC approved an application by MS&Co., one of Morgan Stanley’s U.S. broker-dealers,
for authorization to use, effective December 1, 2005, the alternative method of computing net capital set forth in
the CSE Rules. The approval allows MS&Co. to use an alternative method based on mathematical models to
calculate net capital charges for market and derivatives-related credit risk.

The CSE Rules are also designed to minimize the duplicative regulatory requirements on U.S. securities firms
resulting from the European Union (“EU”) Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the supplementary supervision of
financial conglomerates active in the EU. Under this directive, financial groups that conduct business through
regulated financial entities in the EU must first demonstrate that they are subject to equivalent consolidated
supervision at the ultimate holding company level. On November 30, 2005, the U.K. Financial Services
Authority determined that the SEC undertakes equivalent consolidated supervision for Morgan Stanley.

Morgan Stanley continues to work with its regulators on the implementation of the CSE Rules and Basel II
capital standards. As rules related to Basel II are released, Morgan Stanley will consult with regulators on the
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new requirements. Compliance with EU requirements (capital, oversight and reporting) will be a focus item
through 2008.

Anti-Money Laundering.

Morgan Stanley’s Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) Program is coordinated and implemented on an enterprise-
wide basis. In the U.S., for example, the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 (the “PATRIOT Act”) imposes significant
obligations to detect and deter money laundering and terrorist financing activity, including requiring banks,
broker-dealers and mutual funds to identify and verify customers that maintain accounts. The PATRIOT Act also
mandates that certain types of financial institutions report suspicious activity to appropriate law enforcement or
regulatory authorities. An institution subject to the PATRIOT Act also must provide employees with AML
training, designate an AML compliance officer and undergo an annual, independent audit to assess the
effectiveness of its AML Program. Outside the U.S., applicable laws and regulations subject designated types of
financial institutions to similar AML requirements. Morgan Stanley has established policies, procedures and
internal controls that are designed to comply with these AML requirements.

Protection of Client Information.

Many aspects of Morgan Stanley’s business are subject to increasingly comprehensive legal requirements
concerning the use and protection of certain client information including those adopted pursuant to the Gramm-
Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 and the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003 in the U.S., the European
Union Data Protection Directive in the EU and various laws in Asia, including the Japanese Personal Information
(Protection) Law, the Hong Kong Personal Data (Protection) Ordinance and the Australian Privacy Act. Morgan
Stanley has adopted measures in response to such requirements.

Institutional Securities and Retail Brokerage.

Broker-Dealer Regulation. MS&Co. and MSDWTI are registered as broker-dealers with the SEC and in all 50
states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico, and are members of self-regulatory organizations, including the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (the “NASD”) and securities exchanges, including the NYSE.
Broker-dealers are subject to laws and regulations covering all aspects of the securities business, including sales
and trading practices, public offerings, publication of research reports, use of customers’ funds and securities,
capital structure, record-keeping and retention, and the conduct of their directors, officers, employees and other
associated persons. Broker-dealers are also regulated by securities administrators in those states where they do
business. Violations of the laws and regulations governing a broker-dealer’s actions could result in censures,
fines, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders, revocation of licenses or registrations, the suspension or expulsion
from the securities industry of such broker-dealer or its officers or employees, or other similar consequences by
both federal and state securities administrators.

Margin lending by broker-dealer subsidiaries is regulated by the Federal Reserve Board’s restrictions on lending
in connection with customer and proprietary purchases and short sales of securities, as well as securities
borrowing and lending activities. Such subsidiaries are also required by NASD and NYSE rules to impose
maintenance requirements on the value of securities contained in margin accounts. In many cases, Morgan
Stanley’s margin policies are more stringent than these rules.

Morgan Stanley conducts some of its government securities activities through Morgan Stanley Market Products
Inc., an NASD member registered as a government securities broker-dealer with the SEC and in certain states.
The Department of Treasury has promulgated regulations concerning, among other things, capital adequacy,
custody and use of government securities and transfers and control of government securities subject to
repurchase transactions. The rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which are enforced by the
NASD, govern the municipal securities activities of Morgan Stanley.
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As registered U.S. broker-dealers, certain subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley, including MS&Co. and MSDWI, are
subject to the SEC’s net capital rule and the net capital requirements of various securities exchanges. Many
non-U.S. securities exchanges and regulatory authorities either have imposed or are proposing rules relating to
capital requirements applicable to Morgan Stanley’s non-U.S. broker-dealer subsidiaries. These rules, which
specify minimum capital requirements, are generally designed to measure general financial integrity and liquidity
and require that at least a minimum amount of net assets be kept in relatively liquid form. See also “Consolidated
Supervision and Revised Capital Standards” above and Note 13 in “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”
in Part II, Item 8. Rules of the NASD, NYSE, Chicago Mercantile Exchange and Chicago Board of Trade also
impose limitations on the transfer of a broker-dealer’s assets.

Compliance with the capital requirements may limit Morgan Stanley’s operations requiring the intensive use of
capital. Such requirements restrict Morgan Stanley’s ability to withdraw capital from its broker-dealer
subsidiaries, which in turn may limit its ability to pay dividends, repay debt or redeem or purchase shares of its
own outstanding stock. Any change in such rules or the imposition of new rules affecting the scope, coverage,
calculation or amount of capital requirements, or a significant operating loss or any unusually large charge
against capital, could adversely affect Morgan Stanley’s ability to pay dividends or to expand or maintain present
business levels. In addition, such rules may require Morgan Stanley to make substantial capital infusions into one
or more of its broker-dealer subsidiaries in order for such subsidiaries to comply with such rules, either in the
form of cash or subordinated loans made in accordance with the requirements of the SEC’s net capital rule.

Regulation of Power Generation and Energy Trading Activities. Morgan Stanley conducts certain power
generation and energy trading activities through Morgan Stanley Capital Group Inc. and/or entities in which
Morgan Stanley is the sole or majority shareholder. These activities are subject to extensive and evolving energy,
environmental and other governmental laws and regulations in the U.S. and abroad. In the past several years,
intensified scrutiny of the energy markets by U.S. federal, state and local authorities in the U.S. and abroad and
the public has resulted in increased regulatory and legal enforcement and remedial proceedings involving energy
companies, including those engaged in power generation and liquid hydrocarbons trading. The European Union
has increased its focus on the energy markets which has resulted in increased regulation of companies
participating in the energy markets, including those engaged in power generation and liquid hydrocarbons
trading.

Additional Regulation of U.S. Entities. As registered futures commission merchants, MS&Co. and MSDWI
are subject to the net capital requirements of, and their activities are regulated by, the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission (the “CFTC”) and various commodity exchanges. Certain subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley
are registered with the CFTC as commodity trading advisors and/or commodity pool operators. Morgan Stanley’s
futures and options-on-futures businesses are also regulated by the National Futures Association (the “NFA”), a
registered futures association, of which MS&Co. and MSDWI and certain of their affiliates are members.
Violations of the rules of the CFTC, the NFA or the commodity exchanges could result in remedial actions
including fines, registration restrictions or terminations, trading prohibitions or revocations of commodity
exchange memberships.

Morgan Stanley Bank, through which Morgan Stanley conducts certain financing and lending activities, is an
industrial bank chartered under the laws of the State of Utah. It has deposits that are eligible for insurance by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) in accordance with FDIC rules and is subject to comprehensive
regulation and periodic examination by the Utah Department of Financial Institutions and the FDIC. Morgan
Stanley Bank is not considered a “bank” under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (the
“BHCA”). See also “Discover” below.

Morgan Stanley Trust National Association, a wholly-owned subsidiary, is a federally chartered national bank
whose activities are limited to fiduciary activities, primarily personal trust services. It is subject to
comprehensive regulation and periodic examination by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. Morgan
Stanley Trust National Association is not FDIC-insured and is not considered a “bank” for purposes of the
BHCA.
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Non-U.S. Regulation. Morgan Stanley’s securities and futures businesses are also regulated extensively by
non-U.S. regulators, including governments, securities exchanges, commodity exchanges, self-regulatory
organizations, central banks and regulatory bodies, especially in those jurisdictions in which Morgan Stanley
maintains an office. Certain Morgan Stanley subsidiaries are regulated as broker dealers under the laws of the
jurisdictions in which they operate. Subsidiaries engaged in banking and trust activities outside the U.S. are
regulated by various government agencies in the particular jurisdiction where they are chartered, incorporated
and/or conduct their business activity. For instance, the Financial Services Authority, the London Stock
Exchange and Euronext.liffe regulate the Company’s activities in the U.K.; the Deutsche Borse AG and the
Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority) regulate its
activities in the Federal Republic of Germany; The Swiss Federal Banking Commission regulates its activities in
Switzerland; the Comisién Nacional del Mercado del Valores (C.N.M.V.) regulates its activities in Spain; the
Financial Services Agency, the Bank of Japan, the Japanese Securities Dealers Association and several Japanese
securities and futures exchanges, including the Tokyo Stock Exchange, the Osaka Securities Exchange and the
Tokyo International Financial Futures Exchange, regulate its activities in Japan; the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission, the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited
regulate its operations in Hong Kong; and the Monetary Authority of Singapore and the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited regulate its business in Singapore. See also “Regulation of Power Generation and
Energy Trading Activities” above.

The EU’s European Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) will affect several of our
subsidiaries by imposing detailed pan-European requirements in areas such as internal organization (including
conflict management), best execution, real-time disclosure of completed transactions in shares, quoting
obligations for internalized client orders in shares, transaction reporting to regulators, client documentation and
regulation of investment services related to commodity derivatives. The practical consequences of some of these
changes on the European markets are still unclear.

Research. Both U.S. and non-U.S. regulators continue to focus on research conflicts of interest. Research-
related regulations have been implemented in many jurisdictions and are proposed or under consideration in
other jurisdictions. New and revised requirements resulting from these regulations and the global research
settlement with U.S. Federal and state regulators (to which Morgan Stanley is a party) have necessitated the
development or enhancement of corresponding policies and procedures.

Asset Management.

The majority of subsidiaries related to Morgan Stanley’s asset management activities and others, including
MS&Co. and MSDWI, are registered as investment advisers with the SEC, and, in certain states, some
employees or representatives of subsidiaries are registered as investment adviser representatives. Many aspects of
Morgan Stanley’s asset management activities are subject to federal and state laws and regulations primarily
intended to benefit the investor or client. These laws and regulations generally grant supervisory agencies and
bodies broad administrative powers, including the power to limit or restrict Morgan Stanley from carrying on its
asset management activities in the event that it fails to comply with such laws and regulations. Sanctions that
may be imposed for such failure include the suspension of individual employees, limitations on Morgan Stanley
engaging in various asset management activities for specified periods of time, the revocation of registrations,
other censures and fines. The SEC has also recently adopted numerous rules and requirements relating to the
operation of the asset management business.

Morgan Stanley’s Asset Management business is also regulated outside the U.S. For example, the Financial
Services Authority regulates Morgan Stanley’s business in the U.K.; the Financial Services Agency regulates
Morgan Stanley’s business in Japan; the Securities and Exchange Board of India regulates Morgan Stanley’s
business in India; and the Monetary Authority of Singapore regulates Morgan Stanley’s business in Singapore.
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Morgan Stanley Trust, a wholly-owned subsidiary, is a federally chartered savings bank subject to
comprehensive regulation and periodic examination by the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”). As a result of
its ownership of Morgan Stanley Trust, Morgan Stanley is registered with the OTS as a unitary savings and loan
holding company (“SLHC”) and subject to regulation and examination by the OTS as a SLHC. Subsidiaries of
Morgan Stanley, including Morgan Stanley Trust, are registered transfer agents subject to regulation and
examination by the SEC.

Discover.

Morgan Stanley conducts substantial portions of its Discover business in the U.S. through its wholly-owned
indirect subsidiary, Discover Bank, a Delaware chartered state bank. Discover Bank’s deposits are eligible for
insurance by the FDIC in accordance with FDIC rules and is subject to comprehensive regulation and periodic
examination by the Office of the Delaware Bank Commissioner and by the FDIC.

Generally, a company that controls a “bank,” as defined in the BHCA, is required to register as a bank holding
company and is regulated as a bank holding company by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
Discover Bank is considered a “bank” under the BHCA; however, under the BHCA, Morgan Stanley’s control of
Discover Bank is grandfathered and Morgan Stanley is generally not treated as a bank holding company for
purposes of the BHCA as long as Discover Bank refrains from either engaging in commercial lending or taking
demand deposits.

Federal and state consumer protection laws and regulations regulate extensively the relationships among
cardholders and credit card issuers. Under federal law, Discover Bank may charge interest at the rate allowed by
Delaware law, the state in which it is located, and export such interest rate to all other states. Delaware law does
not limit the amount of interest that may be charged on loans of the type offered by Discover Bank. Federal and
state bankruptcy laws, debtor relief laws and bank regulatory guidance may have a financial impact on Discover
to the extent such laws or guidance result in any loans being charged off as uncollectible.

Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991 (“FDICIA”), the federal bank
regulatory agencies are required to take “prompt corrective action” in respect of banks that do not meet minimum
capital requirements, and certain restrictions are imposed upon banks that meet certain capital requirements but
are not “well capitalized” for purposes of FDICIA. A bank that is not well capitalized, as defined for purposes of
FDICIA, is, among other consequences, generally prohibited from accepting brokered deposits and offering
interest rates on any deposits significantly higher than the prevailing rate in its normal market area or nationally
(depending upon where the deposits are solicited). Discover Bank and Morgan Stanley Bank currently use
brokered deposits as a funding source and, if they were not able to do so, their funding costs could be impacted.

Morgan Stanley conducts its U.K. credit card and personal loan business through Morgan Stanley Bank
International Limited, Morgan Stanley’s chartered bank in the U.K., which is subject to regulation related to
capital adequacy, consumer protection and deposit protection. The bank is governed primarily by the U.K.’s
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and its activities are supervised by the Financial Services Authority and
by the Office of Fair Trading in relation to its consumer credit activities.

Executive Officers of Morgan Stanley.

The executive officers of Morgan Stanley (all of whom are members of Morgan Stanley’s Management
Committee) and their ages and titles as of February 13, 2006 are set forth below. Business experience for the past
five years is provided in accordance with SEC rules.

John J. Mack (61). Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer (since June 2005).
Chairman of Pequot Capital Management (June 2005). Co-Chief Executive Officer of Credit Suisse Group
(January 2003 to June 2004). President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of Credit Suisse First Boston (July
2001 to June 2004). President and Chief Operating Officer of Morgan Stanley (May 1997 to March 2001).

Walid A. Chammah (51). Head of Investment Banking (since August 2005). Head of Global Capital Markets
(July 2002 to August 2005). Head of Fixed Income Capital Markets Services (March 1996 to June 2002).

Jonathan Chenevix-Trench (44). Chairman of Morgan Stanley International Limited (since January 2006).
Chairman of European Management Committee (since March 2005). Head of the Interest Rate and Currency
Group (December 2000 to March 2005). Head of Fixed Income in Europe (January 1999 to March 2005).
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Zoe Cruz (51). Co-President (since February 2006 and March 2005 to July 2005). Acting President (July 2005
to February 2006). Director (March 2005 to June 2005). Head of Fixed Income Division (September 2000 to
March 2005).

Thomas V. Daula (5§3). Chief Risk Officer (since April 2005). Head of Market Risk Department (since
January 2002). Managing Director of MS&Co. (since December 2001). Executive Director of MS&Co. (October
1999 to December 2001).

Raymond Harris (49).* Acting President and Chief Operating Officer of Retail Brokerage (since July 2005).
Head of Client Solutions for Retail Brokerage (December 2003 to July 2005). Head of Investment Management
Global Products and Services (July 2000 to December 2003). Chief Administrative Officer of Asset Management
(January 1999 to July 2000).

David W. Heleniak (60). Vice Chairman (since May 2005). Senior partner and head of the law firm of
Shearman & Sterling (June 2001 to May 2005). Partner at the law firm of Shearman & Sterling (July 1981 to
June 2001).

Roger C. Hochschild (41). President and Chief Operating Officer of Discover Financial Services (since
January 2004). Executive Vice President and Chief Strategic and Administrative Officer (March 2001 to January
2004). Executive Vice President of Discover Financial Services (November 1998 to February 2001).

Jerker M. Johansson (49). Co-Head of Institutional Sales and Trading (since August 2005) and Head of
Worldwide Institutional Equities Division (since April 2005). Head of European Equities (January 2002 to April
2005). Chief Operating Officer of European Institutional Equity Division (September 1997 to January 2002).

Gary G. Lynch (55). Chief Legal Officer (since October 2005). Global General Counsel (October 2001 to
October 2005) of Credit Suisse First Boston. Vice Chairman (December 2002 to July 2004) and Executive Vice
Chairman (July 2004 to October 2005) of Credit Suisse First Boston. Partner at the law firm of Davis Polk &
Wardwell (September 1989 to October 2001).

Alasdair Morrison (57). Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Morgan Stanley Asia and Chairman of Asia
Executive Committee (since October 2003). Chairman and CEO of Morgan Stanley Asia Pacific (excluding
Japan) (December 2001 to October 2003). Chairman of Morgan Stanley Asia Pacific (September 2000 to
December 2001).

Eileen Murray (47). Head of Global Operations and Technology (since October 2005). Head of Global
Technology and Operations of Credit Suisse First Boston (February 2002 to October 2005). Chief Administrative
Officer of Institutional Securities of Morgan Stanley (March 1999 to February 2002).

David W. Nelms (44). Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Discover Financial Services (since January
2004). President and Chief Operating Officer of Discover Financial Services (September 1998 to January 2004).

Thomas R. Nides (44). Chief Administrative Officer (since September 2005). Worldwide President and CEO
of Burson-Marsteller (November 2004 to August 2005). Chief Administrative Officer of Credit Suisse First
Boston (June 2001 to June 2004). Senior Vice President of Fannie Mae (June 1998 to April 2001).

Robert W. Scully (56). Co-President (since February 2006). Chairman of Global Capital Markets (December
2004 to February 2006) and Vice Chairman of Investment Banking (September 1999 to February 2006).

Neal A. Shear (51). Co-Head of Institutional Sales and Trading (since August 2005) and Head of Worldwide
Fixed Income Division (since April 2005). Head of Commodities (January 1987 to April 2005).

*  On August 16, 2005, Morgan Stanley announced that James P. Gorman would become President and Chief Operating Officer of Retail
Brokerage. Mr. Gorman (47) will join Morgan Stanley in mid-February 2006. Mr. Gorman was previously employed by Merrill Lynch &
Co., Inc. (“Merrill Lynch”) where he was Executive Vice President and Head of Acquisitions, Strategy and Research. Mr. Gorman
joined Merrill Lynch in 1999 as Chief Marketing Officer. In 2000, he was named head of Merrill Lynch’s brokerage business. In 2001,
he become President of the U.S. private client business and in 2002 was named President of the private client business worldwide.
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David H. Sidwell (52). Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (since March 2004). Chief
Financial Officer of the investment bank of J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. (December 2000 to March 2004).
Controller of J.P. Morgan & Co. Incorporated (April 1994 to January 2001).

Cordell G. Spencer (42). Deputy Head of Worldwide Investment Banking (since August 2005). Co-Head of
Investment Banking (April 2005 to August 2005). Deputy Head of Investment Banking (April 2002 to April
2005). Managing Director of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (since 1998).

Owen D. Thomas (44). President and Chief Operating Officer of Investment Management and Chairman of
Morgan Stanley Real Estate (since December 2005). Acting President and Chief Operating Officer of Investment
Management (September 2005 to December 2005). Head of Morgan Stanley Real Estate (July 2000 to December
2005).

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations and by economic and other
factors.

Our results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations and by economic and other factors.
Results of operations in the past have been, and in the future may continue to be, materially affected by many
factors of a global nature, including political, economic and market conditions; the availability and cost of
capital; the level and volatility of equity prices, commodity prices and interest rates; currency values and other
market indices; technological changes and events; the availability and cost of credit; inflation; and investor
sentiment and confidence in the financial markets. In addition, there have been legislative, legal and regulatory
developments related to our businesses that potentially could increase costs, thereby affecting future results of
operations. These factors also may have an impact on our ability to achieve our strategic objectives.

The results of our Institutional Securities business, particularly results relating to our involvement in primary and
secondary markets for all types of financial products, are subject to substantial fluctuations due to a variety of
factors that we cannot control or predict with great certainty, including variations in the fair value of securities
and other financial products and the volatility and liquidity of global markets. Fluctuations also occur due to the
level of global market activity, which, among other things, affects the size, number, and timing of investment
banking client assignments and transactions and the realization of returns from our principal investments.

During periods of unfavorable market or economic conditions, the level of individual investor participation in the
global markets may also decrease, which would negatively impact the results of our Retail Brokerage business.
In addition, fluctuations in global market activity could impact the flow of investment capital into or from assets
under management and supervision and the way customers allocate capital among money market, equity, fixed
income or other investment alternatives, which could negatively impact our Asset Management business.
Furthermore, changes in economic variables, such as the number and size of personal bankruptcy filings, the rate
of unemployment, and the level of consumer confidence and consumer debt, may substantially affect consumer
loan levels and credit quality, which, in turn, could impact the results of our Discover business.

Liquidity is essential to our businesses and we rely on external sources to finance a significant portion of
our operations.

General. Liquidity is essential to our businesses. Our liquidity could be substantially negatively affected by an
inability to raise funding in the long-term or short-term debt capital markets or an inability to access the secured
lending markets. Factors that we cannot control, such as disruption of the financial markets or negative views
about the financial services industry generally, could impair our ability to raise funding. In addition, our ability to
raise funding could be impaired if lenders develop a negative perception of our long-term or short-term financial
prospects. Such negative perceptions could be developed if we incur large trading losses, we suffer a decline in
the level of our business activity, regulatory authorities take significant action against us, or we discover serious
employee misconduct or illegal activity, among other reasons. If we are unable to raise funding using the
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methods described above, we would likely need to liquidate unencumbered assets, such as our investment and
trading portfolios, to meet maturing liabilities. We may be unable to sell some of our assets, or we may have to
sell assets at a discount from market value, either of which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Credit Ratings. The cost and availability of unsecured financing generally are dependent on our short-term and
long-term credit ratings. Factors that are significant to the determination of our credit ratings or otherwise affect
our ability to raise short-term and long-term financing include the level and volatility of our earnings; our relative
competitive position in the markets in which we operate; our geographic and product diversification; our ability
to retain key personnel; our risk management policies; our cash liquidity; our capital adequacy; our corporate
lending credit risk; and legal and regulatory developments. A deterioration in any of these factors or combination
of these factors may lead rating agencies to downgrade our credit ratings, thereby increasing our cost of obtaining
unsecured funding.

Our debt ratings also can have a significant impact on certain trading revenues, particularly in those businesses
where longer term counterparty performance is critical, such as OTC derivative transactions, including credit
derivatives and interest rate swaps. In connection with certain OTC trading agreements and certain other agreements
associated with the Institutional Securities business, we would be required to provide additional collateral to certain
counterparties in the event of a downgrade by either Moody’s Investors Service or Standard & Poor’s.

Payments From Subsidiaries. We depend on dividends, distributions and other payments from our subsidiaries
to fund dividend payments and to fund all payments on our obligations, including debt obligations. Regulatory
and other legal restrictions may limit our ability to transfer funds freely, either to or from our subsidiaries. In
particular, many of our subsidiaries, including our broker-dealer subsidiaries, are subject to laws and regulations
that authorize regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds to the parent holding company, or that
prohibit such transfers altogether in certain circumstances. These laws and regulations may hinder our ability to
access funds that we may need to make payments on our obligations.

Liquidity and Funding Policies. Our liquidity and funding policies have been designed to ensure that we maintain
sufficient liquid financial resources to continue to conduct our business for an extended period in a stressed liquidity
environment. If our liquidity and funding policies are not adequate, we may be unable to access sufficient financing
to service our financial obligations when they come due, which could have a material adverse franchise or business
impact. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources”
in Part II, Item 7 for a discussion of how we monitor and manage liquidity risk.

We are exposed to the risk that third parties that are indebted to us will not perform their obligations.

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising from the default by a borrower, counterparty or other obligor when it
is unable or unwilling to meet its obligations to us. We are exposed to three distinct types of credit risk in our
businesses. We incur significant, “single-name” credit risk exposure through the Institutional Securities business.
This risk may arise, for example, from entering into swap or other derivative contracts under which
counterparties have long-term obligations to make payments to us and by extending credit to our clients through
various credit arrangements. We incur “individual consumer” credit risk in the Retail Brokerage business through
margin loans to individual investors and loans to small businesses, both of which are generally collateralized. We
incur “consumer portfolio” credit risk in the Discover business primarily through cardholder receivables. Credit
risk in a pool of cardholder receivables is generally highly diversified, without significant individual exposures,
and, accordingly, is managed on a portfolio and not a single-name basis.

The amount, duration and range of our credit exposures have been increasing over the past several years, and
may continue to do so. In recent years, we have significantly expanded our use of swaps and other derivatives
and we may continue to do so. Corporate clients are increasingly seeking loans or lending commitments from us
in connection with investment banking and other assignments. In addition, we have experienced, due to
competitive factors, increased pressure to assume longer-term credit risk, to extend credit against less liquid
collateral and to price derivatives instruments more aggressively based on the credit risks that we take. As a
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clearing member firm, we finance our customer positions and we could be held responsible for the defaults or
misconduct of our customers. Although we regularly review our credit exposures, default risk may arise from
events or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee. For more information regarding our credit risk, see
“Credit Risk” in Part II, Item 7A below.

We face strong competition from other financial services firms, which could lead to pricing pressures that
could materially adversely affect our revenue and profitability.

The financial services industry, and all of our businesses, are intensely competitive, and we expect them to
remain so. We compete with commercial banks, insurance companies, sponsors of mutual funds, hedge funds,
energy companies and other companies offering financial services in the U.S., globally and through the internet.
We compete on the basis of several factors, including transaction execution, capital or access to capital, products
and services, innovation, reputation and price. Over time, certain sectors of the financial services industry have
become considerably more concentrated, as financial institutions involved in a broad range of financial services
have been acquired by or merged into other firms. This convergence could result in our competitors gaining
greater capital and other resources, such as a broader range of products and services and geographic diversity.
We may experience pricing pressures as a result of these factors and as some of our competitors seek to increase
market share by reducing prices. For more information regarding the competitive environment in which we
operate, see “Competition” in Part I, Item 1 above.

Our ability to retain and attract qualified employees is critical to the success of our business and the
failure to do so may materially adversely affect our performance.

Our people are our most important resource and competition for qualified employees is intense. In order to attract
and retain qualified employees, we must compensate such employees at market levels. Typically, those levels
have caused employee compensation to be our greatest expense as compensation is highly variable and moves
with performance. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain qualified employees, or if compensation costs
required to attract and retain employees become more expensive, our performance, including our competitive
position, could be materially adversely affected.

We are subject to extensive regulation in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our businesses.

We are subject to extensive regulation globally and face the risk of significant intervention by regulatory
authorities in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our businesses. Among other things, we could be fined,
prohibited from engaging in some of our business activities or subject to limitations or conditions on our business
activities. Significant regulatory action against us could have material adverse financial effects, cause significant
reputational harm to us, or harm our business prospects. New laws or regulations or changes in the enforcement
of existing laws or regulations applicable to our clients may also adversely affect our business. For more
information regarding the regulatory environment in which we operate, see “Regulation” in Part I, Item 1 above.

The financial services industry faces substantial litigation and regulatory risks, and we may face damage
to our reputation and legal liability.

We have been named, from time to time, as a defendant in various legal actions, including arbitrations, class
actions, and other litigation, arising in connection with our activities as a global diversified financial services
institution. Certain of the actual or threatened legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory and/or
punitive damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. In some cases, the issuers that would
otherwise be the primary defendants in such cases are bankrupt or in financial distress.

We are also involved, from time to time, in other reviews, investigations and proceedings (both formal and
informal) by governmental and self-regulatory agencies regarding our business, including, among other things,
accounting and operational matters, certain of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines,
penalties, injunctions or other relief. The number of these investigations and proceedings has increased in recent
years with regard to many firms in the financial services industry, including us. We are also subject to risk from
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potential employee misconduct, including non-compliance with policies and improper use or disclosure of
confidential information. Substantial legal liability or significant regulatory action against us could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations or cause us significant reputational
harm, which could seriously harm our business. For more information regarding legal proceedings in which we
are involved and in particular, the Coleman Litigation, see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 below.

Conflicts of interest are increasing and a failure to appropriately deal with conflicts of interest could
adversely affect our businesses.

Our reputation is one of our most important assets. As we have expanded the scope of our businesses and our
client base, we increasingly have to address potential conflicts of interest, including those relating to our
proprietary activities. For example, conflicts may arise between our position as a financial advisor in a merger
transaction and a principal investment we hold in one of the parties to the transaction. In addition, hedge funds
and private equity funds are an increasingly important portion of our client base, and also compete with us in a
number of our businesses. We have procedures and controls that are designed to address conflicts of interest.
However, appropriately dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult and our reputation could be
damaged if we fail, or appear to fail, to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest. In addition, the SEC and
other federal and state regulators have increased their scrutiny of potential conflicts of interest. It is possible that
potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to litigation or enforcement actions. It is possible that the
regulatory scrutiny of, and litigation in connection with, conflicts of interest will make our clients less willing to
enter into transactions in which such a conflict may occur, and will adversely affect our businesses.

We are subject to tax contingencies that could adversely affect reserves.

We are subject to the income tax laws of the U.S., its states and municipalities and those of the foreign
jurisdictions in which we have significant business operations. These tax laws are complex and subject to
different interpretations by the taxpayer and the relevant governmental taxing authorities. We must make
judgments and interpretations about the application of these inherently complex tax laws when determining the
provision for income taxes and must also make estimates about when in the future certain items affect taxable
income in the various tax jurisdictions. Disputes over interpretations of the tax laws may be settled with the
taxing authority upon examination or audit.

We are subject to operational risk and an operational failure could materially adversely affect our
businesses.

Operational risk refers to the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and/or
systems. Operational Risk also refers to the risk that external events, such as external changes (e.g., natural
disasters, terrorist attacks and/or health epidemics), failures or frauds, will result in losses to our businesses. We
incur operational risk across all of our business activities, including revenue generating activities (e.g., such as
sales and trading) and support functions (e.g., information technology and facilities management).

Our businesses are highly dependent on our ability to process, on a daily basis, a large number of transactions
across numerous and diverse markets in many currencies and the transactions we process have become
increasingly complex. We perform the functions required to operate our different businesses either by ourselves
or through agreements with third parties. We rely on the ability of our employees, our internal systems and
systems at technology centers operated by third parties to process high numbers of transactions. We also face the
risk of operational failure or termination of any of the clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses or other
financial intermediaries we use to facilitate our securities transactions. In the event of a breakdown or improper
operation of our or third-party’s systems or improper action by third parties or employees, we could suffer
financial loss, an impairment to our liquidity, a disruption of our businesses, regulatory sanctions and damage to
our reputation. For more information regarding operational risk, see “Operational Risk™ in Part II, Section 7A
below.
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Our commodities activities subject us to extensive regulation, potential catastrophic events and
environmental risks and regulation.

In connection with the commodities activities in our Institutional Securities business, we engage in the
production, storage, transportation, marketing and trading of power, natural gas and petroleum. In addition, we
are the sole shareholder of wholesale electrical generators. As a result of these activities, we are subject to
extensive and evolving energy, environmental, safety and other governmental laws and regulations. Our
commodities business also exposes us to the risk of unforeseen and catastrophic events, including leaks, spills
and terrorist attacks.

The power generation facilities in which we are the sole shareholder are subject to wide-ranging U.S. federal,
state and local environmental laws and regulations in the U.S. and abroad relating to air quality, water quality
and hazardous and solid waste management. They also are regulated under U.S. health and safety regulations.
These laws may require capital expenditures as well as remediation where the facility has failed to comply with
environmental, health or safety rules or has released pollutants into the environment. Additionally, the owners of
such facilities may be subject to fines or penalties for failure to comply with environmental, health or safety
rules.

The U.S. water pollution laws and numerous specific oil spill anti-pollution statutes apply to our oil trading
activities to the extent we own petroleum in storage or during waterborne or overland transit or we arrange for
transportation or storage. In the event of an oil spill, one or more entities we own could be held responsible for
remediation as well as property and natural resource damages. Other U.S. federal and state laws apply to the
specifications of the gasoline and diesel fuel that we blend and import and provide for substantial penalties in the
event of non-compliance.

Oil pollution laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions also apply to us in certain instances when we trade petroleum
internationally and/or charter vessels. Like the U.S. statutes, these laws often provide for penalties and damage
assessments should a spill event occur.

Although we have attempted to mitigate our pollution and other environmental risks by, among other measures,
adopting appropriate policies and procedures for power plant operations, monitoring the quality of petroleum
storage facilities and transport vessels and implementing emergency response programs, these actions may not
prove adequate to address every contingency. In addition, insurance covering some of these risks may not be
available, and the proceeds from insurance recovery, if any, may not be adequate to cover liabilities with respect
to particular incidents. As a result, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by
these events.

We also expect the other laws and regulations affecting our energy business to increase in both scope and
complexity. During the past several years, intensified scrutiny of the energy markets by federal, state and local
authorities in the U.S. and abroad and the public has resulted in increased regulatory and legal enforcement,
litigation and remedial proceedings involving companies engaged in the activities in which we are engaged. We
may incur substantial costs in complying with current or future laws and regulations and our overall businesses
and reputation may be adversely affected by the current legal environment.

We are subject to numerous political, economic, legal, operational and other risks as a result of our
international operations which could adversely impact our businesses in many ways.

We are subject to political, economic, legal, operational and other risks that are inherent in operating in many
countries, including risks of possible nationalization, expropriation, price controls, capital controls, exchange
controls and other restrictive governmental actions, as well as the outbreak of hostilities. In many countries, the
laws and regulations applicable to the securities and financial services industries are uncertain and evolving, and
it may be difficult for us to determine the exact requirements of local laws in every market. Our inability to
remain in compliance with local laws in a particular market could have a significant and negative effect not only
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on our businesses in that market but also on our reputation generally. We are also subject to the enhanced risk
that transactions we structure might not be legally enforceable in all cases.

In the last several years, various emerging market countries have experienced severe economic and financial
disruptions, including significant devaluations of their currencies, capital and currency exchange controls, and
low or negative growth rates in their economies. These conditions could adversely impact our businesses and
increase volatility in financial markets generally.

The emergence of a pandemic or other widespread health emergency, or concerns over the possibility of such an
emergency, could create economic and financial disruptions in emerging markets and other areas throughout the
world, and could lead to operational difficulties (including travel limitations) that could impair our ability to
manage our businesses around the world.

We may be unable to fully integrate future acquisitions or joint ventures into our businesses and systems.

We expect to grow in part through acquisitions and joint ventures. To the extent we make acquisitions or enter
into combinations or joint ventures, we face numerous risks and uncertainties combining or integrating the
relevant businesses and systems, including the need to combine accounting and data processing systems and
management controls and to integrate relationships with clients and business partners. In the case of joint
ventures, we are subject to additional risks and uncertainties in that we may be dependent upon, and subject to
liability, losses or reputational damage relating to, systems, controls and personnel that are not under our control.
In addition, conflicts or disagreements between us and our joint venture partners may negatively impact the
benefits to be achieved by the joint venture.

Our Discover business subjects us to risks that impact the credit card industry.

The performance of our Discover business is subject to numerous risks that impact the credit card industry,
including rising cost of funds pressuring spreads; slow industry growth with rising payment rates; future loan loss
rate uncertainty, especially given bankruptcy reform and changing minimum payment requirements; and a
consolidating industry with competitive pressures and increasing marketing constraints. Changes in economic
variables, such as the number and size of personal bankruptcy filings, the rate of unemployment and the level of
consumer confidence and consumer debt may substantially affect consumer loan levels and credit quality. Our
financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by these factors.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Morgan Stanley, like other well-known seasoned issuers, from time to time receives written comments from the
staff of the SEC regarding its periodic or current reports under the Exchange Act. There are no comments that
remain unresolved that Morgan Stanley received not less than 180 days before the end of its fiscal year to which
this report relates.
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Item 2.  Properties.

Morgan Stanley has offices, operations and processing centers and warehouse facilities located throughout the
U.S., and certain subsidiaries maintain offices and other facilities in international locations. Morgan Stanley’s
properties that are not owned are leased on terms and for durations that are reflective of commercial standards in
the communities where these properties are located. Morgan Stanley believes the facilities it owns or occupies
are adequate for the purposes for which they are currently used and are well maintained. Our principal offices

consist of the following properties:

Owned/ Approximate Square Footage
Location Leased Lease Expiration as of November 30, 2005*

U.S. Locations
1585 Broadway Owned N/A 925,000 square feet
New York, New York
(Executive Office)
2000 Westchester Avenue Owned N/A 748,000 square feet
Purchase, New York
Westchester County, New York
(Retail Brokerage Headgquarters)
2500 Lake Cook Road Owned N/A 1,200,000 square feet
Riverwoods, Illinois
(Discover Executive Office)
New York, New York Leased 2006 — 2014 2,400,000 square feet
Brooklyn, New York Leased 2013 420,000 square feet
Jersey City, New Jersey Leased 2008 — 2013 440,000 square feet
International Locations
25 Cabot Square, Canary Wharf Owned** N/A 450,000 square feet
(London Headquarters)
Canary Wharf Leased 2006 — 2028 1,170,000 square feet
Sapporo’s Yebisu Garden Place, Leased | Option to cancel in 2006, 280,000 square feet

Ebisu, Shibuya-ku
(Tokyo Headquarters)

or at any time thereafter

k

ok

The indicated total aggregate square footage leased does not include space occupied by Morgan Stanley securities branch offices.

Morgan Stanley holds the freehold interest in the land and building.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

In addition to the matters described below, in the normal course of business, Morgan Stanley has been named,
from time to time, as a defendant in various legal actions, including arbitrations, class actions, and other
litigation, arising in connection with its activities as a global diversified financial services institution. Certain of
the actual or threatened legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or
claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. In some cases, the issuers that would otherwise be the primary
defendants in such cases are bankrupt or in financial distress.

Morgan Stanley is also involved, from time to time, in other reviews, investigations and proceedings (both
formal and informal) by governmental and self-regulatory agencies regarding Morgan Stanley’s business,
including, among other matters, accounting and operational matters, certain of which may result in adverse
judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. The number of these reviews, investigations
and proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms in the financial services industry,
including Morgan Stanley.

Morgan Stanley contests liability and/or the amount of damages in each pending matter. In view of the inherent
difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases where claimants seek substantial or
indeterminate damages or where investigations and proceedings are in the early stages, Morgan Stanley cannot
predict with certainty the loss or range of loss, if any, related to such matters, how such matters will be resolved,
when they will ultimately be resolved, or what the eventual settlement, fine, penalty or other relief, if any, might
be. Subject to the foregoing, and except for the pending matters described in Note 9 in “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8, Morgan Stanley believes, based on current knowledge and after
consultation with counsel, that the outcome of the pending matters will not have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial condition of Morgan Stanley, although the outcome of such matters could be material to
Morgan Stanley’s operating results for a particular future period, depending on, among other things, the level of
Morgan Stanley’s revenues or income for such period.

Coleman Litigation.

On May 8, 2003, Coleman (Parent) Holdings Inc. (“CPH”) filed a complaint against Morgan Stanley in the
Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit for Palm Beach County. The complaint relates to the merger
between The Coleman Company, Inc. (“Coleman”) and Sunbeam, Inc. (“Sunbeam”) in 1998. The complaint, as
amended, alleges that CPH was induced to agree to the transaction with Sunbeam based on certain financial
misrepresentations, and it asserts claims against Morgan Stanley for aiding and abetting fraud, conspiracy and
punitive damages. Shortly before trial, which commenced in April 2005, the trial court granted, in part, a motion
for entry of a default judgment against Morgan Stanley and ordered that portions of CPH’s complaint, including
those setting forth CPH’s primary allegations against Morgan Stanley, be read to the jury and deemed established
for all purposes in the action. In May 2005, the jury returned a verdict in favor of CPH and awarded CPH $604
million in compensatory damages and $850 million in punitive damages. On June 23, 2005, the trial court issued
a final judgment in favor of CPH in the amount of $1,578 million, which includes prejudgment interest and
excludes certain payments received by CPH in settlement of related claims against others.

On June 27, 2005, Morgan Stanley filed a notice of appeal with the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth
District of Florida and posted a supersedeas bond, which automatically stayed execution of the judgment pending
appeal. Morgan Stanley filed its initial brief in support of its appeal on December 7, 2005. Morgan Stanley’s
appeal seeks to reverse the judgment of the trial court on several grounds and asks that the case be remanded for
entry of a judgment in favor of Morgan Stanley or, in the alternative, for a new trial.

IPO Fee Litigation.

Starting in late 1998, purported class actions, later captioned In re Public Offering Fee Antitrust Litigation and In
re Issuer Plaintiff Initial Public Offering Fee Antitrust Litigation, were initiated in the U.S. District Court for the
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Southern District of New York (the “SDNY”) against Morgan Stanley and numerous other underwriters. The
consolidated proceedings, one on behalf of purchasers and the other on behalf of issuers of certain shares in
initial public offerings (“IPOs”), allege that defendants conspired to fix the underwriters’ spread at 7% in IPOs of
U.S. companies in the $20 million to $80 million range, in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. The
complaints seek treble damages and injunctive relief. Plaintiffs’ claims for damages in the purchaser actions have
been dismissed, but the claims for injunctive relief remain. Plaintiffs’ claims for damages and injunctive relief
remain in the issuer actions. Plaintiffs moved for class certification in both actions, and defendants opposed that
motion on May 25, 2005. On October 25, 2005, plaintiffs moved for summary judgment which defendants
opposed.

IPO Allocation Matters.

In March 2001, a purported class action, now captioned In re Initial Public Offering Antitrust Litigation, was
initiated in the SDNY against Morgan Stanley and numerous other underwriters of various IPOs. The
consolidated amended complaint alleges that defendants required customers that wanted allocations of “hot” IPO
securities to pay undisclosed and excessive underwriters’ compensation in the form of increased brokerage
commissions and to buy shares of securities offered in the IPOs after the IPOs were completed (“tie-in
purchases”) at escalating price levels higher than the IPO price (a practice plaintiffs refer to as “laddering”). The
complaint alleges violations of federal and/or state antitrust laws, including Section 1 of the Sherman Act. On
September 28, 2005, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit (the “Second Circuit”) reversed the district
court’s dismissal of this matter. On November 2, 2005, defendants filed a petition for rehearing en banc to the
Second Circuit.

Also beginning in March 2001, numerous purported class actions, now captioned In re Initial Public Offering
Securities Litigation, were filed in the SDNY against certain issuers of IPO securities, certain individual officers
of those issuers, Morgan Stanley and other underwriters of those IPOs, purportedly on behalf of purchasers of
stock in the IPOs or the aftermarket. These complaints make factual allegations similar to the complaint in the
antitrust action described above, but claim violations of the federal securities laws, including Sections 11 and
12(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. Some of the
complaints also allege that continuous “buy” recommendations by the defendants’ research analysts improperly
increased or sustained the prices at which the securities traded after the IPOs. On February 19, 2003, the
underwriter defendants’ joint motion to dismiss was denied, except as to certain specified offerings. On
October 13, 2004, the Court granted in large part plaintiffs’ motions for class certification in six focus cases
selected for class certification briefing. On June 30, 2005, the Second Circuit granted defendants’ petition for
permission to appeal the SDNY’s order granting plaintiffs’ motion for class certification.

On June 10, 2004, plaintiffs and issuer defendants entered into a definitive settlement agreement under which
insurers of the issuers would guarantee recovery of at least $1 billion by class members. As part of the
settlement, the settling issuer defendants agreed to assign to class members certain claims they had against the
underwriters. Starting in late 2004, purported assignees of certain issuers filed suits in the SDNY against several
underwriter defendants, including Morgan Stanley, on the ground that underwriters breached the underwriting
agreement and related duties by allocating shares in each company’s IPO to customers who allegedly paid the
underwriters “excess compensation.” On October 11, 2005, the Court dismissed the complaint with leave to
replead. Plaintiff filed a second amended complaint on October 28, 2005, re-alleging a breach of fiduciary duty
claim, and defendants moved to dismiss on November 21, 2005.

On April 2, 2002, a purported class action complaint, captioned Breakaway Solutions, Inc. v. Morgan Stanley &
Co. Incorporated, et al., was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery against Morgan Stanley and two other
underwriters. The complaint was brought on behalf of a class of issuers that issued IPO securities from January 1,
1998 to October 31, 2000 pursuant to underwriting agreements with defendants and whose securities increased in
value by 15 percent or more within 30 days following the IPO. The complaint alleges that defendants allocated
underpriced stock to certain of defendants’ favored clients and, directly or indirectly, shared in portions of the
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profits of such favored clients pursuant to side agreements or understandings, with the alleged effect of depriving
issuers of millions of dollars in IPO proceeds. The complaint alleges breach of contract, breach of covenant of
good faith, breach of fiduciary duty, indemnification or contribution and unjust enrichment and restitution. The
Court dismissed plaintiff’s claims except for its breach of fiduciary duty claim.

On September 30, 2005, Breakaway Solutions, Inc. (“Breakaway”) filed another complaint in an individual
action against Morgan Stanley and two other underwriters in the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The
complaint alleges that defendants underpriced Breakaway’s IPO stock, allocated this underpriced stock to
favored clients pursuant to a profit sharing arrangement, and that Morgan Stanley improperly sold Breakaway
shares before expiration of the lock-up period. The complaint alleges breach of fiduciary duty and breach of the
covenant of good faith against all the defendants and fraud and unjust enrichment against Morgan Stanley. This
action has been stayed by agreement of the parties.

Mutual Fund Sales Practices.

From October 2003 to December 2003, nine purported class actions, now consolidated and captioned In re
Morgan Stanley and Van Kampen Mutual Funds Securities Litigation, were filed in the SDNY against Morgan
Stanley, including certain subsidiaries and various Morgan Stanley and Van Kampen mutual funds, and certain
officers of Morgan Stanley and its affiliates and certain trustees of the named Morgan Stanley funds. The
consolidated amended complaint was filed on behalf of all persons or entities, other than defendants, who
purchased or held shares of certain Morgan Stanley or Van Kampen mutual funds from October 1, 1999 to
November 17, 2003 against Morgan Stanley, including certain subsidiaries and various Morgan Stanley and Van
Kampen funds. Plaintiffs allege that defendants gave their sales force economic incentives to promote the sale of
proprietary mutual funds and that they improperly failed to disclose these economic incentives. The complaint
also alleges that defendants improperly used Rule 12b-1 fees and that the named funds paid excessive
commissions to MSDWTI in connection with the sale of proprietary funds. The complaint alleges violations of
Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5 thereunder,
and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, Section 206 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the “Investment
Advisers Act”), Sections 34(b), 36(b) and 48(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “Investment
Company Act”), and of common law fiduciary duties. The consolidated amended complaint seeks, among other
things, compensatory damages, rescissionary damages, fees and costs. On July 2, 2004, defendants filed a motion
to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. On March 9, 2005, plaintiffs filed a Motion for Leave to file a
Supplemental Pleading that would, among other things, expand the allegations and alleged class to encompass
the sale of certain non-proprietary mutual funds. Both motions are pending.

On February 20, 2004, a derivative action, captioned Starr v. Van Kampen Investments Inc., et al., was filed in
the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois on behalf of various Van Kampen mutual funds
against Van Kampen Investments Inc., Van Kampen Asset Management Inc., Morgan Stanley and individual
trustees of the funds. The case was subsequently transferred to the SDNY for coordination with In re Morgan
Stanley and Van Kampen Mutual Funds Securities Litigation. The complaint alleges violations of the Investment
Company Act, the Investment Advisers Act, and common law breach of fiduciary duty with respect to Van
Kampen’s participation in certain mutual fund marketing programs operated by MSDWI. Plaintiff seeks, among
other things, to remove current trustees, to rescind the management contracts for the Van Kampen Funds and to
replace the manager, disgorgement, monetary damages, including punitive damages and interest, and fees and
expenses. Defendants have moved to dismiss the action, which is currently stayed pending certain procedural
developments.

Late Trading and Market Timing.

Starting in July 2003, Morgan Stanley received subpoenas and requests for information from various regulatory
and governmental agencies, including the SEC, the NYSE, and various states, in connection with industry-wide
investigations of broker-dealers and mutual fund complexes relating to possible late trading and market timing of
mutual funds. Morgan Stanley continues to cooperate with and provide information to regulators in connection
with their inquiries.
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AOL Time Warner Litigation.

Since 2003, Morgan Stanley has been named as a defendant in a number of state court actions involving AOL
Time Warner, including cases in Alaska, California, Ohio and West Virginia. All these cases also name as
defendants AOL Time Warner, numerous individual defendants, AOL Time Warner’s auditors, and other
investment banking defendants. The complaints allege that AOL Time Warner issued false and misleading
financial statements by, among other things, inflating advertising revenues. These complaints name Morgan
Stanley in its capacity as financial advisor to Time Warner in the merger of America Online and Time Warner
and/or as underwriter of bond offerings completed in 2001 and 2002. The complaints allege violations of
Section 11 of the Securities Act and Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act (and Rule 14a-9 thereunder) in
connection with the merger registration statement, as well as various state and common laws, and violations of
Section 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act in connection with the bond registration statements.

In Alaska, a claim for negligent misrepresentation remains against Morgan Stanley. The Alaska plaintiffs have
also amended their claims under the Alaska Securities Act, and Morgan Stanley’s renewed motion to dismiss
these claims is pending. In the coordinated California proceedings, claims based on California common law fraud
and Sections 25400 and 25500 of the California Corporations Code remain against Morgan Stanley. In the Ohio
action, state securities law claims remain against Morgan Stanley. Motions to dismiss remain pending in the
West Virginia action.

On January 30, 2006, numerous new individual actions were filed against Morgan Stanley and other defendants
by plaintiffs opting out of the class settlement of a previously filed federal class action. The claims against
Morgan Stanley in that class action had been dismissed by the SDNY. The new complaints contain similar
factual allegations against Morgan Stanley, and assert similar claims, but also include a claim for violation of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act.

LVMH Litigation.

On October 30, 2002, the French company LVMH Moet Hennessey Louis Vuitton (“LVMH”) initiated
proceedings in the Paris Commercial Court against Morgan Stanley alleging that, between 1999 and 2002, in
research reports and newspaper interviews concerning the luxury goods sector, Morgan Stanley failed in its
duties of independence and impartiality and denigrated LVMH to the benefit of Gucci, a Morgan Stanley client.

In a judgment dated January 12, 2004, the Paris Commercial Court awarded LVMH €30 million for damage to its
image and appointed an expert to assist it in assessing whether LVMH is entitled to additional damages, and, if
s0, in what amount. On October 18, 2004, LVMH filed submissions before the expert claiming €182.9 million in
additional damages. On February 12, 2004, Morgan Stanley filed a notice of appeal against the judgment. The
parties are in the process of filing appeal submissions. LVMH’s appeal submissions include a claim for
additional damages of €125 million (€106.9 million of which is also the subject of LVMH’s claim before the
expert appointed by the Commercial Court to assess additional damages) beyond the €30 million previously
awarded to LVMH by the Commercial Court for damage to its image. The appeal is listed to be heard on
March 31, 2006.

Indonesian Litigation.

In November 2003, two proceedings were initiated in the Indonesian District Courts by two members of the Asia
Pulp & Paper Group (PT Indah Kiat Pulp & Paper Tbk and PT Lontar Papyrus Pulp & Paper Industry,
respectively) against Morgan Stanley and thirteen other defendants, with respect to two bond issues in 1994 and
1995, guaranteed by plaintiffs, in which Morgan Stanley acted as underwriter. The claims allege that the bond
issues were invalid and contrary to Indonesian law, and allege damages in the amount of all principal and interest
paid under the bonds as well as other amounts. In September 2004, the Indonesian District Courts issued their
judgments, declaring the bond issues to be illegal and void, holding that defendants (including Morgan Stanley)
had committed unspecified tortious acts, but awarding no damages. Defendants appealed those decisions to the
Indonesian High Court. In September 2005 and November 2005, respectively, the Indonesian High Court upheld
on appeal the decisions of the Indonesian District Court in favor of the plaintiff. Morgan Stanley and others are
appealing those decisions to the Indonesian Supreme Court in Jakarta.

In April 2004, another proceeding was filed in the Indonesian District Courts by PT Lontar Papyrus against
Morgan Stanley and 28 other defendants, alleging that the defendants violated injunctions issued by the
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Indonesian District Court in the first claim brought by PT Lontar Papyrus and conspired to cause the failure of
plaintiff’s restructuring negotiations. Plaintiff seeks damages in respect of losses allegedly suffered. On
September 28, 2005, the Indonesian District Court rejected the plaintiff’s claim against Morgan Stanley.

In October 2004, an additional proceeding was filed in the Indonesian District Courts by APP International
Finance Company BV, a member of the Asia Pulp & Paper Group and the issuer of the 1995 bond issue, against
Morgan Stanley and eighteen other defendants, making allegations similar to those in the November 2003 claim
brought by PT Lontar Papyrus. Plaintiff seeks damages in respect of losses allegedly suffered.

In January 2005, an additional proceeding was filed in the Indonesian District Courts by Indah Kiat International
Finance Company BV, a member of the Asia Pulp & Paper Group and the issuer of the 1994 bond issue, against
Morgan Stanley and other defendants, making allegations similar to those in the November 2003 claim brought
by PT Indah Kiat. Plaintiff seeks damages in respect of losses allegedly suffered.

Email Matters.

In December 2005, Morgan Stanley reached an agreement in principle with the staff of the Division of
Enforcement of the SEC (the “Staff”) to resolve the Staff’s investigation relating to MS&Co.’s production of
emails. Pursuant to the agreement in principle, MS&Co. would be charged with a violation of Section 17(b) of
the Exchange Act and Rule 17a-4(j) thereunder, and pay a $15 million civil penalty (a portion of which will be
shared with other regulators), and be subject to other relief. The Staff has not yet presented the proposed
settlement to the Commission and no assurance can be given that it will be accepted. In addition, MSDWI is
discussing resolution of related charges with the NASD, although no agreement has been reached.

Retail Brokerage Employment Matters.

Several financial services firms, including Morgan Stanley, have been named in purported class actions alleging
that certain present and former employees in California are entitled to overtime pay and other wages and that
certain deductions from employees’ compensation are improper under state law. On July 12, 2004, one of these
purported class actions, captioned Garett v. Morgan Stanley & Co., Inc., and Morgan Stanley DW Inc., was filed
in California Superior Court in San Diego. On September 14, 2004, defendants filed their answer, and on
September 15, 2004, defendants removed the action to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of
California. On July 18, 2005, plaintiffs filed a first amended complaint in that court seeking damages in an
unspecified amount and other relief on behalf of certain present and former employees in California. On
September 20, 2005, Morgan Stanley entered into an agreement in principle to resolve the matter, which
agreement is, among other things, subject to court approval.

Complaints raising wage and hour allegations against Morgan Stanley have also been filed in New Jersey and
New York. On September 1, 2005, a purported class action, captioned Steinberg v. Morgan Stanley & Co., Inc.
and Morgan Stanley DW Inc., was filed in the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Division, Bergen County. On
October 7, 2005, the matter was removed to the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey. Plaintiff filed a
first amended complaint on January 13, 2006 seeking damages in an unspecified amount and relief on behalf of
certain present and former employees in New Jersey and nationwide.

On September 9, 2005, a purported class action, captioned Gasman v. Morgan Stanley, was filed in the SDNY.
The complaint seeks damages and other relief on behalf of certain present and former employees in New York.
On September 23, 2005, a purported class action, captioned, Roles v. Morgan Stanley et al., was filed in the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of New York. The complaint seeks damages and other relief on behalf of
certain present and former employees in New York and nationwide. On November 3, 2005, Morgan Stanley filed
a motion to transfer the Roles matter to the SDNY for purposes of consolidating the Roles and Gasman matters
for pre-trial proceedings.

Morgan Stanley has also been the subject of gender discrimination claims, including threatened class action
litigation, challenging certain of Morgan Stanley’s employment practices in its retail brokerage business.
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Shareholder Derivative Matters.

Beginning on July 19, 2005, shareholder plaintiffs filed purported derivative actions on behalf of Morgan Stanley
against certain present and former directors and its former chief legal officer based on, among other things,
agreements to pay the former CEO and co-President of Morgan Stanley and the handling of a lawsuit resulting in
an adverse judgment against Morgan Stanley. Four lawsuits filed in the SDNY have been consolidated under the
heading In re Morgan Stanley Derivative Litigation, and on January 23, 2006, plaintiffs filed a second amended
consolidated complaint that includes claims for, among other things, violations of Sections 10(b) and 14(a) of the
Exchange Act and breach of fiduciary duties and seeks, among other things, rescission of the severance and
compensation agreements and damages.

On July 19, 2005, a derivative lawsuit was filed in a New York state court challenging the agreement to pay the
former co-President of Morgan Stanley and seeking an accounting for losses as a result thereof.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended
November 30, 2005.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Morgan Stanley’s common stock trades on the NYSE and the Pacific Exchange under the symbol “MS.” At
November 30, 2005, Morgan Stanley had approximately 117,000 holders of record; however, Morgan Stanley
believes the number of beneficial owners of common stock exceeds this number.

The table below sets forth, for each of the last eight fiscal quarters, the low and high sales prices per share of
Morgan Stanley’s common stock as reported by Bloomberg Financial Markets and the amount of any cash
dividends declared per share of Morgan Stanley’s common stock.

Low High
Sale Price  Sale Price  Dividends

Fiscal 2005:

Fourth Quarter . ......... ... . .t $50.61 $57.98 $0.27

Third QUArtEr . ... ..ottt et et e e $48.61  $54.61 $0.27

Second QUATET . . ..ottt e e $47.66  $60.40 $0.27

First QUAarter . . ... ...ttt et e e e e $51.00  $60.51 $0.27
Fiscal 2004:

Fourth Quarter . ......... .. ... .t $47.27  $54.00 $0.25

Third QUArtEr . ... ..ottt et et e e $46.54  $54.74 $0.25

Second QUATET . . ..ottt e e $50.22  $62.83 $0.25

First QUAarter . . ... ...ttt et e e e e $54.40  $62.16 $0.25
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The table below sets forth the information with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of Morgan Stanley of
its common stock during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended November 30, 2005.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Period
Month #1 (Sept. 1, 2005—Sept. 30, 2005)

Equity Anti-dilution Program (A)
Capital Management Program (B)
Employee Transactions (D)

Month #2 (Oct. 1, 2005—Oct. 31, 2005)

Equity Anti-dilution Program (A) ......
Capital Management Program (B)

Employee Transactions (D)

Month #3 (Nov. 1, 2005—Nov. 30, 2005)

Equity Anti-dilution Program (A)
Capital Management Program (B)
Employee Transactions (D)

Total

Equity Anti-dilution Program (A)
Capital Management Program (B)
Employee Transactions (D)

Approximate Dollar

Total Number of Value of Shares
Total Shares Purchased that May Yet Be
Number of  Average Price  As Part of Publicly = Purchased Under
Shares Paid Per Announced Plans the Plans or
Purchased Share or Programs (C) Programs
1,000,000 $52.28 1,000,000 (A)
— N/A — $600
4,309,760 $52.24 N/A N/A
12,132,326 $52.99 12,132,326 (A)
— N/A — $600
149,314 $53.69 N/A N/A
9,283,024 $53.53 9,283,024 (A)
— N/A — $600
63,396 $54.71 N/A N/A
22,415,350 $53.18 22,415,350 (A)
— N/A — $600
4,522,470 $52.33 N/A N/A

(A) Morgan Stanley’s board of directors authorized this program to purchase common stock to offset the dilutive impact of grants and
exercises of awards under Morgan Stanley’s equity-based compensation and benefit plans. The program was publicly announced on
January 7, 1999 and has no set expiration or termination date. There is no maximum amount of shares that may be purchased under the

program.

(B) Morgan Stanley’s board of directors authorized this program to purchase common stock for capital management purposes. The program
was publicly announced on February 12, 1998 at which time up to $3 billion of stock was authorized to be purchased. The program was
subsequently increased by $1 billion on December 18, 1998, $1 billion on December 20, 1999 and $1.5 billion on June 20, 2000. This
program has a remaining capacity of $600 million at November 30, 2005 and has no set expiration or termination date.

(C) Share purchases under publicly announced programs are made pursuant to open-market purchases, Rule 10b5-1 plans or privately
negotiated transactions (including with employee benefit plans) as market conditions warrant and at prices Morgan Stanley deems

appropriate.
(D

=

Includes: (1) shares delivered or attested to in satisfaction of the exercise price and/or tax withholding obligations by holders of employee

stock options (granted under employee stock compensation plans) who exercised options; (2) restricted shares withheld (under the terms
of grants under employee stock compensation plans) to offset tax withholding obligations that occur upon vesting and release of
restricted shares; and (3) shares withheld (under the terms of grants under employee stock compensation plans) to offset tax withholding
obligations that occur upon the delivery of outstanding shares underlying restricted stock units. Morgan Stanley’s employee stock
compensation plans provide that the value of the shares delivered or attested, or withheld, shall be the average of the high and low price
of Morgan Stanley’s common stock on the date the relevant transaction occurs.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

MORGAN STANLEY

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Income Statement Data:
Revenues:

Investment banking ............ .. .. L i

Principal transactions:

Trading .. ...
Investments . ....... ... ..
COMMISSIONS . .\ ottt et e e e e e s

Fees:

Asset management, distribution and administration ............
Merchant, cardmember andother . ..........................
Servicing and securitization iNCOME . . . . ... ...vvuneenneennnenn. .
Interest and dividends . .. ....... ..

Total TEVENUES . . ...ttt
Interest eXpense . ..........o..iiii i
Provision for consumer loan losses . ............ ... ... ... .......

NELTEVENUES . . v vt ottt et et et ettt enes

Non-interest expenses:

Compensation and benefits ............. ... .. ... ... .. ...
Other . ...
Restructuring and other charges . ............ ... ... .. ... ...
September 11 related insurance recoveries, net .. .............

Total nON-iNterest EXPeNSes . ... ...vueunerneneenennennen

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and cumulative effect of accounting change,

0 T PP
Losses from unconsolidated investees ...........................
Provision for income taxes . .............itiiit i
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption . . . .

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of

accounting change, net ............... .. il

Discontinued operations:

Loss from discontinued operations . . .. .................oo...
Income tax benefit .......... ... . ... ... . il

Loss on discontinued operations . ...............c...ouen....
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ......................

NEtINCOME . .ottt ettt et e e e e e et e et e et

Earnings applicable to common shares(2) ........................

Morgan Stanley 1

Fiscal Year(1)
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
$ 3,843 $ 3341 $ 2,440 $ 2478 $ 3,413
7,365 5,510 6,262 3,521 5,600
981 607 110 25) (371)
3,363 3,264 2,887 3,191 3,066
4,958 4,473 3,814 4,033 4,304
1,323 1,317 1,377 1,421 1,348
1,609 1,921 1,922 2,032 1,861
28,175 18,584 15,738 15,876 24,112
464 324 226 399 217
52,081 39,341 34,776 32,926 43,550
24,425 14,707 12,693 12,515 20,491
878 926 1,266 1,337 1,051
26,778 23,708 20,817 19,074 22,008
11,313 9,853 8,522 7,910 9,352
8,355 7,037 6,135 6,070 6,847
— — — 235 —
251) — — — _
19,417 16,890 14,657 14,215 16,199
7,361 6,818 6,160 4,859 5,809
311 328 279 77 30
1,858 1,856 1,707 1,625 2,076
— 45 154 87 50
5,192 4,589 4,020 3,070 3,653
(486) (172) (393) (138) (124)
184 69 160 56 51
(302) (103) (233) (82) (73)
49 — — — 59)

$ 4939 $4486 $ 3,787 $ 2,988 $ 3,521

$ 4939 $4486 $ 3,787 $ 2,988 $ 3,489




Per Share Data:
Earnings per basic share:
Income from continuing

operations . ............

Loss on discontinued

operations .............

Cumulative effect of

accounting change, net . . .

Earnings per basic

share .............

Earnings per diluted share:
Income from continuing

operations .............

Loss on discontinued

operations . ............

Cumulative effect of

accounting change, net . . .

Earnings per diluted

share .............

Book value per common share . . .
Dividends per common share . . . .

Balance Sheet and Other
Operating Data:

Total assets . .................
Consumer loans, net ...........
Total capital(3) ...............
Long-term borrowings(3) ... ....
Shareholders’ equity .. .........

Return on average common

shareholders’ equity .........
Average common and equivalent
shares(2) ..................

(1) Certain prior-period information has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
(2) Amounts shown are used to calculate earnings per basic share.

Fiscal Year(1)

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
4.94 4.25 3.74 2.84 3.33
(0.29) (0.10) 0.22) (0.08) 0.07)
0.05 — — — (0.05)
4.70 4.15 3.52 2.76 321
4.81 4.15 3.66 2.76 3.23
(0.29) (0.09) 0.21) (0.07) (0.07)
0.05 — — — (0.05)
4.57 4.06 3.45 2.69 3.11
27.59 25.95 22.93 20.24 18.64
1.08 1.00 0.92 0.92 0.92
898,523 747,334 602,843 529,499 482,628
22,916 20,226 19,382 23,014 19,677
125,891 110,793 82,769 65,936 61,633
96,709 82,587 57,902 44,051 40,917
29,182 28,206 24,867 21,885 20,716
17.3% 16.8% 16.5% 14.1% 18.0%

1,049,896,047

1,080,121,708

1,076,754,740

1,083,270,783

1,086,121,508

(3) These amounts exclude the current portion of long-term borrowings and include Capital Units and junior subordinated debt issued to

capital trusts.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.

Introduction.

Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading market positions in
each of its business segments—Institutional Securities, Retail Brokerage, Asset Management and Discover. The
Company, through its subsidiaries and affiliates, provides its products and services to a large and diversified
group of clients and customers, including corporations, governments, financial institutions and individuals. The
Company’s Institutional Securities business includes capital raising, financial advisory services, including advice
on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; corporate lending; sales, trading,
financing and market-making activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income securities and
related products, including foreign exchange and commodities; benchmark indices and risk management
analytics; research; and investments. The Company’s Retail Brokerage business provides brokerage and
investment advisory services covering various investment alternatives; financial and wealth planning services;
annuity and insurance products; credit and other lending products; banking and cash management and credit
solutions; retirement services; and trust and fiduciary services. The Company’s Asset Management business
provides global asset management products and services in equities, fixed income and alternative investment
products through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s
representatives; a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners and
other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional sales channel. The Company’s Discover business offers
Discover®-branded credit cards and other consumer products and services, and includes the operations of
Discover Network, which operates a merchant and cash access network for Discover Network branded cards, and
includes PULSE EFT Association LP (“PULSE®”), an automated teller machine/debit and electronic funds
transfer network. Morgan Stanley-branded and affinity credit cards issued on the MasterCard network and other
consumer finance products and services in the U.K. are also included in the Discover business segment.

The Company’s results of operations for the 12 months ended November 30, 2005 (“fiscal 2005”"), November 30,
2004 (“fiscal 2004”) and November 30, 2003 (“fiscal 2003”) are discussed below. The results of the Company’s
aircraft leasing business are reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented (see ‘“Discontinued
Operations” herein).
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Results of Operations.
Executive Summary.

Financial Information.

Net revenues (dollars in millions):
Institutional Securities . .............. it
Retail Brokerage . .. ...
Asset Management .. ...t e
DiSCOVET . .t
Intersegment Eliminations . ............... .o,

Consolidated NELTEVENUES . . . ottt e et e e

Income before taxes (dollars in millions)(2):
Institutional Securities . ............ ...t
Retail Brokerage . .. ...
Asset Management . .. ...t
DISCOVET ..ttt
Intersegment Eliminations . ................ ...,

Consolidated income before taxes ............. ...,
Consolidated net income (dollars in millions) ........................

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing Operations . .................c.c.euienon..
Loss on discontinued Operations . .................oeuenennenen..
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net .. .....................

Basic earnings per common share ...........................
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations . ................cooieiren....

Loss on discontinued operations . ..............c.o.vuininennenn..
Cumulative effect of accounting change,net . ......................

Diluted earnings per common share .. ........................

Statistical Data.

Book value per common share(3) ............... ... .. ... ... .. ...

Average common equity (dollars in billions)(4):
Institutional Securities . ............ ...t
Retail Brokerage . ...
Asset Management . . ...t
DISCOVET ..ttt

Total from operating SEZMents . . .. .. .......ouuerereenenen...
Discontinued Operations . . .. ... .......o.uuiininenin
Unallocated capital . ........ ...

Consolidated . . ... ...

35

Fiscal Year

2005 2004(1) 2003(1)
$15,673  $13,113  $11,301
5,019 4,615 4,242
2,907 2,738 2,276
3,452 3,533 3,303
(273) (291) (305)
$26,778  $23,708  $20,817
$ 4754 $ 4281 $ 4,066
585 371 464
1,007 827 482
921 1,221 1,027
94 118 121
$ 7,361 $ 6,818 $ 6,160
$ 4939 $ 4486 $ 3,787
$ 494 $ 425 $ 3.74
(0.29) (0.10) (0.22)
0.05 — —
$ 470 $ 415 $ 3.52
$ 481 $ 415 $ 3.66
(0.29) (0.09) 0.21)
0.05 — —
$ 457 $ 406 $ 345
$ 2759 $ 2595 $ 2293
$ 146 $ 133 n/a
3.7 3.5 n/a
1.7 1.7 n/a
4.4 3.9 n/a
24.4 22.4 n/a
1.2 1.5 n/a
2.9 2.8 n/a
$ 285 $ 267 $ 230
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Statistical Data (Continued). Fiscal Year

2005 2004(1) 2003(1)
Return on average common equity(4):
Consolidated . . ... i 17.3% 16.8% 16.5%
Institutional Securities . .............uuiriiitnr .. 24.2% 22.4% n/a
Retail Brokerage . ......... ... .. . . 10.6% 7.2% n/a
Asset Management .............. ... 36.2% 29.5% n/a
DASCOVET ..o 13.1% 19.8% n/a
Return on average common equity (consolidated) from continuing
operations on a pro forma basis(5) ............. ... ... ... ... 19.0% 18.2% 18.6%
Effective income taxrate ................ .. .. .. .. ... .. ... 26.5% 28.8% 29.8%
Worldwide employees . .......... ... . .. .. .. ... 53,218 53,284 51,196
Consolidated assets under management or supervision (dollars in billions):
EqUity ..o $ 285 $ 246 $ 203
Fixedincome . ....... ...t 108 118 109
Money market ... ... ... 83 87 64
Alternative inVeStMeNtS . .. ... v.vtt ettt 19 19 16
Real estate . ........i it 41 31 20
Total assets under management ..................oueuenenn.. 536 501 412
Unit investment trustS . .. ..o vttt e e 12 11 10
Other(6) . ..ot 51 44 40
Total assets under management or supervision(7) ............... $ 599 $ 556 $ 462
Institutional Securities:
Mergers and acquisitions completed transactions (dollars in billions)(8):
Global market volume . ... ......... ..., $ 511.8 $ 3528 $ 209.9
Market share .. ...t 25.5% 24.1% 17.5%
Rank ... 3 2 3
Mergers and acquisitions announced transactions (dollars in billions)(8):
Global market volume ... .............uiieiiiiaan ... $ 728.6 $ 3607 $ 249.2
Market share .. ...t 29.2% 20.4% 18.1%
Rank ... 2 4 2
Global equity and equity-related issues (dollars in billions)(8):
Global market volume ... .............uuieiiiiaan ... $ 451 $ 543 $ 396
Market share .. ...t 8.7% 10.6% 10.2%
Rank ... 3 1 3
Global debt issues (dollars in billions)(8):
Global market volume ... ......... ..., $ 340.8 $ 362.1 $ 367.3
Market share .. ...t 5.7% 6.9% 7.4%
Rank ... 5 3 3
Global initial public offerings (dollars in billions)(8):
Global market vOlUMe . ... ......... ... $ 139 $ 139 $ 28
Market share .. ... 8.6% 10.1% 4.9%
Rank ... 2 1 5
Pre-tax profit margin(9) ........ ... .. 30% 32% 35%
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Statistical Data (Continued).

Fiscal Year

2005 2004(1) 2003(1)
Retail Brokerage (dollars in billions, unless otherwise noted):
Global representatives . ... ......utt e e 9,526 10,962 11,086
Annualized net revenue per global representative (dollars in
thousands)(10) .. ... ... i $ 490 $ 419 $ 359
Retail Brokerage assets by client segment:
$10 mMillion OF MOTE . ..o\ttt et e ettt e $ 124 $ 111 $ 108
$1million —$10million . ........ ... . . 204 188 156
$100,000 —$1 million . ........ ... 174 188 185
Less than $100,000 . . . ...ttt 31 39 46
Total U.S. Retail Brokerage assets . ..., 533 526 495
International ... ...... .. ... .. 56 50 44
Corporate and other accounts . .............. o, 28 26 26
Total CHENt @SSELS . .. vttt ettt e et e e et et e e $ 617 $ 602 $ 565
Fee-based assets as a percentage of total clientassets . ................... 28% 26% 23%
Bank deposit program(dollars in millions)(11) ......................... $ 1,689 $ 435 $ 469
Pre-tax profit margin(9) .. ... 12% 8% 11%
Asset Management:
Assets under management or supervision (dollars in billions) ............. $ 431 $§ 424 $ 357
Percent of fund assets in top half of Lipper rankings(12) ................. 61% 63% 44%
Pre-tax profit margin(9) ...... ... ... 35% 30% 21%
Pre-tax profit margin(9) (excluding private equity) .. .................... 29% 26% 22%
Discover (dollars in millions, unless otherwise noted)(13):
Period-end credit card loans—Owned . ......... .. $22,496  $19,724  $18,930
Period-end credit card loans—Managed . ............... ... . ... ..., $46,936  $48,261  $48,358
Average credit card loans—Owned . .......... ... i $19,932  $17,608  $19,531
Average credit card loans—Managed . .......... . i $47,330  $47,387  $50,864
Net principal charge-off rate—Owned . .. ...... ... .. ... ... .. .. ..... 4.84% 5.53% 6.05%
Net principal charge-off rate—Managed ................ .. .. ... ....... 5.23% 6.00% 6.60%
Return on receivables—Owned . ........ ... .. ... . .. i 2.92% 4.43% 3.32%
Return on receivables—Managed . ......... .. .. .. . i 1.23% 1.65% 1.28%
Transaction volume (dollars in billions):
NESALES . ..ottt e e e e $ 860 $ 795 $ 768
Other transaction volume . ...t ennan .. 18.1 20.1 21.1
Total .. $ 1041 $ 996 $ 979
Payment services (in millions):
Discover network transaction volume ........................ 1,301 1,226 1,209
PULSE network transaction volume ......................... 1,556 — —
Total network transaction volume . .......................... 2,857 1,226 1,209
Pre-tax profit margin(9) ... ........ .. ... 27% 35% 31%

(1) Certain prior-year information has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(2) Amounts represent income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees, income taxes, dividends on preferred

securities subject to mandatory redemption and cumulative effect of accounting change, net.

(3) Book value per common share equals shareholders’ equity of $29,182 million at November 30, 2005, $28,206 million at November 30,
2004 and $24,867 million at November 30, 2003, divided by common shares outstanding of 1,058 million at November 30, 2005,

1,087 million at November 30, 2004 and 1,085 million at November 30, 2003.
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The Company uses an economic capital model to determine the amount of equity capital needed to support the risk of its business activities
and to ensure that the Company remains adequately capitalized. Economic capital is defined as the amount of capital needed to run the
business through the business cycle and satisfy the requirements of regulators, rating agencies and the market. The Company’s
methodology is based on an approach that assigns economic capital to each segment based on regulatory capital usage plus additional
capital for stress losses, goodwill and principal investment risk. The economic capital model and allocation methodology may be enhanced
over time in response to changes in the business and regulatory environment. Capital data for fiscal 2003 have not been provided. The
effective tax rates used in the computation of segment return on average common equity were determined on a separate entity basis.

Pro forma return on average monthly common equity from continuing operations is computed assuming a $1.5 billion equity allocation
for the Company’s aircraft leasing business for all monthly periods through July 2005 and $0.4 billion for all monthly periods from
August 2005 through November 2005. The decrease in equity allocated to this business primarily reflected the decrease in asset value as
a result of a $0.5 billion pre-tax charge for discontinued operations (see “Discontinued Operations” herein). The Company views the pro
forma return on average common equity as a relevant indicator of its operating performance for period-to-period comparisons as well as
when comparing its operating results with other financial services firms.

Amounts include assets under management or supervision associated with the Retail Brokerage business.

Revenues and expenses associated with these assets are included in the Company’s Asset Management, Retail Brokerage and
Institutional Securities segments.

Source: Thomson Financial, data as of January 3, 2006—The data for fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 are for the periods from
January 1 to December 31, 2005, January 1 to December 31, 2004 and January 1 to December 31, 2003, respectively, as Thomson
Financial presents these data on a calendar-year basis.

Percentages represent income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees, income taxes and net cumulative
effect of accounting change as a percentage of net revenues.

(10) Amounts equal to Retail Brokerage net revenues divided by average global representative headcount.
(11) Bank deposits are held at the Company’s affiliated banks for the benefit of retail clients through their brokerage accounts.
(12) Source: Lipper, one-year performance excluding money market funds as of November 30, 2005, November 30, 2004 and November 30,

2003, respectively.

(13) Managed data include owned and securitized credit card loans. For an explanation of managed data and a reconciliation of credit card

loan and asset quality data, see “Discover—Managed General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data” herein.
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Fiscal 2005 Performance.

Company Results. The Company recorded net income of $4,939 million and diluted earnings per share of $4.57
in fiscal 2005, an increase of 10% and 13%, respectively, from the prior year. Net revenues (total revenues less
interest expense and the provision for loan losses) rose 13% to $26.8 billion in fiscal 2005, and the return on
average common equity was 17.3% compared with 16.8% in the prior year. Income from continuing operations
was $5,192 million for the year, an increase of 13% from the prior year. Diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations were $4.81 compared with $4.15 last year.

Non-interest expenses of $19.4 billion increased 15% from the prior year, primarily due to higher compensation
expense and professional services expense associated with increased business activity and legal and consulting
costs. Compensation and benefits expense in fiscal 2005 reflected higher compensation accruals associated with
a higher level of net revenues, as well as charges for senior management severance and new hires of
approximately $311 million (see “Senior Management Compensation Charges” herein). Other expenses included
charges for certain legal matters, including those associated with the Coleman Litigation and the Parmalat
settlement, as well as charges related to certain legal and regulatory matters in the Retail Brokerage business.

The Company’s effective income tax rate was 26.5% in fiscal 2005 compared with 28.8% in fiscal 2004. The
decrease reflected an income tax benefit of $309 million resulting from the Company’s repatriation of
approximately $4.0 billion of qualifying foreign earnings under the provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004 (the “American Jobs Creation Act”) (see “American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” herein). Excluding the
impact of dividends repatriated under the American Jobs Creation Act, the Company’s effective income tax rate
for fiscal 2005 would have increased to 30.8%, reflecting lower tax exempt income and higher tax rates
applicable to non-U.S. earnings as compared with fiscal 2004.

On January 30, 2006, the Company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement under which it will sell
its aircraft leasing business to Terra Firma, a European private equity group, for approximately $2.5 billion in
cash and the assumption of liabilities. Based on the terms of the agreement and in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” the Company revised its estimate of the fair value (less selling costs) of the aircraft leasing business and,
as a result, in the fourth quarter reduced the pre-tax charge recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 by
approximately $1.1 billion. Full year results for fiscal 2005 reflected a charge of $509 million ($316 million
after-tax). The sale is subject to customary regulatory approvals and closing conditions and is expected to close
in the first half of 2006 (see “Discontinued Operations” herein).

At fiscal year-end, the Company had 53,218 employees worldwide compared with 53,284 at the prior year-end.

Institutional Securities. Institutional Securities recorded income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes and dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption of
$4.8 billion, an 11% increase from a year ago. Net revenues rose 20% to $15.7 billion driven by record fixed
income and higher equity sales and trading revenues, along with strong results in investment banking.
Non-interest expenses increased 24% to $10.9 billion, reflecting higher compensation levels and costs associated
with increased business activity and increased legal reserves. Legal reserves and costs associated with the
Coleman Litigation and the Parmalat settlement totaled $535 million (see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3).
The increase in compensation and benefits expense included charges for senior management severance and new
hires of approximately $193 million.

Investment banking advisory revenues rose 28% from last year to $1.5 billion, reflecting an increase in
completed merger and acquisition transactions. Underwriting revenues rose 8% from last year to $2.0 billion
with fixed income underwriting revenues driving the increase. Fixed income underwriting revenues increased
27%.

Fixed income sales and trading revenues were a record $6.8 billion, up 22% from a year ago. The increase was
driven by a record year in interest rate and currency products and credit products, partially offset by lower
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revenues from commodities products. Interest rate and currency product revenues increased primarily due to
higher revenues from interest rate cash and derivative products and higher revenues from emerging market fixed
income securities. Credit products benefited from increased customer flows in securitized products and favorable
trading conditions. Commodities revenues declined from last year’s record revenues as lower revenues in oil
liquids were partially offset by record results in electricity and natural gas products. Equity sales and trading
revenues rose 18% from last year to $4.8 billion and reached their highest annual level since fiscal 2000. The
increase was driven by strong customer flows in derivatives, record revenues in prime brokerage, improved
performance in principal trading strategies and higher revenues from equity cash products.

Principal transaction investment revenues were $656 million in fiscal 2005 compared with $364 million a year
ago. Fiscal 2005’s results included gains from investments in IntercontinentalExchange, International Securities
Exchange and Digital Globe Inc., while fiscal 2004’s results included a gain on the sale of the Company’s
investment in TradeWeb.

Retail Brokerage. Retail Brokerage recorded pre-tax income of $585 million, up 58% from the prior year.
Fiscal 2004 was negatively affected by a change in the Company’s method of accounting for certain asset
management and account fees that reduced pre-tax income by $80 million (see “Asset Management and Account
Fees” herein). Excluding this change and Retail Brokerage’s share ($198 million) of the insurance settlement
related to the events of September 11, 2001 (see “Insurance Settlement” herein), pre-tax income declined by
14%. Net revenues were $5.0 billion, a 9% increase over a year ago and the highest since fiscal 2000. Excluding
the accounting methodology change, net revenues increased 6% from last year. Higher asset management,
distribution and administration fees were driven primarily by an increase in client assets in fee-based accounts,
which more than offset lower commissions resulting from a decline in transaction volumes. Total non-interest
expenses were $4.4 billion, a 4% increase from a year ago. Excluding the insurance settlement, non-interest
expenses rose 9% from a year ago, driven by higher compensation expense and higher professional services
expense, including higher sub-advisory fees associated with increased asset and revenue growth, as well as
higher legal and consulting costs. Total client assets increased to $617 billion, up 2% from the prior fiscal year-
end. In addition, client assets in fee-based accounts increased 10% from a year ago to a record $173 billion and
increased as a percentage of total client assets to 28% from last year’s 26%. At fiscal year-end, the number of
global representatives was 9,526, a decline of 1,436 from a year ago, resulting largely from the sales force
reduction completed during the year and the net loss of global representatives to competitors. The Company
believes that legal and regulatory matters have adversely affected, and in the near term are likely to continue to
affect adversely, the operating performance of Retail Brokerage.

Asset Management. Asset Management recorded pre-tax income of $1.0 billion, a 22% increase from last year.
The increase reflected a 6% increase in net revenues to $2.9 billion driven by higher investment gains and an
increase in asset management fees. Non-interest expenses decreased 1% from the prior year to $1.9 billion as
charges for senior management severance and new hires of approximately $41 million were offset by Asset
Management’s share ($43 million) of the insurance settlement related to the events of September 11, 2001.
Investment gains for the year were $326 million compared with $248 million a year ago, including gains
associated with the Company’s holdings in Triana Energy Holdings, LLC and Aventine Renewable Energy
Holding, LLC. Assets under management or supervision within Asset Management of $431 billion were up $7
billion, or 2%, from last year, primarily due to market appreciation, partially offset by net cash outflows
associated with proprietary retail products and institutional separate accounts.

Discover. Discover pre-tax income was $921 million, a decrease of 25% from last year. Net revenues of $3.5
billion were 2% lower than a year ago, primarily driven by lower servicing and securitization income, reflecting
lower net interest cash flows partly resulting from rising short-term interest rates and a decrease in the fair value
of the Company’s retained interests in securitized receivables. The decrease was partially offset by higher net
interest income and a decline in the provision for loan losses, reflecting improved credit quality notwithstanding
a spike in bankruptcy notices preceding new federal legislation effective October 2005. Non-interest expenses
increased 9% from the prior year, partially resulting from the acquisition of PULSE, which the Company
acquired on January 12, 2005 (see “Business Acquisitions and Sales” herein) and higher compensation costs,

Morgan Stanley 40



including costs associated with senior management changes of approximately $29 million. The managed credit
card net principal charge-off rate decreased 77 basis points from a year ago to 5.23%, benefiting from the effect
of the Company’s credit quality and collection initiatives and an industry-wide improvement in credit quality.
The managed over 30-day delinquency rate decreased 57 basis points to 3.98% from a year ago, and the managed
over 90-day delinquency rate was 43 basis points lower than a year ago at 1.75%. Managed credit card loans
were $46.9 billion at year-end, a decrease of 3% from a year ago, primarily due to historically high cardmember
payment rates.

Fiscal 2006 Performance Priorities. During fiscal 2005, the Company made substantial changes to its senior
management and effected certain organizational and strategic changes that the Company believes will improve its
performance in future periods. The Company intends to pursue the following strategic initiatives in order to
improve the Company’s net revenues, profit margins and return on common shareholders’ equity:

» Leverage global scale, franchise and integration across businesses

¢ Increase principal activity in order to strike a better balance between principal and customer activity
 Invest to optimize growth opportunities and achieve “best-in-class” status in all businesses

* Aggressively pursue new opportunities, including “bolt-on” acquisitions

e Improve operating margins by creating productivity and efficiency gains

¢ Create a cohesive “one-firm” culture

Institutional Securities will focus on identifying and pursuing what it believes will be high-growth areas, such as
emerging markets, private equity and mortgage products; improving cross-divisional cooperation; taking
advantage of opportunities for principal risk taking; and continuing to invest in product innovation and
technology.

Retail Brokerage will focus on leveraging the Company’s institutional expertise to create new products for
individual investors; increasing its relationships with client households in the $1 million and greater asset
segment; developing, retaining and recruiting high-quality global representatives; and continuing to invest in
infrastructure and technology.

Asset Management will focus on establishing a presence in high-growth global products; shifting its focus from
profitability to asset growth while maintaining profitability with an emphasis on alternative investment products
and other new, high-margin products; and continuing to improve investment performance.

Discover will focus on increasing card activity, usage and loan balances by building broader acceptance of the
Discover Network, strengthening Discover’s brand, improving upon the client experience, and introducing new
products and services. In addition, Discover will pursue growth opportunities through acquisitions and strategic
partnerships, such as the acquisition of the Goldfish credit card business (“Goldfish”) in fiscal 2006 (see
“Business Acquisitions and Sales” herein), and continue to grow its international presence.

Global Market and Economic Conditions in Fiscal 2005.

Global market and economic conditions were generally favorable for most of fiscal 2005, particularly in the U.S.
Global capital markets activity was also higher than in fiscal 2004 despite concerns throughout much of the fiscal
year about inflationary pressures, higher oil prices and geopolitical risk.

The U.S. economy remained generally strong during fiscal 2005, supported by productivity gains and consumer
spending. Consumer confidence strengthened throughout most of fiscal 2005, although concerns about the
economic impact of Hurricane Katrina and rising oil prices caused a decline during the fourth quarter. Crude oil
prices rose to record levels during fiscal 2005, primarily driven by higher global demand and the disruption of
energy supplies caused by Hurricane Katrina. Toward the end of fiscal 2005, however, crude oil prices had
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declined. Consumer spending and business investment improved, while the U.S. unemployment rate declined to
5.0% from 5.4% a year ago. The equity markets improved modestly during fiscal 2005 as improved corporate
earnings and positive economic developments outweighed concerns over oil prices, inflation and the Federal
Reserve Board’s (the “Fed”) monetary policy actions. During fiscal 2005, the Fed continued to tighten credit
conditions by raising both the overnight lending rate and the discount rate on eight separate occasions by an
aggregate of 2.0%. Long-term interest rates, however, declined as the yield curve flattened during most of fiscal
2005. Subsequent to fiscal 2005, the Fed raised both the overnight lending rate and the discount rate by an
aggregate 0.50%.

In Europe, economic growth remained sluggish primarily due to the level of exports, although conditions
improved modestly in the latter half of the year. The European Central Bank (the “ECB”) left the benchmark
interest rate unchanged during fiscal 2005. In the U.K., economic growth was marginal as higher oil prices
suppressed consumer demand and confidence. During fiscal 2005, the Bank of England lowered the benchmark
interest rate by 0.25%. Subsequent to fiscal 2005, the ECB raised the benchmark interest rate by 0.25% in
December 2005.

The Japanese economy continued to recover as business investment and corporate profits improved, and the
jobless rate was near a seven-year low. The Japanese equity markets saw a historic rebound during fiscal 2005 as
a result of strong growth in corporate earnings as well as signs of an economic recovery and an end to deflation.
Economic growth elsewhere in Asia continued, including in China, driven by strength in domestic spending and
exports.

Business Outlook.

As fiscal 2006 began, global economic and market conditions appeared generally stable, trading conditions
remained favorable and consumer confidence in the U.S. rose to pre-Hurricane Katrina levels. However,
investors remained concerned about, among other things, the pace of economic growth, global oil prices,
inflation, the U.S. federal budget deficit and geopolitical risk.

In the beginning of fiscal 2006, Institutional Securities has experienced relatively strong transaction backlogs in
investment banking and generally favorable trading conditions. However, the level of global transaction volumes,
market volatility and the Company’s market share will continue to affect the results of this business.

The Retail Brokerage business will continue to invest in technology and infrastructure during fiscal 2006 that
will impact non-interest expenses and its pre-tax profit margin. Retail Brokerage also expects that the number of
financial advisors will decline to approximately 8,600 by the end of fiscal 2006, reflecting fewer new trainees
and continued competition for experienced personnel.

Asset Management expects lower principal investment gains going forward as it continues to reduce its private
equity business. Fiscal 2006’s results will be affected by the level of assets under management or supervision, net
customer asset flows and the introduction of revenues from higher margin products.

Discover expects favorable trends in charge-offs in the first half of fiscal 2006 related to improved credit quality.
In addition, the October 2005 spike in bankruptcy filings will be charged off primarily in December 2005 in
accordance with Company policy. As the Company believes that the spike was, in part, an acceleration of losses
that would have been incurred later in 2006, it expects to incur a lower level of bankruptcy losses in subsequent
months. (See also “Discover—Provision for Consumer Loan Losses—Delinquencies and Charge-offs” herein).
In fiscal 2006, the Company will be challenged by a slowing growth rate in the U.S. credit card industry,
potential rising short-term interest rates and an increase in minimum payment requirements. Discover’s results
for fiscal 2006 will also include the impact of the Goldfish credit card business after its acquisition is completed,
which is expected in early 2006.

Business Segments.

The remainder of “Results of Operations” is presented on a business segment basis before discontinued
operations. Substantially all of the operating revenues and operating expenses of the Company can be directly
attributed to its business segments. Certain revenues and expenses have been allocated to each business segment,
generally in proportion to its respective revenues or other relevant measures.

Morgan Stanley 4



As a result of treating certain intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company
includes an Intersegment Eliminations category to reconcile the segment results to the Company’s consolidated
results. Income before taxes in Intersegment Eliminations represents the effect of timing differences associated
with the revenue and expense recognition of commissions paid by Asset Management to Retail Brokerage
associated with sales of certain products and the related compensation costs paid to Retail Brokerage’s global
representatives. Income before taxes recorded in Intersegment Eliminations was $94 million, $118 million and
$121 million in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period segment amounts to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

Beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company renamed three of its business segments. The
Individual Investor Group was renamed “Retail Brokerage,” Investment Management was renamed “Asset
Management” and Credit Services was renamed “Discover.” In addition, beginning in the third quarter of fiscal
2005, the principal components of the residential mortgage loan business previously included in the Discover
business segment are managed by and included within the results of the Institutional Securities business segment.
Prior periods have been restated to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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INSTITUTIONAL SECURITIES
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003
(dollars in millions)
Revenues:
Investment banking . ............. ... $ 3477 $ 3,008 $ 2,096
Principal transactions:
Trading ... ..ot 6,906 4,998 5,618
INVEStMENTS . . . ..o 656 364 87
COMMUSSIONS .+« o vttt e e e e e e e 2,160 1,998 1,748
Asset management, distribution and administration fees .. ............... 152 144 92
Interest and dividends . . ... ... e 25,455 16,395 13,420
Other . . oo 301 190 86
Total revenues . ....... .. 39,107 27,097 23,147
INErest EXPENSEe . . . oottt e 23,434 13,984 11,846
NELTEVENUES . . . oottt ettt e e 15,673 13,113 11,301
Total NON-INEEIESt EXPENSES .« . v . v ettt et ettt e et et 10,919 8,832 7,235

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory

redemption and cumulative effect of accounting change, net ............... 4,754 4,281 4,066
Losses from unconsolidated investees .. ................... ... 311 328 279
Provision for income taxes . ............. ittt 909 932 924
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption .. .......... — 45 154

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accounting change, Net .. ..........coueineieieennnn.n. $ 3,534 $ 2976 $ 2,709

Investment Banking. Investment banking revenues are derived from the underwriting of securities offerings
and fees from advisory services. Investment banking revenues were as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003
(dollars in millions)
Advisory fees from merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions ......... $ 1,478 $ 1,156 $ 662
Equity underwriting TeVeNUES . ... .........iuuininiuniaenanann.. 905 993 640
Fixed income underwriting reVenues . .. ..........ouueineinnennennennn.. 1,094 859 794
Total investment banking revenues .. ...............oouuiernneeen... $ 3,477 $ 3,008 $ 2,096

Investment banking revenues increased 16% in fiscal 2005. The increase was due to higher revenues from
merger, acquisition and restructuring activities and fixed income underwriting transactions, partially offset by
lower revenues from equity underwritings. In fiscal 2004, investment banking revenues increased 44%, primarily
reflecting higher revenues from merger, acquisition and restructuring and equity underwriting transactions.
Higher revenues from fixed income underwriting transactions also contributed to the increase.

In fiscal 2005, advisory fees from merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions increased 28% to $1,478
million. Conditions in the worldwide merger and acquisition markets were favorable throughout fiscal 2005, and
the Company’s advisory revenues reached their highest level in five years. The increase in advisory fees reflected
strong contributions from the real estate, energy and utilities, transportation and retail sectors. In fiscal 2004,
advisory fees from merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions increased 75% to $1,156 million with
sectors such as financial services, technology, media and telecommunications, manufacturing and healthcare
making strong contributions to the results.
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Equity underwriting revenues decreased 9% in fiscal 2005, reflective of lower global industry-wide equity and
equity-related activity. The Company’s equity underwriting revenues reflected lower revenues from the
healthcare and manufacturing sectors, partially offset by higher revenues from the financial services sector. In
fiscal 2004, equity underwriting revenues increased 55%, largely due to the resurgence of the initial public
offerings market. The global equity markets experienced renewed investor demand for initial public offerings,
particularly in the U.S., and the Company’s participation in these transactions more than outpaced the industry-
wide increase in transaction volume. The Company’s equity underwriting revenues reflected increases from the
financial services, healthcare, media and telecommunications, and technology sectors.

Fixed income underwriting revenues rose 27% in fiscal 2005 and 8% in fiscal 2004, primarily reflecting
favorable conditions in the global fixed income markets. Although the Fed increased the overnight interest rate in
both fiscal years, longer-term interest rates remained at relatively low levels. The attractive debt financing
environment contributed to higher revenues as issuers continued to take advantage of low financing costs. The
Company’s revenues from global high-yield and securitized fixed income transactions were higher in both
periods. In fiscal 2005, acquisition-related financing resulting from a strong market for merger and acquisition
activity also contributed to the increase.

At the end of fiscal 2005, the backlog of merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions was higher as
compared with the end of fiscal 2004, reflecting improved global market and economic conditions. The backlog
for equity underwriting transactions was also higher as compared with the end of the prior fiscal year, reflecting
increases across all global regions. The backlog of both merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions as well
as equity underwriting transactions is subject to the risk that transactions may not be completed due to
unforeseen economic and market conditions, adverse developments regarding one of the parties to the
transaction, a failure to obtain required regulatory approval or a decision on the part of the parties involved not to
pursue a transaction.

Sales and Trading Revenues. Sales and trading revenues are composed of principal transaction trading
revenues, commissions and net interest revenues. In assessing the profitability of its sales and trading activities,
the Company views principal trading, commissions and net interest revenues in the aggregate. In addition,
decisions relating to principal transactions in securities are based on an overall review of aggregate revenues and
costs associated with each transaction or series of transactions. This review includes, among other things, an
assessment of the potential gain or loss associated with a trade, including any associated commissions, dividends,
the interest income or expense associated with financing or hedging the Company’s positions and other related
expenses.

The components of the Company’s sales and trading revenues are described below:

Principal Transactions—Trading. Principal transaction trading revenues include revenues from customers’
purchases and sales of financial instruments in which the Company acts as principal and gains and losses on the
Company’s positions. The Company also engages in proprietary trading activities for its own account.

Prior to fiscal 2005, certain investments made by the Company for business facilitation and principal investment
purposes were recorded in Financial instruments owned, and gains and losses on such investments were recorded
in Principal transaction trading revenues (see “Investments” herein). Amounts related to these investments are
now recorded in Other assets and Principal transaction investment revenues in order to reflect the nature of these
positions. Prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. For fiscal 2004 and
fiscal 2003, $95 million and $24 million, respectively, have been reclassified to Principal transaction investment
revenues, and $554 million as of November 30, 2004 has been reclassified to Other assets.

Commissions. Commission revenues primarily arise from agency transactions in listed and over-the-counter
(“OTC”) equity securities and options.

Net Interest. Interest and dividend revenues and interest expense are a function of the level and mix of total
assets and liabilities, including financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, not yet purchased,
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reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements, trading strategies, customer activity in the Company’s prime
brokerage business, and the prevailing level, term structure and volatility of interest rates. Reverse repurchase
and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions may be entered into with
different customers using the same underlying securities, thereby generating a spread between the interest
revenue on the reverse repurchase agreements or securities borrowed transactions and the interest expense on the
repurchase agreements or securities loaned transactions.

Total sales and trading revenues increased 18% in fiscal 2005 and 5% in fiscal 2004, reflecting higher equity and
fixed income sales and trading revenues.

Sales and trading revenues include the following:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004(1)  2003(1)

(dollars in millions)
EqUIties . . .ot $4,804 $4,067 $3,591
Fixed inCOMe(2) . ..ot 6,782 5,567 5,462

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current presentation.
(2) Amounts include interest rate and currency products, credit products and commodities. Amounts exclude revenues from corporate
lending activities.

Equity sales and trading revenues increased 18% in fiscal 2005 to the highest annual level since fiscal 2000. The
increase was broad based and included increased customer flows in derivatives, record revenues in prime
brokerage, improved performance in principal trading strategies and higher revenues from equity cash products.
Derivative revenues increased due to strong customer flows despite continued low levels of volatility in the
equity markets. Record revenues in prime brokerage were driven by robust growth in client balances. Global
equity market indices generally trended higher and created favorable trading opportunities for principal trading
strategies. Revenue from equity cash products rose on higher market volumes, particularly in the European and
Asian markets.

Equity sales and trading revenues increased 13% in fiscal 2004 driven by record revenues in the prime brokerage
business and higher revenues from cash and derivative products. The prime brokerage business experienced
significant growth in global customer balances, which resulted in then-record annual revenues. Revenues from
equity cash products rose, in part, due to increased cash flows into U.S. equity mutual funds. Revenues from
equity derivatives increased modestly despite low levels of volatility in the equity markets. Commission revenues
continued to be affected by intense competition and a continued shift toward electronic trading.

Fixed income sales and trading revenues increased 22% to a record level in fiscal 2005, primarily due to record
revenues from interest rate and currency and credit products, partially offset by lower revenues from
commodities products. Interest rate and currency product revenues increased 41% primarily due to higher
revenues from interest rate cash and derivative products and higher revenues from emerging market fixed income
securities, partially offset by lower revenues from foreign exchange products. Interest rate and currency product
revenues benefited from strong new client transaction activity and favorable positioning results. The 19%
increase in credit product revenues was primarily due to increased customer flows in securitized products and
favorable trading conditions. Commodities revenues decreased 8% from last year’s record levels as lower
revenues in oil liquids were partially offset by record results in electricity and natural gas products. In fiscal 2005
and fiscal 2004, 47% and 63% of fixed income sales and trading revenues were recorded in the first half of each
respective fiscal year. In fiscal 2005, client activity, market volatility and improved risk taking efficiency
resulted in improved second half results as compared with the prior year.

Fixed income sales and trading revenues increased 2% to a then-record level in fiscal 2004 driven by higher
revenues from commodities and credit products, partially offset by lower revenues from interest rate and
currency products. Commodities revenues increased 20% to record levels, primarily associated with activities in
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the energy sector where tight oil supplies, growing demand and global political instability drove energy prices
and volatilities higher. Credit product revenues, which increased 1%, reflected record revenues from securitized
products as the Company benefited from increased securitization flows in commercial and residential whole
loans and favorable trading conditions. Lower revenues from investment grade products partially offset the
increase. Interest rate and currency product revenues decreased 7% from fiscal 2003’s record levels due to lower
revenues from cash and derivative products. In addition, in the second half of fiscal 2004, mixed U.S. economic
data coupled with higher global energy prices and concerns about the strength of economic growth resulted in
market conditions that the Company did not take advantage of, which adversely affected revenues from certain
interest rate products. These decreases were partially offset by record results in foreign exchange and emerging
markets, reflecting higher volatility and strong customer volume.

In addition to the equity and fixed income sales and trading revenues discussed above, sales and trading revenues
include the net revenues from the Company’s corporate lending activities. In fiscal 2005, revenues from
corporate lending activities decreased by approximately $240 million, reflecting the impact of mark-to-market
valuations on a significantly higher level of new loans made in fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2004, revenues from
corporate lending activities had increased by approximately $110 million, reflecting growth in the loan portfolio
amidst improving conditions in the commercial lending market, which largely offset the mark-to-market
valuation impact from new loans.

Principal Transactions-Investments. Principal transaction net investment revenue aggregating $656 million
was recognized in fiscal 2005 as compared with $364 million in fiscal 2004 and $87 million in fiscal 2003. Fiscal
2005’s results included gains from investments in IntercontinentalExchange, International Securities Exchange
and Digital Globe Inc. Fiscal 2004’s results included a gain on the sale of an investment in TradeWeb, an
electronic trading platform.

Principal investments generally are held for appreciation and are not readily marketable. It is not possible to
determine when the Company will realize the value of such investments since, among other factors, such
investments generally are subject to significant sales restrictions. Moreover, estimates of the fair value of the
investments involve significant judgment and may fluctuate significantly over time in light of business, market,
economic and financial conditions generally or in relation to specific transactions. The Company intends to make
additional investments over time to bring the level of principal investments to approximately $2.5 billion (see
“Investments” herein).

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees include revenues from asset management services, primarily fees associated with the Company’s real estate
fund investment activities.

Asset management, distribution and administration fees increased 6% in fiscal 2005 and 57% in fiscal 2004. The
increase in fiscal 2004 was due to higher fees associated with real estate investment and advisory activities,
primarily due to the acquisition of a majority of the U.S. real estate equity investment management business of
Lend Lease Corporation in November 2003 (see “Business Acquisitions and Sales” herein).

Other. Other revenues consist primarily of revenues from providing benchmark indices and risk management
analytics associated with Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc. (“MSCI”) and Barra, Inc. (“Barra”) (see
“Business Acquisitions and Sales” herein).

Other revenues increased 58% in fiscal 2005 and 121% in fiscal 2004. The increase in both periods was primarily
attributable to Barra, which was acquired on June 3, 2004.

Non-Interest Expenses. Non-interest expenses increased 24% in fiscal 2005. Compensation and benefits
expense increased 21%, reflecting higher incentive-based compensation costs due to higher net revenues and
Institutional Securities’ share ($193 million) of the costs associated with senior management changes (see
“Senior Management Compensation Charges” herein). Excluding compensation and benefits expense,
non-interest expenses increased 29%. Occupancy and equipment expense increased 41%, reflecting higher rental
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costs, primarily in North America. The increase also included a $71 million charge for the correction in the
method of accounting for certain real estate leases (see “Lease Adjustment” herein). Brokerage, clearing and
exchange fees increased 14%, primarily reflecting increased trading activity. Information processing and
communications expense increased 11%, primarily due to higher telecommunications, market data and data
processing costs. Professional services expense increased 31%, primarily due to higher consulting and legal
costs, including costs of $55 million related to the matters below. Other expenses increased 71%, reflecting legal
accruals of $360 million related to the Coleman Litigation, approximately $120 million related to the Parmalat
settlement and $50 million related to the /PO Allocation Matters, while the prior year included legal accruals of
$110 million related to the Parmalat settlement and IPO Allocation Matters (see Note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements and “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3).

Fiscal 2004’s total non-interest expenses increased 22%. Compensation and benefits expense increased 22% due
to higher incentive-based compensation resulting from higher net revenues and higher amortization expense
related to equity-based awards (see “Stock-Based Compensation” herein). Excluding compensation and benefits
expense, non-interest expenses increased 21%. Occupancy and equipment expense increased 16%, primarily due
to higher rental costs, primarily in London. Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees increased 16%, primarily
reflecting increased trading activity. Professional services expense increased 42%, primarily due to higher
consulting costs, including the implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX 404”)
and the Consolidated Supervised Entities Rule (the “CSE Rule”) (see “Regulatory Developments™ herein). Legal
and employee recruitment costs increased due to higher business activity. Costs for outside legal counsel
increased due to certain regulatory and litigation matters. Marketing and business development expense increased
25% due to higher travel and entertainment costs. Other expenses increased 17% and included approximately $25
million relating to Institutional Securities’ share of the costs associated with a failure to deliver certain
prospectuses pursuant to regulatory requirements and a fine associated with a settlement with the New York
Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “NYSE”) relating to the prospectus delivery requirements, operational deficiencies,
employee defalcations and other matters. In addition, other expenses included legal accruals of approximately
$110 million related to the Parmalat settlement and /PO Allocation Matters (see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I,
Item 3).
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RETAIL BROKERAGE
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Revenues:
Investmentbanking ....................... ... $ 320 $ 290 $ 305
Principal transactions:
Trading .. ..ot 464 518 651
InVesStments . . . . ... (D) 5) 4
COMIMUISSIONS .+ o o oottt e et e et e e e e e e et e e e e e 1,228 1,327 1,231
Asset management, distribution and administration fees .. .................. 2,517 2,099 1,696
Interest and dividends . . . ... . ... 662 409 370
Other . .o 167 133 134
Total TEVENUES . . . o ottt 5,357 4,771 4,391
INtErest EXPENSE . .. ...ttt e 338 156 149
NELTEVENUES . . . oottt ettt e 5,019 4,615 4,242
Total NON-TNLETESt EXPENSES . .« v v vt ettt ettt e e et e e e e e e e e 4,434 4244 3,778
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change, net . . ... 585 371 464
Provision for inCome taxes . ... ...ttt 197 120 194
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change, net ............. $ 388 $ 251 $ 270

Investment Banking. Retail Brokerage investment banking revenues derive from its distribution of equity and
fixed income securities underwritten by the Institutional Securities business, as well as underwritings of unit
investment trust products. Investment banking revenues increased 10% in fiscal 2005 and decreased 5% in fiscal
2004. The increase in fiscal 2005 was primarily due to higher revenues from equity underwritings and unit
investment trust products, partially offset by lower revenues from fixed income underwritings. The decrease in
fiscal 2004 was primarily due to lower revenues from fixed income underwritings, partially offset by higher
revenues from underwriting unit investment trust products.

Principal Transactions—Trading. Principal transactions include revenues from customers’ purchases and
sales of financial instruments in which the Company acts as principal and gains and losses on the Company’s
inventory positions held, primarily to facilitate customer transactions. Principal transaction trading revenues
decreased 10% and 20% in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, respectively, primarily due to lower customer transaction
activity in corporate, government and municipal fixed income securities.

Commissions. Commission revenues primarily arise from agency transactions in listed and OTC equity
securities and sales of mutual funds, futures, insurance products and options. Commission revenues decreased
7% in fiscal 2005 and increased 8% in fiscal 2004. The decrease in fiscal 2005 was primarily due to lower
transaction volumes reflecting lower individual investor participation in the equity markets as compared with the
prior year, as well as the continued growth of fee-based accounts. The increase in fiscal 2004 reflected higher
customer trading volumes as compared with fiscal 2003 due to improved equity market conditions.

Net Interest. Interest and dividend revenues and interest expense are a function of the level and mix of total
assets and liabilities, including customer margin loans and securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions.
Net interest revenues increased 28% and 14% in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, respectively, primarily due to
growth in customer margin balances.

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees include revenues from individual investors electing a fee-based pricing arrangement and fees for investment
management, account services and administration. The Company also receives fees for services it provides in
distributing certain open-ended mutual funds and other products. Mutual fund distribution fees are based on
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either the average daily fund net asset balances or average daily aggregate net fund sales and are affected by
changes in the overall level and mix of assets under management or supervision.

Asset management, distribution and administration fees increased 20% in fiscal 2005 and 24% in fiscal 2004. In
both fiscal years, the increase was driven by higher client asset balances in fee-based accounts, including
separately managed and Morgan Stanley ChoiceSM accounts. In addition, the fiscal 2004 results included a $107
million reduction in revenues for a change in the method of accounting for certain asset management and account
fees (see “Asset Management and Account Fees” herein).

In fiscal 2005, client asset balances increased to $617 billion at November 30, 2005 from $602 billion at
November 30, 2004. The increase was primarily due to market appreciation, reflecting improvement in the global
financial markets. Client assets in fee-based accounts rose 10% to $173 billion at November 30, 2005 and
increased as a percentage of total client assets to 28% from 26% in the prior year. Client assets in fee-based
accounts rose 21% to $157 billion at November 30, 2004 and increased as a percentage of total client assets to
26% from 23% as of November 30, 2003.

Other. Other revenues primarily include customer account transaction fees and other service fees. Other
revenues increased 26% in fiscal 2005 and decreased 1% in fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, the increase was
primarily due to higher customer account transaction fees.

Non-Interest Expenses. Non-interest expenses increased 4% in fiscal 2005 and included Retail Brokerage’s
share ($198 million) of the insurance settlement related to the events of September 11, 2001 (see “Insurance
Settlement” herein). Excluding the insurance settlement, non-interest expenses increased 9%. Compensation and
benefits expense increased 5%, reflecting higher incentive-based compensation costs and Retail Brokerage’s
share ($48 million) of the costs associated with senior management changes (see “Senior Management
Compensation Charges” herein). In addition, fiscal 2004 included a reduction in compensation expense of $27
million associated with the change in the method of accounting for certain asset management and account fees
(see “Asset Management and Account Fees” herein). Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest
expenses increased 3%. Occupancy and equipment expense increased 11% primarily due to a $29 million charge
recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 for the correction in the method of accounting for certain real estate
leases (see “Lease Adjustment” herein). Information processing and communications expense increased 9%
primarily due to higher telecommunications costs within the branch network. Professional services expense
increased 31%, largely due to higher sub-advisory fees associated with increased client fee-based assets and
revenue growth, as well as higher outside legal counsel and consulting costs. Other expenses increased 16%
primarily due to costs associated with branch closings and higher legal and regulatory costs. In fiscal 2005,
the Company recorded legal and regulatory expenses of approximately $170 million, primarily related to
employment matters and certain regulatory and branch litigation matters (see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I,
Item 3).

Non-interest expenses increased 12% in fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily due to higher compensation and
benefits expense, which increased 9%. The increase reflected higher incentive-based compensation costs due to
higher net revenues and higher amortization expense related to equity-based awards (see “Stock-Based
Compensation” herein). This increase was partially offset by the reduction in compensation expense of $27
million mentioned above. Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses increased 19%.
Marketing and business development expense increased 20% due to an increase in advertising costs. Professional
services expense increased 48%, largely due to higher sub-advisory fees associated with increased client
fee-based assets and revenue growth, as well as higher consulting and legal fees resulting from the
implementation of SOX 404 and the CSE Rule and an increase in costs for outside legal counsel due to
regulatory and litigation matters. Information processing and communications expense decreased 11% due to
lower data processing costs. Other expenses increased 46%, primarily resulting from an increase in legal and
regulatory expenses, including approximately $25 million relating to Retail Brokerage’s share of the costs
associated with a failure to deliver certain prospectuses pursuant to regulatory requirements and a fine associated
with a settlement with the NYSE relating to the prospectus delivery requirements, operational deficiencies,
employee defalcations and other matters.
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ASSET MANAGEMENT
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Revenues:
Investment banking .. .............iiiuii e $ 50 $ 43 $ 39
Principal transactions:

INVeStMENtS . . ... 326 248 19
COMMISSIONS .« .\ oottt e et et e e et et e e e e e et e et e 29 27 18
Asset management, distribution and administration fees . . .................. 2,460 2,390 2,177
Interest and dividends . . ... ... . 23 8 —
O her . .o 30 28 29

Total revenues .. ... .. 2918 2,744 2,282

INterest EXPenSse . ... ...ttt 11 6 6

NELTEVENUES . . . o oottt e e e 2,907 2,738 2,276

Total NON-INLETESt EXPENSES . . v v v vttt ettt ettt e e e e e e e 1,900 1,911 1,794
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change, net .. ... 1,007 827 482
Provision for inCome taxes . ... ....... ottt 378 318 161
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change, net ............. $ 629 $ 509 §$ 321

Investment Banking. Asset Management generates investment banking revenues primarily from the
underwriting of Unit Investment Trust products. Investment banking revenues increased 16% in fiscal 2005 and
10% in fiscal 2004. The increase in both periods was primarily due to a higher volume of Unit Investment Trust
sales. Unit Investment Trust sales volume increased 11% to $6.1 billion in fiscal 2005 and increased 28% to $5.5
billion in fiscal 2004.

Principal Transactions. Asset Management principal transaction revenues consist primarily of gains and losses
on investments associated with the Company’s private equity activities and capital investments in certain of the
Company’s investment funds.

Principal transaction net investment gains aggregating $326 million were recognized in fiscal 2005 as compared
with gains of $248 million in fiscal 2004. Fiscal 2005’s results primarily reflected net gains on certain
investments in the Company’s private equity portfolio, including Triana Energy Holdings, LLC and Aventine
Renewable Energy Holding, LLC. Fiscal 2004’s results also primarily reflected net gains on certain investments
in the Company’s private equity portfolio, including Vanguard Health Systems, Inc. and Ping An Insurance
(Group) Company of China, Ltd.

Lower investment gains are expected going forward as Asset Management continues to reduce its private equity
business.

Private equity investments generally are held for appreciation and are not readily marketable. It is not possible to
determine when the Company will realize the value of such investments since, among other factors, such
investments generally are subject to significant sales restrictions. Moreover, estimates of the fair value of the
investments involve significant judgment and may fluctuate significantly over time in light of business, market,
economic and financial conditions generally or in relation to specific transactions (see “Investments” herein).

Comimissions. Asset Management primarily generates commission revenues from dealer and distribution
concessions on sales of certain funds. Commission revenues increased 7% in fiscal 2005 and 50% in fiscal 2004.
The increase in both periods reflected an increase in commissionable sales of certain fund products.
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Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees primarily include revenues from the management and supervision of assets, including fees for distributing
certain open-ended mutual funds, shareholder servicing fees and management fees associated with the
Company’s private equity activities. These fees arise from investment management services the Company
provides to investment vehicles pursuant to various contractual arrangements. The Company receives fees
primarily based upon mutual fund daily average net assets or quarterly assets for other vehicles.

Asset Management’s period-end and average customer assets under management or supervision were as follows:

At November 30, Average for

Fiscal  Fiscal Fiscal
2005  2004(1) 2003(1) 2005 2004(1) 2003(1)

(dollars in billions)

Assets under management or supervision by distribution

channel:

Retail ... .. $199 $200 $191 $202 $199 $184
Institutional . ...... ... ... ... . 232 224 166 223 191 154

Total assets under management or supervision .. ... $431  $424  $357 $425 $390  $338

Assets under management or supervision by asset class:

Equity ... $218 $198  $168 $207 $183  $144
Fixedincome ... ... ... ... ..., 91 104 97 96 103 103
Money market . ...........iii 79 83 60 82 69 62
Alternative investment vehicles ..................... 19 19 16 19 18 14
Realestate ........ ... .o, 12 9 6 10 7 5

Total assets under management ................. 419 413 347 414 380 328
Unit investment trusts . . .........ouiuintnennenenn. 12 11 10 11 10 10

Total assets under management or supervision .. ... $431 $424  $357 $425 $390  $338

(1) Certain prior-year information has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Activity in Asset Management’s customer assets under management or supervision during fiscal 2005 and fiscal
2004 were as follows (dollars in billions):

Balance at November 30,2003 .. ............. .. i $357
Net flows excluding money markets . ........... ... .. .. ... ... ... ... 8
Net flows from money markets . ........ ... ... .. ... .. .. .. . ... 21
Net market appreciation ... ...... ...ttt 38
Total NELINCTEASE . ..\ v\ttt e ettt 67
Balance at November 30,2004 . .. ........ ... ... . ... ... 424
Net flows excluding money markets . ......... ... ... ... . . .. (15)
Net flows from money markets .. .......... ... .. . i 4)
Net market appreciation . ...ttt e 26
Total NELINCTEASE . ..\ vttt ettt et et 7
Balance at November 30,2005 ... ............. .. .. $431

Net outflows (excluding money markets) in fiscal 2005 were primarily associated with both the Company’s
institutional separate account and proprietary retail mutual fund products, partially offset by positive flows from
non-proprietary retail and institutional mutual fund products.

Asset management, distribution and administration fees increased 3% in fiscal 2005 and 10% in fiscal 2004. In
fiscal 2005, higher fund management and administration fees associated with a 9% increase in average assets
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under management were partially offset by lower distribution fees. In addition, although average equity assets
under management increased 13%, a greater proportion of these assets was in products generating lower fees as
compared with the prior-year period. The increase in fiscal 2004 reflected higher fund management and
administration fees associated with a 15% increase in average assets under management or supervision. The
increase in revenues in fiscal 2004 also reflected a more favorable average asset mix, including a greater
percentage of equity assets under management, partially offset by an increase in institutional fixed income and
liquidity fund products, which generate lower fees than equity products.

Non-Interest Expenses. Non-interest expenses decreased 1% in fiscal 2005, including Asset Management’s
share ($43 million) of the insurance settlement related to the events of September 11, 2001 (see “Insurance
Settlement” herein). Excluding the insurance settlement, non-interest expenses increased 2%. Compensation and
benefits expense increased 9%, primarily reflecting higher incentive-based compensation costs due to higher net
revenues and Asset Management’s share ($41 million) of the costs associated with senior management changes
(see “Senior Management Compensation Charges” herein). Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees decreased 7%,
primarily reflecting lower amortization expense associated with certain open-ended funds. The decrease in
amortization expense reflected a lower level of deferred costs in recent periods due to a decrease in sales of
certain open-ended funds. Marketing and business development expenses increased 19% primarily due to higher
promotional costs associated with the Company’s Van Kampen products. Professional services expense increased
6% due to higher sub-advisory fees, partially offset by lower legal and consulting fees. Other expenses decreased
20%, primarily due to a reduction in legal reserves resulting from the resolution of certain legal matters, partially
offset by higher insurance expense.

Fiscal 2004’s total non-interest expenses increased 7%. Compensation and benefits expense increased 21%,
primarily reflecting higher incentive-based compensation costs due to higher net revenues and higher
amortization expense related to equity-based awards (see “Stock-Based Compensation” herein). Excluding
compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses were relatively unchanged from fiscal 2003.
Professional services expense increased 45%, primarily reflecting an increase in sub-advisory, legal and
consulting fees, including costs associated with the establishment of the independent private equity firm that
manages Morgan Stanley Capital Partners funds in a long-term sub-advisory capacity. Marketing and business
development expense decreased 22%, primarily due to lower promotional costs. Brokerage, clearing and
exchange fees decreased 7%, reflecting lower amortization expense associated with certain open-ended funds.
The decrease in amortization expense reflected a lower level of deferred costs in recent periods due to a decrease
in sales of certain open-ended funds.
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DISCOVER
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Merchant, cardmember and other fees . . ... ..ot $1,323 $1,317 $1,377
Servicing and securitization iNCOME . . ...« .ttt ittt et 1,609 1,921 1,922
OhET . . oo 5 10 14
Total NON-INLErESt TEVENUES . . . v vttt et e e e et e e e e e et e 2,937 3,248 3,313
Interest reVENUE . .. ... . i 2,174 1,859 2,046
Interest EXPense . ... ... ...ttt 781 648 790
Net IntereSt iNCOME . . . . o oo e e e e e e e e 1,393 1,211 1,256
Provision for consumer 10an 10SSES . ... .. ..ot 878 926 1,266
Net credit INCOME . . . .ottt e e e e e e 515 285 (10)
NetreVeNUES . . . oot 3,452 3,533 3,303
Total NON-INEEIESt EXPEISES .« . ¢ . et vt et ettt et et e et e e e 2,531 2,312 2,276
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change, net . .. .. 921 1,221 1,027
Provision for inCOME taXeS . . . .ottt i et et e 340 443 378
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change, net ............. $ 581 $ 778 $ 649

Merchant, Cardmember and Other Fees. Merchant, cardmember and other fees include revenues from fees
charged to merchants on credit card sales (net of interchange fees paid to banks that issue cards on the
Company’s merchant and cash access network), transaction processing fees on debit card transactions as well as
charges to cardmembers for late payment fees, overlimit fees, balance transfer fees, credit protection fees and
cash advance fees, net of cardmember rewards. Cardmember rewards include various reward programs, including
the Cashback Bonus® reward program, pursuant to which the Company pays certain cardmembers a percentage
of their purchase amounts based upon a cardmember’s level and type of purchases.

In fiscal 2005, merchant, cardmember and other fees were relatively unchanged as higher transaction processing
revenues were offset by higher net cardmember rewards. The increase in transaction processing revenues was
related to the acquisition of PULSE on January 12, 2005 (see “Business Acquisitions and Sales” herein). The
increase in net cardmember rewards reflected record sales volume and the impact of promotional programs.

Merchant, cardmember and other fees decreased 4% in fiscal 2004. The decrease was due to lower cardmember
fees and higher net cardmember rewards, partially offset by higher balance transfer fees and merchant discount
revenues. The decline in cardmember fees was due to lower late payment and overlimit fees, reflecting fewer late
fee occurrences and a decline in the number of accounts charged an overlimit fee, partially offset by lower
charge-offs of such fees. Late fee occurrences were lower primarily due to a decline during fiscal 2004 in the
over 30-day delinquency rates. Overlimit fees declined due to fewer overlimit accounts and the Company’s
modification of its overlimit fee policies and procedures in response to industry-wide regulatory guidance. The
increase in net cardmember rewards reflected the impact of promotional programs and higher sales volume.
Balance transfer fees increased as a result of the Company’s continued focus on improving balance transfer
profitability. The increase in merchant discount revenue was due to higher sales volume.
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Servicing and Securitization Income. Servicing and securitization income is revenue derived from consumer
loans that have been sold to investors through asset securitizations. Cash flows from the interest yield and
cardmember fees generated by securitized general purpose credit card loans as well as interchange fees for
certain securitization transactions are used to pay investors in these loans a predetermined fixed or floating rate
of return on their investment, to reimburse investors for losses of principal resulting from charged-off loans and
to pay the Company a fee for servicing the loans (“servicing rights”). Any excess cash flows remaining (“excess
servicing rights”) are paid to the Company. The sale of general purpose credit card loans through asset
securitizations, therefore, has the effect of converting portions of net credit income and fee income to servicing
and securitization income.

Included in servicing and securitization income are revenues from servicing rights, excess servicing rights and
gains or losses on general purpose credit card asset securitizations as well as the change in the fair value of the
Company’s retained interests in general purpose credit card asset securitizations.

The table below presents the components of servicing and securitization income:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Merchant, cardmember and other fees .. ... .. $ 694 $ 650 $ 727
Other TEVENUE . . . ..ttt et e e e e e e e (78) 8) 30
Total NON-INEETESt TEVENUES . . o o vt vttt e et e et e e et e e 616 642 757
INtEIESt TEVENUE . . o o e e e e e e e e 3,530 3,842 4,114
INEEIESt EXPEISE . . o ettt e et e e e 1,025 692 771
Net IntereSt iNCOME . . . o oo e e e e e e e e e 2,505 3,150 3,343
Provision for consumer loan 10SSes . ............ .. 1,512 1,871 2,178
Net credit iINCOME . . . .ottt e e e e e 993 1,279 1,165
Servicing and securitization inCOMe .. .........cvuiuuneinneeenn... $1,609 $1,921 $1,922

Servicing and securitization income is affected by the level of securitized loans, the spread between the net
interest yield on the securitized loans and the yield paid to the investors, the rate of credit losses on securitized
loans and the level of merchant, cardmember and other fees earned. Servicing and securitization income
decreased 16% in fiscal 2005, reflecting lower net interest cash flows and other revenue, partially offset by a
lower provision for consumer loan losses and higher merchant, cardmember and other fees. The decrease in net
interest cash flows was attributable to a lower level of average securitized general purpose credit card loans and a
higher weighted average coupon rate paid to investors associated with the higher short-term interest rate
environment. The interest yield was relatively unchanged from the prior year as the impact of the increase in the
prime rate was offset by a decline in higher rate loans due to improved credit quality and various pricing
initiatives. The lower provision for consumer loan losses was primarily attributable to a lower rate of net
principal charge-offs related to the securitized general purpose credit card loan portfolio and a lower level of
average securitized general purpose credit card loans, partially offset by an increase in bankruptcy charge-offs.
The increase in merchant, cardmember and other fees reflected the allocation of interchange revenue to certain
securitization transactions and lower fee net charge-offs, partially offset by lower assessed late payment and
overlimit fees.

In fiscal 2004, servicing and securitization income was relatively unchanged as lower cardmember fees, net
interest cash flows and other revenue were partially offset by a lower provision for consumer loan losses.
Cardmember fees declined due to lower late payment and overlimit fees, partially offset by higher balance
transfer fees and lower fee net charge-offs. The decrease in net interest cash flows was largely attributable to a
lower level of average securitized general purpose credit card loans. The decrease in the provision for consumer
loan losses was attributable to a lower rate of net principal charge-offs related to the securitized general purpose
credit card loan portfolio and a lower level of average securitized general purpose credit card loans.

The Other revenue component of servicing and securitization income, which includes net securitization gains and
losses on general purpose credit card loans and the change in the fair value of the Company’s retained interests in
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general purpose credit card asset securitizations, decreased $70 million in fiscal 2005 and $38 million in fiscal
2004. The decrease in fiscal 2005 was primarily due to a lower level of securitized receivables and a decline in
the fair value of the Company’s retained interests in securitized receivables as a result of an increase in
bankruptcy notifications and its impact on future charge-offs. The decrease in such revenue in fiscal 2004 was
attributable to a lower level of average general purpose credit card securitization transactions and higher net gain
amortization related to prior securitization transactions.

The net proceeds received from general purpose credit card asset securitizations were $7,240 million in fiscal
2005 and $3,714 million in fiscal 2004. The credit card asset securitization transactions completed in fiscal 2005
have expected maturities ranging from approximately three to five years from the date of issuance.

Net Interest Income. Net interest income represents the difference between interest revenue derived from
consumer loans and short-term investment assets and interest expense incurred to finance those loans and assets.
Assets, consisting primarily of consumer loans, currently earn interest revenue at both fixed rates and market-
indexed variable rates. The Company incurs interest expense at fixed and floating rates. Interest expense also
includes the effects of any interest rate contracts entered into by the Company as part of its interest rate risk
management program. This program is designed to reduce the volatility of earnings resulting from changes in
interest rates by having a financing portfolio that reflects the existing repricing schedules of consumer loans as
well as the Company’s right, with notice to cardmembers, to reprice certain fixed rate consumer loans to a new
interest rate in the future.

Net interest income increased 15% in fiscal 2005 due to an increase in interest revenue, partially offset by an
increase in interest expense. The increase in interest revenue was primarily due to an increase in average general
purpose credit card loans, which was partly attributable to a higher level of securitization maturities and the
deferment of new securitization transactions due to the exploration of the potential spin-off of Discover (see
“Board Approval to Retain Discover” herein). The increase in interest expense was largely due to a higher level
of average interest bearing liabilities, primarily to support the increase in average general purpose credit card
loans.

Net interest income decreased 4% in fiscal 2004 due to a decline in interest revenue that was partially offset by
lower interest expense. The decline in interest revenue was primarily due to a decrease in average general
purpose credit card loans. The decrease in interest expense was primarily due to a lower level of average interest
bearing liabilities and a decrease in the Company’s average cost of borrowings. The Company’s average cost of
borrowings was 4.13% for fiscal 2004 as compared with 4.49% for fiscal 2003. The decline in the average cost of
borrowings reflected the favorable impact of replacing certain maturing fixed rate debt with lower cost financing.

Morgan Stanley 56



The following tables present analyses of Discover’s average balance sheets and interest rates in fiscal 2005, fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003 and changes in net interest income during those fiscal years:

Average Balance Sheet Analysis.

ASSETS

Interest earning assets:

General purpose credit card
loans

Non-interest earning
assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S
EQUITY

Interest bearing liabilities:

Interest bearing deposits:

Savings
Brokered
Other time

Total interest bearing
deposits
Other borrowings

Total interest bearing

liabilities

Shareholder’s equity/other

liabilities

Total liabilities and
shareholder’s

equity

Net interest income

Net interest margin(1)
Interest rate spread(2)

Allowance for loan losses . .

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003
Average Average Average
Balance Rate Interest Balance Rate Interest Balance Rate Interest
(dollars in millions)
$19,931 10.12% $2,017 $17,608 10.05% $1,770 $19,531 10.02% $1,956
364 7.64 28 427  8.14 35 457  8.29 38
52 1.86 1 40 192 1 23 275 1
3,427 3.74 128 2,526  2.11 53 2,650 192 51
23,7714  9.15 2,174 20,601  9.02 1,859 22,661 9.03 2,046
(364) 972) (967)
2,479 2,343 2,317
$25,389 $21,972 $24,011
$ 691 289% $ 20 $ 688 1.05% $ 7 % 810 1.01% $ 8
11,639 4.38 510 8,601 5.07 436 10,523 5.28 556
2,190 3.71 81 2,154 3.33 72 1,620 4.38 71
14,520 4.21 611 11,443 4.50 515 12,953  4.90 635
4,131  4.10 170 4247 3.14 133 4,642 3.35 155
18,651 4.19 781 15,690 4.13 648 17,595 4.49 790
6,738 6,282 6,416
$25,389 $21,972 $24,011
$1,393 $1,211 $1,256
5.86% 5.88% 5.54%
4.96% 4.89% 4.54%

(1) Net interest margin represents net interest income as a percentage of total interest earning assets.
(2) Interest rate spread represents the difference between the rate on total interest earning assets and the rate on total interest bearing

liabilities.
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Rate/Volume Analysis.

Fiscal 2005 vs. Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2004 vs. Fiscal 2003

Increase/(Decrease) due to Changes in: Volume Rate Total Volume Rate  Total

(dollars in millions)

Interest Revenue

General purpose credit card loans ...................... $233 $14 $247 $(192) $ 6 $(186)

Otherconsumerloans . .....................ooiuon... ®)) ) @) 2) @)) 3)

Other ... 19 56 75 3) 5 2
Total interestrevenue . ..............c.ouiueiennn.. 285 30 315 (186) () (187

Interest Expense
Interest bearing deposits:

SaAVINGS o vttt — 13 13 nH — @)
Brokered .......... ... ... 154 (80) 74 (102)  (18) (120)
Othertime . ....... ...ttt 1 8 9 23 (22) 1
Total interest bearing deposits ..................... 138 (42) 96 (74) 46) (120)
Other borrowings . .........oouiuiini .. 3) 40 i (13) ® ﬁ)
Total interest eXpense . .. ......oovvvevrenenennnn .. 122 11 133 (86) (56) (142)
Net intereSt iNCOME . . .. oo vt vttt e $163 $19 $182 $(100) $ 55 $ (45

In response to industry-wide regulatory guidance, the Company has increased minimum payment requirements
on certain general purpose credit card loans and will implement further minimum payment increases beginning in
the second quarter of fiscal 2006. The Company expects this increase in minimum payment requirements to
impact negatively future levels of general purpose credit card loans and related interest and fee revenue and
charge-offs.

During fiscal 2005, the Company implemented a relief plan to assist certain cardmembers affected by Hurricane
Katrina. The relief plan included temporarily suspending minimum payment requirements, temporarily waiving
penalty fees and charging 0% interest on purchases for six months after the cardmember requested to be covered
by the relief plan. As of November 30, 2005, approximately 1% of the Company’s managed general purpose
credit card loans were made to cardmembers in the affected Gulf Coast region and were therefore subject to this
relief plan. While the Company has taken steps to mitigate the risks associated with its cardmember relief plan
and the other effects of Hurricane Katrina on its business, future levels of general purpose credit card loans,
related interest and fee revenue, and charge-offs may still be negatively affected.

Provision for Consumer Loan Losses. The provision for consumer loan losses is the amount necessary to
establish the allowance for consumer loan losses at a level that the Company believes is adequate to absorb
estimated losses in its consumer loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. The allowance for consumer loan losses
is a significant estimate that represents management’s estimate of probable losses inherent in the consumer loan
portfolio. The allowance for consumer loan losses is primarily applicable to the owned homogeneous consumer
credit card loan portfolio that is evaluated quarterly for adequacy and is established through a charge to the
provision for consumer loan losses. In calculating the allowance for consumer loan losses, the Company uses a
systematic and consistently applied approach. This process starts with a migration analysis (a technique used to
estimate the likelihood that a consumer loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and
ultimately charge-off) of delinquent and current consumer credit card accounts in order to determine the
appropriate level of the allowance for consumer loan losses. The migration analysis considers uncollectible
principal, interest and fees reflected in consumer loans. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for consumer
loan losses, management also considers factors that may impact future credit loss experience, including current
economic conditions, recent trends in delinquencies and bankruptcy filings, account collection management,
policy changes, account seasoning, loan volume and amounts, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties.
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The Company’s provision for consumer loan losses was $878 million, $926 million and $1,266 million for fiscal
2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. The Company’s allowance for consumer loan losses was $838
million at November 30, 2005 and $943 million at November 30, 2004.

The provision for consumer loan losses decreased 5% in fiscal 2005. The decrease reflected a higher net release
of reserves and lower net charge-offs as compared with the prior-year period due to improvement in credit
quality in the Company’s consumer loan portfolio, partially offset by the impact of higher bankruptcy filings in
advance of the new U.S. bankruptcy legislation that became effective in October 2005. The net reduction in
reserves in fiscal 2005 totaled approximately $100 million as compared with a net reduction of approximately
$60 million in the prior-year period. The Company believes that the spike in bankruptcy filings in October 2005
was, in part, an acceleration of losses that would have been incurred later in 2006. In determining the allowance
for loan losses as of November 30, 2005, the Company considered the impact of the current trends in bankruptcy
filings. The peak filing month was October 2005, which will be recognized as charge-offs (in accordance with
the Company’s accounting policy) in December 2005. The allowance for loan losses has provided for these
charge-offs, in addition to other impacts of the change in bankruptcy legislation that were known or highly
certain to the Company at November 30, 2005.

In fiscal 2004, the provision for consumer loan losses decreased 27%, primarily due to lower net principal
charge-offs resulting from an improvement in credit quality, including lower bankruptcy charge-offs driven by a
decline in U.S. personal bankruptcy filings. The decrease was also due to a lower level of average general
purpose credit card loans. The Company reduced the allowance for consumer loan losses by approximately $60
million in fiscal 2004 as compared with an increase of approximately $70 million in fiscal 2003 due to
improvement in credit quality, including lower delinquency rates and dollars.

Delinquencies and Charge-offs. General purpose credit card loans are considered delinquent when contractual
payments become 30 days past due. General purpose credit card loans generally are charged off at the end of the
month during which an account becomes 180 days contractually past due, except in the case of cardmember
bankruptcies, probate accounts and fraudulent transactions. Cardmember bankruptcies and probate accounts are
charged off at the end of the month 60 days following the receipt of notification of the bankruptcy or death but
not later than the 180-day contractual time frame. Fraudulent transactions are reported in consumer loans at their
net realizable value upon receipt of notification of the fraud through a charge to operating expenses and are
subsequently written off at the end of the month 90 days following notification but not later than the contractual
180-day time frame. Loan delinquencies and charge-offs are affected by changes in economic conditions,
account collection management and policy changes and may vary throughout the year due to seasonal consumer
spending and payment behaviors.

Delinquency rates in both the over 30- and over 90-day categories and net principal charge-off rates were lower
for both the owned and managed portfolios in fiscal 2005, reflecting improvements in portfolio credit quality (see
“Managed General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data” herein). The improvement in net principal charge-off rates
was partially offset by an increase in bankruptcy charge-offs related to consumers filing for bankruptcy in
advance of the new U.S. bankruptcy legislation that became effective in October 2005.

In fiscal 2004, net principal charge-off rates decreased in both the owned and managed portfolios as compared
with fiscal 2003, reflecting improvements in portfolio credit quality and a lower level of bankruptcy filings.
Delinquency rates in both the over 30- and over 90-day categories were lower in both the owned and managed
portfolios at November 30, 2004 as compared with November 30, 2003, also reflecting improvements in
portfolio credit quality.

The Company’s future charge-off rates and credit quality are subject to uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from what has been discussed above. Factors that influence the provision for consumer
loan losses include the level and direction of general purpose credit card loan delinquencies and charge-offs,
changes in consumer spending and payment behaviors, new laws and regulations and interpretations thereof,
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bankruptcy trends, the seasoning of the Company’s general purpose credit card loan portfolio, interest rate
movements and their impact on consumer behavior, and the rate and magnitude of changes in the Company’s
general purpose credit card loan portfolio, including the overall mix of accounts, products and loan balances
within the portfolio.

Non-Interest Expenses. Non-interest expenses increased 9% in fiscal 2005, partially resulting from the
acquisition of PULSE (see “Business Acquisitions and Sales” herein). Compensation and benefits expense
increased 15%, including Discover’s share ($29 million) of the costs associated with senior management changes
(see “Senior Management Compensation Charges” herein), as well as an increase in personnel costs, including
salaries and benefits. Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses increased 7%.
Marketing and business development expense increased 2% due to increased marketing and advertising costs.
Professional services expense increased 12% due to higher consulting fees partially related to the exploration of
the potential spin-off of Discover (see “Board Approval to Retain Discover” herein) and an increase in legal and
account collection fees. Other expenses increased 16%, primarily reflecting an increase in certain operating
expenses, including accruals for losses associated with cardmember fraud and higher legal accruals.

Fiscal 2004’s total non-interest expenses increased 2% from fiscal 2003. Compensation and benefits expense
decreased 5% due to lower employee benefit costs, as well as lower salaries resulting from lower employment
levels due, in part, to workforce reductions conducted during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. Excluding
compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses increased 5%. Marketing and business development
expense increased 20% due to increased marketing costs associated with account acquisition, merchant initiatives
and advertising. Other expenses decreased 8%, primarily reflecting a decrease in certain operating expenses,
including lower losses associated with cardmember fraud.

Seasonal Factors. Discover’s activities are affected by seasonal patterns of retail purchasing. Historically, a
substantial percentage of general purpose credit card loan growth occurs in the fourth calendar quarter, followed
by a flattening or decline of these loans in the following calendar quarter. Merchant fees, therefore, historically
have tended to increase in the first fiscal quarter, reflecting higher sales activity in the month of December.
Additionally, higher cardmember rewards incentives historically have been accrued for as a reduction of
merchant and cardmember fee revenues in the first fiscal quarter, reflecting seasonal growth in retail sales
volume.

Managed General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data. The Company analyzes its financial performance on both
a “managed” loan basis and as reported under U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”)
(“owned” loan basis). Managed loan data assume that the Company’s securitized loan receivables have not been
sold and present the results of the securitized loan receivables in the same manner as the Company’s owned
loans. The Company operates its Discover business and analyzes its financial performance on a managed basis.
Accordingly, underwriting and servicing standards are comparable for both owned and securitized loans. The
Company believes that managed loan information is useful to investors because it provides information regarding
the quality of loan origination and credit performance of the entire managed portfolio and allows investors to
understand the related credit risks inherent in owned loans and retained interests in securitizations. In addition,
investors often request information on a managed basis, which provides a more meaningful comparison with
industry competitors.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of owned and managed average loan balances, returns on
receivables, interest yields and interest rate spreads for the periods indicated:

Reconciliation of General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data (dollars in millions)

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Interest Interest Interest
Average Returnon Interest Rate Average Returnon Interest Rate Average Returnon Interest Rate
Balance Receivables(1) Yield Spread Balance Receivables(l) Yield Spread Balance Receivables(1) Yield Spread

General Purpose

Credit Card

Loans:
Owned .......... $19,932 2.92% 10.12% 5.94% $17,608 4.43% 10.05% 5.92% $19,531 3.32% 10.02% 5.53%
Securitized . ... ... 27,398 2.12% 12.88% 9.16% 29,779 2.62% 12.90% 10.56% 31,333 2.07% 13.13% 10.64%
Managed ........ $47,330 1.23% 11.72% 7.81% $47,387 1.65% 11.84% 8.88% $50,864 1.28% 11.93% 8.71%

(1) Return on receivables is equal to Discover income divided by average owned, securitized or managed credit card receivables, as
applicable.

The following tables present a reconciliation of owned and managed general purpose credit card loans and
delinquency and net charge-off rates:

Reconciliation of General Purpose Credit Card Loan Asset Quality Data (dollars in millions)

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003
Delinquency Delinquency Delinquency
Rates Rates Rates
Period- Over Over Period- Over Over Period- Over Over
End 30 920 End 30 90 End 30 90
Loans Days Days Loans Days Days Loans Days Days
General Purpose Credit Card
Loans:
Owned ...................... $22,496 3.69% 1.62% $19,724 4.08% 1.97% $18,930 5.36% 2.53%
Securitized ................... 24,440 4.24% 1.87% 28,537 4.87% 2.34% 29,428 6.36% 3.01%
Managed ..................... $46,936 3.98% 1.75% $48,261 4.55% 2.18% $48,358 5.97% 2.82%

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Net Principal Charge-offs:

OWNEA . .ot 4.84% 5.53% 6.05%
Securitized . . ... ... 5.52% 6.28% 6.95%
Managed ... ... 5.23% 6.00% 6.60%

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Net Total Charge-offs (inclusive of interest and fees):

OWNEA . .ot 6.59% 7.68% 8.33%
Securitized . . ... ... 7.72% 9.01% 9.75%
Managed .. ... 7.25% 8.51% 9.20%
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Other Items.
Board Approval to Retain Discover.

On April 4, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized management to pursue a
spin-off of Discover Financial Services. On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors
had determined that it is in the best interest of shareholders to retain Discover Financial Services and to no longer
pursue a spin-off.

Discontinued Operations.

As described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 17, 2005, the Company announced
that its Board of Directors had approved management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s non-core aircraft
leasing business. In connection with this action, the aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale”
under the provisions of SFAS No. 144, and reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. In addition, in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company recognized a charge of
approximately $1.7 billion ($1.0 billion after-tax) to reflect the write-down of the aircraft leasing business to its
estimated fair value of approximately $2.0 billion. In determining the charge that was recorded in the third
quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company estimated the value to be realized in selling the aircraft leasing business as a
whole. The estimated value of the business was based on the appraised values of the aircraft portfolio, an
evaluation of then current market conditions, recent transactions involving the sales of similar aircraft leasing
businesses, a detailed assessment of the portfolio and additional valuation analyses.

On January 30, 2006, the Company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement under which it will sell its
aircraft leasing business to Terra Firma, a European private equity group, for approximately $2.5 billion in cash and
the assumption of liabilities. Based on the terms of the agreement and in accordance with SFAS No. 144, the
Company revised its estimate of the fair value (less selling costs) of the aircraft leasing business and, as a result, in
the fourth quarter reduced the pre-tax charge recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 by approximately
$1.1 billion. Full year results for fiscal 2005 reflected a charge of $509 million ($316 million after-tax).

The sale is subject to customary regulatory approvals and closing conditions and is expected to close in the first
half of fiscal 2006.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company entered into agreements for the sale of certain aircraft.
Accordingly, the Company designated such aircraft as “held for sale” and recorded a $42 million pre-tax loss
related to the write-down of these aircraft to fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 144. As of February 3,
2005, all of these aircraft were sold. In addition, during fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the Company recorded
aircraft impairment charges in accordance with SFAS No. 144 (see Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements).

The table below provides information regarding the pre-tax loss on discontinued operations and the aircraft
impairment charges that are included in these amounts (dollars in millions):

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations . ..................oiiriiniinaiiain... $486 $172 $393
Aircraft impairment Charges . .. ... .ottt e — 109 287

The pre-tax loss on discontinued operations for fiscal 2003 also included a $36 million charge to adjust the
carrying value of previously impaired aircraft to market value (see Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements).
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Senior Management Compensation Charges.

Compensation and benefits expense in fiscal 2005 included charges for certain members of senior management
related to severance and new hires, which increased non-interest expenses by approximately $311 million. These
compensation charges were allocated to the Company’s business segments as follows: Institutional Securities
($193 million), Retail Brokerage ($48 million), Asset Management ($41 million) and Discover ($29 million).

Coleman Litigation.

On May 8, 2003, Coleman (Parent) Holdings Inc. (“CPH”) filed a complaint against the Company in the Circuit
Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit for Palm Beach County. The complaint relates to the merger between The
Coleman Company, Inc. (“Coleman”) and Sunbeam, Inc. (“Sunbeam”) in 1998. The complaint, as amended,
alleges that CPH was induced to agree to the transaction with Sunbeam based on certain financial
misrepresentations, and it asserts claims against the Company for aiding and abetting fraud, conspiracy and
punitive damages. Shortly before trial, which commenced in April 2005, the trial court granted, in part, a motion
for entry of a default judgment against the Company and ordered that portions of CPH’s complaint, including
those setting forth CPH’s primary allegations against the Company, be read to the jury and deemed established
for all purposes in the action. In May 2005, the jury returned a verdict in favor of CPH and awarded CPH $604
million in compensatory damages and $850 million in punitive damages. On June 23, 2005, the trial court issued
a final judgment in favor of CPH in the amount of $1,578 million, which includes prejudgment interest and
excludes certain payments received by CPH in settlement of related claims against others. On June 27, 2005, the
Company filed a notice of appeal with the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District of Florida and posted a
supersedeas bond, which automatically stayed execution of the judgment pending appeal. Included in cash and
securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and other regulations or requirements
in the consolidated statement of financial condition is $1,863 million of commercial paper and other securities
which have been pledged to obtain the bond which was posted in this matter. The Company filed its initial brief
in support of its appeal on December 7, 2005. The Company’s appeal seeks to reverse the judgment of the trial
court on several grounds and asks that the case be remanded for entry of a judgment in favor of the Company or,
in the alternative, for a new trial.

The Company believes, after consultation with outside counsel, that it is probable that the compensatory and
punitive damages awards will be overturned on appeal and the case remanded for a new trial. Taking into account
the advice of outside counsel, the Company is maintaining a reserve of $360 million for the Coleman litigation,
which it believes to be a reasonable estimate, under SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” of the low end
of the range of its probable exposure in the event the judgment is overturned and the case remanded for a new
trial. If the compensatory and/or punitive awards are ultimately upheld on appeal, in whole or in part, the
Company may incur an additional expense equal to the difference between the amount affirmed on appeal (and
post-judgment interest thereon) and the amount of the reserve. While the Company cannot predict with certainty
the amount of such additional expense, such additional expense could have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial condition of the Company and/or the Company’s or Institutional Securities operating
results for a particular future period, and the upper end of the range could exceed $1.2 billion. For further
information, see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Parmalat.

On July 18, 2005, the Italian government approved the settlement agreement that the Company and its
subsidiaries, Morgan Stanley & Co. International Ltd. and Morgan Stanley Bank International Ltd., had entered
into with the administrator of Parmalat pursuant to which the Company agreed to pay €155 million to Parmalat as
part of a settlement of all existing and potential claims between the Company and Parmalat. For further
information, see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Acquisitions and Sales.

On December 20, 2005, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement to acquire the
Goldfish credit card business from Lloyds TSB for approximately £1 billion. The acquisition of Goldfish will add
approximately 800,000 accounts and approximately £0.8 billion of receivables to the Company’s existing U.K.
credit card business. The Company currently expects the transaction to be completed in February 2006. The
results of Goldfish will be included within the Discover business segment as of the date of acquisition.
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On January 12, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of PULSE, a U.S.-based automated teller machine/
debit and electronic funds transfer network currently serving banks, credit unions, and savings and other financial
institutions. The Company believes that the combination of the PULSE and Discover Networks will create a
leading electronic payments company offering a full range of products and services for financial institutions,
consumers and merchants. As of the date of acquisition, the results of PULSE are included within the Discover
business segment. The Company recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of $329 million in connection
with the acquisition (see Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements).

On June 3, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of Barra, a global leader in delivering risk management
systems and services to managers of portfolio and firm-wide investment risk. The Company believes that the
combination of MSCI, a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Barra created a leading global provider
of benchmark indices and risk management analytics. Since the date of acquisition, the results of Barra have been
included within the Institutional Securities business segment. In February 2005, the Company sold its 50%
interest in POSIT, an equity crossing system that matches institutional buyers and sellers, to Investment
Technology Group, Inc. The Company acquired the POSIT interest as part of its acquisition of Barra. As a result
of the sale, the net carrying amount of intangible assets decreased by approximately $75 million (see Note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements).

In fiscal 2003, the Company acquired selected components of the U.S. real estate equity advisory businesses of
Lend Lease Corporation, an Australia-based company. The financial statement impact of this acquisition, which
is included in the Company’s Institutional Securities segment, was not significant.

Insurance Settlement.

On September 11, 2001, the U.S. experienced terrorist attacks targeted against New York City and Washington,
D.C. The attacks in New York resulted in the destruction of the World Trade Center complex, where
approximately 3,700 of the Company’s employees were located, and the temporary closing of the debt and equity
financial markets in the U.S. Through the implementation of its business recovery plans, the Company relocated
its displaced employees to other facilities.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company settled its claim with its insurance carriers related to the events of
September 11, 2001. The Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $251 million as the insurance recovery was in
excess of previously recognized costs related to the terrorist attacks (primarily write-offs of leasehold
improvements and destroyed technology and telecommunications equipment in the World Trade Center complex,
employee relocation and certain other employee-related expenditures).

The pre-tax gain, which was recorded as a reduction to non-interest expenses, is included within the Retail
Brokerage ($198 million), Asset Management ($43 million) and Institutional Securities ($10 million) segments.
The insurance settlement was allocated to the respective segments in accordance with the relative damages
sustained by each segment.

Stock-Based Compensation.

In fiscal 2003, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” using the prospective adoption method
for both deferred stock and stock options. In fiscal 2005, the Company early adopted SFAS No. 123R, which
revised the fair value based method of accounting for share-based payment liabilities, forfeitures and
modifications of stock-based awards and clarified SFAS No. 123’s guidance in several areas, including
measuring fair value, classifying an award as equity or as a liability and attributing compensation cost to service
periods. SFAS No. 123R also amended SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” to require that excess tax
benefits be reported as financing cash inflows rather than as a reduction of taxes paid, which is included within
operating cash flows.
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Upon adoption of SFAS 123R using the modified prospective approach, the Company recognized an $80 million
gain ($49 million after-tax) as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter of fiscal
2005 resulting from the requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date of grant instead of recognizing them as
incurred. The cumulative effect gain increased both basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.05.

In accordance with SFAS 123R, fiscal 2005 compensation expense included the amortization of fiscal 2003 and
fiscal 2004 equity-based awards but did not include any amortization for fiscal 2005 year-end awards. This had
the effect of reducing compensation expense in fiscal 2005. If SFAS No. 123R were not in effect, fiscal 2005’s
compensation expense would have included three years of amortization (i.e., for awards granted in fiscal 2003,
fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005). In addition, the fiscal 2005 year-end awards, which were granted in December 2005
and which will begin to be amortized in fiscal 2006, will be amortized over a shorter period (primarily two and
three years) as compared with awards granted in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 (primarily three and four years). The
shorter amortization period will have the effect of increasing compensation expense in fiscal 2006. In addition,
fiscal 2006 compensation expense will include the amortization of fiscal 2003, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005
equity-based awards.

For stock-based awards issued prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company’s accounting policy for such
awards granted to retirement-eligible employees was to recognize compensation cost over the service period
specified in the award terms. The Company accelerates any unrecognized compensation cost if and when a
retirement-eligible employee leaves the Company. For stock-based awards made to retirement-eligible
employees after the adoption of SFAS 123R on December 1, 2004, the Company’s accounting policy is to treat
such awards as fully vested on the date of grant unless other provisions of the award terms operate as substantive
service conditions. For awards granted to retirement-eligible employees during fiscal 2005, the Company
recognized compensation expense for such awards on the date of grant. The Company modified certain terms of
the fiscal 2005 year-end awards, which were granted in December 2005. As a result of such changes, the
Company is in the process of evaluating the accounting treatment for fiscal 2005 year-end awards that were
granted to retirement-eligible employees. If it is determined that the compensation expense for such awards
should be recognized at the date of grant instead of over the relevant service period, incremental compensation
expense of approximately $300 million will be recognized in the first quarter of fiscal 2006.

Lease Adjustment.

Prior to the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company did not record the effects of scheduled rent increases and
rent-free periods for certain real estate leases on a straight-line basis. In addition, the Company had been
accounting for certain tenant improvement allowances as reductions to the related leasehold improvements
instead of recording funds received as deferred rent and amortizing them as reductions to lease expense over the
lease term. In the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company changed its method of accounting for these rent
escalation clauses, rent-free periods and tenant improvement allowances to properly reflect lease expense over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The cumulative effect of this correction resulted in the Company recording
$109 million of additional rent expense in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The impact of this change was included
within non-interest expenses and reduced income before taxes within the Institutional Securities ($71 million),
Retail Brokerage ($29 million), Asset Management ($5 million) and Discover ($4 million) segments. The impact
of this correction was not material for all periods presented to the pre-tax income of each of the segments or to
the Company.

Income Tax Examinations.

The Company is under continuous examination by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) and other tax
authorities in certain countries, such as Japan and the U.K., and states in which the Company has significant
business operations, such as New York. The tax years under examination vary by jurisdiction; for example, the
current IRS examination, which recently began, covers 1999-2004. The Company has filed an appeal with
respect to unresolved issues relative to the IRS examination of years 1994-1998. The Company believes that the
settlement of the IRS examination of years 1994-1998 will not have a material negative impact on the
consolidated statement of income of the Company. The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional
assessments in each of the taxing jurisdictions resulting from these and subsequent years’ examinations. The
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Company has established tax reserves that the Company believes are adequate in relation to the potential for
additional assessments. Once established, the Company adjusts tax reserves only when more information is
available or when an event occurs necessitating a change to the reserves. The Company believes that the
resolution of tax matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company,
although a resolution could have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of income for a
particular future period and on the Company’s effective income tax rate for any period in which such resolution
occurs.

American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

The American Jobs Creation Act, adopted on October 22, 2004, provided for a special one-time tax deduction, or
dividend received deduction, of 85% of qualifying foreign earnings that are repatriated in either a company’s last
tax year that began before the enactment date or the first tax year that begins during the one-year period
beginning on the enactment date. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company recorded an income tax
benefit of $309 million, or $0.29 per diluted share, resulting from the Company’s repatriation of approximately
$4.0 billion of qualifying foreign earnings under the provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act. The
$309 million tax benefit resulted from the reversal of net deferred tax liabilities previously provided under SFAS
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” net of additional taxes associated with these qualifying earnings.

Asset Management and Account Fees.

Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company was improperly recognizing certain management fees,
account fees and related compensation expense paid at the beginning of the relevant contract periods, which is
when such fees were billed. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company changed its method of accounting
for such fees to properly recognize such fees and related expenses over the relevant contract period, generally
quarterly or annually. As a result of the change, the Company’s results in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004
included an adjustment to reflect the cumulative impact of the deferral of certain management fees, account fees
and related compensation expense paid to representatives. The impact of this change reduced net revenues by
$107 million, non-interest expenses by $27 million and income before taxes by $80 million, at both the Company
and the Retail Brokerage segment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Such adjustment reduced net income by
approximately $50 million and basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.05. If the above-referenced fees and
expenses had been recognized over the relevant contract period in the past, pre-tax income for the Company and
the Retail Brokerage segment would have been lower by the following amounts:

Decrease in
Pre-tax Income

(dollars in

millions)
Quarter ended:

February 28,2003 ... ... i $ (5.2
May 31,2003 ... (1.3)
August 31,2003 ... 4.2)
November 30,2003 .. ... ... (2.0)
Fiscal 2003 total . ........ ...t 12.7)

February 29,2004 . ... ... . 3.1)
May 31, 2004 . .o (2.6)
August 31, 2004 . .. (2.3)

Investments in Unconsolidated Investees.

The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own synthetic fuel production plants. The Company
accounts for these investments under the equity method of accounting. The Company’s share of the operating
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losses generated by these investments is recorded within Losses from unconsolidated investees, and the tax
credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses are recorded within the Company’s Provision
for income taxes.

In fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the losses from unconsolidated investees were more than offset by the
respective tax credits and tax benefits on the losses. The table below provides information regarding the losses
from unconsolidated investees, tax credits and tax benefits on the losses:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Losses from unconsolidated INVESIEES . . . . .ottt e $311 $328 $279
Tax CIEdlS . . .ottt e e e e 336 351 308
Tax benefits 0N 10SSES . . . ..ttt 124 132 112

Under the current tax law, synthetic fuels tax credits are granted under Section 29 (or, for the Company’s fiscal
years beginning after 2005, under Section 45K) of the Internal Revenue Code. Synthetic fuels tax credits are
available in full only when the price of oil is less than a base price specified by the tax code, as adjusted for
inflation (“Base Price”). The Base Price for each calendar year is determined by the Secretary of the Treasury by
April 1 of the following year. If the annual average price of a barrel of oil in 2005 or future years exceeds the
applicable Base Price, the synthetic fuels tax credits generated by the Company’s synthetic fuel facilities will be
phased out, on a ratable basis, over the phase-out range. Synthetic fuels tax credits realized in prior years are not
affected by this limitation. Based on the annual average price of a barrel of oil in 2005, the Company does not
expect to lose any synthetic fuels tax credits generated in 2005 due to phase-out. In fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2006,
the Company entered into derivative contracts designed to reduce its exposure to rising oil prices and the
potential phase-out of the synthetic fuels tax credits in 2005 and 2006. Changes in fair value relative to these
derivative contracts are included within Principal transactions—trading revenues.

IRS field auditors had contested the placed-in-service date of several synthetic fuel facilities owned by one of the
Company’s unconsolidated investees (“the LLC”). To qualify for the Section 29 tax credits, the production
facility must have been placed in service before July 1, 1998. The IRS has issued a Technical Advice
Memorandum confirming that the LLC synthetic fuel facilities at issue meet the placed-in-service requirement
under Section 29 of the Internal Revenue Code. The LLC has been informed that the IRS field auditors have
decided to close the audit without any disallowance of tax credits.

Pension Plans.

Contributions. The Company made contributions of $272 million and $120 million to its U.S. and non-U.S.
defined benefit pension plans in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, respectively. These contributions were funded with
cash from operations and were recorded as a component of prepaid pension benefit cost in the Company’s
consolidated statements of financial condition.

The Company determines the amount of its pension contributions by considering the interaction of several
factors. Such factors include the range of potential contributions (for example, the minimum required
contribution up to the maximum tax-deductible amount under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, or “ERISA”), the level of plan assets relative to plan liabilities, expected plan liquidity needs and expected
future contribution requirements. At November 30, 2005, there were no minimum required ERISA contributions
for the Company’s pension plan that is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the
“Qualified Plan”). For its non-U.S. plans, the Company’s policy is to fund at least the amounts sufficient to meet
minimum funding requirements under applicable employee benefit and tax regulations. Liabilities for benefits
payable under its unfunded supplementary plans are accrued by the Company and are funded when paid to the
beneficiaries.
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Pension Expense. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company recognizes pension expense before the
payment of benefits to retirees occurs. This process involves making certain estimates and assumptions,
including the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets.

The assumed discount rate, which reflects the rates at which pension benefits could be effectively settled, is used
to measure the projected and accumulated benefit obligations and to calculate the service cost and interest cost.
For fiscal 2005, the assumed discount rate for all U.S. plans was selected by the Company, in consultation with
its independent actuaries, using a pension discount yield curve based on the characteristics of the Qualified Plan
liabilities. The pension discount yield curve represents spot discount yields based on duration implicit in a
representative broad based Aa corporate bond universe of high quality fixed income investments. It includes only
bonds of reasonable issue size and excludes certain types of bonds, such as callable bonds. As of November 30,
2005, the Qualified Plan represented 92% of the total assets of the Company’s U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans
combined. The Company, in consultation with its independent actuaries, set the assumed discount rates used for
non-U.S. pension plans based on the nature of liabilities, local economic environments and available bond
indices.

For fiscal years prior to 2005, the assumed discount rate for all U.S. plans was determined with reference to a
standardized benchmark (the annualized Moody’s Aa long-term corporate bond yield average) adjusted for the
difference in the duration of the bonds underlying the benchmark and the duration of the Qualified Plan
liabilities. A secondary validation of the discount rate was then performed using a bond model customized to
reflect the characteristics of the Qualified Plan liabilities.

The expected long-term rate of return on assets represents the Company’s best estimate of the long-term return
on plan assets and generally was estimated by computing a weighted average return of the underlying long-term
expected returns on the different asset classes, based on the target asset allocations. For plans where there is no
established target asset allocation, actual asset allocations were used. The expected long-term return on assets is a
long-term assumption that generally is expected to remain the same from one year to the next unless there is a
significant change in the target asset allocation, the fees and expenses paid by the plan or market conditions.

The Qualified Plan’s target asset allocation policy changed in August 2004 from 55%/45% equity/fixed income
to 50%/50% equity/fixed income and, as a result, the Company, in consultation with its independent investment
consultants and actuaries, lowered its expected long-term rate of return on its Qualified Plan assets from 7.25%
to 7.00% for fiscal 2005 (see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements). The impact of this change was
not material to the Company’s consolidated results of operations in fiscal 2005. In September 2005, the Qualified
Plan’s target asset allocation policy changed from 50%/50% equity/fixed income to 45%/55% equity/fixed
income, and the duration of the fixed income portfolio was extended. As a result of this change, the Company
expects to lower the expected long-term rate of return on its Qualified Plan assets for fiscal 2006.

The Company’s fiscal 2005 expected long-term rate of return on assets for its Qualified Plan was based on the
following target asset allocation:

Target Investment Expected Annual

Mix Return(1)
Domestic equity:
Large capitalization .......... ... ...t 30% 8.0%
Small capitalization ............... . i 8% 8.4%
International €quIty . .. ... ..ot 12% 8.4%
Fixed income:
Long-term government/Corporate . . . .........ueuervunenenennen... 50% 5.2%

(1) These returns do not include the impact of diversification on the overall expected portfolio return.
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Each year the Company compares its initial estimate of the expected long-term rate of return on assets for the
Qualified Plan (and adjusts, if necessary) with a portfolio return calculator model (the “Portfolio Model”) that
produces a range of expected returns for the portfolio. Return assumptions used are forward-looking gross returns
that are not developed solely by an examination of historical returns. The Portfolio Model begins with the current
U.S. Treasury yield curve, recognizing that expected returns on bonds are heavily influenced by the current level
of yields. Corporate bond spreads and equity risk premiums, based on current market conditions, are then added
to develop the return expectations for each asset class. Expenses that are expected to be paid from the investment
return are reflected. This includes investment and transaction fees that typically are paid from plan assets, added
to the cost basis or subtracted from sale proceeds, as well as administrative expenses paid from plan assets.

The Company uses the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets to compute the expected return on assets
component of pension expense. For the Qualified Plan, expected returns are computed based on a market-related
value of assets. The market-related value of assets is a smoothed actuarial value of assets equal to a moving
average of market values in which investment income is recognized over a five-year period. The market-related
value of assets must be no greater than 120% and no less than 80% of the market value of assets. Investment
income equal to the expected return on the plan’s assets as calculated for the prior-year’s expense is recognized
immediately. Any difference between the actual investment income (on a market-value basis) and the expected
return is recognized over a five-year period in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions.”

Other assumptions, including mortality rates, long-term salary growth and employee turnover rates, are set by the
Company in consultation with its independent actuaries. These assumptions are tested every year by monitoring
gains and losses, performing assumption studies as needed, and monitoring Company objectives and actuarial
trends. These assumptions are adjusted whenever necessary.

The Company generally amortizes (as a component of pension expense) unrecognized net gains and losses over
the average future service of active participants (5 to 20 years depending upon the plan) to the extent that the
gain/loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of plan assets.
The loss amortization component for the U.S. and the non-U.S. pension plans was $49 million for fiscal 2005
(30% of pension expense) and $38 million for fiscal 2004 (29% of pension expense).

New Accounting Developments.
Limited Partnerships.

In June 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus reached in Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 04-5,
“Determining Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or
Similar Entity When the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights.” Under the provisions of EITF Issue No. 04-5, a
general partner in a limited partnership is presumed to control that limited partnership and therefore should
include the limited partnership in its consolidated financial statements regardless of the amount or extent of the
general partner’s interest unless a majority of the limited partners can vote to dissolve or liquidate the partnership
or otherwise remove the general partner without having to show cause or the limited partners have substantive
participating rights that can overcome the presumption of control by the general partner. EITF Issue No. 04-5
was effective immediately for all newly formed limited partnerships and existing limited partnerships for which
the partnership agreements have been modified. For all other existing limited partnerships for which the
partnership agreements have not been modified, the Company is required to adopt EITF Issue No. 04-5 on
December 1, 2006 in a manner similar to a cumulative-effect-type adjustment or by retrospective application.
The Company is currently assessing the impact on these existing limited partnerships of adopting the provisions
of EITF Issue No. 04-5; however, because the Company generally expects to provide limited partners in these
funds with rights to remove the Company as general partner or rights to terminate the partnership, the Company
does not expect the impact of EITF Issue No. 04-5 to be material.
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Critical Accounting Policies.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires the Company
to make estimates and assumptions (see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements). The Company believes
that of its significant accounting policies (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements), the following may
involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity.

Financial Instruments Used For Trading and Investment.

Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased, which include cash and
derivative products, are recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial condition, and gains and
losses are reflected in principal trading revenues in the consolidated statements of income. Fair value is the
amount at which financial instruments could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased
are generally based on observable market prices, observable market parameters or derived from such prices or
parameters based on bid prices or parameters for Financial instruments owned and ask prices or parameters for
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. In the case of financial instruments transacted on recognized
exchanges, the observable prices represent quotations for completed transactions from the exchange on which the
financial instrument is principally traded. Bid prices represent the highest price a buyer is willing to pay for a
financial instrument at a particular time. Ask prices represent the lowest price a seller is willing to accept for a
financial instrument at a particular time.

A substantial percentage of the fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased is based on observable market prices, observable market parameters, or is
derived from such prices or parameters. The availability of observable market prices and pricing parameters can
vary from product to product. Where available, observable market prices and pricing parameters in a product (or
a related product) may be used to derive a price without requiring significant judgment. In certain markets,
observable market prices or market parameters are not available for all products, and fair value is determined
using techniques appropriate for each particular product. These techniques involve some degree of judgment.

The price transparency of the particular product will determine the degree of judgment involved in determining
the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments. Price transparency is affected by a wide variety of factors,
including, for example, the type of product, whether it is a new product and not yet established in the
marketplace, and the characteristics particular to the transaction. Products for which actively quoted prices or
pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted prices or pricing
parameters will generally have a higher degree of price transparency. By contrast, products that are thinly traded
or not quoted will generally have reduced to no price transparency. Even in normally active markets, the price
transparency for actively quoted instruments may be reduced for periods of time during periods of market
dislocation. Alternatively, in thinly quoted markets, the participation of market-makers willing to purchase and
sell a product provides a source of transparency for products that otherwise are not actively quoted or during
periods of market dislocation.

The Company’s cash products include securities issued by the U.S. government and its agencies, other sovereign
debt obligations, corporate and other debt securities, corporate equity securities, exchange traded funds and
physical commodities. The fair value of these products is based principally on observable market prices or is
derived using observable market parameters. These products generally do not entail a significant degree of
judgment in determining fair value. Examples of products for which actively quoted prices or pricing parameters
are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted prices or pricing parameters include
securities issued by the U.S. government and its agencies, exchange traded corporate equity securities, most
municipal debt securities, most corporate debt securities, most high-yield debt securities, physical commodities,
certain tradable loan products and most mortgage-backed securities.
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In certain circumstances, principally involving loan products and other financial instruments held for
securitization transactions, the Company determines fair value from within the range of bid and ask prices such
that fair value indicates the value likely to be realized in a current market transaction. Bid prices reflect the price
that the Company and others pay, or stand ready to pay, to originators of such assets. Ask prices represent the
prices that the Company and others require to sell such assets to the entities that acquire the financial instruments
for purposes of completing the securitization transactions. Generally, the fair value of such acquired assets is
based upon the bid price in the market for the instrument or similar instruments. In general, the loans and similar
assets are valued at bid pricing levels until structuring of the related securitization is substantially complete and
such that the value likely to be realized in a current transaction is consistent with the price that a securitization
entity will pay to acquire the financial instruments. Factors affecting securitized value and investor demand
relating specifically to loan products include, but are not limited to, loan type, underlying property type and
geographic location, loan interest rate, loan to value ratios, debt service coverage ratio, investor demand and
credit enhancement levels.

In addition, some cash products exhibit little or no price transparency, and the determination of fair value
requires more judgment. Examples of cash products with little or no price transparency include certain high-yield
debt, certain collateralized mortgage obligations, certain tradable loan products, distressed debt securities
(i.e., securities of issuers encountering financial difficulties, including bankruptcy or insolvency) and equity
securities that are not publicly traded. Generally, the fair value of these types of cash products is determined
using one of several valuation techniques appropriate for the product, which can include cash flow analysis,
revenue or net income analysis, default recovery analysis (i.e., analysis of the likelihood of default and the
potential for recovery) and other analyses applied consistently.

The following table presents the valuation of the Company’s cash products included within Financial instruments
owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased by level of price transparency (dollars in millions):

At November 30, 2005 At November 30, 2004
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Observable market prices, parameters or derived from observable

PriCes OF PArAMELErS . . ..ottt et et ieeeean s $203,590 $101,972 $145,327 $66,948
Reduced or no price transparency .......................... 11,131 76 9,240 827
Total ... $214,721 $102,048 $154,567 $67,775

The Company’s derivative products include exchange traded and OTC derivatives. Exchange traded derivatives
have valuation attributes similar to the cash products valued using observable market prices or market parameters
described above. OTC derivatives, whose fair value is derived using pricing models, include a wide variety of
instruments, such as interest rate swap and option contracts, foreign currency option contracts, credit and equity
swap and option contracts, and commodity swap and option contracts.

The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s exchange traded and OTC derivatives included
within Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased (dollars in millions):

At November 30,2005 At November 30, 2004
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Exchangetraded ... ...... ... ... 0 i $ 4491 $ 8,151 $ 2,754 $ 42815
OTC e 41,403 36,801 46,721 38,725
Total ... $45,894  $44,952  $49,475 $43,540

The fair value of OTC derivative contracts is derived primarily using pricing models, which may require multiple
market input parameters. Where appropriate, valuation adjustments are made to account for credit quality and
market liquidity. These adjustments are applied on a consistent basis and are based upon observable market data
where available. In the absence of observable market prices or parameters in an active market, observable prices
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or parameters of other comparable current market transactions, or other observable data supporting a fair value
based on a pricing model at the inception of a contract, fair value is based on the transaction price. The Company
also uses pricing models to manage the risks introduced by OTC derivatives. Depending on the product and the
terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be modeled using a series of techniques,
including closed form analytic formulae, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model, simulation models or a
combination thereof, applied consistently. In the case of more established derivative products, the pricing models
used by the Company are widely accepted by the financial services industry. Pricing models take into account the
contract terms, including the maturity, as well as market parameters such as interest rates, volatility and the
creditworthiness of the counterparty.

Many pricing models do not entail material subjectivity because the methodologies employed do not necessitate
significant judgment, and the pricing inputs are observed from actively quoted markets, as is the case for generic
interest rate swap and option contracts. A substantial majority of OTC derivative products valued by the
Company using pricing models fall into this category. Other derivative products, typically the newest and most
complex products, will require more judgment in the implementation of the modeling technique applied due to
the complexity of the modeling assumptions and the reduced price transparency surrounding the model’s market
parameters. The Company manages its market exposure for OTC derivative products primarily by entering into
offsetting derivative contracts or other related financial instruments. The Company’s trading divisions, the
Financial Control Department and the Market Risk Department continuously monitor the price changes of the
OTC derivatives in relation to the offsetting positions. For a further discussion of the price transparency of the
Company’s OTC derivative products, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Risk
Management—Credit Risk” in Part II, Item 7A.

Equity and debt securities purchased in connection with private equity and other principal investment activities
initially are carried in the consolidated financial statements at their original costs, which approximate fair value.
The carrying value of such securities is adjusted when changes in the underlying fair values are readily
ascertainable, generally as evidenced by observable market prices or transactions that directly affect the value of
such securities. Downward adjustments relating to such securities are made in the event that the Company
determines that the fair value is less than the carrying value. The Company’s partnership interests, including
general partnership and limited partnership interests in real estate funds, are included within Other assets in the
consolidated statements of financial condition and are recorded at fair value based upon changes in the fair value
of the underlying partnership’s net assets.

The Company employs control processes to validate the fair value of its financial instruments, including those
derived from pricing models. These control processes are designed to assure that the values used for financial
reporting are based on observable market prices or market-based parameters wherever possible. In the event that
market prices or parameters are not available, the control processes are designed to assure that the valuation
approach utilized is appropriate and consistently applied and that the assumptions are reasonable. These control
processes include reviews of the pricing model’s theoretical soundness and appropriateness by Company
personnel with relevant expertise who are independent from the trading desks. Additionally, groups independent
from the trading divisions within the Financial Control and Market Risk Departments participate in the review
and validation of the fair values generated from pricing models, as appropriate. Where a pricing model is used to
determine fair value, recently executed comparable transactions and other observable market data are considered
for purposes of validating assumptions underlying the model. Consistent with market practice, the Company has
individually negotiated agreements with certain counterparties to exchange collateral (“margining”) based on the
level of fair values of the derivative contracts they have executed. Through this margining process, one party or
both parties to a derivative contract provides the other party with information about the fair value of the
derivative contract to calculate the amount of collateral required. This sharing of fair value information provides
additional support of the Company’s recorded fair value for the relevant OTC derivative products. For certain
OTC derivative products, the Company, along with other market participants, contributes derivative pricing
information to aggregation services that synthesize the data and make it accessible to subscribers. This
information is then used to evaluate the fair value of these OTC derivative products. For more information
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regarding the Company’s risk management practices, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market
Risk—Risk Management” in Part II, Item 7A.

Allowance for Consumer Loan Losses.

The allowance for consumer loan losses in the Company’s Discover business is established through a charge to
the provision for consumer loan losses. Provisions are made to reserve for estimated losses in outstanding loan
balances. The allowance for consumer loan losses is a significant estimate that represents management’s estimate
of probable losses inherent in the consumer loan portfolio. The allowance for consumer loan losses is primarily
applicable to the owned homogeneous consumer credit card loan portfolio and is evaluated quarterly for
adequacy.

In calculating the allowance for consumer loan losses, the Company uses a systematic and consistently applied
approach. This process starts with a migration analysis (a technique used to estimate the likelihood that a
consumer loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and ultimately charge-off) of delinquent
and current consumer credit card accounts in order to determine the appropriate level of the allowance for
consumer loan losses. The migration analysis considers uncollectible principal, interest and fees reflected in
consumer loans. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for consumer loan losses, management also
considers factors that may impact future credit loss experience, including current economic conditions, recent
trends in delinquencies and bankruptcy filings, account collection management, policy changes, account
seasoning, loan volume and amounts, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties. A provision for consumer loan
losses is charged against earnings to maintain the allowance for consumer loan losses at an appropriate level. The
use of different estimates or assumptions could produce different provisions for consumer loan losses (see
“Discover—Provision for Consumer Loan Losses” herein).

Aircraft under Operating Leases.
Aircraft Held for Sale.

On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved management’s
recommendation to sell the Company’s non-core aircraft leasing business. In connection with this action, the
aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 and reported as
discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The aircraft portfolio was not
depreciated after August 17, 2005. In addition, in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company recognized a
charge of approximately $1.7 billion ($1.0 billion after-tax) to reflect the write-down of the aircraft leasing
business to its estimated fair value of approximately $2.0 billion. In determining the charge that was recorded in
the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company estimated the value to be realized in selling the aircraft leasing
business as a whole. The estimated value of the business was based on the appraised values of the aircraft
portfolio, an evaluation of then current market conditions, recent transactions involving the sales of similar
aircraft leasing businesses, a detailed assessment of the portfolio and additional valuation analyses.

On January 30, 2006, the Company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement under which it will sell
its aircraft leasing business to Terra Firma, a European private equity group, for approximately $2.5 billion in
cash and the assumption of liabilities. Based on the terms of the agreement and in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, the Company revised its estimate of the fair value (less selling costs) of the aircraft leasing business
and, as a result, in the fourth quarter reduced the pre-tax charge recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 by
approximately $1.1 billion. Full year results for fiscal 2005 reflected a charge of $509 million ($316 million
after-tax).

The sale is subject to customary regulatory approvals and closing conditions and is expected to close in the first
half of 2006.
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Aircraft to Be Held and Used.

Prior to the third quarter of fiscal 2005, aircraft under operating leases that were to be held and used were stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Depreciation was calculated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the aircraft asset, which was generally 25 years from the date of
manufacture. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft that were to be held and used were
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying value of the
aircraft may not be recoverable. Under SFAS No. 144, the carrying value of an aircraft may not be recoverable if
its projected undiscounted cash flows are less than its carrying value. If an aircraft’s projected undiscounted cash
flows were less than its carrying value, the Company recognized an impairment charge equal to the excess of the
carrying value over the fair value of the aircraft. The fair value of the Company’s impaired aircraft was based
upon the average market appraisal values obtained from independent appraisal companies. Estimates of future
cash flows associated with the aircraft assets as well as the appraisals of fair value are critical to the
determination of whether an impairment exists and the amount of the impairment charge, if any (see Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements).

Legal, Regulatory and Tax Contingencies.

In the normal course of business, the Company has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in various
legal actions, including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with its activities as a
global diversified financial services institution. Certain of the actual or threatened legal actions include claims for
substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. In some
cases, the issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in such cases are bankrupt or in financial
distress. The Company is also involved, from time to time, in other reviews, investigations and proceedings (both
formal and informal) by governmental and self-regulatory agencies regarding the Company’s business, including,
among other matters, accounting and operational matters, certain of which may result in adverse judgments,
settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. The number of these reviews, investigations and
proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms in the financial services industry, including
the Company.

Reserves for litigation and regulatory proceedings are generally determined on a case-by-case basis and represent
an estimate of probable losses after considering, among other factors, the progress of each case, prior experience
and the experience of others in similar cases, and the opinions and views of internal and external legal counsel. In
view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases where claimants
seek substantial or indeterminate damages or where investigations and proceedings are in the early stages, the
Company cannot predict with certainty the loss or range of loss, if any, related to such matters, how such matters
will be resolved, when they will ultimately be resolved, or what the eventual settlement, fine, penalty or other
relief, if any, might be.

The Company is subject to the income tax laws of the U.S., its states and municipalities and those of the foreign
jurisdictions in which the Company has significant business operations. These tax laws are complex and subject
to different interpretations by the taxpayer and the relevant governmental taxing authorities. The Company must
make judgments and interpretations about the application of these inherently complex tax laws when determining
the provision for income taxes and must also make estimates about when in the future certain items affect taxable
income in the various tax jurisdictions. Disputes over interpretations of the tax laws may be settled with the
taxing authority upon examination or audit. The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of assessments in
each of the taxing jurisdictions resulting from current and subsequent years’ examinations, and tax reserves are
established as appropriate.

The Company establishes reserves for potential losses that may arise out of litigation, regulatory proceedings and
tax audits to the extent that such losses are probable and can be estimated in accordance with SFAS No. 5. Once
established, reserves are adjusted when there is more information available or when an event occurs requiring a
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change. Significant judgment is required in making these estimates, and the actual cost of a legal claim, tax
assessment or regulatory fine/penalty may ultimately be materially different from the recorded reserves, if any.

See Notes 9 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information on legal proceedings and
tax examinations.

Certain Factors Affecting Results of Operations.

The Company’s results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations and by economic factors.
In addition, results of operations in the past have been, and in the future may continue to be, materially affected
by many factors of a global nature, including political, economic and market conditions; the availability and cost
of capital; the level and volatility of equity prices, commodity prices and interest rates; currency values and other
market indices; technological changes and events; the availability and cost of credit; inflation; and investor
sentiment and confidence in the financial markets. In addition, there continues to be a heightened level of
legislative, legal and regulatory developments related to the financial services industry that potentially could
increase costs, thereby affecting future results of operations. Such factors also may have an impact on the
Company’s ability to achieve its strategic objectives on a global basis. For a further discussion of these and other
important factors that could affect the Company’s business, see “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A.

75 Morgan Stanley



Liquidity and Capital Resources.

The Company’s senior management establishes the overall liquidity and capital policies of the Company.
Through various risk and control committees, the Company’s senior management reviews business performance
relative to these policies, monitors the availability of alternative sources of financing, and oversees the liquidity
and interest rate and currency sensitivity of the Company’s asset and liability position. These committees, along
with the Company’s Treasury Department and other control groups, also assist in evaluating, monitoring and
controlling the impact that the Company’s business activities have on its consolidated balance sheet, liquidity and
capital structure, thereby helping to ensure that its business activities are integrated with the Company’s liquidity
and capital policies. For a description of the Company’s other principal risks and how they are monitored and
managed, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Risk Management” in Part II,
Item 7A.

The Company’s liquidity and funding risk management policies are designed to mitigate the potential risk that
the Company may be unable to access adequate financing to service its financial obligations when they come due
without material, adverse franchise or business impact. The key objectives of the liquidity and funding risk
management framework are to support the successful execution of the Company’s business strategies while
ensuring ongoing and sufficient liquidity through the business cycle and during periods of financial distress. The
principal elements of the Company’s liquidity framework are the cash capital policy, the liquidity reserve and
stress testing through the contingency funding plan. Comprehensive financing guidelines (collateralized funding,
long-term funding strategy, surplus capacity, diversification, staggered maturities and committed credit facilities)
support the Company’s target liquidity profile.

The Balance Sheet.

The Company monitors and evaluates the composition and size of its balance sheet. Given the nature of the
Company’s market-making and customer financing activities, the overall size of the balance sheet fluctuates
from time to time. A substantial portion of the Company’s total assets consists of highly liquid marketable
securities and short-term receivables arising principally from its Institutional Securities sales and trading
activities. The highly liquid nature of these assets provides the Company with flexibility in financing and
managing its business.

The Company’s total assets increased to $898.5 billion at November 30, 2005 from $747.3 billion at
November 30, 2004. The increase was primarily due to increases in securities purchased under agreements to
resell, securities borrowed and financial instruments owned (largely driven by increases in corporate and other
debt and corporate equities). The increases were largely the result of higher market levels globally and an
increase in client business opportunities.

Balance sheet leverage ratios are one indicator of capital adequacy when viewed in the context of a company’s
overall liquidity and capital policies. The Company views the adjusted leverage ratio as a more relevant measure
of financial risk when comparing financial services firms and evaluating leverage trends. The Company has
adopted a definition of adjusted assets that excludes certain self-funded assets considered to have minimal
market, credit and/or liquidity risk. These low-risk assets generally are attributable to the Company’s matched
book and securities lending businesses. Adjusted assets are calculated by reducing gross assets by aggregate
resale agreements and securities borrowed less non-derivative short positions and assets recorded under certain
provisions of SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of
Liabilities—a replacement of FASB Statement No. 125,” and FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 467),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” as revised. The adjusted leverage ratio reflects the deduction from
shareholders’ equity of the amount of equity used to support goodwill and intangible assets (as the Company
does not view this amount of equity as available to support its risk capital needs). In addition, the Company
views junior subordinated debt issued to capital trusts as a component of its capital base given the inherent
characteristics of the securities. These characteristics include the long-dated nature (final maturity at issuance of
30 years extendible at the Company’s option by a further 19 years), the Company’s ability to defer coupon
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interest for up to 20 consecutive quarters and the subordinated nature of the obligations in the capital structure.
The Company also receives rating agency equity credit for these securities.

The following table sets forth the Company’s total assets, adjusted assets and leverage ratios as of November 30,
2005 and November 30, 2004 and for the average month-end balances during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004:

Average Month-End

Balance at Balance
November 30, November 30,
2005 2004 Fiscal 2005  Fiscal 2004
(dollars in millions, except ratio data)

Total @sSets .. ..ottt $ 898,523 $ 747,334  $ 828,009 $ 711,833
Less: Securities purchased under agreements to resell .. .. (174,330) (123,041)  (147,057) (98,485)
Securities borrowed . ...... .. (244.,241) (208,349)  (225,984) (191,767)

Add: Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased . . ... .. 147,000 111,315 130,936 127,736
Less: Derivative contracts sold, not yet purchased ....... (44,952) (43,540) (42,192) (42,488)

Subtotal ............. ... ... . 582,000 483,719 543,712 506,829
Less: Segregated customer cash and securities balances . . . (30,540) (26,534) (30,483) (25,596)

Assets recorded under certain provisions of SFAS

No. 140 and FIN 46, asrevised ................ (67,091) (44,895) (56,865)  (39,728)
Goodwill and intangible assets . ................. (2,500) (2,199) 2,471) (1,761)

Adjusted assets . ... ... $ 481,869 $ 410,091 $ 453,893 $ 439,744

Shareholders” equity .. ........ ..., $ 29,182 $ 28,206 $ 28501 $ 26,718

Junior subordinated debt issued to capital trusts ......... 2,764 2,897 2,859 2,877

Subtotal ......... ... ... 31,946 31,103 31,360 29,595
Less: Goodwill and intangible assets .................. (2,500) (2,199) (2,471) (1,761)

Tangible shareholders’ equity ....................... $ 29446 $ 28904 $ 28,889 $ 27,834
Leverage ratio(1) ......... ..., 30.5x 25.9x 28.7x 25.6x
Adjusted leverage ratio(2) . ... 16.4x 14.2x 15.7x 15.8x

(1) Leverage ratio equals total assets divided by tangible shareholders’ equity.
(2) Adjusted leverage ratio equals adjusted assets divided by tangible shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s total capital consists of shareholders’ equity, long-term borrowings (debt obligations scheduled
to mature in more than 12 months), junior subordinated debt issued to capital trusts, and Capital Units. At
November 30, 2005, total capital was $125.9 billion, an increase of $15.1 billion from November 30, 2004.

During the 12 months ended November 30, 2005, the Company issued senior notes aggregating $35.3 billion,
including non-U.S. dollar currency notes aggregating $15.0 billion. In connection with the note issuances, the
Company has entered into certain transactions to obtain floating interest rates based primarily on short-term
London Interbank Offered Rates (“LIBOR”) trading levels. At November 30, 2005, the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of the Company’s Senior Indebtedness (as defined in the Company’s senior debt indentures)
was approximately $132 billion (including guaranteed obligations of the indebtedness of subsidiaries). The
weighted average maturity of the Company’s long-term borrowings, based upon stated maturity dates, was
approximately five years at November 30, 2005. Subsequent to fiscal year-end and through January 31, 2006, the
Company’s long-term borrowings (net of repayments) increased by approximately $6 billion.

Economic Capital.

The Company uses an economic capital model to determine the amount of equity capital needed to support the
risk of its business activities and to ensure that the Company remains adequately capitalized. The Company
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calculates economic capital on a going concern basis, which is defined as the amount of capital needed to run the
business through the business cycle and satisfy the requirements of regulators, rating agencies and the market.
Business unit economic capital allocations are evaluated by benchmarking to similarly rated peer firms by
business segment. The Company believes this methodology provides an indication of the appropriate level of
capital for each business segment as if each were an independent operating entity.

Economic capital requirements are allocated to each business segment and are sub-allocated to product lines as
appropriate. This process is intended to align equity capital with the risks in each business, provide business
managers with tools for measuring and managing risk, and allow senior management to evaluate risk-adjusted
returns (such as return on economic capital and shareholder value added) to facilitate resource allocation
decisions.

The Company’s methodology is based on an approach that assigns economic capital to each business unit based
on regulatory capital usage plus additional capital for stress losses. Regulatory capital, including additional
capital assigned for goodwill, intangible assets and principal investment risk, is a minimum requirement to
ensure funding access and customer credibility. The Company believes it must be able to sustain stress losses and
maintain capital substantially above regulatory minimums while supporting ongoing business activities.
Aggregate economic capital requirements represent the minimum amount of book equity capital required under
the going concern approach. The difference between the Company’s consolidated common equity and aggregate
economic capital denotes the Company’s unallocated capital position, which is not currently allocated to the
business segments or reflected in business segment performance metrics.

The Company assesses stress loss capital across various dimensions of market, credit, business and operational
risks. Stress losses are defined at the 90% to 95% confidence interval in order to capture worst potential losses in
10 to 20 years. Stress loss calculations are tangible and transparent and avoid reliance on extreme loss statistical
models.

Market risk scenarios capture systematic, idiosyncratic and random market risk through the use of internal
market stress data. Credit risk is included in the form of idiosyncratic counterparty default events. Business risk
incorporates earnings volatility due to variability in revenue flows, with estimates on the mix of fixed versus
variable expenses at various points in the business cycle. Operational stress losses primarily reflect legal risk
across the Company.

The Company may enhance the economic capital model and allocation methodology over time in response to
changes in the business and regulatory environment to ensure that the model continues to reflect the risks
inherent in the Company’s business activities and to reflect changes in the drivers of the level and cost of
required capital.

The following table presents the allocation of the Company’s average common equity during fiscal 2005 and
fiscal 2004:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004
Average common equity (dollars in billions):

Institutional SeCUrities . . . ... ...t $14.6 $13.3
Retail Brokerage . ... ... 3.7 35
Asset Management . . ... ...ttt e 1.7 1.7
DISCOVET .ottt 4.4 3.9

Total from operating SEZMENtS . . .. ... ..ottt ettt et 244 224
Discontinued OPerations . .. ... ... ...... ottt 1.2 1.5
Unallocated capital ... ....... ... 2.9 2.8
Consolidated . ... ... $28.5 $26.7
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Equity Capital Management Policies. The Company’s senior management views equity capital as an important
source of financial strength and, therefore, pursues a strategy of ensuring that the Company’s equity base
adequately reflects and provides protection from the economic risks inherent in its businesses. Capital is required
for, among other things, the Company’s inventories, underwritings, principal investments, consumer loans,
bridge loans and other financings, and investments in fixed assets, including aircraft assets (see “Discontinued
Operations” herein). The Company also considers return on common equity to be an important measure of its
performance, in the context of both the particular business environment in which the Company is operating and
its peer group’s results. In this regard, the Company actively manages its consolidated equity capital position
based upon, among other things, business opportunities, capital availability and rates of return together with
internal capital policies, regulatory requirements and rating agency guidelines and, therefore, in the future may
expand or contract its equity capital base to address the changing needs of its businesses. The Company attempts
to maintain total equity, on a consolidated basis, at least equal to the sum of its operating subsidiaries’ equity.

At November 30, 2005, the Company’s equity capital (which includes shareholders’ equity and junior
subordinated debt issued to capital trusts) was $31.9 billion, an increase of $0.8 billion from November 30, 2004.
The Company returns internally generated equity capital that is in excess of the needs of its businesses to its
shareholders through common stock repurchases and dividends. The Board of Directors has authorized the
Company to purchase, subject to market conditions and certain other factors, shares of common stock for capital
management purposes. There were no repurchases made under the capital management authorization during
fiscal 2005. The unused portion of this authorization at January 31, 2006 was approximately $600 million. The
Company also has an ongoing repurchase authorization in connection with awards granted under its equity-based
compensation plans. During fiscal 2005, the Company purchased approximately $3.7 billion of its common stock
(approximately 68 million shares) through a combination of open market purchases and purchases from
employees at an average cost of $54.31 (see also “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities” in Part II, Item 5). The Company currently anticipates that it
will repurchase between $2 billion and $4 billion of its common stock pursuant to its equity antidilution program
during fiscal 2006. The actual amount of repurchases will be subject to market conditions and certain other
factors. The Board of Directors determines the declaration and payment of dividends on a quarterly basis. In
December 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend per common
share of $0.27.
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Liquidity Management Policies. The primary goal of the Company’s liquidity and funding activities is to
ensure adequate financing over a wide range of potential credit ratings and market environments. Given the
highly liquid nature of the Company’s balance sheet, day-to-day funding requirements are largely fulfilled
through the use of stable collateralized financing. The Company has centralized management of credit-sensitive
unsecured funding sources in the Treasury Department. In order to meet target liquidity requirements and
withstand an unforeseen contraction in credit availability, the Company has designed a liquidity management
framework.

Liquidity Management
Framework: Designed to:

Contingency Funding Plan Ascertain the Company’s ability to manage a prolonged liquidity contraction
and provide a course of action over a one-year time period to ensure orderly
functioning of the businesses. The contingency funding plan sets forth the
process and the internal and external communication flows necessary to ensure
effective management of the contingency event. Analytical processes exist to
periodically evaluate and report the liquidity risk exposures of the organization
under management-defined scenarios.

Cash Capital Ensure that the Company can fund its balance sheet while repaying its financial
obligations maturing within one year without issuing new unsecured debt. The
Company attempts to achieve this by maintaining sufficient cash capital
(long-term debt and equity capital) to finance illiquid assets and the portion of
its securities inventory that is not expected to be financed on a secured basis in a
credit-stressed environment.

Liquidity Reserve Maintain, at all times, a liquidity reserve composed of immediately available
cash and cash equivalents and a pool of unencumbered securities that can be
sold or pledged to provide same-day liquidity to the Company. The reserve is
periodically assessed and determined based on day-to-day funding requirements
and strategic liquidity targets. The liquidity reserve averaged approximately $48
billion during fiscal 2005, of which approximately $32 billion on average was
held at the parent company.

Contingency Funding Plan.

The Company’s Contingency Funding Plan (“CFP”’) model incorporates a wide range of potential cash outflows
during a liquidity stress event, including, but not limited to, the following: (i) repayment of all unsecured debt
maturing within one year; (ii) maturity roll-off of outstanding letters of credit with no further issuance and
replacement with cash collateral; (iii) return of unsecured securities borrowed and any cash raised against these
securities; (iv) additional collateral that would be required by counterparties in the event of a ratings downgrade;
(v) higher haircuts on or lower availability of secured funding; (vi) client cash withdrawals; (vii) drawdowns on
unfunded commitments provided to third parties; and (viii) discretionary unsecured debt buybacks.

The Company’s CFP is developed at the legal entity level in order to capture specific cash requirements and
availability for the parent company and each of its major operating subsidiaries. The CFP assumes that the parent
company does not have access to cash that may be trapped at subsidiaries due to regulatory, legal or tax
constraints. In addition, the CFP assumes that the parent company does not draw down on its committed credit
facilities.

Bank subsidiaries that operate in a deposit-protected environment are not expected to be impacted by a
Company-specific credit event and are expected to continue to provide reliable funding for assets held in these
entities. These entities include Discover Bank, which primarily funds credit card receivables, and Morgan
Stanley Bank, which funds senior loans and certain mortgage assets. Discover Bank also accesses the asset-
backed financing market for a significant portion of its funding requirements.
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Cash Capital.

The Company maintains a cash capital model that measures long-term funding sources against requirements.
Sources of cash capital include the parent company’s equity and the non-current portion of certain long-term
borrowings. Uses of cash capital include the following: (i) illiquid assets such as buildings, aircraft (see
“Discontinued Operations” herein), equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, exchange memberships, deferred
tax assets and principal investments; (ii) a portion of securities inventory that is not expected to be financed on a
secured basis in a credit-stressed environment (i.e., stressed haircuts); and (iii) expected drawdowns on unfunded
commitments.

The Company seeks to maintain a surplus cash capital position. The Company’s equity capital of $31.9 billion
(including junior subordinated debt issued to capital trusts), long-term borrowings (debt obligations scheduled to
mature in more than 12 months) of $93.9 billion and Capital Units of $66 million comprised the Company’s total
capital of $125.9 billion as of November 30, 2005, which substantially exceeded cash capital requirements.

Liquidity Reserve.

The Company seeks to maintain a target liquidity reserve that is sized to cover daily funding needs and to meet
strategic liquidity targets, including coverage of a significant portion of expected cash outflows over a short-term
horizon in a potential liquidity crisis. This liquidity reserve is held in the form of cash deposits with banks and a
pool of unencumbered securities. The Company manages the pool of unencumbered securities, against which
funding can be raised, on a global basis, and securities for the pool are chosen accordingly. The U.S. component,
held in the form of a reverse repurchase agreement at the parent company, consists primarily of U.S. government
bonds and at November 30, 2005 was approximately $24 billion and averaged approximately $16 billion for the
year ended November 30, 2005. The non-U.S. component consists of European government bonds and other
high-quality collateral. The parent company cash component of the liquidity reserve at November 30, 2005 was
approximately $14 billion and averaged approximately $16 billion for the year ended November 30, 2005. The
Company believes that diversifying the form in which its liquidity reserve (cash and securities) is maintained
enhances its ability to quickly and efficiently source funding in a stressed environment. The Company’s funding
requirements and target liquidity reserve may vary based on changes in the level and composition of its balance
sheet, timing of specific transactions, client financing activity, market conditions and seasonal factors.

Committed Credit Facilities.

The maintenance of committed credit facilities serves to further diversify the Company’s funding sources. The
Company values committed credit as a secondary component of its liquidity management framework. The
committed credit facilities include a diversification of lenders to the Company covering geographic regions,
including North America, Europe and Asia.

The Company maintains a senior revolving credit agreement with a group of banks to support general liquidity
needs, including the issuance of commercial paper, which consists of two separate tranches: a U.S. dollar tranche
with the Company as borrower and a Japanese yen tranche with Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”) as
borrower and the Company as guarantor. Under this combined facility (the “MS-MSJL Facility”), the banks are
committed to provide up to $5.5 billion under the U.S. dollar tranche and 70 billion Japanese yen under the
Japanese yen tranche. At November 30, 2005, the Company had a $10.8 billion consolidated stockholders’ equity
surplus as compared with the MS-MSJL Facility’s covenant requirement.

The Company maintains a master collateral facility that enables Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated
(“MS&Co.”), one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealer subsidiaries, to pledge certain collateral to secure loan
arrangements, letters of credit and other financial accommodations (the “MS&Co. Facility”). As part of the
MS&Co. Facility, MS&Co. also maintains a secured committed credit agreement with a group of banks that are
parties to the master collateral facility under which such banks are committed to provide up to $1.8 billion. At
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November 30, 2005, MS&Co. had a $2.6 billion surplus consolidated stockholders’ equity and a $0.1 billion
surplus Net Capital as defined in the MS&Co. Facility and each as compared with the MS&Co. Facility’s
covenant requirements.

The Company also maintains a revolving credit facility that enables Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited
(“MSIL”), the Company’s London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, to obtain committed funding from a syndicate
of banks (the “MSIL Facility”’) by providing a broad range of collateral under repurchase agreements for a
secured repo facility and a Company guarantee for an unsecured facility. The syndicate of banks is committed to
provide up to an aggregate of $1.5 billion, available in six major currencies. At November 30, 2005, MSIL had a
$3.0 billion surplus Shareholders’ Funds and a $2.9 billion surplus Financial Resources under U.K. GAAP (each
as determined in accordance with the MSIL Facility) as compared with the MSIL Facility’s covenant
requirements.

The Company anticipates that it may utilize the MS-MSJL Facility, the MS&Co. Facility or the MSIL Facility
(the “Credit Facilities”) for short-term funding from time to time (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements). The Company does not believe that any of the covenant requirements in any of its Credit Facilities
will impair its ability to obtain funding under the Credit Facilities, to pay its current level of dividends, or to
obtain loan arrangements, letters of credit or other financial accommodations. At November 30, 2005, no
borrowings were outstanding under any of the Credit Facilities.

The Company and its subsidiaries also maintain certain committed bilateral credit facilities to support general
liquidity needs. These facilities are expected to be drawn from time to time to cover short-term funding needs.

On a yearly basis, the Company’s committed credit strategy is reviewed and approved by its senior management.
This strategy takes the Company’s total liquidity sources into consideration when determining the appropriate
size and mix of committed credit.

The Company, through one of its subsidiaries, maintains several funded committed credit facilities to support the
collateralized commercial and residential mortgage whole loan business. Lenders to these facilities provided an
aggregate of $18.2 billion in financing at November 30, 2005.

Funding Management Policies.

The Company funds its balance sheet on a global basis through diverse sources. These sources include the
Company’s equity capital; long-term debt; repurchase agreements; U.S., Canadian, Euro, Japanese and
Australian commercial paper; asset-backed securitizations; letters of credit; unsecured bond borrowings;
securities lending; buy/sell agreements; municipal reinvestments; promissory notes; master notes; and committed
and uncommitted lines of credit. Repurchase agreement transactions, securities lending and a portion of the
Company’s bank borrowings are made on a collateralized basis and, therefore, provide a more stable source of
funding than short-term unsecured borrowings. The Company has active financing programs for both standard
and structured products in the U.S., European and Asian markets, targeting global investors and currencies such
as the U.S. dollar, euro, British pound, Australian dollar and Japanese yen.

The Company’s bank subsidiaries solicit deposits from consumers, purchase Federal Funds, issue short-term
institutional certificates of deposits and issue bank notes. Interest bearing deposits are classified by type as
savings, brokered and other time deposits. Savings deposits consist primarily of money market deposit accounts
sold nationally and savings deposits obtained from individual securities clients. Brokered deposits consist
primarily of certificates of deposit issued by the Company’s bank subsidiaries. Other time deposits include
individual and institutional certificates of deposit.

The Company’s funding management policies are designed to provide for financings that are executed in a
manner that reduces the risk of disruption to the Company’s operations that would result from an interruption in
the availability of the Company’s funding sources. The Company pursues a strategy of diversification of funding

Morgan Stanley %



sources (by product, by investor and by region) and attempts to ensure that the tenor of the Company’s liabilities
equals or exceeds the expected holding period of the assets being financed. Maturities of financings are designed
to manage exposure to refinancing risk in any one period. The Company maintains a surplus of unused short-
term funding sources at all times to withstand any unforeseen contraction in credit capacity. In addition, the
Company attempts to maintain cash and unhypothecated marketable securities equal to at least 110% of its
outstanding short-term unsecured borrowings. The Company also maintains committed credit facilities
(described above) to support its ongoing borrowing programs.

Secured Financing. A substantial portion of the Company’s total assets consists of highly liquid marketable
securities and short-term receivables arising principally from its Institutional Securities sales and trading
activities. The highly liquid nature of these assets provides the Company with flexibility in financing these assets
with stable collateralized borrowings, while the securitization market allows for the securitization of the credit
card receivables arising from the Company’s Discover business.

The Company’s goal is to maximize funding through less credit sensitive collateralized borrowings and asset
securitizations in order to reduce reliance on unsecured financing. The Institutional Securities business
emphasizes the use of collateralized short-term borrowings to limit the growth of short-term unsecured funding,
which is more typically subject to disruption during periods of financial stress. As part of this effort, the
Institutional Securities business continually seeks to expand its global secured borrowing capacity. Similarly,
Discover, through its use of the securitization market, reduces the need for other unsecured parent company
financing.

Unsecured Financing. The Company views long-term debt as a stable source of funding for core inventories,
consumer loans and illiquid assets. In general, securities inventories not financed by secured funding sources and
the majority of current assets are financed with a combination of short-term funding, floating rate long-term debt
or fixed rate long-term debt swapped to a floating rate. Fixed assets are financed with fixed rate long-term debt.
Both fixed rate and floating rate long-term debt (in addition to sources of funds accessed directly by the
Company’s Discover business) are used to finance the Company’s consumer loan portfolio. Consumer loan
financing is targeted to match the repricing and duration characteristics of the loans financed. The Company uses
derivative products (primarily interest rate, currency and equity swaps) to assist in asset and liability
management, reduce borrowing costs and hedge interest rate risk (see Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements).

The Company issues long-term debt in excess of the amount necessary to meet the needs of its securities
inventory and less liquid assets as determined by its Cash Capital Policy. In addition to these needs, long-term
debt funding is employed to enhance the Company’s liquidity position by reducing reliance on short-term credit
sensitive instruments (e.g., commercial paper and other unsecured short-term borrowings). Availability and cost
of financing to the Company can vary depending on market conditions, the volume of certain trading and lending
activities, the Company’s credit ratings and the overall availability of credit.

The Company has a portfolio approach for managing the unsecured debt issued by the parent company. This
approach gives the Company flexibility to manage the unsecured debt portfolio across maturities, currencies,
investors and regions, taking into account market capacity and pricing. Down-lending to subsidiaries is managed
to ensure that intercompany borrowings mature before those of the parent company. Liquidity and funding
policies recognize potential constraints on the Company’s ability to transfer funds between regulated entities and
the parent company.

During fiscal 2005, the Company’s long-term financing strategy was driven, in part, by its continued focus on
improved balance sheet strength (evaluated through enhanced capital and liquidity positions), a significant factor
in the maintenance of strong credit ratings. As a result, for fiscal 2005, $27 billion of unsecured debt was issued
(excluding certain equity and credit-linked products not considered to be a component of the Company’s cash
capital). Financing transactions were structured to ensure staggered maturities, thereby mitigating refinancing
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risk, and a diversified investor base was targeted through sales to domestic as well as international institutional
and retail clients. Unsecured debt issuance activity resulted in a net increase in the long-term debt component of
the cash capital portfolio of approximately $13 billion.

Credit Ratings.

The Company’s reliance on external sources to finance a significant portion of its day-to-day operations makes
access to global sources of financing important. The cost and availability of unsecured financing generally are
dependent on the Company’s short-term and long-term credit ratings. Factors that are significant to the
determination of the Company’s credit ratings or that otherwise affect its ability to raise short-term and long-term
financing include the Company’s level and volatility of earnings, relative positions in the markets in which it
operates, geographic and product diversification, retention of key personnel, risk management policies, cash
liquidity, capital structure, corporate lending credit risk, and legal and regulatory developments. In addition,
continuing consolidation in the credit card industry presents Discover with stronger competitors that may
challenge future growth. A deterioration in any of the previously mentioned factors or combination of these
factors may lead rating agencies to downgrade the credit ratings of the Company, thereby increasing the cost to
the Company in obtaining unsecured funding. In addition, the Company’s debt ratings can have a significant
impact on certain trading revenues, particularly in those businesses where longer term counterparty performance
is critical, such as OTC derivative transactions, including credit derivatives and interest rate swaps.

In connection with certain OTC trading agreements and certain other agreements associated with the Institutional
Securities business, the Company would be required to provide additional collateral to certain counterparties in
the event of a downgrade by either Moody’s Investors Service or Standard & Poor’s. At November 30, 2005, the
amount of additional collateral that would be required in the event of a one-notch downgrade of the Company’s
senior debt credit rating was approximately $1,213 million. Of this amount, $422 million relates to bilateral
arrangements between the Company and other parties where upon the downgrade of one party, the downgraded
party must deliver incremental collateral to the other. These bilateral downgrade arrangements are a risk
management tool used extensively by the Company as credit exposures are reduced if counterparties are
downgraded.

As of January 31, 2006, the Company’s credit ratings were as follows:

Commercial Senior
Paper Debt
Dominion Bond Rating Service Limited(1) ............ . .. .. . . ... . ... R-1 (middle) AA (low)
Fitch Ratings . ... ..o Fl+ AA-
Moody’s INVEStOrs SErvice(2) . . ..o vttt P-1 Aa3
Rating and Investment Information, Inc. . ........ ... .. .. .. . . . ... a-1+ AA
Standard & PoOI’S . . ..o A-1 A+

(1) On April 5, 2005, Dominion Bond Rating Service Limited changed the outlook on the Company’s senior debt ratings from Stable to
Negative.
(2) On April 5, 2005, Moody’s Investors Service changed the outlook on the Company’s senior debt ratings from Stable to Negative.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

The Company enters into various arrangements with unconsolidated entities, including variable interest entities,
primarily in connection with its Institutional Securities and Discover businesses.

Institutional Securities Activities. The Company utilizes special purpose entities (“SPE”) primarily in
connection with securitization activities. The Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial
and residential mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bonds and loans,
municipal bonds and other types of financial assets. The Company may retain interests in the securitized
financial assets as one or more tranches of the securitization. These retained interests are included in the
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consolidated statements of financial condition at fair value. Any changes in the fair value of such retained
interests are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Retained interests in securitized financial
assets associated with the Company’s Institutional Securities business were approximately $3.6 billion at
November 30, 2005, the majority of which were related to residential mortgage loan, U.S. agency collateralized
mortgage obligation and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions. For further information about the
Company’s Institutional Securities securitization activities, see Notes 2 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, see Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for information about variable
interest entities, the Company’s arrangements with these entities and its adoption of FIN 46, as revised.

The Company has entered into liquidity facilities with SPEs and other counterparties, whereby the Company is
required to make certain payments if losses or defaults occur. The Company often may have recourse to the
underlying assets held by the SPEs in the event payments are required under such liquidity facilities (see Note 20
to the consolidated financial statements).

Discover Activities. The asset securitization market is a significant source of funding for the Company’s
Discover business. By utilizing this market, the Company further diversifies its funding sources, realizes cost-
effective funding and reduces reliance on the Company’s other funding sources, including unsecured debt. The
securitization transaction structures utilized for the Discover business are accounted for as sales; i.e., off-balance
sheet transactions in accordance with U.S. GAAP (see Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements). In
connection with its credit card securitization program, the Company transfers credit card receivables, on a
revolving basis, to the trusts, which issue asset-backed securities that are registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), are used to support the issuance of publicly listed notes or are privately
placed. This structure includes certain features designed to protect the investors that could result in earlier-than-
expected amortization of the transactions, potentially resulting in the need for the Company to obtain alternative
funding arrangements. The primary feature relates to the availability and adequacy of cash flows in the
securitized pool of receivables to meet contractual requirements (“economic early amortization™).

Economic early amortization risk reflects the possibility of negative net securitization cash flows (which would
occur if the coupon, contractual servicing fee and net charge-offs exceeded the collections of finance charges and
cardmember fees on securitized credit card receivables) and is driven primarily by the trusts’ credit card
receivables performance (in particular, receivables yield, cardmember fees and credit losses incurred) as well as
the contractual rate of return of the asset-backed securities. In the event of an economic early amortization,
receivables that otherwise would have been subsequently purchased by the trust from the Company would
instead continue to be recognized on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition since the cash
flows generated in the trust would instead be used to repay investors in the asset-backed securities. These
recognized receivables would require the Company to obtain alternative funding.

The increase in bankruptcy notifications, which reflected an increase in consumers filing for bankruptcy in
advance of the new U.S. bank legislation that became effective in October 2005, affected the Discover Card
Master Trust I (“DCMT”), a trust utilized by the Company to access the securitization markets through the
issuance of multiple series of securities. The DCMT agreements contain provisions that require early
amortization of securities issued by the trust if Group Excess Spread (a measure of trust profitability as further
defined in the DCMT agreements) falls below zero over a three-month rolling average period (“Early
Amortization Trigger”). One particular series that supported a short-term certificate program had, in addition to
the standard Early Amortization Trigger, another provision that required Group Excess Spread be at least 2% in
order to continue to issue certificates. In order to avoid a potential prohibition on the continued ability to issue
certificates, the Company decided to retire this particular series. No series in the trust has experienced or expects
to experience an early amortization event.

Guarantees. FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 457), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” requires the Company to disclose
information about its obligations under certain guarantee arrangements. FIN 45 defines guarantees as contracts
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and indemnification agreements that contingently require a guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed party
based on changes in an underlying (such as an interest or foreign exchange rate, a security or commodity price,
an index, or the occurrence or non-occurrence of a specified event) related to an asset, liability or equity security
of a guaranteed party. FIN 45 also defines guarantees as contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make
payments to the guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement as well as
indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of others.

The table below summarizes certain information regarding derivative contracts, financial guarantees to third
parties, market value guarantees and liquidity facilities at November 30, 2005:

Maximum Potential Payout/Notional

Years to Maturity

Carrying Collateral/
Type of Guarantee Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total Amount  Recourse

(dollars in millions)
Derivative contracts ........ $477,387 $408,869 $537,232 $444,284 $1,867,772 $28,563 $106
Standby letters of credit and
other financial

guarantees . .. ........... 4,432 250 603 1,756 7,041 83 854
Market value guarantees . ... 15 131 78 676 900 54 135
Liquidity facilities ......... 1,437 8 49 98 1,592 — —

See Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for information on indemnities, exchange/clearinghouse
member guarantees, general partner guarantees, securitized asset guarantees, merchant chargeback guarantees
and other guarantees.

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments.

In connection with its operating activities, the Company enters into certain contractual obligations, as well as
commitments to fund certain fixed assets and other less liquid investments.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various contractual obligations that may require future
cash payments. Contractual obligations at November 30, 2005 include long-term borrowings, operating leases
and purchase obligations. The Company’s future cash payments associated with its contractual obligations as of
November 30, 2005 are summarized below:

Payments Due in:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2006 2007-2008 2009-2010 Thereafter Total

(dollars in millions)

Long-term borrowings(1) ........... ... .. ... ..... $13,822 $41,098 $17,536 $38,009 $110,465
Operating leases(2) . ..., 438 819 605 1,718 3,580
Purchase obligations(3) . ........... ... .. ... ..... 465 596 228 — 1,289

Total . ... $14,725 $42,513 $18,369  $39,727 $115,334

(1) See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

(2) See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

(3) Purchase obligations for goods and services include payments for, among other things, consulting, outsourcing, advertising, sponsorship,
and computer and telecommunications maintenance agreements. Purchase obligations at November 30, 2005 reflect the minimum
contractual obligation under legally enforceable contracts with contract terms that are both fixed and determinable. These amounts
exclude obligations for goods and services that already have been incurred and are reflected on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet.

The table above does not include amounts associated with the Company’s definitive agreement to acquire
Goldfish from Lloyds TSB for approximately £1 billion (see “Business Acquisitions and Sales” herein).
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The Company’s commitments associated with outstanding letters of credit, principal investments and private
equity activities, and lending and financing commitments as of November 30, 2005 are summarized below by
period of expiration. Since commitments associated with letters of credit and lending and financing arrangements
may expire unused, the amounts shown do not necessarily reflect the actual future cash funding requirements:

Years to Maturity
Less
than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total
(dollars in millions)
Letters of credit(1) . ... $ 6903 $ I $ — $ — $6904
Principal investment activities ......................... 178 150 28 200 556
Investment grade lending commitments(2) ............... 4,324 5,218 11,705 2,721 23,968
Non-investment grade lending commitments(2) ........... 2,376 5,916 3,654 1,120 13,066
Commitments for secured lending transactions(3) ......... 10,582 1,624 86 90 12,382
Commitments to purchase mortgage loans(4) ............. 6,304 — — — 6,304
Total(5) ..o $30,667 $12,909 $15,473 $4,131 $63,180

(1) This amount represents the Company’s outstanding letters of credit, which are primarily used to satisfy various collateral requirements.

(2) The Company’s investment grade and non-investment grade lending commitments are made in connection with its corporate lending
activities. Credit ratings are determined by the Company’s Institutional Credit Department using methodologies generally consistent with
those employed by external rating agencies. Credit ratings of BB+ or lower are considered non-investment grade.

(3) This amount represents lending commitments extended by the Company to companies that are secured by assets of the borrower. Loans
made under these arrangements typically are at variable rates and generally provide for over-collateralization based upon the
creditworthiness of the borrower.

(4) This amount represents the Company’s forward purchase contracts involving mortgage loans.

(5) See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The table above does not include commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately $255
billion. Such commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on certain
credit cards, provided there is no violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These
commitments, substantially all of which the Company can terminate at any time and which do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account usage and customer
creditworthiness (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements). In addition, in the ordinary course of
business, the Company guarantees the debt and/or certain trading obligations (including obligations associated
with derivatives, foreign exchange contracts and the settlement of physical commodities) of certain subsidiaries.
These guarantees generally are entity or product specific and are required by investors or trading counterparties.
The activities of the subsidiaries covered by these guarantees (including any related debt or trading obligations)
are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

At November 30, 2005, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase
agreements of approximately $90 billion and $57 billion, respectively.
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Investments.

The table below includes investments made by the Company that represent business facilitation or principal
investing activities at November 30, 2005 and are included within Other assets on the consolidated statement of
financial condition. Business facilitation investments are strategic investments undertaken by the Company to
facilitate core business activities. Principal investing activities are capital commitments provided to private
companies, generally, for proprietary purposes to maximize total returns to the Company. The Company has
committed to increasing its principal investing activity in an attempt to improve its financial performance. The
Company intends to make additional investments over time to bring the level of principal investments to
approximately $2.5 billion.

At November 30, 2005

Institutional Asset
Securities Management Discover Total

(dollars in millions)
Business facilitation:

Private equity funds . ....... ... ... .. $ — $185 $— $ 185
Realestate funds ........... ... ... ... .. 359 — — 359
Asset management seed capital ........... .. .. ... .. ... — 248 — 248
Industry utilities(1) ......... .. . 371 — — 371
Other . ... 152 — 23 175
Total business facilitation . ........... . ... ... . 882 433 23 1,338
Principal investments . . ............ .. . 1,190 — — 1,190
Total ... $2,072 $433 $ 23 $2,528

(1) Any investment made to participate in an industry consortium or an industry service with the intention to support core business activities
and advance business growth.

Regulatory Developments.

In June 2004, the SEC issued rules that permit certain highly capitalized broker-dealers that are part of a
consolidated supervised entity to apply to the SEC for approval to use an alternative method for calculating net
capital charges (the “CSE Rules”). To obtain approval to calculate capital under the alternative method in the
CSE Rules, a broker-dealer’s holding company must consent, on a voluntary basis, to group-wide supervision
and examination by the SEC and must have in place group-wide internal risk management controls and calculate
capital in a manner generally consistent with the standards of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
(“Basel II”’). The CSE Rules are intended to reduce regulatory capital costs for qualifying firms by permitting
such firms to use proprietary mathematical risk measurement models for regulatory capital computation and
internal control purposes.

On July 28, 2005, the SEC approved an application by MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealers, for
authorization to use, effective December 1, 2005, the alternative method of computing net capital set forth in the
CSE Rules. The approval allows MS&Co. to use an alternative method based on mathematical models to
calculate net capital charges for market and derivatives-related credit risk.

The CSE Rules are also designed to minimize the duplicative regulatory requirements on U.S. securities firms
resulting from the European Union (“EU”) Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the supplementary supervision of
financial conglomerates active in the EU. Under this directive, financial groups that conduct business through
regulated financial entities in the EU must first demonstrate that they are subject to equivalent consolidated
supervision at the ultimate holding company level. On November 30, 2005, the U.K. Financial Services
Authority determined that the SEC undertakes equivalent consolidated supervision for the Company.

The Company continues to work with its regulators on the implementation of the CSE Rules and Basel II capital
standards. As rules related to Basel II are released, the Company will consult with regulators on the new
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requirements. Compliance with EU requirements (capital, oversight and reporting) will be a focus item through
2008.

Regulatory Capital Requirements.

MS&Co. and Morgan Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWI”) are registered broker-dealers and registered futures
commission merchants and, accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the
NYSE and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. MSIL, a London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, is
subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-dealer
subsidiary, is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency. MS&Co., MSDWI, MSIL and
MSIJL have consistently operated in excess of their respective regulatory capital requirements (see Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements).

Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) and
other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital,
as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“Tier
1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total risk-weighted
capital ratio”). At November 30, 2005, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total risk-
weighted capital ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these regulatory
minimums.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking
regulations and capital adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the
countries in which they operate. These subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital
adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative
products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by various rating agencies.

Effects of Inflation and Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

The Company’s assets to a large extent are liquid in nature and, therefore, are not significantly affected by
inflation, although inflation may result in increases in the Company’s expenses, which may not be readily
recoverable in the price of services offered. To the extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other
adverse effects upon the securities markets, upon the value of financial instruments and upon the markets for
consumer credit services, it may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and profitability.

A significant portion of the Company’s business is conducted in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, and
changes in foreign exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar can therefore affect the value of non-U.S. dollar net
assets, revenues and expenses. Potential exposures as a result of these fluctuations in currencies are closely
monitored, and, where cost-justified, strategies are adopted that are designed to reduce the impact of these
fluctuations on the Company’s financial performance. These strategies may include the financing of non-U.S.
dollar assets with direct or swap-based borrowings in the same currency and the use of currency forward
contracts or the spot market in various hedging transactions related to net assets, revenues, expenses or cash
flows.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
Risk Management.

Risk Management Policy and Control Structure.

Risk is an inherent part of the Company’s business and activities. The extent to which the Company properly and
effectively identifies, assesses, monitors and manages each of the various types of risk involved in its activities is
critical to its soundness and profitability. The Company’s broad-based portfolio of business activities helps
reduce the impact that volatility in any particular area or related areas may have on its net revenues as a whole.
The Company seeks to identify, assess, monitor and manage, in accordance with defined policies and procedures,
the following principal risks involved in the Company’s business activities: market, credit, operational, legal, and
liquidity and funding risk. Liquidity and funding risk is discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Part II, Item 7. The
Company’s currency exposure relating to its net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency
subsidiaries is discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cornerstone of the Company’s risk management philosophy is protection of the Company’s franchise,
reputation and financial standing. The Company’s risk management philosophy is based on the following
principles: comprehensiveness, independence, accountability, defined risk tolerance and transparency. Given the
importance of effective risk management to the Company’s reputation, senior management requires thorough and
frequent communication and appropriate escalation of risk matters.

Risk management at the Company requires independent Company-level oversight, accountability of the
Company’s business segments, constant communication, judgment, and knowledge of specialized products and
markets. The Company’s senior management takes an active role in the identification, assessment and
management of various risks at both the Company and business segment level. In recognition of the increasingly
varied and complex nature of the global financial services business, the Company’s risk management philosophy,
with its attendant policies, procedures and methodologies, is evolutionary in nature and subject to ongoing
review and modification.

The nature of the Company’s risks, coupled with this risk management philosophy, informs the Company’s risk
governance structure. The Company’s risk governance structure includes the Firm Risk Committee and the
Capital Structure and Strategic Transactions Committee, the Chief Risk Officer, the Internal Audit Department,
independent control groups, and various risk control managers, committees and groups located within the
business segments.

The Firm Risk Committee, composed of the Company’s most senior officers, oversees the Company’s risk
management structure. The Firm Risk Committee’s responsibilities include oversight of the Company’s risk
management principles, procedures and limits and the monitoring of material financial, operational and franchise
risks. The Firm Risk Committee is overseen by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit
Committee”). The Capital Structure and Strategic Transactions Committee (the “Capital Committee”) reviews
strategic transactions for the Company and significant changes to the Company’s capital structure. The Capital
Committee’s responsibilities include reviewing measures of capital and evaluating capital resources relative to
the Company’s risk profile and strategy.

The Chief Risk Officer, a member of the Firm Risk Committee, oversees compliance with Company risk limits;
approves certain excessions of Company risk limits; reviews material market and credit risks; and reviews results
of risk management processes with the Audit Committee.

The Internal Audit Department provides independent risk and control assessment and reports to the Audit
Committee and administratively to the Chief Legal Officer. The Internal Audit Department periodically examines
the Company’s operational and control environment and conducts audits designed to cover all major risk
categories.
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The Market Risk, Credit Risk, Operational Risk, Financial Control, Treasury and Law Departments (collectively,
the “Company Control Groups”), which are all independent of the Company’s business units, assist senior
management and the Firm Risk Committee in monitoring and controlling the Company’s risk through a number
of control processes. The Company is committed to employing qualified personnel with appropriate expertise in
each of its various administrative and business areas to implement effectively the Company’s risk management
and monitoring systems and processes.

Each business segment has a risk committee that is responsible for ensuring that the business segment, as
applicable adheres to established limits for market, credit, operational and other risks; implements risk
measurement, monitoring and management policies and procedures that are consistent with the risk framework
established by the Firm Risk Committee; and reviews, on a periodic basis, its aggregate risk exposures, risk
exception experience, and the efficacy of its risk identification, measurement, monitoring and management
policies and procedures, and related controls.

Each of the Company’s business segments also has designated operations officers, committees and groups,
including operations and information technology groups (collectively, “Segment Control Groups” and, together
with the Company Control Groups, the “Control Groups”) to manage and monitor specific risks and report to the
business segment risk committee. The Control Groups work together to review the risk monitoring and risk
management policies and procedures relating to, among other things, the business segment’s market and credit
risk profile, sales practices, pricing of consumer loans and reserve adequacy, reputation, legal enforceability, and
operational and technological risks. Participation by the senior officers of the Control Groups helps ensure that
risk policies and procedures, exceptions to risk limits, new products and business ventures, and transactions with
risk elements undergo a thorough review.

The following is a discussion of the Company’s risk management policies and procedures for its principal risks
(other than liquidity and funding risk). The discussion focuses on the Company’s securities activities (primarily
its institutional trading activities) and consumer lending and related activities. The Company believes that these
activities generate a substantial portion of its principal risks. This discussion and the estimated amounts of the
Company’s market risk exposure generated by the Company’s statistical analyses are forward-looking
statements. However, the analyses used to assess such risks are not predictions of future events, and actual results
may vary significantly from such analyses due to events in the markets in which the Company operates and
certain other factors described below.

Market Risk.

Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates, indices, implied
volatilities (the price volatility of the underlying instrument imputed from option prices), correlations or other
market factors, such as liquidity, will result in losses for a position or portfolio. Generally, the Company incurs
market risk as a result of trading and client facilitation activities, principally within the Institutional Securities
business where the substantial majority of the Company’s Value-at-Risk (“VaR”) for market risk exposures is
generated. In addition, the Company incurs trading-related market risk within Retail Brokerage. Asset
Management incurs non-trading market risk primarily from capital investments in funds and investments in
private equity vehicles. Discover is also exposed to non-trading market risk primarily through changes in interest
rates related to its consumer lending activities.

Sound market risk management is an integral part of the Company’s culture. The various business units and
trading desks are responsible for ensuring that market risk exposures are well-managed and prudent. The Control
Groups help ensure that these risks are measured and closely monitored and are made transparent to senior
management. The Market Risk Department is responsible for ensuring transparency of material market risks,
monitoring compliance with established limits, and escalating risk concentrations to appropriate senior
management. To execute these responsibilities, the Market Risk Department monitors the Company’s risk
against limits on aggregate risk exposures, performs a variety of risk analyses, routinely reports risk summaries
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and maintains the Company’s VaR system. A variety of limits are designed to control price and liquidity risk.
Market risk is monitored through various measures: statistically (using VaR and related analytical measures); by
measures of position sensitivity; and through routine stress testing and scenario analyses conducted by the
Market Risk Department in collaboration with the business units. The material risks identified by these processes
are summarized in reports produced by the Market Risk Department that are circulated to, and discussed with,
senior management.

Sales and Trading and Related Activities.

Primary Market Risk Exposures and Market Risk Management. During fiscal 2005, the Company had
exposures to a wide range of interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices—and the
associated implied volatilities and spreads—related to the global markets in which it conducts its trading
activities. The Company is exposed to interest rate and credit spread risk as a result of its market-making
activities and proprietary trading in interest rate sensitive financial instruments (e.g., risk arising from changes in
the level or implied volatility of interest rates, the timing of mortgage prepayments, the shape of the yield curve
and credit spreads). The Company is exposed to equity price and implied volatility risk as a result of making
markets in equity securities and derivatives and maintaining proprietary positions. The Company is exposed to
foreign exchange rate and implied volatility risk as a result of making markets in foreign currencies and foreign
currency options and from maintaining foreign exchange positions. The Company is exposed to commodity price
and implied volatility risk as a result of market-making activities and maintaining positions in physical
commodities (such as crude and refined oil products, natural gas, electricity, and precious and base metals) and
related derivatives.

The Company manages its trading positions by employing a variety of risk mitigation strategies. These strategies
include diversification of risk exposures and hedging. Hedging activities consist of the purchase or sale of
positions in related securities and financial instruments, including a variety of derivative products (e.g., futures,
forwards, swaps and options). The Company manages the market risk associated with its trading activities on a
Company-wide basis, on a worldwide trading division level and on an individual product basis. The Company
manages and monitors its market risk exposures in such a way as to maintain a portfolio that the Company
believes is well-diversified in the aggregate with respect to market risk factors and that reflects the Company’s
aggregate risk tolerance as established by the Company’s senior management.

Aggregate market risk limits have been approved for the Company and for its major trading divisions worldwide
(equity and fixed income, which includes interest rate products, credit products, foreign exchange and
commodities). Additional market risk limits are assigned to trading desks and, as appropriate, products and
regions. Trading division risk managers, desk risk managers, traders and the Market Risk Department monitor
market risk measures against limits in accordance with policies set by senior management.

The Market Risk Department independently reviews the Company’s trading portfolios on a regular basis from a
market risk perspective utilizing VaR and other quantitative and qualitative risk measures and analyses. The
Company’s trading businesses and the Market Risk Department also use, as appropriate, measures such as
sensitivity to changes in interest rates, prices, implied volatilities and time decay to monitor and report market
risk exposures. Stress testing, which measures the impact on the value of existing portfolios of specified changes
in market factors for certain products, is performed periodically and is reviewed by trading division risk
managers, desk risk managers and the Market Risk Department. The Market Risk Department also conducts
scenario analyses, which estimate the Company’s revenue sensitivity to a set of specific, predefined market and
geopolitical events.

Value-at-Risk (VaR). The Company uses the statistical technique known as VaR as one of the tools used to
measure, monitor and review the market risk exposures of its trading portfolios. The Market Risk Department
calculates and distributes daily VaR-based risk measures to various levels of management.
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VaR Methodology, Assumptions and Limitations. The Company estimates VaR using a model based on
historical simulation for major market risk factors and Monte Carlo simulation for name-specific risk in certain
equity and fixed income exposures. Historical simulation involves constructing a distribution of hypothetical
daily changes in the value of trading portfolios based on two sets of inputs: historical observation of daily
changes in key market indices or other market factors (“market risk factors”); and information on the sensitivity
of the portfolio values to these market risk factor changes. The Company’s VaR model uses approximately four
years of historical data to characterize potential changes in market risk factors. The Company’s 99%/one-day
VaR corresponds to the unrealized loss in portfolio value that, based on historically observed market risk factor
movements, would have been exceeded with a frequency of 1%, or once in every 100 trading days, if the
portfolio were held constant for one day.

The Company’s VaR model generally takes into account linear and non-linear exposures to price risk and interest
rate risk, and linear exposures to implied volatility risks. Market risks that are incorporated in the VaR model
include equity and commodity prices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates and associated implied volatilities. As
a supplement to the use of historical simulation for major market risk factors, the Company’s VaR model uses
Monte Carlo simulation to capture name-specific risk in equities and credit products (i.e., corporate bonds and
credit derivatives).

The Company’s VaR models evolve over time in response to changes in the composition of trading portfolios
and to improvements in modeling techniques and systems capabilities. As part of regular process improvement,
additional systematic and name-specific risk factors may be added to improve the VaR model’s ability to more
accurately estimate risks to specific asset classes or industry sectors.

Among their benefits, VaR models permit estimation of a portfolio’s aggregate market risk exposure,
incorporating a range of varied market risks; reflect risk reduction due to portfolio diversification or hedging
activities; and can cover a wide range of portfolio assets. However, VaR risk measures should be interpreted
carefully in light of the methodology’s limitations, which include the following: past changes in market risk
factors may not always yield accurate predictions of the distributions and correlations of future market
movements; changes in portfolio value in response to market movements (especially for complex derivative
portfolios) may differ from the responses calculated by a VaR model; VaR using a one-day time horizon does not
fully capture the market risk of positions that cannot be liquidated or hedged within one day; the historical
market risk factor data used for VaR estimation may provide only limited insight into losses that could be
incurred under market conditions that are unusual relative to the historical period used in estimating the VaR; and
published VaR results reflect past trading positions while future risk depends on future positions. The Company
is aware of these and other limitations and, therefore, uses VaR as only one component in its risk management
oversight process. As explained above, this process also incorporates stress testing and scenario analyses and
extensive risk monitoring, analysis, and control at the trading desk, division and Company levels.

VaR for Fiscal 2005. The table below presents the Company’s Aggregate (Trading and Non-trading), Trading
and Non-trading VaR for each of the Company’s primary market risk exposures at November 30, 2005 and
November 30, 2004, incorporating substantially all financial instruments generating market risk that are managed
by the Company’s trading businesses. This measure of VaR incorporates most of the Company’s trading-related
market risks. However, a small proportion of trading positions generating market risk is not included in VaR, and
the modeling of the risk characteristics of some positions relies upon approximations that, under certain
circumstances, could produce significantly different VaR results from those produced using more precise
measures. For example, risks associated with residential mortgage-backed securities have been approximated as
it is difficult to capture precisely these risks within a VaR context.

Aggregate Trading and Non-trading VaR also incorporates (a) the funding liabilities related to institutional
trading positions and (b) public company equity positions recorded as investments by the Company. Investments
made by the Company that are not publicly traded are not reflected in the VaR results reported below. As of
November 30, 2005, the aggregate carrying value of such investments was approximately $2.0 billion.
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Since the VaR statistics reported below are estimates based on historical position and market data, VaR should
not be viewed as predictive of the Company’s future revenues or financial performance or of its ability to
monitor and manage risk. There can be no assurance that the Company’s actual losses on a particular day will not
exceed the VaR amounts indicated below or that such losses will not occur more than once in 100 trading days.

The table below presents VaR for each of the Company’s primary risk exposures and on an aggregate basis at
November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004:

Aggregate
(Trading and Non-trading) Trading Non-trading

99%/One-Day VaR 99%/0One-Day VaR 99%/0One-Day VaR
Table 1: 99% Total VaR at November 30, at November 30, at November 30,
Primary Market Risk Category 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and credit spread ........... $ 56 $ 71 $ 51 $ 53 $ 35 $ 30
Equity price ....... ... ... .. 41 42 36 38 10 5
Foreign exchangerate ................. 10 10 10 10 — —
Commodity price ..................... 50 27 50 27 — —
Subtotal .......... .. ... . 157 150 147 128 45 35
Less diversification benefit(1) ........... 64 56 65 48 7 5
Total VaR . .........coviiiiiiinnn $ 93 $ 94 $ 82 $ 80 $ 38 $ 30

(1) Diversification benefit equals the difference between Total VaR and the sum of the VaRs for the four risk categories. This benefit arises
because the simulated one-day losses for each of the four primary market risk categories occur on different days; similar diversification
benefits also are taken into account within each category.

The Company’s Aggregate VaR and Trading VaR at November 30, 2005 were $93 million and $82 million,
respectively, compared with $94 million and $80 million, respectively, at November 30, 2004. Non-trading VaR
at November 30, 2005 increased to $38 million from $30 million at November 30, 2004 due to an increase in
Non-trading interest rate and credit spread VaR and equity price VaR. Non-trading interest rate and credit spread
VaR increased due to an increase in interest rate risk associated with funding liabilities. Non-trading equity price
VaR increased primarily due to a concentrated position in principal investments resulting from a recent initial
public offering in which the Company was an investor.

The Company views average Trading VaR over the fiscal year as more representative of trends in the business
than VaR at any single point in time. Table 2 below, which presents the high, low and average 99%/one-day
Trading VaR during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, represents substantially all of the Company’s trading activities.
Certain market risks included in the year-end Aggregate VaR discussed above are excluded from these measures
(e.g., equity price risk in public company equity positions recorded as principal investments by the Company and
certain funding liabilities related to trading positions).

Average Trading VaR for fiscal 2005 increased to $85 million from $73 million in fiscal 2004, reflecting
increases in interest rate and credit spread VaR and commodity price VaR. The increase in interest rate and credit
spread VaR was predominantly driven by increased exposures to credit sensitive instruments (e.g., corporate debt
securities) and to interest rate levels. The increase in commodity price VaR was predominantly driven by
increased exposures to energy (i.e., natural gas and electricity) and oil products (i.e., crude and distillates).

Daily 99%/One-Day VaR Daily 99%/One-Day VaR

Table 2: 99% High/Low/Average Trading VaR for Fiscal 2005 for Fiscal 2004
Primary Market Risk Category High Low  Average  High Low  Average
(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and credit spread . .......... . ... ... . ... $ 81 $44 $58 $80 $39 $50
Equity price ...... ... 48 25 35 48 24 34
Foreign exchangerate ............... .. .. .. ... ...... 22 7 12 21 6 11
Commodity PriCe . .......oeueuirminienennenen... 53 30 38 49 22 33
Trading VaR ... ... $109 %69 $85 $97  $55 $73

Morgan Stanley 4



VaR Statistics for Comparisons with Other Global Financial Services Firms.

VaR statistics are not readily comparable across firms because of differences in the breadth of products included
in the VaR model, in the statistical assumptions made when simulating changes in market factors, and in the
methods used to approximate portfolio revaluations under the simulated market conditions. These differences can
result in materially different VaR estimates for similar portfolios. As a result, VaR statistics are more reliable and
relevant when used as indicators of trends in risk taking within a firm rather than as a basis for inferring
differences in risk taking across firms. Table 3 below presents the VaR statistics that would result if the
Company were to adopt alternative parameters for its calculations, such as the reported confidence level (99%
versus 95%) for the VaR statistic or a shorter historical time series (four years versus one year), for market data
upon which it bases its simulations:

Table 3: Average 99% and 95% Trading VaR Average 99%/One-Day VaR Average 95%/One-Day VaR
with Four-Year/One-Year Historical Time Series for Fiscal 2005 for Fiscal 2005
Four-Year One-Year Four-Year One-Year
Primary Market Risk Category Factor History  Factor History = Factor History = Factor History
(dollars in millions)
Interest rate and credit spread ................. $58 $50 $37 $33
Equity price ........... . i 35 30 25 21
Foreign exchangerate ....................... 12 11 8 7
Commodity price . .........ccoviuiininnen. . 38 33 26 22
Trading VaR ........... ... ... ............ $85 $71 $57 $49

In addition, if the Company were to report Trading VaR (using a four-year historical time series) with respect to
a 10-day holding period, the Company’s 99% and 95% Average Trading VaR for fiscal 2005 would have been
$270 million and $181 million, respectively.
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Distribution of VaR Statistics and Net Revenues for Fiscal 2005.

As shown in Table 2 above, the Company’s average 99%/one-day Trading VaR for fiscal 2005 was $85 million.
The histogram below presents the distribution of the Company’s daily 99%/one-day Trading VaR for fiscal 2005.
The most frequently occurring value was between $78 million and $81 million, while for approximately 86% of
trading days during the fiscal year, VaR ranged between $72 million and $99 million.

Daily 99%/One-Day Trading VaR
(dollars in millions)
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One method of evaluating the reasonableness of the Company’s VaR model as a measure of the Company’s
potential volatility of net revenue is to compare the VaR with actual trading revenue. Assuming no intra-day
trading, for a 99%/one-day VaR, the expected number of times that trading losses should exceed VaR during the
fiscal year is three, and, in general, if trading losses were to exceed VaR more than five times in a year, the
accuracy of the VaR model could be questioned. Accordingly, the Company evaluates the reasonableness of its
VaR model by comparing the potential declines in portfolio values generated by the model with actual trading
results. The histogram below shows the distribution of daily net revenue during fiscal 2005 for the Company’s
trading businesses (including net interest and commissions but excluding primary and prime brokerage revenue
credited to the trading businesses). There were no days during fiscal 2005 in which the Company incurred daily
trading losses in excess of the 99%/one-day Trading VaR for that given day. Additionally, there were no days
during fiscal 2005 where the largest one-day loss exceeded the lowest 99%/one-day Trading VaR reported in
Table 2 above.
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Daily Net Trading Revenue
(excluding primary revenue)
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Consumer Lending and Related Activities.

Interest Rate Risk and Management. In its consumer lending activities, the Company is exposed to market risk
primarily from changes in interest rates. Such changes in interest rates impact interest earning assets, principally
credit card and other consumer loans and net excess servicing fees received in connection with consumer loans
sold through asset securitizations, as well as the interest sensitive liabilities that finance these assets, including
asset-backed securitizations, long-term borrowings and deposits.

The Company’s interest rate risk management policies are designed to reduce the potential volatility of earnings
that may arise from changes in interest rates by having a financing portfolio that reflects the existing repricing
schedules of consumer loans as well as the Company’s right, with notice to cardmembers, to reprice certain fixed
rate consumer loans to a new interest rate in the future. To the extent that asset and related financing repricing
characteristics of a particular portfolio are not matched effectively, the Company utilizes interest rate derivative
contracts, such as swap agreements, to achieve its objectives. Interest rate swap agreements effectively convert
the underlying asset or financing from fixed to variable repricing or from variable to fixed repricing.

Sensitivity Analysis Methodology, Assumptions and Limitations. For its consumer lending activities, the
Company uses a variety of techniques to assess its interest rate risk exposure, one of which is interest rate
sensitivity simulation. For purposes of presenting the possible earnings effect of a hypothetical, adverse change
in interest rates over the 12-month period from its fiscal year-end, the Company assumes that all interest rate
sensitive assets and liabilities will be impacted by a hypothetical, immediate 100-basis-point increase in interest
rates as of the beginning of the period.

Interest rate sensitive assets are assumed to be those for which the stated interest rate is not contractually fixed
for the next 12-month period. A portion of the Company’s credit card receivables has a fixed interest rate,
although the Company has the right, with notice to cardmembers, to subsequently reprice these receivables to a
new interest rate. Therefore, the Company considers the receivables with a fixed interest rate to be interest rate
sensitive. The Company measured the earnings sensitivity for these assets from the expected repricing date,
which takes into consideration the required notice period and billing cycles. In addition, assets that have a
market-based index, such as the prime rate, which will reset before the end of the 12-month period, or assets with
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rates that are fixed at fiscal year-end but which will mature, or otherwise contractually reset to a market-based
indexed or other fixed rate prior to the end of the 12-month period, are rate sensitive. The latter category includes
certain credit card loans that may be offered at below-market rates for an introductory period, such as for balance
transfers and special promotional programs, after which the loans will contractually reprice in accordance with
the Company’s normal market-based pricing structure. For purposes of measuring rate sensitivity for such loans,
only the effect of the hypothetical 100-basis-point change in the underlying market-based indexed or other fixed
rate has been considered rather than the full change in the rate to which the loan would contractually reprice. For
assets that have a fixed interest rate at fiscal year-end but which contractually will, or are assumed to, reset to a
market-based indexed or other fixed rate during the next 12 months, earnings sensitivity is measured from the
expected repricing date. In addition, for all interest rate sensitive assets, earnings sensitivity is calculated net of
expected loan losses.

Interest rate sensitive liabilities are assumed to be those for which the stated interest rate is not contractually
fixed for the next 12-month period. Thus, liabilities that have a market-based index, such as the commercial
paper or LIBOR rates, which will reset before the end of the 12-month period, or liabilities whose rates are fixed
at fiscal year-end but which will mature and are assumed to be replaced with a market-based indexed rate prior to
the end of the 12-month period, are rate sensitive. For these fixed rate liabilities, earnings sensitivity is measured
from the expected repricing date.

Assuming a hypothetical, immediate 100-basis-point increase in the interest rates affecting all interest rate
sensitive assets and liabilities as of November 30, 2005, it is estimated that the pre-tax income of consumer
lending and related activities over the following 12-month period would be reduced by approximately $36
million. The comparable reduction of pre-tax income for the 12-month period following November 30, 2004 was
estimated to be approximately $60 million. The decrease in the reduction in pre-tax income at November 30,
2005 was due to a higher level of variable interest rate assets.

The hypothetical model assumes that the balances of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities at fiscal year-end
will remain constant over the next 12-month period. It does not assume any growth, strategic change in business
focus, change in asset pricing philosophy or change in asset/liability funding mix. Thus, this model represents a
static analysis that cannot adequately portray how the Company would respond to significant changes in market
conditions. Furthermore, the analysis does not necessarily reflect the Company’s expectations regarding the
movement of interest rates in the near term, including the likelihood of an immediate 100-basis-point change in
market interest rates, nor necessarily the actual effect on earnings if such rate changes were to occur.

Credit Risk.

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising from borrower or counterparty default when a borrower, counterparty
or obligor is unable to meet its financial obligations. The Company is exposed to three distinct types of credit risk
in its businesses. The Company incurs significant, “single-name” credit risk exposure through the Institutional
Securities business. This type of risk requires credit analysis of specific counterparties, both initially and on an
ongoing basis. The Company incurs “individual consumer” credit risk in the Retail Brokerage business through
margin loans to individual investors, which are generally collateralized, and loans to small businesses. The
Company incurs “consumer portfolio” credit risk in the Discover business primarily through cardholder
receivables. Credit risk in a pool of credit card receivables is generally highly diversified, without significant
individual exposures, and, accordingly, is managed on a portfolio and not a single-name basis.

The Company has structured its credit risk management framework to reflect that each of these businesses
generates unique credit risks that are appropriately managed discretely. The Institutional Credit Department
(“Institutional Credit”’) manages credit risk exposure for the Institutional Securities business. Institutional Credit
is responsible for ensuring transparency of material credit risks, ensuring compliance with established limits,
approving material extensions of credit, and escalating risk concentrations to appropriate senior management.
Credit risk exposure in the Retail Brokerage business is managed through various credit risk committees, whose
membership includes Institutional Credit. The Retail Brokerage Risk Management Department is responsible for
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monitoring, measuring and analyzing credit risk exposures, including margin loans and credit sensitive, higher
risk transactions. Credit risk exposure in the Discover business is managed through the Discover Credit and
Market Risk Committee, which, in turn, is supported by business line specific risk committees and the Credit
Risk Management Department, which is responsible for the development, validation and implementation of
credit policy criteria, for predictive models, for the monitoring of performance for both new and existing
products, and for oversight of adherence to existing policies and limits.

Institutional Securities Activities.

Lending. In connection with certain of its Institutional Securities business activities, the Company provides
loans or lending commitments (including bridge financing) to selected clients. These loans and commitments
have varying terms, may be senior or subordinated, may be secured or unsecured, are generally contingent upon
representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable to the borrower, and may be syndicated or
traded by the Company. The borrowers may be rated investment grade or non-investment grade. Credit risk with
respect to loans and lending commitments arises from the failure of a borrower to perform according to the terms
of the loan agreement.

Securitized Products. The Company also extends loans and lending commitments to clients that are secured by
assets of the borrower and generally provide for over-collateralization, including commercial real estate, loans
secured by loan pools, corporate and operating company loans, and secured lines of revolving credit. Credit risk
with respect to these loans and lending commitments arises from the failure of a borrower to perform according
to the terms of the loan agreement and a decline in collateral value.

Other. In addition to the activities performed by Institutional Credit, there are credit risks managed by various
business areas within Institutional Securities. For example, certain businesses with heightened settlement risk
monitor compliance with established settlement risk limits. Certain risk management activities as it pertains to
establishing appropriate collateral amounts for the Company’s prime brokerage and securitized product
businesses are primarily monitored within those areas in that they determine the appropriate collateral level for
each strategy or position. In addition, a collateral management group monitors collateral levels against
requirements and oversees the administration of the collateral function.

Derivative Contracts. In the normal course of business, the Company enters into a variety of derivative
contracts related to financial instruments and commodities. The Company uses these instruments for trading and
investment purposes, as well as for asset and liability management. These instruments generally represent future
commitments to swap interest payment streams, exchange currencies, or purchase or sell commodities and other
financial instruments on specific terms at specified future dates. Many of these products have maturities that do
not extend beyond one year, although swaps, options and equity warrants typically have longer maturities.

The Company incurs credit risk as a dealer in OTC derivatives. Credit risk with respect to derivative instruments
arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of the contract. The Company’s
exposure to credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair value of the derivative contracts reported as
assets. The fair value of derivatives represents the amount at which the derivative could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, and is further described in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. Future changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates,
or the fair values of the financial instruments, commodities, or indices underlying these contracts ultimately may
result in cash settlements exceeding fair value amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
condition.

Analyzing Credit Risk. Credit risk management takes place at the transaction, counterparty and portfolio levels.
In order to help protect the Company from losses resulting from these activities, Institutional Credit ensures that
all material lending and derivative transactions are analyzed, that the creditworthiness of the Company’s
counterparties and borrowers is reviewed regularly, and that credit exposure is actively monitored and managed.
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Institutional Credit assigns obligor credit ratings to the Company’s counterparties and borrowers. These credit
ratings are intended to assess a counterparty’s probability of default and are derived using methodologies
generally consistent with those employed by external rating agencies. Credit ratings of “BB+” or below are
considered non-investment grade. Additionally, Institutional Credit assigns a facility rating to lending facilities.
The facility rating incorporates the relative position of the particular obligation in the borrower’s capital structure
and relative recovery prospects. The Company has credit guidelines that limit potential credit exposure to any
one borrower or counterparty and to aggregates of borrowers or counterparties. Institutional Credit administers
these limits and monitors and reports credit exposure relative to limits.

Risk Mitigation. The Company may seek to mitigate credit risk from its lending and derivatives transactions in
multiple ways. At the transaction level, the Company seeks to mitigate risk through management of key risk
elements such as size, tenor, seniority and collateral. The Company actively hedges its lending and derivatives
exposure through various financial instruments which may include single name, portfolio and structured credit
derivatives. Additionally, the Company may sell, assign or sub-participate funded loans and lending
commitments to other financial institutions in the primary and secondary loan market. In connection with its
derivatives trading activities, the Company may enter into master netting agreements and collateral arrangements
with counterparties. These agreements may provide the Company with the ability to offset a counterparty’s rights
and obligations, request additional collateral when necessary or liquidate the collateral in the event of
counterparty default.

Credit Exposure-Lending. At November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, the aggregate value of investment
grade loans and financial accommodations was $5.0 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively, and the aggregate
value of non-investment grade loans and positions was $2.3 billion and $0.5 billion, respectively. At
November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, the aggregate value of lending commitments outstanding was $37.0
billion and $20.4 billion, respectively. The increase from the prior year was primarily related to acquisition
financing activity. In connection with these business activities (which include funded loans and lending
commitments), the Company had hedges with a notional amount of $17.8 billion and $11.6 billion at
November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, respectively, including both internal and external hedges utilized by
the lending business. The table below shows the Company’s credit exposure from its lending positions and
commitments as of November 30, 2005:

Lending Commitments and Funded Loans

Years to Maturity Total Lending Funded
Credit Rating(1) Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Exposure(2) Loans
(dollars in millions)
AAA $ 220 $ 106 $ 218 $ — $ 544 $ —
AA 1,508 1,830 1,678 753 5,769 748
A 2,003 2,469 4,130 988 9,590 846
BBB ... 1,390 3,533 6,820 1,297 13,040 3,381
Non-investment grade ................... 2,735 6,545 4,176 1,947 15,403 2,337
Total ...... ... .. $7,856  $14,483 $17,022 $4,985 $44,346 $7,312
Notional amount of hedges owned .......... $17,815

(1) Obligor credit ratings are determined by Institutional Credit using methodologies generally consistent with those employed by external
rating agencies.
(2) Total lending exposure includes both lending commitments and funded loans.
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Credit Exposure-Derivatives. The table below presents a summary by counterparty credit rating and remaining
contract maturity of the fair value of OTC derivatives in a gain position at November 30, 2005. Fair value
represents the risk reduction arising from master netting agreements, where applicable, and, in the final column,
net of collateral received (principally cash and U.S. government and agency securities):

OTC Derivative Products—Financial Instruments Owned(1)

Cross-Maturity

Years to Maturity and Net Exposure Net Exposure
Cash Collateral Post-Cash Post-
Credit Rating(2) Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Netting(3) Collateral Collateral
(dollars in millions)

AAA ... $ 988 $ 1,006 $ 1,070 $ 2,043 $ (1,683) $ 3514 $ 3,219
AA oo 7,943 4,385 4,843 14,628 (17,229) 14,570 13,288
A 3,746 3,006 2,508 4,983 (5,744) 8,499 7,429
BBB .......... . ... 2,670 4,642 1,519 3,022 (3,670) 8,183 5,201
Non-investment grade . . 2,350 1,998 1,128 3,397 (3,933) 4,940 3,142
Unrated@) ........... 690 575 380 363 311) 1,697 418
Total ............ $18,387  $15,702 $11,448 $28,436 $(32,570) $41,403 $32,697

(1) Fair values shown present the Company’s exposure to counterparties related to the Company’s OTC derivative products. The table does

(@)
3

“)

not include the effect of any related hedges utilized by the Company. The table also excludes fair values corresponding to other credit
exposures, such as those arising from the Company’s lending activities.

Obligor credit ratings are determined by Institutional Credit using methodologies generally consistent with those employed by external
rating agencies.

Amounts represent the netting of receivable balances with payable balances for the same counterparty across maturity categories.
Receivable and payable balances with the same counterparty in the same maturity category are netted within such maturity category,
where appropriate. Cash collateral received is netted on a counterparty basis, provided legal right of offset exists.

In lieu of making an individual assessment of the creditworthiness of unrated companies, the Company makes a determination that the
collateral held with respect to such obligations is sufficient to cover a substantial portion of its exposure. In making this determination,
the Company takes into account various factors, including legal uncertainties and market volatility.

The following tables summarize the fair values of the Company’s OTC derivative products recorded in Financial
instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased by product category and maturity at
November 30, 2005, including on a net basis, where applicable, reflecting the fair value of related non-cash
collateral for financial instruments owned:

OTC Derivative Products—Financial Instruments Owned

Cross-Maturity

. and Net Exposure Net Exposure
Years to Maturity Cash Collateral  Post-Cash Post-
Product Type Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Netting(1) Collateral Collateral

(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and currency

swaps and options, credit

derivatives and other fixed

income securities

contracts . ............. $ 3,002 $ 5461 $ 8,816 $24,635 $(24,904) $17,010 $13,978

Foreign exchange forward

contracts and options .. .. 7,346 534 37 2 (371) 7,548 7,012

Equity securities contracts

(including equity swaps,

warrants and options) . . .. 1,732 1,805 749 99 (1,267) 3,118 1,547
Commodity forwards,
options and swaps . . ..... 6,307 7,902 1,846 3,700 (6,028) 13,727 10,160
Total ............... $18,387 $15,702 $11,448 $28,436 $(32,570) $41,403 $32,697
(1) Amounts represent the netting of receivable balances with payable balances for the same counterparty across maturity and product

categories. Receivable and payable balances with the same counterparty in the same maturity category are netted within the maturity
category, where appropriate. Cash collateral received is netted on a counterparty basis, provided legal right of offset exists.
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OTC Derivative Products—Financial Instruments Sold, Not Yet Purchased(1)

Cross-Maturity

Years to Maturity Cash ér(;(lilateral
Product Type Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Netting(2) Total
(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and currency swaps and

options, credit derivatives and other

fixed income securities contracts . . ... .. $ 279 $ 5466 $6,132 $15,401 $(16,724)  $13,071
Foreign exchange forward contracts and

OPLIONS « vt vttt e e 7,313 507 73 22 (320) 7,595
Equity securities contracts (including

equity swaps, warrants and options) .. .. 2,410 2,131 775 285 (904) 4,697
Commodity forwards, options and swaps . . 6,720 8,462 2,423 1,393 (7,560) 11,438

Total ........... ... .. $19,239  $16,566 $9,403 $17,101 $(25,508)  $36,801

(1) Since these amounts are liabilities of the Company, they do not result in credit exposures.

(2) Amounts represent the netting of receivable balances with payable balances for the same counterparty across maturity and product
categories. Receivable and payable balances with the same counterparty in the same maturity category are netted within the maturity
category, where appropriate. Cash collateral received is netted on a counterparty basis, provided legal right of offset exists.

The Company’s derivatives (both listed and OTC) at November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004 are
summarized in the table below, showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities by product:

At November 30,2005 At November 30, 2004
Product Type Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

(dollars in millions)
Interest rate and currency swaps and options, credit derivatives and

other fixed income securities contracts . ...................... $17,157 $13,212 $22,998 $18,797
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options .. ............... 7,548 7,597 9,285 8,668
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and
OPLIONS) ottt et e e et e e 7,290 11,957 5,898 7,373
Commodity forwards, options and swaps . ...................... 13,899 12,186 11,294 8,702
Total ..o $45,894  $44,952 $49.475 $43,540

Each category of OTC derivative products in the above tables includes a variety of instruments, which can differ
substantially in their characteristics. Instruments in each category can be denominated in U.S. dollars or in one or
more non-U.S. currencies.

The fair values recorded in the above tables are determined by the Company using various pricing models. For a
discussion of fair value as it affects the consolidated financial statements, see “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of Operations—Critical Accounting
Policies” in Part II, Item 7 and Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. As discussed under “Critical
Accounting Policies,” the structure of the transaction, including its maturity, is one of several important factors
that may impact the price transparency. The impact of maturity on price transparency can differ significantly
among product categories. For example, single currency and multi-currency interest rate derivative products
involving highly standardized terms and the major currencies (e.g., the U.S. dollar or the euro) will generally
have greater price transparency from published external sources even in maturity ranges beyond 20 years. Credit
derivatives with highly standardized terms and liquid underlying reference instruments can have price
transparency from published external sources in a maturity ranging up to 10 years, while equity and foreign
exchange derivative products with standardized terms in major currencies can have price transparency from
published external sources within a two-year maturity range. Commodity derivatives with standardized terms and
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delivery locations can have price transparency from published external sources within various maturity ranges up
to 10 years, depending on the commodity. In most instances of limited price transparency based on published
external sources, dealers in these markets, in their capacities as market-makers and liquidity providers, provide
price transparency beyond the above maturity ranges.

Country Exposure. 'The Company monitors its credit exposure and risk to individual countries. Credit exposure
to a country arises from the Company’s lending activities and derivatives activities in a country. At November
30, 2005, less than 6% of the Company’s total credit exposure (including loans, lending commitments and
derivative contracts) was to emerging markets, and no one emerging market country accounted for more than 3%
of the Company’s total credit exposure. These country credit ratings are derived using methodologies generally
consistent with those employed by external rating agencies.

Industry Exposure. The Company also monitors its credit exposure and risk to individual industries.
At November 30, 2005, the Company’s material credit exposure (including loans, lending commitments and
derivative contracts) was to entities engaged in the following industries: utilities, financial institutions, energy,
sovereign-related entities, consumer related and chemicals.

Retail Brokerage Activities. Customer margin accounts, the primary source of retail credit exposure, are
collateralized in accordance with internal and regulatory guidelines. The Company monitors required margin
levels and established credit limits daily and, pursuant to such guidelines, requires customers to deposit
additional collateral, or reduce positions, when necessary. Factors considered in the review of all margin loans
are the amount of the loan, the intended purpose, the degree of leverage being employed in the account, and
overall evaluation of the portfolio to ensure proper diversification or, in the case of concentrated positions,
possible hedging strategies. Additionally, all transactions relating to concentrated or restricted positions require a
review of any legal impediments to liquidation of the underlying collateral. Underlying collateral for margin
loans is reviewed with respect to the liquidity of the proposed collateral positions, historic trading range,
volatility analysis and an evaluation of industry concentrations. At November 30, 2005, there were approximately
$6.6 billion of customer margin loans outstanding. In addition, Retail Brokerage is engaged in commercial
lending to small businesses (“BusinesScapeSM”) in the forms of revolving lines of credit, standby letters of credit,
term loans and owner-occupied commercial real estate mortgages. BusinesScape clients are required to submit a
formal credit application, including the borrower’s financial statements. Once the credit information is obtained,
a comprehensive financial analysis is performed to determine proper structure, debt capacity, cash flow coverage
to service debt, liquidity analysis and collateral analysis. In addition, financial reporting requirements and
financial covenants are proposed and negotiated between the lender and the borrower.

Consumer Lending Activities. With respect to its consumer lending activities, potential credit cardholders
undergo credit reviews by the Credit Department of Discover Financial Services to establish that they meet
standards of ability and willingness to pay. Credit card applications are evaluated using scoring models
(statistical evaluation models) based on information obtained from applicants and credit bureaus. The Company’s
credit scoring systems include both industry and customized models using the Company’s criteria and historical
data. Each cardmember’s credit line is reviewed at least annually, and actions resulting from such review may
include raising or lowering a cardmember’s credit line or closing the account. In addition, the Company, on a
portfolio basis, performs periodic monitoring and review of consumer behavior and risk profiles. The Company
also reviews the creditworthiness of prospective Discover Network merchants and conducts annual reviews of
merchants, with the greatest scrutiny given to merchants with substantial sales volume, chargeback, return and
discount volumes. With respect to first mortgages and second mortgages, including home equity lines of credit
(“mortgage lending”), a loan evaluation process is adopted within a framework of credit underwriting policies
and collateral valuation. The Company’s underwriting policy is designed to ensure that all borrowers pass an
assessment of capacity and willingness to pay, which includes an analysis of applicable industry standard credit
scoring models (e.g., FICO scores), debt ratios and reserves of the borrower. Loan-to-collateral value ratios are
determined based on independent third-party property appraisal/valuations, and security lien position is
established through title/ownership reports. As part of the mortgage lending business strategy, almost all loans
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are sold in the secondary market through securitizations and whole loan sales, while almost all servicing rights
are retained. These sales and securitizations pass the risk of credit loss onto the purchaser/investor. For further
information on the Company’s consumer loans, see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Operational Risk.

Operational risk refers to the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and/or
systems. Operational risk also refers to the risk that external events, such as external changes (e.g., natural
disasters, terrorist acts and/or health epidemics), failures or frauds, will result in losses to the Company’s
businesses. The Company incurs operational risk across all of its business activities, including revenue
generating activities (e.g., sales and trading) and support functions (e.g., information technology and facilities
management). Legal and compliance risk is included in the scope of operational risk and is discussed below
under “Legal Risk.”

During fiscal 2005, the Company appointed a firm wide Operational Risk Manager to oversee and monitor
operational risk across the Company. The Operational Risk Manager, supported by the Operational Risk
Department, is responsible for facilitating, designing, implementing and monitoring the firmwide operational risk
program. The Operational Risk Department works with the business segments and Control Groups and other
supporting functions to help ensure a transparent, consistent and comprehensive framework for managing
operational risk within each area and across the Company.

Primary responsibility for the management of operational risk lies with the business segments and supporting
functions. Each business segment has a designated operational risk manager. In addition, business segment risk
committees review operational risk matters and/or reports on a regular basis. Each Control Group and supporting
function also has a designated operational risk coordinator and a regular forum for discussing operational risk
matters and/or reports with senior management. Oversight of business segment operational risk is provided by
business segment risk committees and ultimately senior management through the Firm Risk Committee.

The business segments maintain controls designed to manage and mitigate operational risk for existing activities.
In addition, as new products and business activities are developed and as processes are designed and modified,
new operational risks are identified and control requirements defined to mitigate the identified risks. Operational
risk controls relate to the full range of operational risk categories as defined by Basel II and include controls to
mitigate risk relating to (i) theft and fraud; (ii) people; (iii) clients, products and business practices;
(iv) technology; (v) physical assets and data security; (vi) transaction processing; (vii) financial and reporting;
and (viii) external providers.

The Company has developed and continues to enhance specific policies and procedures that are designed to
identify, assess, manage and control or mitigate operational risk at appropriate levels. For example, the
Company’s securities businesses have procedures that require: that all transactions are accurately recorded and
properly reflected in the Company’s books and that records are confirmed on a timely basis; that position
valuations are subject to independent review procedures; and that collateral and adequate documentation are
obtained from counterparties in appropriate circumstances. With respect to its asset management activities, the
Company manages operational risk related to its various data processing systems through, among other things,
internal controls such as reconciliations and various backup procedures. With respect to its consumer lending
activities, the Company manages operational risk through its system of internal controls that provides checks and
balances to ensure that transactions and other account-related activity (e.g., new account solicitation, transaction
authorization and processing, billing and collection of delinquent accounts) are properly approved, processed,
recorded and reconciled.

Disaster recovery plans are in place for critical facilities and resources on a Company-wide basis, and
redundancies are built into the systems as deemed appropriate. The key components of the Company’s disaster
recovery plans include: crisis management; data and applications recovery; work area recovery; and other
elements addressing management, analysis training and testing. The Company has also established policies,
procedures and technologies to protect its computer and other assets from unauthorized access. Through
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organizations promoting information security, such as the Financial Services Information Sharing Analysis
Center and various other resources focused on information security, the Company continues to enhance its ability
to detect and defend against cyber threats.

The Company also utilizes the services of various external vendors that provide services in connection with the
Company’s ongoing operations. These may include, for example, outsourced processing and support functions
and consulting and other professional services. The Company manages its exposures to the quality of these
services through a variety of means, including service level and other contractual agreements, service and quality
reviews, and ongoing monitoring of the vendors’ performance. It is anticipated that the use of these services will
continue and possibly increase in the future.

Legal Risk.

Legal risk includes the risk of non-compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements and standards.
Legal risk also includes contractual and commercial risk such as the risk that a counterparty’s performance
obligations will be unenforceable. The Company is generally subject to extensive regulation in the different
jurisdictions in which it conducts its business (see “Business—Regulation” in Part I, Item 1). The Company has
established procedures based on legal and regulatory requirements on a worldwide basis that are designed to
foster compliance with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements. The Company, principally through the
Law Division, also has established procedures that are designed to require that the Company’s policies relating to
conduct, ethics and business practices are followed globally. In connection with its businesses, the Company has
and continuously develops various procedures addressing issues such as regulatory capital requirements, sales
and trading practices, new products, potential conflicts of interest, structured transactions, use and safekeeping of
customer funds and securities, credit granting, collection activities, money-laundering, privacy and
recordkeeping. In addition, the Company has established procedures to mitigate the risk that a counterparty’s
performance obligations will be unenforceable, including consideration of counterparty legal authority and
capacity, adequacy of legal documentation, the permissibility of a transaction under applicable law and whether
applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws limit or alter contractual remedies. The legal and regulatory focus on
the financial services industry presents a continuing business challenge for the Company.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Morgan Stanley:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Morgan Stanley and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of November 30, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the
period ended November 30, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries as of November 30, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 30, 2005, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 14, in 2005 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.” Also, as discussed in Note 2, in 2005 the Company changed the
classification of repurchase transactions in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of November 30,
2005, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework™ issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 8, 2006 expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
February 8, 2006
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
(dollars in millions, except share data)

November 30,

November 30,

2005 2004
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents . ........... . .t $ 29,414 $ 32,811
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under
federal and other regulations or requirements (including securities at fair value of
$30,223 in 2005 and $27,219in2004) ... ... 40,130 36,742
Financial instruments owned (approximately $93 billion in 2005 and $91 billion in
2004 were pledged to various parties):
U.S. government and agency SECUrities . ..............ouuuerenenennennn. 31,742 26,201
Other sovereign government obligations ................. ... ouino... 22,750 19,782
Corporate and otherdebt . ......... ... .. 105,381 80,138
COrporate EqUILIES . . . oot vttt ettt e e e e 52,238 27,222
Derivative CONTIACES . . ..ttt e e e e e e e e e e 45,894 49,475
Physical commodities .. ........... ..ttt 2,610 1,224
Total financial instruments owned . ........... ...ttt 260,615 204,042
Securities received as collateral .. .......... . ... 43,557 37,848
Collateralized agreements:
Securities purchased under agreements toresell .. ........................ 174,330 123,041
Securities borrowed . . .. ... . 244,241 208,349
Receivables:
Consumer loans (net of allowances of $838 in 2005 and $943 in 2004) ....... 22,916 20,226
CUSIOMIETS, ML . o ottt e et e e e e e e e e e 50,979 45,561
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations . .....................c.o..... 5,030 12,707
Fees, interestand other . .. ....... .. e 6,137 5,801
Office facilities, at cost (less accumulated depreciation of $3,196 in 2005 and $2,780
N 2004) ..o 2,733 2,605
Aircraft under operating leases (held for sale at November 30, 2005; at cost less
accumulated depreciation of $1,174in2004) ....... ... i 3,145 3,926
Goodwill and net intangible assets .. .......... ...t 2,500 2,199
Other @SSEES . o oot 12,796 11,476
TOtal ASSEES . . v v ottt $898,523 $747,334
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition—(Continued)

(dollars in millions, except share data)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings ............... .. .. ... ....
DEPOSIES .« . vttt e
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased:

U.S. government and agency SECUrities . .............uuuuerenenennennnn
Other sovereign government obligations ................. ... ouino...
Corporate and otherdebt . ...... ... ... ..
COrporate EqUILIES . . . v ot vttt et e e e e
Derivative CONIactS . ... .. ..ottt e e
Physical commodities .. ........... ..

Total financial instruments sold, not yet purchased ...........................
Obligation to return securities received as collateral ..........................
Collateralized financings:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase ............... ... ... .....
Securities loaned . ... ...
Other secured financings . .. ....... ..ottt

Payables:

CUSIOMIETS .« e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations . .....................c.c.....
Interest and dividends . .......... ...

Other liabilities and accrued eXpenses . ..............veuiniininenennenen ..
Long-term bOrrOWings .. ... ...ttt

Capital UNQs . ..ot e
Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value;

Shares authorized: 3,500,000,000 in 2005 and 2004,

Shares issued: 1,211,701,552 in 2005 and 2004;

Shares outstanding: 1,057,677,994 in 2005 and 1,087,087,116 in 2004 ... ..
Paid-incapital . ...... ...
Retained earnings .. ... ...ttt e
Employee StoCK trust . . .. ..ot e
Accumulated other comprehensive 0SS .. ........ ... . i
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, $0.01 par value;

154,023,558 shares in 2005 and 124,614,436 shares in 2004 . . ............
Common stock issued to employee trust . . .. ..o

Total shareholders’ equity . ... ..ot

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ............ .. .. ... .. .. ... .....

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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November 30,
2005

November 30,
2004

$ 31,120 $ 36,303
18,663 13,777
20,425 12,664
25,355 14,787

5,480 9,641
45,936 27,332
44,952 43,540

4,852 3,351

147,000 111,315
43,557 37,848
237,274 181,598
120,454 97,146
23,534 7,047
112,246 115,653

4,789 4,550

3,338 3,068
16,835 15,471

110,465 95,286
869,275 719,062
66 66
12 12

2,389 2,088
35,185 31,426

3,060 3,824

(190) (56)

(8,214) (6,614)

(3,060) (2,474)
29,182 28,206
$898,523 $747,334




MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Income
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Revenues:

Investment banking . ........ ... ... ..

Principal transactions:

Trading ... ...
INVEStMENtS . . . ..o e
COMMISSIONS .« o\ vttt ettt et e e e et et e et

Fees:

Asset management, distribution and administration .............
Merchant, cardmember andother ... .........................
Servicing and securitization inCOME . . . .. ....o.vvunninnennennenn..
Interestand dividends . . ........ . ...
Other . ...

Total TEVENUES . ..ottt
INterest eXPense . ... ...ttt
Provision for consumer loanlosses .............. ...,

NELTEVENUES . . o ottt e e e e e e

Non-interest expenses:

Compensation and benefits .......... ... ... ... ... .. ...
Occupancy and equipment . .. ... ......ouueeneuneeneennennenn.n
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees ................ ... ... . ...
Information processing and communications . . .....................
Marketing and business development ................. ... ... ....
Professional services ........... ... .. i i
Other . ... ...
September 11t related insurance recoveries,net ....................

Total NON-INterest EXPEnSes . ... ...vvveunerneneenennenn s

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to

mandatory redemption and cumulative effect of accounting change, net . ..
Losses from unconsolidated investees ............... .. ... ...,
Provision for income taxes .. ............ .
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption . ........

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting

Change, Nt ... ...t

Discontinued operations:

Loss from discontinued operations .................. ... ... .....
Income tax benefit .......... ... ... .

Loss on discontinued operations .....................c.......
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net . .............. ... ... .....

NELINCOME . . .ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e

Earnings per basic share:

Income from continuing operations .. .................... oo,
Loss on discontinued operations ................. ..o,
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net .......................

Earnings per basicshare ......... ... ... .. .. . ..

Earnings per diluted share:

Income from continuing operations .. ...................oouiinn..
Loss on discontinued operations .....................oouiin....
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net .......................

Earnings perdiluted share .......... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ...

Average common shares outstanding:

BasiC . ot

Diluted ....... ...

Fiscal Year

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2005 2004 2003
3,843  $ 3,341  $ 2,440
7,365 5,510 6,262

981 607 110
3,363 3,264 2,887
4,958 4,473 3,814
1,323 1,317 1,377
1,609 1,921 1,922

28,175 18,584 15,738
464 324 226
52,081 39,341 34,776
24,425 14,707 12,693
878 926 1,266
26,778 23,708 20,817
11,313 9,853 8,522
1,046 846 791
1,070 932 838
1,405 1,309 1,287
1,162 1,123 962
1,903 1,542 1,129
1,769 1,285 1,128

(251) — _

19,417 16,890 14,657
7,361 6,818 6,160

311 328 279
1,858 1,856 1,707

— 45 154
5,192 4,589 4,020

(486) (172) (393)
184 69 160
(302) (103) (233)
49 — —
4939 $ 4486 $ 3,787
494 $ 425 $ 3.74
(0.29) (0.10) 0.22)
0.05 — —
470 $ 415 $ 3.52
481 $ 415 $ 3.66
(0.29) (0.09) 0.21)
0.05 — —
457 $ 406 $ 3.45
1,049,896,047 1,080,121,708 1,076,754,740
1,079,936,315 1,105,185,480 1,099,117,972
N
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(dollars in millions)

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

NELINCOME . . .ottt e et e e e e e e $4,939 $4,486 $3,787
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments ............................... (89) 76 78
Net change incash flowhedges . ........ .. .. .. .. .. .. (70) 26 26
Minimum pension liability adjustment ................ ... .. .. ... ....... 25 2) ©))
Comprehensive INCOME .. ... ooiiiiie ittt $4,805 $4,586 $3.882

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Netincome ... ... ... ..
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used for) provided by operating
activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ........... ... .. ... .. ... .......
Deferred iNCOME taXeS . . . .. oottt et e e e
Compensation payable in common stock and options . .......................
Depreciation and amortization . ..............c.iitiiiii i
Provision for consumer loan 1osses . .. .......... .. i
Lease adjustment . .. ...ttt
Insurance settlement . ........... ... ..
Aircraft-related charges . .. ...
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under
federal and other regulations or requirements . .. ...........covuineninan...
Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased . . . ... .ot
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned ............ .. ... . ... .. ... .. ...
Receivables and otherassets .............. ... .. ... .. i
Payables and other liabilities . . ............ . i
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of securities purchased under
agreementstoresell . ... ... L

Net cash (used for) provided by operating activities . . .. ........ ..., ..

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:
Office facilities and aircraft under operating leases .............. ... .. .. ......
Purchase of PULSE, netof cash acquired . ............ ... ... ... ... .. oo,
Purchase of Barra, Inc., net of cash acquired ............. ... ... .. .. ... .....
Net principal disbursed on consumerloans . ............ .. ... i,
Sales of consumer loans .. ........ ...t
Sale of interest in POSIT . ... ...
Insurance settlement . ... ... ... ...t

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities . ... ............ouuirnenneneen..

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from (payments for):
Short-term bOITOWINGS . . ..ottt
Derivatives financing activities . .. ... ... ...ttt
Other secured financings . .. ...« ..ot
DIEPOSILS . . o vt ettt
Tax benefits associated with stock-based awards . ........... ... ... ... ... ..

Net proceeds from:
Issuance of common stock . ......... . ...
Issuance of long-term borrowings . . .. ...ttt
Issuance of preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption .................

Payments for:
Repayments of long-term borrowings . ... ...ttt
Redemption of preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption ..............
Repurchases of common StocK .. ... ...t e
Cashdividends ....... ... .. . .. . .

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities . ... ........ .. ... .. ...

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . ............... .. ... ... ... ....
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period ....... ... ... .. ... .. .. ... ...

Cash and cash equivalents, atend of period .. ....... ... .. .. ... .. i

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Fiscal Year

2005 2004 2003
$ 4939 $ 4486 $ 3,787
(49) — —
(1,076) (261) 221
836 663 309
815 805 637
878 926 1,266
109 — —
251) — —
509 109 323
(3,388)  (8,216) 9,885
(22,981)  (5490)  (4,091)
(12,584)  (21,765)  (2,263)
2,674) (17,112) (16,512)
(822) 21314 8,793
4387  (2917) 8,172
(31,352) (27.458) 10,527
(540) (533) (604)
(323) — —
— (758) —
(14,093)  (9,360)  (8,497)
10,525 7,590 10,864
90 — —
220 — —
@,121)  (3,061) 1,763
(5.183) 7917 (21,630)
1,044 1,895 500
16,487 (892) 915
4,886 938 (918)
355 — —
327 322 222
35,768 37,601 21,486
— — 2,000
(16,735)  (11,915)  (12,641)
— — (400)
(3,693)  (1,132) (350)
(1,180)  (1,096) (994)
32,076 33,638  (11,810)
(3397) 3,119 480
32,811 29,692 29212
$29414 $32,811 $ 29,692
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(dollars in millions)

BALANCE AT

NOVEMBER 30,2002 .. ...
Netincome .................
Dividends ..................
Issuance of common stock . .. ..
Repurchases of common

stock ...
Compensation payable in

common stock and options . . .
Tax benefits associated with

stock-based awards . ........
Employee tax withholdings and

other ....................
Net change in cash flow

hedges ...................
Minimum pension liability

adjustment
Translation adjustments . ......

BALANCE AT

NOVEMBER 30,2003 .. ...
Netincome .................
Dividends ..................
Issuance of common stock . .. ..
Repurchases of common

Stock ...
Compensation payable in

common stock and options . . .
Tax benefits associated with

stock-based awards . ........
Employee tax withholdings and

other ....................
Net change in cash flow

hedges ...................
Minimum pension liability

adjustment
Translation adjustments . ......

BALANCE AT

NOVEMBER 30,2004 . ....
Netincome .................
Dividends ..................
Issuance of common stock . .. ..
Repurchases of common

stock ...l
Compensation payable in

common stock and options . . .
Tax benefits associated with

stock-based awards . ........
Employee tax withholdings and

other ....................
Net change in cash flow

hedges ...................
Minimum pension liability

adjustment
Translation adjustments .......

BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER 30,2005 .. ...

Morgan Stanley

Common Common

Accumulated Note Stock Stock
Employee Other Receivable Held in Issued to
Common Paid-in Retained Stock  Comprehensive Related to Treasury Employee
Stock  Capital Earnings Trust Income (Loss) ESOP at Cost Trust Total

$ 12 $3,678 $25250  $3,003 $(251) $(13) $(7,176)  $(2,618) $21,885
— — 3,787 — — — — — 3,787
— — (999) — — — — — (999)
— 977) — — — — 1,199 — 222
— — — — — — (350) — (350)
— 50 — 5 — 16 40 198 309
— 333 — — — — — — 333
_ 71 — — — ) 479) — 415)
— — — — 26 — — — 26
— — — — ©) — — — ©)
— — — — 78 — — — 78
12 3,155 28,038 3,008 (156) “4) (6,766) (2,420) 24,867
— — 4,486 — — — — — 4,486
— (1,098) — — — — (1,098)

— (1,304) — — — — 1,626 — 322
— — — — — — (1,132) — (1,132)
— (172) — 816 — 4 69 (54) 663
— 331 — — — — — — 331
— 78 — — — — (411) — (333)
— — — — 26 — — — 26
— — — — ©) — — — 0)
— — — — 76 — — — 76
12 2,088 31,426 3,824 (56) — (6,614) (2,474) 28,206
— — 4,939 — — — — — 4,939
— — (1,180) — — — — — (1,180)
— (780) — — — — 1,107 — 327
— — — — — — (3,693) — (3,693)
— 669 — (764) — — 1,437 (586) 756
— 317 — — — — — — 317
_ 95 — — — — (451) — (356)
_ _ _ — (70) — — — (70)
— — — — 25 — — — 25
— — — — (89) — — — (89)
$ 12 $2389 $35185  $3,060 $(190) $— $(8,214)  $(3,060) $29,182

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation.

The Company. Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading
market positions in each of its business segments—Institutional Securities, Retail Brokerage, Asset Management
and Discover. The Company, through its subsidiaries and affiliates, provides its products and services to a large
and diversified group of clients and customers, including corporations, governments, financial institutions and
individuals. The Company’s Institutional Securities business includes capital raising, financial advisory services,
including advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; corporate lending;
sales, trading, financing and market-making activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income
securities and related products, including foreign exchange and commodities; benchmark indices and risk
management analytics; research; and investments. The Company’s Retail Brokerage business provides brokerage
and investment advisory services covering various investment alternatives; financial and wealth planning
services; annuity and insurance products; credit and other lending products; banking and cash management and
credit solutions; retirement services; and trust and fiduciary services. The Company’s Asset Management
business provides global asset management products and services in equities, fixed income and alternative
investment products through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the
Company’s representatives; a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial
planners and other intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional sales channel. The Company’s Discover
business offers Discover®-branded credit cards and other consumer products and services, and includes the
operations of Discover Network, which operates a merchant and cash access network for Discover Network
branded cards, and includes PULSE EFT Association LP (“PULSE®”), an automated teller machine/debit and
electronic funds transfer network. Morgan Stanley-branded and affinity credit cards issued on the MasterCard
network and other consumer finance products and services in the U.K. are also included in the Discover business
segment.

Basis of Financial Information. The consolidated financial statements for the 12 months ended November 30,
2005 (“fiscal 2005”), November 30, 2004 (“fiscal 2004””) and November 30, 2003 (“fiscal 2003”) are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make
estimates and assumptions regarding the valuations of certain financial instruments, consumer loan loss levels,
the outcome of litigation, and other matters that affect the consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures. The Company believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are prudent and reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries and
other entities in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. The Company’s policy is to consolidate
all entities in which it owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting stock unless it does not control the entity.
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 467),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” as revised, the Company also consolidates any variable interest
entities for which it is deemed to be the primary beneficiary (see Note 19). For investments in companies in
which the Company has significant influence over operating and financial decisions (generally defined as owning
a voting or economic interest of 20% to 50%), the Company applies the equity method of accounting. In those
cases where the Company’s investment is less than 20% and significant influence does not exist, such
investments are carried at cost.

The Company’s U.S. and international subsidiaries include Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MS&Co.”),
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited (“MSIL”), Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”), Morgan
Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWTI”), Morgan Stanley Investment Advisors Inc. and NOVUS Credit Services Inc.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation. All
material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Discontinued Operations. The Company’s aircraft leasing business has been classified as “held for sale,” and
associated revenues and expenses have been reported as discontinued operations for all years presented in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Prior to being reclassified as discontinued operations, the results
of the Company’s aircraft leasing business were included in the Institutional Securities business segment. See
Note 18 for additional information on discontinued operations.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Revenue Recognition.

Investment Banking. Underwriting revenues and fees for mergers, acquisitions and advisory assignments are
recorded when services for the transactions are determined to be completed, generally as set forth under the terms
of the engagement. Transaction-related expenses, primarily consisting of legal, travel and other costs directly
associated with the transaction, are deferred and recognized in the same period as the related investment banking
transaction revenue. Underwriting revenues are presented net of related expenses. Non-reimbursed expenses
associated with advisory transactions are recorded within Non-interest expenses.

Commissions. The Company generates commissions from executing and clearing client transactions on stock,
options and futures markets. Commission revenues are recorded in the accounts on trade date.

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees are recognized over the relevant contract period, generally quarterly or annually. In certain management fee
arrangements, the Company is entitled to receive performance fees when the return on assets under management
exceeds certain benchmark returns or other performance targets. Performance fee revenue is accrued quarterly
based on measuring account/fund performance to date versus the performance benchmark stated in the
investment management agreement.

Merchant, Cardmember and Other Fees. Merchant, cardmember and other fees include revenues from fees
charged to merchants on credit card sales (net of interchange fees paid to banks that issue cards on the
Company’s merchant and cash access network), transaction fees on debit card transactions as well as charges to
cardmembers for late payment fees, overlimit fees, balance transfer fees, credit protection fees and cash advance
fees, net of cardmember rewards. Merchant, cardmember and other fees are recognized as earned. Cardmember
rewards include various reward programs, including the Cashback Bonus® reward program, pursuant to which
the Company pays certain cardmembers a percentage of their purchase amounts based upon a cardmember’s
level and type of purchases. The liability for cardmember rewards, included in Other liabilities and accrued
expenses, is accrued at the time that qualified cardmember transactions occur and is calculated on an individual
cardmember basis. In determining the liability for cardmember rewards, the Company considers estimated
forfeitures based on historical account closure, charge-off and transaction activity. The Company records the cost
of its cardmember reward programs as a reduction of Merchant, cardmember and other fees.

Consumer Loans. Consumer loans, which consist primarily of general purpose credit card, mortgage and
consumer installment loans, are reported at their principal amounts outstanding less applicable allowances.
Interest on consumer loans is recorded to income as earned. Interest is generally accrued on credit card loans
until the date of charge-off, which generally occurs at the end of the month during which an account becomes
180 days past due, except in the case of cardmember bankruptcies, probate accounts, and fraudulent transactions.
Cardmember bankruptcies and probate accounts are charged off at the end of the month 60 days following the
receipt of notification of the bankruptcy or death, but not later than the 180-day contractual time frame.
Fraudulent transactions are reported in consumer loans at their net realizable value upon receipt of notification of
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the fraud through a charge to operating expenses and are subsequently written off at the end of the month 90 days
following notification, but not later than the contractual 180-day timeframe. The interest portion of charged-off
credit card loans is written off against interest revenue. Origination costs related to the issuance of credit cards
are charged to earnings over periods not exceeding 12 months.

The Company classifies a portion of its consumer loans as held for sale. Loans held for sale include the lesser of
loans eligible for securitization or sale, or loans that management intends to securitize within three months, net of
amortizing securitizations. These loans are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or fair value.

Financial Instruments Used for Trading and Investment. Financial instruments owned and Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased, which include cash and derivative products, are recorded at fair value in the
consolidated statements of financial condition, and gains and losses are reflected in Principal transaction trading
revenues in the consolidated statements of income. Loans and lending commitments associated with the
Company’s corporate lending activities also are recorded at fair value. Fair value is the amount at which financial
instruments could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

The fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased
are generally based on observable market prices, observable market parameters or derived from such prices or
parameters based on bid prices or parameters for Financial instruments owned and ask prices or parameters for
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. In the case of financial instruments transacted on recognized
exchanges, the observable prices represent quotations for completed transactions from the exchange on which the
financial instrument is principally traded. Bid prices represent the highest price a buyer is willing to pay for a
financial instrument at a particular time. Ask prices represent the lowest price a seller is willing to accept for a
financial instrument at a particular time.

A substantial percentage of the fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased is based on observable market prices, observable market parameters, or is
derived from such prices or parameters. The availability of observable market prices and pricing parameters can
vary from product to product. Where available, observable market prices and pricing parameters in a product (or
a related product) may be used to derive a price without requiring significant judgment. In certain markets,
observable market prices or market parameters are not available for all products, and fair value is determined
using techniques appropriate for each particular product. These techniques involve some degree of judgment. The
price transparency of the particular product will determine the degree of judgment involved in determining the
fair value of the Company’s financial instruments. Price transparency is affected by a wide variety of factors,
including, for example, the type of product, whether it is a new product and not yet established in the
marketplace, and the characteristics particular to the transaction. Products for which actively quoted prices or
pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted prices or pricing
parameters will generally have a higher degree of price transparency. By contrast, products that are thinly traded
or not quoted will generally have reduced to no price transparency.

The fair value of over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative contracts is derived primarily using pricing models, which
may require multiple market input parameters. Where appropriate, valuation adjustments are made to account for
credit quality and market liquidity. These adjustments are applied on a consistent basis and are based upon
observable market data where available. In the absence of observable market prices or parameters in an active
market, observable prices or parameters of other comparable current market transactions, or other observable
data supporting a fair value based on a pricing model at the inception of a contract, fair value is based on the
transaction price. The Company also uses pricing models to manage the risks introduced by OTC derivatives.
Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be
modeled using a series of techniques, including closed-form analytic formulae, such as the Black-Scholes option
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pricing model, simulation models or a combination thereof, applied consistently. In the case of more established
derivative products, the pricing models used by the Company are widely accepted by the financial services
industry. Pricing models take into account the contract terms, including the maturity, as well as market
parameters such as interest rates, volatility and the creditworthiness of the counterparty.

Interest and dividend revenue and interest expense arising from financial instruments used in trading activities
are reflected in the consolidated statements of income as Interest and dividend revenue or Interest expense.
Purchases and sales of financial instruments and related expenses are recorded in the accounts on trade date.
Unrealized gains and losses arising from the Company’s dealings in OTC financial instruments, including
derivative contracts related to financial instruments and commodities, are presented in the accompanying
consolidated statements of financial condition on a net-by-counterparty basis, when appropriate.

Effective December 1, 2004, the Company elected, under FASB Interpretation No. 39, “Offsetting of Amounts
Related to Certain Contracts,” to net cash collateral paid or received against its derivatives inventory under credit
support annexes, which the Company views as conditional contracts, to legally enforceable master netting
agreements. The Company believes the accounting treatment is preferable as compared with a gross basis as it is
a better representation of its credit exposure and how it manages its credit risk related to these derivative
contracts. Amounts as of November 30, 2004 have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

Equity and debt securities purchased in connection with private equity and other principal investment activities
initially are carried in the consolidated financial statements at their original costs, which approximate fair value.
The carrying value of such securities is adjusted when changes in the underlying fair values are readily
ascertainable, generally as evidenced by observable market prices or transactions that directly affect the value of
such securities. Downward adjustments relating to such securities are made in the event that the Company
determines that the fair value is less than the carrying value. The Company’s partnership interests, including
general partnership and limited partnership interests in real estate funds, are included within Other assets in the
consolidated statements of financial condition and are recorded at fair value based upon changes in the fair value
of the underlying partnership’s net assets.

Prior to fiscal 2005, certain investments made by the Company for business facilitation and principal investment
purposes were recorded in Financial instruments owned, and gains and losses on such investments were recorded
in Principal transaction trading revenues. Amounts related to these investments are now recorded in Other assets
and Principal transaction investment revenues in order to reflect the nature of these positions. Prior periods have
been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. For fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, $95 million and
$24 million, respectively, have been reclassified to Principal transactions investment revenues, and $554 million
as of November 30, 2004 has been reclassified to Other assets.

Financial Instruments Used for Asset and Liability Management. 'The Company enters into various derivative
financial instruments for non-trading purposes. These instruments are included within Financial instruments
owned—derivative contracts or Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased—derivative contracts within the
consolidated statements of financial condition and include interest rate swaps, foreign currency swaps, equity
swaps and foreign exchange forwards. The Company uses interest rate and currency swaps and equity derivatives
to manage interest rate, currency and equity price risk arising from certain liabilities. The Company also utilizes
interest rate swaps to match the repricing characteristics of consumer loans with those of the borrowings that
fund these loans. Certain of these derivative financial instruments are designated and qualify as fair value hedges
and cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended.
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The Company’s designated fair value hedges consist primarily of hedges of fixed rate borrowings, including
fixed rate borrowings that fund consumer loans. The Company’s designated cash flow hedges consisted primarily
of hedges of floating rate borrowings in connection with its aircraft financing business. In general, interest rate
exposure in this business arises to the extent that the interest obligations associated with debt used to finance the
Company’s aircraft portfolio do not correlate with the aircraft rental payments received by the Company. The
Company’s objective was to manage the exposure created by its floating interest rate obligations given that future
lease rates on new leases may not be repriced at levels that fully reflect changes in market interest rates. The
Company utilized interest rate swaps to minimize the risk created by its longer-term floating rate interest
obligations and measures that risk by reference to the duration of those obligations and the expected sensitivity of
future lease rates to future market interest rates.

For qualifying fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the gain or loss on the hedged
asset or liability relating to the risk being hedged are recorded currently in earnings. These amounts are recorded
in Interest expense and provide offset of one another. For qualifying cash flow hedges, the changes in the fair
value of the derivative are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in Shareholders’ equity,
net of tax effects, and amounts in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are reclassified into earnings
in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The Company estimates that
approximately $55 million of the unrealized loss recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
as of November 30, 2005 will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. Ineffectiveness relating to
fair value and cash flow hedges, if any, is recorded within Interest expense. The impact of hedge ineffectiveness
on the consolidated statements of income was not material for all periods presented.

In connection with the planned sale of the aircraft financing business (see Note 18), the Company has
de-designated the interest rate swaps associated with this business effective August 31, 2005 and is no longer
accounting for them as cash flow hedges under SFAS No. 133. Accordingly, in accordance with SFAS No. 133,
amounts in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to those interest rate swaps shall be
reclassified to earnings as a net gain or loss during the period from the date of de-designation through the original
maturity date of each of the respective swaps.

The Company also utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the currency exposure relating to its
net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency operations. The gain or loss from revaluing
these contracts is deferred and reported within Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in Shareholders’
equity, net of tax effects, with the related unrealized amounts due from or to counterparties included in Financial
instruments owned or Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. The interest elements (forward points) on
these foreign exchange forward contracts are recorded in earnings.

Securitization Activities. The Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and
residential mortgage loans, corporate bonds and loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, credit
card loans and other types of financial assets (see Notes 4 and 5). The Company may retain interests in the
securitized financial assets as one or more tranches of the securitization, undivided seller’s interests, accrued
interest receivable subordinate to investors’ interests (see Note 5), cash collateral accounts, servicing rights,
rights to any excess cash flows remaining after payments to investors in the securitization trusts of their
contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit losses, and other retained interests. The exposure to credit
losses from securitized loans is limited to the Company’s retained contingent risk, which represents the
Company’s retained interest in securitized loans, including any credit enhancement provided. The gain or loss on
the sale of financial assets depends in part on the previous carrying amount of the assets involved in the transfer,
and each subsequent transfer in revolving structures, allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests
based upon their respective fair values at the date of sale. To obtain fair values, observable market prices are used
if available. However, observable market prices are generally not available for retained interests so the Company
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estimates fair value based on the present value of expected future cash flows using its best estimates of the key
assumptions, including forecasted credit losses, payment rates, forward yield curves and discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved. The present value of future net servicing revenues that the Company
estimates it will receive over the term of the securitized loans is recognized in income as the loans are
securitized. A corresponding asset also is recorded and then amortized as a charge to income over the term of the
securitized loans, with actual net servicing revenues continuing to be recognized in income as they are earned.

Aircraft under Operating Leases.

Aircraft Held for Sale. On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved
management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s non-core aircraft leasing business. In connection with this
action, the aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” and reported as discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The aircraft
portfolio was not depreciated after August 17, 2005. In addition, in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company
recognized a charge of approximately $1.7 billion ($1.0 billion after-tax) to reflect the writedown of the aircraft
leasing business to its estimated fair value of approximately $2.0 billion. In determining the charge that was
recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company estimated the value to be realized in selling the aircraft
leasing business as a whole. The estimated value of the business was based on the appraised values of the aircraft
portfolio, an evaluation of then current market conditions, recent transactions involving the sales of similar
aircraft leasing businesses, a detailed assessment of the portfolio and additional valuation analyses.

On January 30, 2006, the Company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement under which it will sell
its aircraft leasing business to Terra Firma, a European private equity group, for approximately $2.5 billion in
cash and the assumption of liabilities. Based on the terms of the agreement and in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, the Company revised its estimate of the fair value (less selling costs) of the aircraft leasing business
and, as a result, in the fourth quarter reduced the pre-tax charge recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 by
approximately $1.1 billion. Full year results for fiscal 2005 reflected a charge of $509 million ($316 million
after-tax).

The sale is subject to customary regulatory approvals and closing conditions and is expected to close in the first
half of 2006.

Aircraft to be Held and Used. Prior to the third quarter of fiscal 2005, aircraft under operating leases that were
to be held and used were stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Depreciation was
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the aircraft asset, which was generally 25 years
from the date of manufacture. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft that were to be held and
used were reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying
value of the aircraft may not be recoverable. Under SFAS No. 144, the carrying value of an aircraft may not be
recoverable if its projected undiscounted cash flows are less than its carrying value. If an aircraft’s projected
undiscounted cash flows were less than its carrying value, the Company recognized an impairment charge equal
to the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the aircraft. The fair value of the Company’s impaired
aircraft was based upon the average market appraisal values obtained from independent appraisal companies.
Estimates of future cash flows associated with the aircraft assets as well as the appraisals of fair value are critical
to the determination of whether an impairment exists and the amount of the impairment charge, if any.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For purposes of these statements, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and highly liquid investments not held for resale with maturities, when purchased, of three months or less.
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In fiscal 2005, the Company changed the classification within the consolidated statements of cash flows of the
activity associated with repurchase agreements, net of reverse repurchase agreements, from financing activities to
operating activities. Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The
effect of the change increased (decreased) operating cash flows by $(2,917) million and $8,172 million, and
increased (decreased) financing cash flows by $2,917 million and $(8,172) million in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003,
respectively. The Company believes the change in classification of repurchase transactions is preferable because
it is more consistent with the classification used by peer companies and it reflects better the primary business
purpose of these transactions.

During fiscal 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” the Company modified its classification within the consolidated statement of cash flows
of the activity associated with certain derivative financial instruments. The activity related to derivative financial
instruments entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and that have been determined to contain a financing
element at inception where the Company is deemed the borrower is included within Cash flows from financing
activities. Prior to July 1, 2003, the activity associated with such derivative financial instruments is included
within Cash flows from operating activities.

Allowance for Consumer Loan Losses. The allowance for consumer loan losses is a significant estimate that
represents management’s estimate of probable losses inherent in the consumer loan portfolio. The allowance for
consumer loan losses is primarily applicable to the owned homogeneous consumer credit card loan portfolio that
is evaluated quarterly for adequacy and is established through a charge to the Provision for consumer loan losses.

In calculating the allowance for consumer loan losses, the Company uses a systematic and consistently applied
approach. This process starts with a migration analysis (a technique used to estimate the likelihood that a
consumer loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and ultimately charge-off) of delinquent
and current consumer credit card accounts in order to determine the appropriate level of the allowance for
consumer loan losses. The migration analysis considers uncollectible principal, interest and fees reflected in
consumer loans. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for consumer loan losses, management also
considers factors that may impact future credit loss experience, including current economic conditions, recent
trends in delinquencies and bankruptcy filings, account collection management, policy changes, account
seasoning, loan volume and amounts, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties. The Provision for consumer
loan losses is charged against earnings to maintain the allowance for consumer loan losses at an appropriate
level.

Office Facilities. Office facilities are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation
and amortization of buildings, leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment are provided principally
by the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset. Estimates of useful lives are generally as
follows: buildings—39 years; furniture and fixtures—7 years; and computer and communications equipment—S3 to
5 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or, where
applicable, the remaining term of the lease, but generally not exceeding 15 years.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense is provided for using the asset and liability method, under which deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the temporary differences between the financial statement
and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates.

Earnings per Share. The Company computes earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with SFAS No. 128,
“Earnings per Share.” “Basic EPS” is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. “Diluted EPS” reflects the assumed
conversion of all dilutive securities (see Note 10).

119 Morgan Stanley



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Stock-Based Compensation. In fiscal 2003, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” using the
prospective adoption method for both deferred stock and stock options. In fiscal 2005, the Company early
adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” which revised the fair value based method of accounting for
share-based payment liabilities, forfeitures and modifications of stock-based awards and clarified SFAS
No. 123’s guidance in several areas, including measuring fair value, classifying an award as equity or as a
liability and attributing compensation cost to service periods. SFAS No. 123R also amended SFAS No. 95,
“Statement of Cash Flows,” to require that excess tax benefits be reported as financing cash inflows rather than
as a reduction of taxes paid, which is included within operating cash flows.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective approach, the Company recognized an $80
million gain ($49 million after-tax) as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter
of fiscal 2005 resulting from the requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date of grant instead of recognizing
them as incurred. The cumulative effect gain increased both basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.05.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123R, fiscal 2005 compensation expense included the amortization of fiscal 2003
and fiscal 2004 equity-based awards but did not include any amortization for fiscal 2005 year-end awards. This
had the effect of reducing compensation expense in fiscal 2005. If SFAS No. 123R were not in effect, fiscal
2005’s compensation expense would have included three years of amortization (i.e., for awards granted in fiscal
2003, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005). In addition, the fiscal 2005 year-end awards, which were granted in December
2005 and which will begin to be amortized in fiscal 2006, will be amortized over a shorter period (primarily two
and three years) as compared with awards granted in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 (primarily three and four years).
The shorter amortization period will have the effect of increasing compensation expense in fiscal 2006. In
addition, fiscal 2006 compensation expense will include the amortization of fiscal 2003, fiscal 2004 and fiscal
2005 equity-based awards.

For stock-based awards issued prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company’s accounting policy for
such awards granted to retirement-eligible employees was to recognize compensation cost over the service period
specified in the award terms. The Company accelerates any unrecognized compensation cost if and when a
retirement-eligible employee leaves the Company. For stock-based awards made to retirement-eligible
employees after the adoption of SFAS No. 123R on December 1, 2004, the Company’s accounting policy is to
treat such awards as fully vested on the date of grant, unless other provisions of the award terms operate as
substantive service conditions. For awards granted to retirement-eligible employees during fiscal 2005, the
Company recognized compensation expense for such awards on the date of grant. The Company modified certain
terms of the fiscal 2005 year-end awards, which were granted in December 2005. As a result of such changes, the
Company is in the process of evaluating the accounting treatment for fiscal 2005 year-end awards that were
granted to retirement-eligible employees. If it is determined that the compensation expense for such awards
should be recognized at the date of grant instead of over the relevant service period, incremental compensation
expense of approximately $300 million will be recognized in the first quarter of fiscal 2006.

Translation of Foreign Currencies. Assets and liabilities of operations having non-U.S. dollar functional
currencies are translated at year-end rates of exchange, and income statement accounts are translated at weighted
average rates of exchange for the year. In accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation,” gains
or losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial statements, net of hedge gains or losses and related
tax effects, are reflected in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a separate component of
Shareholders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in net income.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” does not permit the
amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived assets. Instead, these assets must be reviewed annually (or more
frequently under certain conditions) for impairment. Other intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives.

Investments in Unconsolidated Investees. The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own
synthetic fuel production plants. The Company accounts for these investments under the equity method. The
Company’s share of the operating losses generated by these investments is recorded within Losses from
unconsolidated investees, and the tax credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses are
recorded within the Provision for income taxes.

Deferred Compensation Arrangements. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”)
Issue No. 97-14, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation Arrangements Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a
Rabbi Trust and Invested,” assets of rabbi trusts are to be consolidated with those of the employer, and the value
of the employer’s stock held in rabbi trusts should be classified in Shareholders’ equity and generally accounted
for in a manner similar to treasury stock. The Company, therefore, has included its obligations under certain
deferred compensation plans in Employee stock trust. Shares that the Company has issued to its rabbi trusts are
recorded in Common stock issued to employee trust. Both Employee stock trust and Common stock issued to
employee trust are components of Shareholders’ equity. The Company recognizes the original amount of
deferred compensation (fair value of the deferred stock award at the date of grant—see Note 14) as the basis for
recognition in Employee stock trust and Common stock issued to employee trust. Consistent with EITF
Issue No. 97-14, changes in the fair value of amounts owed to employees are not recognized, as the Company’s
deferred compensation plans do not permit diversification and must be settled by the delivery of a fixed number
of shares of the Company’s common stock.

Software Costs. In accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position
98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” certain costs
incurred in connection with internal-use software projects are capitalized and amortized over the expected useful
life of the asset.

3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

During fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the Company completed the annual goodwill impairment test (as
of December 1 in each fiscal year) that is required by SFAS No. 142. The Company’s testing did not indicate any
goodwill impairment.
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Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill and intangible assets for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004
were as follows:

Institutional Retail Asset
Securities Brokerage Management Discover(1) Total

(dollars in millions)

Goodwill:

Balance as of November 30,2003 ... ............ $ 6 $542 $966 $— $1,514

Translation adjustments . .. ..................... — 41 — — 41

Goodwill acquired during the year ............... 313 — — — 313

Balance as of November 30,2004 ............... 319 583 966 — 1,868

Translation adjustments . . ...................... — 43) — — 43)
Goodwill acquired during the year and other(2) .. ... 125 — — 256 381

Balance as of November 30,2005 ............... $444 $540 $966 $256 $2,206

Intangible assets:

Balance as of November 30,2003 ............... $ 9 $— $— $— $ 9

Intangible assets acquired ...................... 350 — — — 350

AmOrtization eXpense . ..............euenenn... (28) — — — (28)
Balance as of November 30,2004 ... ............ 331 — — — 331

Intangible assets sold(3) ............ ... .. ..... (75) — — — (75)
Intangible assets acquired ...................... — — — 73 73

AmOrtization Xpense . ... .......c..oueninenn... (29) — — (6) (35)
Balance as of November 30,2005 ............... $227 $— $— $ 67 $ 294

(1) Amounts represent goodwill and intangible assets acquired in connection with the Company’s acquisition of PULSE (see Note 23).

(2) Institutional Securities activity includes adjustments to goodwill related to the sale of the Company’s interest in POSIT (see Note 23) and
for the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Barra, Inc. (“Barra”).

(3) Amount is related to the sale of the Company’s interest in POSIT (see Note 23).

Acquired intangible assets, which are included in the Institutional Securities and Discover business segments,
were as follows:

At November 30, 2005 At November 30, 2004
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

(dollars in millions)
Amortizable intangible assets:

Trademarks ............................. $105 $7 $102 $2

Technology-related ....................... 147 37 222 16

Customer relationships . ................... 96 11 26

Other ....... .. .. i 9 8 8
Total amortizable intangible assets . . ... $357 $63 $359 $28

Amortization expense associated with intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisitions of PULSE
and Barra is estimated to be approximately $30 million per year over the next five fiscal years.

For additional information on goodwill and intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisitions of
PULSE and Barra, see Note 23.
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4. Collateralized and Securitization Transactions.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repurchase agreements”) and Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase (“repurchase agreements”), principally government and agency securities, are carried at
the amounts at which the securities subsequently will be resold or reacquired as specified in the respective
agreements; such amounts include accrued interest. Reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements
are presented on a net-by-counterparty basis, when appropriate. The Company’s policy is to take possession of
securities purchased under agreements to resell. Securities borrowed and Securities loaned are carried at the
amounts of cash collateral advanced and received in connection with the transactions. Other secured financings
include the liabilities related to transfers of financial assets that are accounted for as financings rather than sales,
consolidated variable interest entities where the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary and certain
equity-referenced securities where in all instances these liabilities are payable solely from the cash flows of the
related assets accounted for as Financial instruments owned.

The Company pledges its financial instruments owned to collateralize repurchase agreements and other securities
financings. Pledged securities that can be sold or repledged by the secured party are identified as Financial
instruments owned (pledged to various parties) on the consolidated statements of financial condition. The
carrying value and classification of securities owned by the Company that have been loaned or pledged to
counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge the collateral were as follows:

At At
November 30, November 30,
2005 2004

(dollars in millions)

Financial instruments owned:

U.S. government and agency Securities .......................... $12,494 $ 6,283
Other sovereign government obligations ......................... 328 249
Corporate and otherdebt . ....... .. ... ... ... . . i 21,775 15,564
Corporate EqUILIES . .. oot vttt et 5,290 2,754

Total ..o $39,887 $24,850

The Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and
securities loaned transactions to, among other things, acquire securities to cover short positions and settle other
securities obligations, to accommodate customers’ needs and to finance the Company’s inventory positions. The
Company also engages in securities financing transactions for customers through margin lending. Under these
agreements and transactions, the Company either receives or provides collateral, including U.S. government and
agency securities, other sovereign government obligations, corporate and other debt, and corporate equities. The
Company receives collateral in the form of securities in connection with reverse repurchase agreements,
securities borrowed transactions and customer margin loans. In many cases, the Company is permitted to sell or
repledge these securities held as collateral and use the securities to secure repurchase agreements, to enter into
securities lending transactions or for delivery to counterparties to cover short positions. At November 30, 2005
and November 30, 2004, the fair value of securities received as collateral where the Company is permitted to sell
or repledge the securities was $798 billion and $750 billion, respectively, and the fair value of the portion that
has been sold or repledged was $737 billion and $679 billion, respectively.

The Company manages credit exposure arising from reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements,
securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions by, in appropriate circumstances, entering into master
netting agreements and collateral arrangements with counterparties that provide the Company, in the event of a
customer default, the right to liquidate collateral and the right to offset a counterparty’s rights and obligations.
The Company also monitors the fair value of the underlying securities as compared with the related receivable or
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payable, including accrued interest, and, as necessary, requests additional collateral to ensure such transactions
are adequately collateralized. Where deemed appropriate, the Company’s agreements with third parties specify
its rights to request additional collateral. Customer receivables generated from margin lending activity are
collateralized by customer-owned securities held by the Company. For these transactions, adherence to the
Company’s collateral policies significantly limits the Company’s credit exposure in the event of customer
default. The Company may request additional margin collateral from customers, if appropriate, and if necessary
may sell securities that have not been paid for or purchase securities sold, but not delivered from customers.

In connection with its Institutional Securities business, the Company engages in securitization activities related to
residential and commercial mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bonds
and loans, and other types of financial assets. These assets are carried at fair value, and any changes in fair value
are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. The Company may act as underwriter of the beneficial
interests issued by securitization vehicles. Underwriting net revenues are recognized in connection with these
transactions. The Company may retain interests in the securitized financial assets as one or more tranches of the
securitization. These retained interests are included in the consolidated statements of financial condition at fair
value. Any changes in the fair value of such retained interests are recognized in the consolidated statements of
income. Retained interests in securitized financial assets associated with the Institutional Securities business were
approximately $3.6 billion at November 30, 2005, the majority of which were related to residential mortgage
loan, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligation and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions.
Net gains at the time of securitization were not material in fiscal 2005. The assumptions that the Company used
to determine the fair value of its retained interests at the time of securitization related to those transactions that
occurred during fiscal 2005 were not materially different from the assumptions included in the table below.
Additionally, as indicated in the table below, the Company’s exposure to credit losses related to these retained
interests was not material to the Company’s results of operations.

The following table presents information on the Company’s residential mortgage loan, U.S. agency collateralized
mortgage obligation and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions. Key economic assumptions and
the sensitivity of the current fair value of the retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in
those assumptions at November 30, 2005 were as follows (dollars in millions):

U.S. Agency
Residential Collateralized Commercial
Mortgage Mortgage Mortgage
_ Loans _Obligations _ Loans
Retained interests (carrying amount/fair value) .......... $ 2,384 $ 811 $ 279
Weighted average life (inmonths) .................... 49 94 110
Credit losses (rate perannum) .. ............ovuennnn.. 0.00-4.00% — 0.00-5.23%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ........ $ (73) $ — $ 2)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ........ $ (138) $ — $ 4
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum) . .. ...... 8.51% 5.47% 6.51%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ........ $ (47) $ (24) $ (10)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ........ $ (92) $ (47) $ 21
Prepayment speed assumption(1)(2) ................... 236-2833PSA 142-321PSA —
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ........ $ (36) $ 3) $ —
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ........ $ (45) $ %) $ —

(1) Amounts for residential mortgage loans exclude positive valuation effects from immediate 10% and 20% changes.
(2) Commercial mortgage loans typically contain provisions that either prohibit or economically penalize the borrower from prepaying the
loan for a specified period of time.

The table above does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company may utilize
to hedge risks inherent in its retained interests. In addition, the sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be
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used with caution. Changes in fair value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be
extrapolated because the relationship of the change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be
linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the retained interests is
calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in
changes in another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does
not consider any corrective action that the Company may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in
the key assumptions.

In connection with its Institutional Securities business, during fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the
Company received proceeds from new securitization transactions of $65 billion, $72 billion and $70 billion,
respectively, and cash flows from retained interests in securitization transactions of $7.1 billion, $6.1 billion and
$4.3 billion, respectively.

5. Consumer Loans.

Consumer loans were as follows:

At At
November 30, November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
General purpose credit card, mortgage and consumer installment ............... $23,754 $21,169
Less:

Allowance for consumer loan [0sses .. ........... .. oo, 838 943
Consumer 10ans, NEE . .. ..ottt e e e $22916 $20,226
Activity in the allowance for consumer loan losses was as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Balance at beginning of period . . ... i $ 943 $1,002 $ 928
Additions:

Provision for consumer loan 10SSES . . ... ... 878 926 1,266
Deductions:

Charge-offs . . . ... o 1,145 1,120 1,304

ReECOVEIIES . ... i (162)  (135) (112)
Net charge-offs . . ... o 983 985 1,192
Balance atend of period . ... ... ... $ 838 $ 943 $1,002

Information on net charge-offs of interest and cardmember fees was as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Interest accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, net of
recoveries (recorded as a reduction of Interest revenue) .......................... $227 $233  $269

Cardmember fees accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off,
net of recoveries (recorded as a reduction to Merchant, cardmember and other fee
TEVEIUC) . . ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $122 $145 $176
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At November 30, 2005, the Company had commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately
$255 billion. Such commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on
certain credit cards, provided there is no violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These
commitments, substantially all of which the Company can terminate at any time and which do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account usage and customer
creditworthiness.

At November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, $4,960 million and $4,312 million, respectively, of the
Company’s consumer loans had minimum contractual maturities of less than one year. Because of the uncertainty
regarding consumer loan repayment patterns, which historically have been higher than contractually required
minimum payments, this amount may not necessarily be indicative of the Company’s actual consumer loan
repayments.

The Company received net proceeds from consumer loan sales of $10,525 million, $7,590 million and $10,864
million in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively.

At November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, $4.0 billion and $2.6 billion, respectively, of the Company’s
consumer loans were classified as held for sale.

The Company’s U.S. consumer loan portfolio, including securitized loans, is geographically diverse, with a
distribution approximating that of the population of the U.S.

Credit Card Securitization Activities. The Company’s retained interests in credit card asset securitizations
include undivided seller’s interests, accrued interest receivable on securitized credit card receivables, cash
collateral accounts, servicing rights, rights to any excess cash flows (“Residual Interests”) remaining after
payments to investors in the securitization trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit
losses, and other retained interests. The undivided seller’s interests less an applicable allowance for loan losses is
recorded in Consumer loans. The Company’s undivided seller’s interests rank pari passu with investors’ interests
in the securitization trusts, and the remaining retained interests are subordinate to investors’ interests. Accrued
interest receivable and certain other subordinated retained interests are recorded in Other assets at amounts that
approximate fair value. The Company receives annual servicing fees of 2% of the investor principal balance
outstanding. The Company does not recognize servicing assets or servicing liabilities for servicing rights since
the servicing contracts provide just adequate compensation (as defined in SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”) to the Company for performing
the servicing. Residual Interests and cash collateral accounts are recorded in Other assets and reflected at fair
value with changes in fair value recorded currently in earnings. At November 30, 2005, the Company had $13.7
billion of retained interests, including $10.9 billion of undivided seller’s interests, in credit card asset
securitizations. The retained interests are subject to credit, payment and interest rate risks on the transferred
credit card assets. The investors and the securitization trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other assets for
failure of cardmembers to pay when due.

During fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, the Company completed credit card asset securitizations of $7.2 billion and
$3.7 billion, respectively, and recognized net securitization losses of $78 million and $8 million, respectively, as
servicing and securitization income in the consolidated statements of income. The uncollected balances of
securitized general purpose credit card loans were $24.4 billion and $28.5 billion at November 30, 2005 and
November 30, 2004, respectively.
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Key economic assumptions used in measuring the Residual Interests at the date of securitization resulting from
credit card asset securitizations completed during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 were as follows:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004
Weighted average life (inmonths) . .................. 4.1-5.9 5.9-6.1
Payment rate (rate permonth) ...................... 18.52-21.14%  17.79-18.35%
Credit losses (rate per annum) .. ............c........ 5.60-6.00% 4.89-6.90%
Discount rate (rate per annum) . .................... 11.00-12.00%  12.00-14.00%

Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the Residual Interests to immediate
10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions were as follows (dollars in millions):

At
November 30,
2005
Residual Interests (carrying amount/fair value) ........................ $ 183
Weighted average life (inmonths) ......... ... .. ... ... .. ... ..., 4.3
Weighted average payment rate (rate permonth) . ...................... 21.12%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ...................... $ (19
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ...................... $ (35
Weighted average credit losses (rate per annum) . ...................... 5.99%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ...................... $ (39
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ...................... $ (7
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum) . .. .. .................. 11.00%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ...................... $ )
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ...................... $ @

The sensitivity analysis in the table above is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value
based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of
the change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a
particular assumption on the fair value of the Residual Interests is calculated independent of changes in any other
assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in another (for example, increases in market
interest rates may result in lower payments and increased credit losses), which might magnify or counteract the
sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any corrective action that the Company may
take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.

The table below summarizes certain cash flows received from the securitization master trusts (dollars in billions):

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Proceeds from new credit card asset securitizations ..................... $ 72 $ 3.7 $ 57
Proceeds from collections reinvested in previous credit card asset

SECUMIHZALIONS . .. ottt et e et e e e e e e e e e e $54.9 $61.6 $60.3
Contractual servicing feesreceived . ...........ooviiiiiiieeeeee.... $ 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 0.6
Cash flows received from retained interests ....................uov.o... $ 23 $ 1.8 $ 1.7
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The table below presents quantitative information about delinquencies, net principal credit losses and
components of managed general purpose credit card loans, including securitized loans (dollars in millions):

At November 30, 2005 Fiscal 2005
Net
Principal
Loans Loans Average Credit
Outstanding  Delinquent Loans Losses
Managed general purpose credit card loans . ................. $46,936 $1,867 $47,330 $2,476
Less: Securitized general purpose credit card loans ............ 24,440
Owned general purpose credit card loans .................... $22,496
6. Deposits.
Deposits were as follows:
At At
November 30, November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
Demand, passbook and money market accounts . .................. $ 2,629 $ 1,117
Consumer certificate aCCoUNtS . . . ...ttt ettt 1,826 1,021
$100,000 minimum certificate accounts . ........................ 14,208 11,639
Total ... $18,663 $13,777

The weighted average interest rates of interest-bearing deposits outstanding during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004

were 4.1% and 4.5%, respectively.

At November 30, 2005, interest-bearing deposits maturing over the next five years were as follows:

Fiscal Year (dollars in millions)
2000 e $11,418
2007 3,697
2008 1,373
2000 635
2000 709

7. Short-Term Borrowings.

The table below summarizes certain information regarding short-term borrowings for the fiscal years 2005 and

2004 (dollars in millions):

At November 30,

2005 2004
Commercial paper:
Balance at year-end . . .. ... ... $23,209  $28,543
Average amount outstanding . . ... ... ... $28,270  $22,781
Weighted average interest rate on year-end balance .. ......... ... ... ... .. ... ..... 33% 2.1%
Other short-term borrowings(1):
Balance at year-end . ... ... ... $ 7911 $ 7,760
Average amount outstanding . . .. ... ... ... $ 9,100 $ 7,625

(1) These borrowings included bank loans, Federal Funds and bank notes.
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The Company, through one of its subsidiaries, maintains several funded committed credit facilities to support the
collateralized commercial and residential mortgage whole loan business. Lenders to these facilities provided an
aggregate of $18.2 billion in financing at November 30, 2005.

The Company maintains a senior revolving credit agreement with a group of banks to support general liquidity
needs, including the issuance of commercial paper, which consists of two separate tranches: a U.S. dollar tranche
with the Company as borrower and a Japanese yen tranche with MSJL as borrower and the Company as
guarantor. Under this combined facility (the “MS-MSJL Facility”), the banks are committed to provide up to
$5.5 billion under the U.S. dollar tranche and 70 billion Japanese yen under the Japanese yen tranche. At
November 30, 2005, the Company had a $10.8 billion consolidated stockholders’ equity surplus as compared
with the MS-MSJL Facility’s covenant requirement.

The Company maintains a master collateral facility that enables MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-
dealer subsidiaries, to pledge certain collateral to secure loan arrangements, letters of credit and other financial
accommodations (the “MS&Co. Facility”). As part of the MS&Co. Facility, MS&Co. also maintains a secured
committed credit agreement with a group of banks that are parties to the master collateral facility under which
such banks are committed to provide up to $1.8 billion. At November 30, 2005, MS&Co. had a $2.6 billion
surplus consolidated stockholders’ equity and a $0.1 billion surplus Net Capital as defined in the MS&Co.
Facility and each as compared with the MS&Co. Facility’s covenant requirements.

The Company also maintains a revolving credit facility that enables MSIL, the Company’s London-based broker-
dealer subsidiary, to obtain committed funding from a syndicate of banks (the “MSIL Facility”) by providing a
broad range of collateral under repurchase agreements for a secured repo facility and a Company guarantee for an
unsecured facility. The syndicate of banks is committed to provide up to an aggregate of $1.5 billion, available in
six major currencies. At November 30, 2005, MSIL had a $3.0 billion surplus Shareholders’ Funds and a $2.9
billion surplus Financial Resources under U.K. GAAP (each as determined in accordance with the MSIL
Facility) as compared with the MSIL Facility’s covenant requirements.

The Company anticipates that it may utilize the MS-MSJL Facility, the MS&Co. Facility or the MSIL Facility
(the “Credit Facilities”) for short-term funding from time to time. The Company does not believe that any of the
covenant requirements in any of its Credit Facilities will impair its ability to obtain funding under the Credit
Facilities, to pay its current level of dividends, or to obtain loan arrangements, letters of credit or other financial
accommodations. At November 30, 2005, no borrowings were outstanding under any of the Credit Facilities.

The Company and its subsidiaries also maintain certain committed bilateral credit facilities to support general
liquidity needs. These facilities are expected to be drawn from time to time to cover short-term funding needs.

129 Morgan Stanley



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

8. Long-Term Borrowings.

Maturities and Terms. Long-term borrowings at fiscal year-end consisted of the following:

U.S. Dollar Non-U.S. Dollar(1) At November 30,
Index/ Index/
Fixed Floating  Equity Fixed Floating  Equity 2005 2004
Rate Rate(2) Linked Rate Rate(2) Linked Total(3) Total(3)
(dollars in millions)
Due in fiscal 2005 ......... $  — $ — $ — %5 — $ — $ — % — $12]764
Due in fiscal 2006 ......... 3,861 3,884 1,495 2,680 1,324 578 13,822 22,114
Due in fiscal 2007 ......... 3,771 22,049 896 516 2,754 322 30,308 11,169
Due in fiscal 2008 ......... 1,547 3,887 1,658 1,124 2,194 380 10,790 6,394
Due in fiscal 2009 ......... 1,869 1,128 498 2,741 260 1,094 7,590 8,472
Due in fiscal 2010 ......... 3,500 1,377 915 1,772 1,265 1,117 9,946 9,792
Thereafter ............... 20,970 2,031 3,201 7,839 2,678 1,290 38,009 24,581
Total ............... $35,518 $34,356 $8,663 $16,672 $10,475 $4,781 $110,465 $95,286
Weighted average coupon at
fiscal year-end .......... 5.6% 43% nla 4.0% 2.8%  nla 4.6% 4.2%

(1) Weighted average coupon was calculated utilizing non-U.S. dollar interest rates.

(2) U.S. dollar contractual floating rate borrowings bear interest based on a variety of money market indices, including London Interbank
Offered Rates (“LIBOR”) and Federal Funds rates. Non-U.S. dollar contractual floating rate borrowings bear interest based primarily on
Euribor floating rates.

(3) Amounts include a decrease of approximately $324 million at November 30, 2005 and an increase of approximately $846 million at
November 30, 2004 to the carrying amount of certain of the Company’s long-term borrowings associated with fair value hedges under
SFAS No. 133.

The Company’s long-term borrowings included the following components:

At November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
Senior debt . . ... $103,694 $88,275
Subordinated debt . ... ... 4,007 4,114
Junior subordinated debentures . . .. ... 2,764 2,897
Total .. $110,465 $95,286

Senior debt securities often are denominated in various non-U.S. dollar currencies and may be structured to
provide a return that is equity-linked, credit-linked or linked to some other index (e.g., the consumer price index).
Senior debt also may be structured to be callable by the Company or extendible at the option of holders of the
senior debt securities. Debt containing provisions which effectively allow the holders to put or extend the notes
aggregated $16,018 million at November 30, 2005 and $15,138 million at November 30, 2004. Subordinated
debt and junior subordinated debentures typically are issued to meet the capital requirements of the Company or
its regulated subsidiaries and primarily are U.S. dollar denominated.

Senior Debt—Structured Borrowings. The Company’s index/equity-linked borrowings include various
structured instruments whose payments and redemption values are linked to the performance of a specific index
(e.g., Standard & Poor’s 500), a basket of stocks, a specific equity security, a credit exposure or basket of credit
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exposures. To minimize the exposure resulting from movements in the underlying equity, credit, or other position
or index, the Company has entered into various swap contracts and purchased options that effectively convert the
borrowing costs into floating rates based upon LIBOR. These instruments are included in the preceding table at
their redemption values based on the performance of the underlying indices, baskets of stocks or specific equity
securities, credit or other position or index. The Company accounts for its structured borrowings as having
embedded derivatives. The changes in the fair value of the embedded derivatives in the Company’s structured
borrowings are included in Principal transactions trading revenues. The swaps and purchased options are
derivatives and are accounted for at fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 133 with changes in fair value also
included in Principal transaction trading revenues.

Subordinated Debt and Junior Subordinated Debentures. Included in the Company’s long-term borrowings
are subordinated notes (including the notes issued by MS&Co. discussed below) of $4,007 million having a
contractual weighted average coupon of 4.86% at November 30, 2005 and $4,114 million having a weighted
average coupon of 4.87% at November 30, 2004. Junior subordinated debentures issued by the Company were
$2,764 million at November 30, 2005 and $2,897 million at November 30, 2004 having a contractual weighted
average coupon of 6.45% at both November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004. Maturities of the subordinated
and junior subordinated notes range from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2033. Maturities of certain junior subordinated
debentures can be extended to 2052 at the Company’s option.

At November 30, 2005, MS&Co. had $82 million of 7.28% fixed rate subordinated Series E notes and $25
million of 7.82% fixed rate subordinated Series F notes. These notes had maturities from fiscal 2006 to fiscal
2016. The terms of such notes contain restrictive covenants that require, among other things, that MS&Co.
maintain specified levels of Consolidated Tangible Net Worth and Net Capital, each as defined.

Asset and Liability Management. In general, securities inventories not financed by secured funding sources
and the majority of current assets are financed with a combination of short-term funding, floating rate long-term
debt or fixed rate long-term debt swapped to a floating rate. Fixed assets are financed with fixed rate long-term
debt. Both fixed rate long-term debt and floating rate long-term debt (in addition to sources of funds accessed
directly by the Company’s Discover business) are used to finance the Company’s consumer loan portfolio. The
Company uses interest rate swaps to more closely match these borrowings to the duration, holding period and
interest rate characteristics of the assets being funded and to manage interest rate risk. These swaps effectively
convert certain of the Company’s fixed rate borrowings into floating rate obligations. In addition, for non-U.S.
dollar currency borrowings that are not used to fund assets in the same currency, the Company has entered into
currency swaps that effectively convert the borrowings into U.S. dollar obligations. The Company’s use of swaps
for asset and liability management affected its effective average borrowing rate as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003

Weighted average coupon of long-term borrowings at fiscal year-end(1) ............... 4.6% 4.2% 4.6%

Effective average borrowing rate for long-term borrowings after swaps at fiscal
year-end( 1) . ... 41% 2.9% 24%

(1) Included in the weighted average and effective average calculations are non-U.S. dollar interest rates.

Cash paid for interest for the Company’s borrowings and deposits approximated the related interest expense in
fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003.

131 Morgan Stanley



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Subsequent to fiscal year-end and through January 31, 2006, the Company’s long-term borrowings (net of
repayments) increased by approximately $6 billion.

9. Commitments and Contingencies.

Office Facilities. The Company has non-cancelable operating leases covering office space and equipment. At
November 30, 2005, future minimum rental commitments under such leases (net of subleases, principally on
office rentals) were as follows:

Fiscal Year (dollars in millions)
2000 . $ 438
2007 o 420
2008 L 399
2000 L 341
2000 L 264
Thereafter . .. ... e 1,718

Occupancy lease agreements, in addition to base rentals, generally provide for rent and operating expense
escalations resulting from increased assessments for real estate taxes and other charges. Total rent expense, net of
sublease rental income, was $595 million, $444 million and $437 million in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal
2003, respectively. The net rent expense for fiscal 2005 includes $109 million related to the lease adjustment
charge recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 (see Note 25).

Letters of Credit. At November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, the Company had approximately $6.9 billion
and $8.5 billion, respectively, of letters of credit outstanding to satisfy various collateral requirements.

Securities Activities. In connection with certain of its Institutional Securities business activities, the Company
provides loans or lending commitments (including bridge financing) to selected clients. The borrowers may be
rated investment grade or non-investment grade. These loans and commitments have varying terms, may be
senior or subordinated, are generally contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions
applicable to the borrower, and may be syndicated or traded by the Company.

The aggregate value of the investment grade and non-investment grade lending commitments are shown below:

At At
November 30, November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
Investment grade lending commitments . .................vuitiiriinnann.... $23,968 $18,989
Non-investment grade lending commitments .. ..............ouiuinenennen .. 13,066 1,409
Total . $37,034 $20,398

Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased include obligations of the Company to deliver specified financial
instruments at contracted prices, thereby creating commitments to purchase the financial instruments in the
market at prevailing prices. Consequently, the Company’s ultimate obligation to satisfy the sale of financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased may exceed the amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of
financial condition.
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The Company has commitments to fund other less liquid investments, including at November 30, 2005, $556
million in connection with principal investment and private equity activities. Additionally, the Company has
provided and will continue to provide financing, including margin lending and other extensions of credit, to
clients that may subject the Company to increased credit and liquidity risks.

At November 30, 2005, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase
agreements of approximately $90 billion and $57 billion, respectively.

Legal. In the normal course of business, the Company has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in
various legal actions, including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with its
activities as a global diversified financial services institution. Certain of the actual or threatened legal actions
include claims for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of
damages. In some cases, the issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in such cases are bankrupt or
in financial distress. The Company is also involved, from time to time, in other reviews, investigations and
proceedings (both formal and informal) by governmental and self-regulatory agencies regarding the Company’s
business, including, among other matters, accounting and operational matters, certain of which may result in
adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. The number of reviews,
investigations and proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms in the financial services
industry, including the Company.

The Company contests liability and/or the amount of damages in each pending matter. In view of the inherent
difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases where claimants seek substantial or
indeterminate damages or where investigations and proceedings are in the early stages, the Company cannot
predict with certainty the loss or range of loss, if any, related to such matters, how such matters will be resolved,
when they will ultimately be resolved, or what the eventual settlement, fine, penalty or other relief, if any, might
be. Subject to the foregoing, and except for the pending matters described in the paragraphs below, the Company
believes, based on current knowledge and after consultation with counsel, that the outcome of the pending
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company, although
the outcome of such matters could be material to the Company’s operating results for a particular future period,
depending on, among other things, the level of the Company’s revenues or income for such period. Legal
reserves have been established in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” Once
established, reserves are adjusted when there is more information available or when an event occurs requiring a
change.

Parmalat. On July 18, 2005, the Italian government approved the settlement agreement that the Company and
its subsidiaries, Morgan Stanley & Co. International Ltd. and Morgan Stanley Bank International Ltd., had
entered into with the administrator of Parmalat pursuant to which the Company agreed to pay €155 million to
Parmalat as part of a settlement of all existing and potential claims between the Company and Parmalat.

Coleman Litigation. On May 8, 2003, Coleman (Parent) Holdings Inc. (“CPH”) filed a complaint against the
Company in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit for Palm Beach County. The complaint relates to
the merger between The Coleman Company, Inc. (“Coleman”) and Sunbeam, Inc. (“Sunbeam”) in 1998. The
complaint, as amended, alleges that CPH was induced to agree to the transaction with Sunbeam based on certain
financial misrepresentations, and it asserts claims against the Company for aiding and abetting fraud, conspiracy
and punitive damages. Shortly before trial, which commenced in April 2005, the trial court granted, in part, a
motion for entry of a default judgment against the Company and ordered that portions of CPH’s complaint,
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including those setting forth CPH’s primary allegations against the Company, be read to the jury and deemed
established for all purposes in the action. In May 2005, the jury returned a verdict in favor of CPH and awarded
CPH $604 million in compensatory damages and $850 million in punitive damages. On June 23, 2005, the trial
court issued a final judgment in favor of CPH in the amount of $1,578 million, which includes prejudgment
interest and excludes certain payments received by CPH in settlement of related claims against others. On
June 27, 2005, the Company filed a notice of appeal with the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District of
Florida and posted a supersedeas bond, which automatically stayed execution of the judgment pending appeal.
Included in cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and other
regulations or requirements in the consolidated statement of financial condition is $1,863 million of commercial
paper and other securities which have been pledged to obtain the bond which was posted in this matter. The
Company filed its initial brief in support of its appeal on December 7, 2005. The Company’s appeal seeks to
reverse the judgment of the trial court on several grounds and asks that the case be remanded for entry of a
judgment in favor of the Company or, in the alternative, for a new trial.

The Company believes, after consultation with outside counsel, that it is probable that the compensatory and
punitive damages awards will be overturned on appeal and the case remanded for a new trial. Taking into account
the advice of outside counsel, the Company is maintaining a reserve of $360 million for the Coleman litigation,
which it believes to be a reasonable estimate, under SFAS No. 5, of the low end of the range of its probable
exposure in the event the judgment is overturned and the case remanded for a new trial. If the compensatory and/
or punitive awards are ultimately upheld on appeal, in whole or in part, the Company may incur an additional
expense equal to the difference between the amount affirmed on appeal (and post-judgment interest thereon) and
the amount of the reserve. While the Company cannot predict with certainty the amount of such additional
expense, such additional expense could have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition of
the Company and/or the Company’s or Institutional Securities operating results for a particular future period, and
the upper end of the range could exceed $1.2 billion.

IPO Allocation Matters. In connection with the Company’s role as either lead or co-lead underwriter in several
initial public offerings (“IPO”), the Company has been exposed to both regulatory and civil proceedings. On
January 25, 2005, the Company announced a settlement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) regarding allegations that it violated Rule 101 of Regulation M by attempting to induce certain customers
that received shares in IPOs to place purchase orders for additional shares in the aftermarket. Under the terms of
the settlement, the Company agreed, without admitting or denying the allegations, to the entry of a judgment
enjoining it from violating Rule 101 of Regulation M and the payment of a $40 million civil penalty. The court
approved the settlement on February 4, 2005.

In addition to the above mentioned regulatory matter with the SEC, numerous purported class actions have been
filed against certain issuers of IPO securities, certain individual officers of those issuers, the Company and other
underwriters of those IPOs, purportedly on behalf of purchasers of stock in the IPOs or the aftermarket. These
complaints allege that the Company required customers that wanted allocations of “hot” IPO securities to pay
undisclosed and excessive underwriters’ compensation in the form of increased brokerage commissions and to
buy shares of securities offered in the IPOs after the IPOs were completed at escalating price levels higher than
the IPO price (a practice plaintiffs refer to as “laddering”). Some of the complaints also allege that continuous
“buy” recommendations by the defendants’ research analysts improperly increased or sustained the prices at
which the securities traded after the IPOs.
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10. Earnings per Share.

Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive
securities. The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted EPS (in millions, except for per share
data):

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Basic EPS:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
accounting change, Net. . ..........oiuuieiineeineennnennn.. $5,192 $4,589 $4,020
Loss on discontinued operations, Net . . ..............ovuenennen... (302) (103) (233)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ...................... 49 — —
Net income applicable to common shareholders ... ................. $4,939 $4,486 $3,787
Weighted average common shares outstanding . . ................... 1,050 1,080 1,077

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of

accounting change, net............ ...t eiiinennnnennn.. $ 4.94 $ 4.25 $ 3.74

Loss on discontinued operations, Nt . . ... .........ouuenenennen... (0.29) (0.10) (0.22)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ...................... 0.05 — —

Basic EPS . ... $ 4.70 $ 4.15 $ 3.52

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Diluted EPS:
Net income applicable to common shareholders .. .................. $4,939 $4.486 $3,787
Weighted average common shares outstanding . .. .................. 1,050 1,080 1,077
Effect of dilutive securities:
StOCK OPHONS . ..ot 30 25 21
Convertibledebt . . ... ... . . — — 1
Weighted average common shares outstanding and common stock
CQUIVALENLS . . ..o 1,080 1,105 1,099

Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of

accounting change, net . .......... ..o uuiiiieei. $ 4.81 $ 4.15 $ 3.66

Loss on discontinued operations, Net . . ..............ovuuuennen... (0.29) (0.09) (0.21)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ...................... 0.05 — —

Diluted EPS . . .. o $ 4.57 $ 4.06 $ 3.45
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The following securities were considered antidilutive and therefore were excluded from the computation of
diluted EPS:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003
(shares in millions)

Number of antidilutive securities (including stock options and restricted stock
units) outstanding at end of period . ........ ... ... ... ., 93 95 60

11. Sales and Trading Activities.

The Company’s institutional sales and trading activities are conducted through the integrated management of its
client-driven and proprietary transactions along with the hedging and financing of these positions. Sales and
trading activities include revenues from customers purchases and sales of financial instruments in which the
Company acts as principal and gains and losses on the Company’s positions. The Company also engages in
proprietary trading activities for its own account.

The Company’s trading portfolios are managed with a view toward the risk and profitability of the portfolios.
The following discussions of risk management, market risk, credit risk, concentration risk and customer activities
relate to the Company’s sales and trading activities.

Risk Management. The cornerstone of the Company’s risk management philosophy is protection of the
Company’s franchise, reputation and financial standing. The Company’s risk management philosophy is based
on the following principles: comprehensiveness, independence, accountability, defined risk tolerance and
transparency. Given the importance of effective risk management to the Company’s reputation, senior
management requires thorough and frequent communication and appropriate escalation of risk matters.

Risk management at the Company requires independent Company-level oversight, accountability of the
Company’s business segments, constant communication, judgment, and knowledge of specialized products and
markets. The Company’s senior management takes an active role in the identification, assessment and
management of various risks at both the Company and business segment level. In recognition of the increasingly
varied and complex nature of the global financial services business, the Company’s risk management philosophy,
with its attendant policies, procedures and methodologies, is evolutionary in nature and subject to ongoing
review and modification.

The nature of the Company’s risks, coupled with this risk management philosophy, informs the Company’s risk
governance structure. The Company’s risk governance structure includes the Firm Risk Committee and the
Capital Structure and Strategic Transactions Committee, the Chief Risk Officer, the Internal Audit Department,
independent control groups and various risk control managers, committees and groups located within the
business segments.

The Firm Risk Committee, composed of the Company’s most senior officers, oversees the Company’s risk
management structure. The Firm Risk Committee’s responsibilities include oversight of the Company’s risk
management principles, procedures and limits, and the monitoring of material financial, operational and franchise
risks. The Firm Risk Committee is overseen by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit
Committee”). The Capital Structure and Strategic Transactions Committee (the “Capital Committee”) reviews
strategic transactions for the Company and significant changes to the Company’s capital structure. The Capital
Committee’s responsibilities include reviewing measures of capital and evaluating capital resources relative to
the Company’s risk profile and strategy.
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The Chief Risk Officer, a member of the Firm Risk Committee, oversees compliance with Company risk limits;
approves certain excessions of Company risk limits; reviews material market and credit risks; and reviews results
of risk management processes with the Audit Committee.

The Internal Audit Department provides independent risk and control assessment and reports to the Audit
Committee and administratively to the Chief Legal Officer. The Internal Audit Department periodically examines
the Company’s operational and control environment and conducts audits designed to cover all major risk
categories.

The Market Risk, Credit Risk, Operational Risk, Financial Control, Treasury and Law Departments (collectively,
the “Company Control Groups”), which are all independent of the Company’s business units, assist senior
management and the Firm Risk Committee in monitoring and controlling the Company’s risk through a number
of control processes. The Company is committed to employing qualified personnel with appropriate expertise in
each of its various administrative and business areas to implement effectively the Company’s risk management
and monitoring systems and processes.

Each business segment has a risk committee that is responsible for ensuring that the business segment, as
applicable: adheres to established limits for market, credit, operational and other risks; implements risk
measurement, monitoring, and management policies and procedures that are consistent with the risk framework
established by the Firm Risk Committee; and reviews, on a periodic basis, its aggregate risk exposures, risk
exception experience, and the efficacy of its risk identification, measurement, monitoring, and management
policies and procedures, and related controls.

Each of the Company’s business segments also has designated operations officers, committees and groups,
including operations and information technology groups (collectively, “Segment Control Groups” and, together
with the Company Control Groups, the “Control Groups”) to manage and monitor specific risks and report to the
business segment risk committee. The Control Groups work together to review the risk monitoring and risk
management policies and procedures relating to, among other things, the business segment’s market and credit
risk profile, sales practices, pricing of consumer loans and reserve adequacy, reputation, legal enforceability, and
operational and technological risks. Participation by the senior officers of the Control Groups helps ensure that
risk policies and procedures, exceptions to risk limits, new products and business ventures, and transactions with
risk elements undergo a thorough review.

Market Risk. Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates,
indices, implied volatilities (the price volatility of the underlying instrument imputed from option prices),
correlations or other market factors, such as liquidity, will result in losses for a position or portfolio.

The Company manages the market risk associated with its trading activities on a Company-wide basis, on a
worldwide trading division level and on an individual product basis. Aggregate market risk limits have been
approved for the Company and for its major trading divisions worldwide (equity and fixed income, which
includes interest rate products, credit products, foreign exchange and commodities). Additional market risk limits
are assigned to trading desks and, as appropriate, products and regions. Trading division risk managers, desk risk
managers, traders and the Market Risk Department monitor market risk measures against limits in accordance
with policies set by senior management.

The Market Risk Department independently reviews the Company’s trading portfolios on a regular basis from a
market risk perspective utilizing Value-at-Risk and other quantitative and qualitative risk measures and analyses.
The Company’s trading businesses and the Market Risk Department also use, as appropriate, measures such as
sensitivity to changes in interest rates, prices, implied volatilities and time decay to monitor and report market
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risk exposures. Stress testing, which measures the impact on the value of existing portfolios of specified changes
in market factors for certain products, is performed periodically and is reviewed by trading division risk
managers, desk risk managers and the Market Risk Department. The Market Risk Department also conducts
scenario analyses, which estimate the Company’s revenue sensitivity to a set of specific, predefined market and
geopolitical events.

Credit Risk. Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising from borrower or counterparty default when a
borrower, counterparty or obligor is unable to meet its financial obligations. The Company incurs significant
“single name” credit risk exposure through the Institutional Securities business. This type of risk requires credit
analysis of specific counterparties, both initially and on an ongoing basis.

The Institutional Credit Department (“Institutional Credit”) manages credit risk exposure for the Institutional
Securities business. Institutional Credit is responsible for ensuring transparency of material credit risks, ensuring
compliance with established limits, approving material extensions of credit, and escalating risk concentrations to
appropriate senior management.

Concentration Risk. The Company is subject to concentration risk by holding large positions in certain types
of securities or commitments to purchase securities of a single issuer, including sovereign governments and other
entities, issuers located in a particular country or geographic area, public and private issuers involving
developing countries, or issuers engaged in a particular industry. Financial instruments owned by the Company
include U.S. government and agency securities and securities issued by other sovereign governments (principally
Japan, Germany, United Kingdom and France), which, in the aggregate, represented approximately 6% of the
Company’s total assets at November 30, 2005. In addition, substantially all of the collateral held by the Company
for resale agreements or bonds borrowed, which together represented approximately 31% of the Company’s total
assets at November 30, 2005, consist of securities issued by the U.S. government, federal agencies or other
sovereign government obligations. Positions taken and commitments made by the Company, including positions
taken and underwriting and financing commitments made in connection with its private equity, principal
investment and lending activities, often involve substantial amounts and significant exposure to individual issuers
and businesses, including non-investment grade issuers. The Company seeks to limit concentration risk through
the use of the systems and procedures described in the preceding discussions of risk management, market risk
and credit risk.

Customer Activities. The Company’s customer activities involve the execution, settlement and financing of
various securities and commodities transactions on behalf of customers. Customer securities activities are
transacted on either a cash or margin basis. Customer commodities activities, which include the execution of
customer transactions in commodity futures transactions (including options on futures), are transacted on a
margin basis.

The Company’s customer activities may expose it to off-balance sheet credit risk. The Company may have to
purchase or sell financial instruments at prevailing market prices in the event of the failure of a customer to settle
a trade on its original terms or in the event cash and securities in customer margin accounts are not sufficient to
fully cover customer losses. The Company seeks to control the risks associated with customer activities by
requiring customers to maintain margin collateral in compliance with various regulations and Company policies.

Derivative Contracts. The amounts in the following table represent unrealized gains and losses on exchange
traded and OTC options and other contracts (including interest rate, foreign exchange, and other forward
contracts and swaps) for derivatives for trading and investment purposes and for asset and liability management,
net of offsetting positions in situations where netting is appropriate. The asset amounts are not reported net of
non-cash collateral, which the Company obtains with respect to certain of these transactions to reduce its
exposure to credit losses.
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Credit risk with respect to derivative instruments arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to
the terms of the contract. The Company’s exposure to credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair
value of the contracts reported as assets. The Company monitors the creditworthiness of counterparties to these
transactions on an ongoing basis and requests additional collateral when deemed necessary. The Company
believes the ultimate settlement of the transactions outstanding at November 30, 2005 will not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial condition.

The Company’s derivatives (both listed and OTC) at November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004 are
summarized in the table below, showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities by product:

At November 30,2005 At November 30, 2004
Product Type Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

(dollars in millions)
Interest rate and currency swaps and options, credit derivatives and

other fixed income securities contracts ....................... $17,157 $13,212 $22,998 $18,797
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options ................. 7,548 7,597 9,285 8,668
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and
OPLIONS) ottt ettt e e e e e e 7,290 11,957 5,898 7,373
Commodity forwards, options and swaps ....................... 13,899 12,186 11,294 8,702
Total ... $45,894  $44,952 $49.475 $43,540

12. Capital Units.

The Company has Capital Units outstanding that were issued by the Company and Morgan Stanley Finance plc
(“MSF”), a U.K. subsidiary. A Capital Unit consists of (a) a Subordinated Debenture of MSF guaranteed by the
Company and maturing in 2017 and (b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the Company, which may be
accelerated by the Company, requiring the holder to purchase one Depositary Share representing shares of the
Company’s Cumulative Preferred Stock. The aggregate amount of Capital Units outstanding was $66 million at
both November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004.

13. Shareholders’ Equity.

Common Stock. Changes in shares of common stock outstanding for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 were as
follows (share data in millions):

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004

Shares outstanding at beginning of period . ........... .. .. .. .. i 1,087 1,085
Net impact of stock option exercises and other share issuances ..................... 39 25
Treasury stock purchases . ......... ... (68) (23)
Shares outstanding at end of period . ........... .. .. 1,058 1,087

Treasury Shares. During fiscal 2005, the Company purchased $3.7 billion of its common stock through a
combination of open market purchases and purchases from employees at an average cost of $54.31 per share.
During fiscal 2004, the Company purchased $1.1 billion of its common stock through open market purchases at
an average cost of $50.31 per share. The Board of Directors has authorized the Company to purchase, subject to
market conditions and certain other factors, shares of common stock for capital management purposes. There
were no repurchases made under the capital management authorization during fiscal 2005. The unused portion of
this authorization at January 31, 2006 was approximately $600 million. The Company also has an ongoing
repurchase authorization in connection with awards granted under its equity-based compensation plans.
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Rabbi Trusts. The Company has established rabbi trusts (the “Trusts”) to provide common stock voting rights
to certain employees who hold outstanding restricted stock units. The number of shares of common stock
outstanding in the Trusts was 60 million at November 30, 2005 and 78 million at November 30, 2004. The assets
of the Trusts are consolidated with those of the Company, and the value of the Company’s stock held in the
Trusts is classified in Shareholders’ equity and generally accounted for in a manner similar to treasury stock.

Regulatory Capital Requirements. MS&Co. and MSDWI are registered broker-dealers and registered futures
commission merchants and, accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the
New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “NYSE”) and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. MS&Co. and
MSDWTI have consistently operated in excess of these requirements. MS&Co.’s net capital totaled $2,752 million
at November 30, 2005, which exceeded the amount required by $1,897 million. MSDWT’s net capital totaled
$1,106 million at November 30, 2005, which exceeded the amount required by $1,025 million. MSIL, a London-
based broker-dealer subsidiary, is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and
MSIJL, a Tokyo-based broker-dealer subsidiary, is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services
Agency. MSIL and MSJL have consistently operated in excess of their respective regulatory capital
requirements. See also “Regulatory Developments” below.

Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) and
other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital,
as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“Tier
1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total risk-weighted
capital ratio”). At November 30, 2005, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total risk-
weighted capital ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these regulatory
minimums.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking
regulations, and capital adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the
countries in which they operate. These subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital
adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative
products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by various rating agencies.

The regulatory capital requirements referred to above, and certain covenants contained in various agreements
governing indebtedness of the Company, may restrict the Company’s ability to withdraw capital from its
subsidiaries. At November 30, 2005, approximately $9.8 billion of net assets of consolidated subsidiaries may be
restricted as to the payment of cash dividends and advances to the Company.

Regulatory Developments. In June 2004, the SEC issued rules that permit certain highly capitalized broker-
dealers that are part of a consolidated supervised entity to apply to the SEC for approval to use an alternative
method for calculating net capital charges (the “CSE Rules”). To obtain approval to calculate capital under the
alternative method in the CSE Rules, a broker-dealer’s holding company must consent, on a voluntary basis, to
group-wide supervision and examination by the SEC and must have in place group-wide internal risk
management controls and calculate capital in a manner generally consistent with the standards of the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision (‘“Basel II”’). The CSE Rules are intended to reduce regulatory capital costs
for qualifying firms by permitting such firms to use proprietary mathematical risk measurement models for
regulatory capital computation and internal control purposes.

On July 28, 2005, the SEC approved an application by MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealers, for
authorization to use, effective December 1, 2005, the alternative method of computing net capital set forth in the
CSE Rules. The approval allows MS&Co. to use an alternative method based on mathematical models to
calculate net capital charges for market and derivatives-related credit risk.
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The CSE Rules are also designed to minimize the duplicative regulatory requirements on U.S. securities firms
resulting from the European Union (“EU”) Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the supplementary supervision of
financial conglomerates active in the EU. Under this directive, financial groups that conduct business through
regulated financial entities in the EU must first demonstrate that they are subject to equivalent consolidated
supervision at the ultimate holding company level. On November 30, 2005, the U.K. Financial Services
Authority determined that the SEC undertakes equivalent consolidated supervision for the Company.

The Company continues to work with its regulators on the implementation of the CSE Rules and Basel II capital
standards. As rules related to Basel II are released, the Company will consult with regulators on the new
requirements. Compliance with EU requirements (capital, oversight and reporting) will be a focus item through
2008.

Cumulative Translation Adjustments. Cumulative translation adjustments include gains or losses resulting
from translating foreign currency financial statements from their respective functional currencies to U.S. dollars,
net of hedge gains or losses and related tax effects. The Company uses foreign currency contracts and designates
certain non-U.S. dollar currency debt as hedges to manage the currency exposure relating to its net monetary
investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries. Increases or decreases in the value of the
Company’s net foreign investments generally are tax deferred for U.S. purposes, but the related hedge gains and
losses are taxable currently. The Company attempts to protect its net book value from the effects of fluctuations
in currency exchange rates on its net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar subsidiaries by selling the
appropriate non-U.S. dollar currency in the forward market. However, under some circumstances, the Company
may elect not to hedge its net monetary investments in certain foreign operations due to market conditions,
including the availability of various currency contracts at acceptable costs. Information relating to the hedging of
the Company’s net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries and their effects on
cumulative translation adjustments is summarized below:

At November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
Net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries .............. $3,716 $4,812
Cumulative translation adjustments resulting from net investments in subsidiaries with a
non-U.S. dollar functional CUITENCY ... ...\ttt $ 194 $ 747
Cumulative translation adjustments resulting from realized or unrealized (losses) gains on
hedges, Net Of taX . . . ..ot (249) (713)
Total cumulative translation adjustments . ............. ...t euntnenennnnannnn.. $ (55 34

14. Employee Compensation Plans.

As of December 1, 2004, the Company early adopted SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective method.
SFAS No. 123R requires measurement of compensation cost for equity-based awards at fair value and
recognition of compensation cost over the service period, net of estimated forfeitures of such awards. The fair
value of restricted stock units is determined based on the number of units granted and the grant date fair value of
the Company’s common stock, and the fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes
valuation model (see Note 2).
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In accordance with SFAS 123R, fiscal 2005 compensation expense includes the amortization of fiscal 2003 and
fiscal 2004 equity-based awards but did not include any amortization for fiscal 2005 year-end awards. This had
the effect of reducing compensation expense in fiscal 2005. If SFAS No. 123R were not in effect, fiscal 2005’s
compensation expense would have included three years of amortization (i.e., for awards granted in fiscal 2003,
fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005). In addition, the fiscal 2005 year-end awards, which will begin to be amortized in
fiscal 2006, will be amortized over a shorter period (primarily two and three years) as compared with awards
granted in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 (primarily three and four years). The shorter amortization period will have
the effect of increasing compensation expense in fiscal 2006.

Prior to fiscal 2003, under APB 25 and the terms of the Company’s plans in prior years, the Company recognized
compensation expense for deferred stock awards in the year of grant; however, no compensation expense was
generally recognized for stock option grants.

In fiscal 2004, eligible employees could elect to receive stock options as a portion of their annual year-end
equity-based award as compared with prior years where one-half of the award was automatically granted in
options. In fiscal 2005, the Company did not award stock options in connection with its annual year-end equity-
based awards.

The components of the Company’s stock-based compensation expense (net of cancellations) are presented below:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003
(dollars in millions)

Deferred stock . ...... ... $601 $487 $109
StOCK OPtIONS . ..ot 146 163 176
Employee Stock Purchase Plan .......................... 9 9 8
Employee Stock OwnershipPlan ........................ — 4 16

Total ..o $756 $663 $309

At November 30, 2005, the Company had approximately $857 million of compensation cost related to unvested
stock-based awards not yet recognized (excluding fiscal 2005 year-end awards, which will begin to be amortized
in fiscal 2006). The unrecognized compensation cost as of November 30, 2005 will primarily be recognized in
fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007.

In connection with awards under its equity-based compensation and benefit plans, the Company is authorized to
issue shares of its common stock held in treasury or newly issued shares. At November 30, 2005, approximately
180 million shares were available for future grant under these plans.

The Company has an ongoing repurchase authorization in connection with awards granted under its equity-based
compensation plans. Currently, the Company anticipates that it will repurchase between $2 billion and $4 billion
of its common stock during fiscal 2006.

Deferred Stock Awards. The Company has made deferred stock awards pursuant to several equity-based
compensation plans. The plans provide for the deferral of a portion of certain key employees’ discretionary
compensation with awards made in the form of restricted common stock or in the right to receive unrestricted
shares of common stock in the future (“restricted stock units”). Awards under these plans are generally subject to
vesting over time and to restrictions on sale, transfer or assignment until the end of a specified period, generally
five years from date of grant. All or a portion of an award may be canceled if employment is terminated before
the end of the relevant vesting period. All or a portion of a vested award also may be canceled in certain limited
situations, including termination for cause during the relevant restriction period.
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The following table sets forth activity relating to the Company’s restricted stock units (share data in millions):

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Restricted stock units at beginning of year ................. 78 65 80
Granted . ... ... 4 29 11
Conversions to common stock ... ........................ (18) (14) 24)
Canceled .......... ... . . ... @) (@) (@)
Restricted stock unitsatendof year ...................... 60 78 65

The weighted average price of restricted stock units at the beginning and end of fiscal 2005 were $49.34 and
$51.47, respectively. During fiscal 2005 the weighted average price for granted, converted and canceled
restricted stock units were $53.10, $42.84, and $51.89, respectively.

The total fair value of restricted stock units converted during fiscal 2003, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were $986
million, $791 million and $1,152 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth activity relating to the Company’s unvested restricted stock units (share data in
millions):

Fiscal 2005

Weighted
Number Average

of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Unvested restricted stock units at beginning of period .................... 49 $50.94
Granted . . ... 4 53.10
Vested . .o (13) 48.26
Canceled . ... ﬁ) 51.89
Unvested restricted stock units at end of period . ........................ 36 $52.04

Stock Option Awards. The Company has made stock option awards pursuant to several equity-based
compensation plans. The plans provide for the deferral of a portion of certain key employees’ discretionary
compensation with awards made in the form of stock options generally having an exercise price not less than the
fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Such options generally become exercisable over
a one- to five-year period and expire 10 years from the date of grant, subject to accelerated expiration upon
termination of employment. Option awards have vesting, restriction and cancellation provisions that are similar
to those in deferred stock awards.

The weighted average fair values of options granted during fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were $12.77,
$16.67 and $19.75, respectively, utilizing the following weighted average assumptions:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Risk-free interestrate . . ............. ... 3.7% 3.5% 3.6%
Expected option lifeinyears .............. ... ....... 3.1 53 5.8

Expected stock price volatility ................. .. ... .... 34.3% 34.6% 39.4%
Expected dividend yield ............. ... .. ... .. ... .. .. 2.0% 1.9% 1.7%

The Company’s expected option life has been determined based upon historical experience and the expected
stock price volatility has been determined based upon historical price data over a similar time period of the
expected option life.
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The following table sets forth activity relating to the Company’s stock option awards (share data in millions):

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Number Average Number Average
of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Options outstanding at beginning of period ....... 1522 $47.09 1755 $43.66 1637 $40.11
Granted ......... ... ... 0.9 54.73 4.2 51.83 31.0 54.69
Exercised .......... ... (19.5) 18.13 (21.0) 16.71 (12.9) 17.61
Canceled .......... ... ... .. (7.8) 57.01 (6.5) 55.55 (6.3) 59.24
Options outstanding at end of period . ............ 1258 $51.01 1522  $47.09 1755 $43.66
Options exercisable at end of period ............. 954  $50.10 95.9  $44.57 96.2  $37.13

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were $722
million, $766 million and $335 million, respectively.

As of November 30, 2005, the intrinsic value of in the money exercisable vested option awards was $857 million.

The following table presents information relating to the Company’s stock options outstanding at November 30,
2005 (share data in millions):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Average
Number Weighted Average  Remaining Number Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise Price Life (Years) Exercisable Exercise Price
$600-%$2999 ................. 12.0 $26.49 2.0 12.0 $26.49
$30.00-$ 3999 ................. 12.5 35.62 3.1 12.5 35.62
$40.00-$% 4999 ........ ... .. 20.0 42.93 6.3 17.7 42.94
$50.00-% 5999 ....... ... .. 50.2 55.39 7.0 222 56.16
$60.00-% 69.99 ................. 28.7 63.11 4.5 28.6 63.12
$70.00-$107.99 ................. 24 85.04 3.1 24 85.04
Total ....... ..o 125.8 95.4

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) allows employees to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a 15% discount from market value. Since adopting SFAS
No. 123, the Company has expensed the 15% discount associated with the ESPP.

Morgan Stanley 401(k) and Profit Sharing Awards. Eligible U.S. employees receive 401(k) matching
contributions which are invested in the Company’s common stock. The Company also provides discretionary
profit sharing to certain employees. The pre-tax expense associated with the 401(k) match and profit sharing for
fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 was $132 million, $118 million and $96 million, respectively.
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15. Employee Benefit Plans.

The Company sponsors various pension plans for the majority of its U.S. and non-U.S. employees. The Company
provides certain other postretirement benefits, primarily health care and life insurance, to eligible U.S.
employees. The Company also provides certain other postemployment benefits other than pension and
postretirement benefits to certain former employees or inactive employees prior to retirement. The following
summarizes these plans:

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. Substantially all of the U.S. employees of the Company and its U.S.
affiliates are covered by a non-contributory pension plan that is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code (the “Qualified Plan”). Unfunded supplementary plans (the “Supplemental Plans”) cover certain
executives. In addition, certain of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries also have pension plans covering
substantially all of their employees. These pension plans generally provide pension benefits that are based on
each employee’s years of credited service and on compensation levels specified in the plans. The Company’s
policy is to fund at least the amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements under applicable
employee benefit and tax regulations. Liabilities for benefits payable under its Supplemental Plans are accrued by
the Company and are funded when paid to the beneficiaries.

The Company also has unfunded postretirement benefit plans that provide medical and life insurance for eligible
U.S. retirees and their dependents.

The Company uses a measurement date of September 30 to calculate obligations under its pension and
postretirement plans.

The following tables present information for the Company’s pension and postretirement plans on an aggregate
basis:

Net Periodic Benefit Expense.

Net periodic benefit expense included the following components:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004  Fiscal 2003
(dollars in millions)

Service cost, benefits earned during the

period ......... ... $ 122 $ 114 $ 109 $ 8 $ 9 $ 8
Interest cost on projected benefit

obligation ....................... 129 120 116 11 10 9
Expected return on plan assets ......... (128) (129) (118) — — —
Net amortization .. .................. 36 26 19 — — —
Net settlements and curtailments . ...... — — 2 — — —
Special termination benefits . .......... — — 6 — — —
Net periodic benefit expense .......... $ 159 $ 131 $ 134 $ 19 $ 19 $ 17
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Benefit Obligations and Funded Status.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets
for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 as well as a summary of the funded status at November 30, 2005 and
November 30, 2004:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004
(dollars in millions)

Reconciliation of benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year ................. $2,255 $2,010 $ 183 $171
SEIVICE COSt . . vttt 122 114 8 9
Interest oSt . .. ..ot 129 120 11 10
Planamendments ............. ... .. .. .. .. ... — 1 — —
Actuarial loss ... . 167 108 3 2
Benefits paid and settlements . ........................ (122) (154) 9) 9)
Other, including foreign currency exchange rate changes . . . (27) 56 — —
Benefit obligation atend of year .................. $2,524 $2,255 $ 196 $ 183
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ............ $1,868 $1,701 $— $ —
Actual return on planassets ............... .. .. ..... .. 215 183 — —
Employer contributions . ........... ... ... .. .. ... 272 120 9 9
Benefits paid and settlements ......................... (122) (154) ©)] ©))
Other, including foreign currency exchange rate changes . . . (16) 18 — —
Fair value of plan assets atend of year.............. $2,217 $1,868 $— $—
Funded status:
Funded status . ......... ... .. . i $ (307) $(387) $(196) $(183)
Amount contributed to plan after measurement date . . ... .. 3 2 — —
Unrecognized prior-service cost . .. ...........c......... (128) (141) ®) 9
Unrecognized 10SS .. ...t 852 827 52 50
Net amount recognized .. ............coovuinn.... $ 420 $ 301 $(152) $(142)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
condition consist of:

Prepaid benefitcost .......... ... .. ... ... $ 657 $ 530 $— $—
Accrued benefit liability . ........... ... ... .. .. ... (255) (270) (152) (142)
Intangible asset . ..........co i 1 — — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income .............. 17 41 — —
Net amount recognized . ......................... $ 420 $ 301 $(152) $(142)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $2,351 million and $2,089 million
at November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, respectively.
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The following table contains information for pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of the fair
value of plan assets as of fiscal year-end:

November 30, November 30,

2005 2004

(dollars in millions)
Projected benefit obligation ........... .. .. .. . . ... 2,402 2,255
Fair value of plan assets ........... ..., 2,089 1,868

The following table contains information for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of the
fair value of plan assets as of fiscal year-end:

November 30, November 30,

2005 2004

(dollars in millions)
Accumulated benefit obligation ........... ... .. ... ... . ... 278 372
Fair value of plan assets . ............ ... 28 114

In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” the Company recorded an additional
minimum pension liability of $18 million at November 30, 2005 and $41 million at November 30, 2004 for
defined benefit pension plans whose accumulated benefit obligations exceeded plan assets. A corresponding
amount was recognized as an intangible asset, to the extent of unrecognized prior-service cost. The remaining
balance of $17 million ($5 million, net of income taxes) in fiscal 2005 and $41 million ($30 million, net of
income taxes) in fiscal 2004 was recorded as a reduction of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a
component of Shareholders’ equity.

Assumptions.

The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at fiscal
year-end:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004
Discountrate .. ........... . ... ... 5.60% 5.90% 5.75% 6.05%
Rate of future compensation increases . ......... 4.35 4.45 n/a n/a

The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for
fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004  Fiscal 2003
Discountrate ...................... 5.90% 6.05% 6.75% 6.05% 6.20% 6.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan
ASSELS .« vt 6.95 7.20 7.50 n/a n/a n/a
Rate of future compensation increases . . . 4.45 4.85 5.00 n/a n/a n/a

The expected long-term rate of return on assets represents the Company’s best estimate of the long-term return
on plan assets and generally was estimated by computing a weighted average return of the underlying long-term
expected returns on the different asset classes, based on the target asset allocations. For plans where there is no
established target asset allocation, actual asset allocations were used. The expected long-term return on assets is a
long-term assumption that generally is expected to remain the same from one year to the next unless there is a
significant change in the target asset allocation, the fees and expenses paid by the plan or market conditions.

147 Morgan Stanley



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The following table presents assumed health care cost trend rates used to determine the postretirement benefit
obligations at fiscal year-end:

November 30, November 30,

2005 2004
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year:
Medical . ..... ... 9.70-10.05% 10.30-10.80%
Prescription ... ... ... 13.55% 14.80%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) ... ... 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trendrate ........................... 2012 2012

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the Company’s
postretirement benefit plans. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have
the following effects:

One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase  Point Decrease

(dollars in millions)

Effect on total of service and interest CoOSt . . . ........ .. $3 $ (2
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation .. ............................. 25 (20)
Qualified Plan Assets.

The Qualified Plan assets represent 92% of the Company’s total pension plan assets. The weighted average asset
allocations for the Qualified Plan at November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004 and the targeted asset allocation
for fiscal 2006 by asset class were as follows:

Fiscal 2006 November 30, November 30,

Targeted 2005 2004
Equity securities . ......... ... . 45% 47% 51%
Fixed income Securities . .............c..vuiuininnnnenenen.. 55 43 43
Other—primarily cash ......... ... .. .. . .. .. ... .. .... — 10 6
Total ..o 100% 100% 100%

Qualified Pension Plan Asset Allocation. The Company, in consultation with its independent investment
consultants and actuaries, determined the asset allocation targets for its Qualified Plan based on its assessment of
business and financial conditions, demographic and actuarial data, funding characteristics and related risk factors.
Other relevant factors, including industry practices, long-term historical and prospective capital market returns,
were considered as well.

The Qualified Plan return objectives provide long-term measures for monitoring the investment performance
against growth in the pension obligations. The overall allocation is expected to help protect the plan’s funded
status while generating sufficiently stable real returns (net of inflation) to help cover current and future benefit
payments. Total Qualified Plan portfolio performance is assessed by comparing actual returns with relevant
benchmarks, such as the S&P 500 Index, the Russell 2000 Index, the MSCI EAFE Index and, in the case of the
fixed income portfolio, the Qualified Plan’s liability profile.

Both the equity and fixed income portions of the asset allocation use a combination of active and passive
investment strategies and different investment styles. The fixed income asset allocation consists of longer
duration fixed income securities in order to help reduce plan exposure to interest rate variation and to better
correlate assets with obligations. The longer duration fixed income allocation is expected to help stabilize plan
contributions over the long run.
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The asset mix of the Company’s Qualified Plan is reviewed by the Morgan Stanley Retirement Plan Investment
Committee on a regular basis. When asset class exposure reaches a minimum or maximum level, an asset
allocation review process is initiated and the portfolio is automatically rebalanced back to target allocation levels,
unless the Investment Committee determines otherwise.

The Investment Committee has determined to allocate no more than 10% of the Qualified Plan assets to
“alternative” asset classes that provide attractive diversification benefits, absolute return enhancement and/or
other potential benefit to the plan. Allocations to alternative asset classes will be made based upon an evaluation
of particular attributes and relevant considerations of each asset class.

Derivative instruments are permitted in the Qualified Plan’s portfolio only to the extent that they comply with all
of the plan’s policy guidelines and are consistent with the plan’s risk and return objectives. In addition, any
investment in derivatives must meet the following conditions:

e Derivatives may be used only if the vehicle is deemed by the investment manager to be more attractive
than a similar direct investment in the underlying cash market; or if the vehicle is being used to manage
risk of the portfolio.

e Under no circumstances may derivatives be used in a speculative manner or to leverage the portfolio.

e Derivatives may not be used as short-term trading vehicles. The investment philosophy of the Qualified
Plan is that investment activity is undertaken for long-term investment, rather than short-term trading.

* Derivatives may only be used in the management of the Qualified Plan’s portfolio when their possible
effects can be quantified, shown to enhance the risk-return profile of the portfolio and reported in a
meaningful and understandable manner.

As a fundamental operating principle, any restrictions on the underlying assets apply to a respective derivative
product. This includes percentage allocations and credit quality. The purpose of the use of derivatives is to
enhance investment in the underlying assets, not to circumvent portfolio restrictions.

Cash Flows.

The Company expects to contribute approximately $140 million to its pension and postretirement benefit plans
(U.S. and non-U.S.) in fiscal 2006 based upon their current funded status and expected asset return assumptions
for fiscal 2006, as applicable.

Expected benefit payments associated with the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans for the next
five fiscal years and in aggregate for the five fiscal years thereafter are as follows:

Pension Postretirement

(dollars in millions)

Fiscal 2000 . ... ..o $ 96 $10
Fiscal 2007 . ... 103 10
Fiscal 2008 . .. ..o 108 10
Fiscal 2000 . . ... 111 10
Fiscal 2010 . ... 114 11
Fiscal 2011-2015 .. .. o 712 59
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Defined Contribution Pension Plans.

The Company maintains separate defined contribution pension plans that cover substantially all employees of
certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. Under such plans, benefits are determined by the purchasing power of the
accumulated value of contributions paid. In fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the Company’s expense
related to these plans was $73 million, $58 million and $56 million, respectively.

Postemployment Benefits. Postemployment benefits include, but are not limited to, salary continuation,
severance benefits, disability-related benefits, and continuation of health care and life insurance coverage
provided to former employees or inactive employees after employment but before retirement. These benefits
were not material to the consolidated financial statements in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003.

16. Income Taxes.

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consisted of:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

(dollars in millions)

Current:

U.S. federal . ... .. . e $ 1,674 $1,191 $ 897
US.stateand local ........ ... . ... . . . . 238 217 122
Non-U. S, 1,022 709 467
2,934 2,117 1,486

Deferred:
US. federal . ... .. (949) (152) 150
US.stateandlocal ............ ... i (69) 22) 48
Non-U.S. (58) (87) 23
(1,076) (261) 221
Provision for income taxes from continuing operations .................. $ 1,858 $1,856 $1,707
Income tax benefit from discontinued operations ....................... $ 184 $ 69 $ 160

The following table reconciles the provision for income taxes to the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

U.S. federal statutory income taX rate .. .........c.ovvevrenenennenenn. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
U.S. state and local income taxes, net of U.S. federal income tax benefits ... 1.6 1.9 1.9
Lower tax rates applicable to non-U.S. earnings(1) ..................... 4.7 (1.2) 2.1)
Domestic tax credits .. ...... ... . (5.5) 5.4 (4.6)
(.11 T P 0.1 (1.5) 0.4)
Effective income taX rate . ... .. ..ottt e e s 26.5% 28.8% 29.8%

(1) Fiscal 2005 amount includes impact of $309 million income tax benefit resulting from repatriation of foreign earnings under the
provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

As of November 30, 2005, the Company had approximately $3.9 billion of earnings attributable to foreign
subsidiaries for which no provisions have been recorded for income tax that could occur upon repatriation. Except
to the extent such earnings can be repatriated tax efficiently, they are permanently invested abroad. It is not
practicable to determine the amount of income taxes payable in the event all such foreign earnings are repatriated.
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The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “American Jobs Creation Act”), adopted on October 22, 2004,
provided for a special one-time tax deduction, or dividend received deduction, of 85% of qualifying foreign
earnings that are repatriated in either a company’s last tax year that began before the enactment date or the first
tax year that begins during the one-year period beginning on the enactment date. In the fourth quarter of fiscal
2005, the Company recorded an income tax benefit of $309 million, or $0.29 per diluted share, resulting from the
Company’s repatriation of approximately $4.0 billion of qualifying foreign earnings under the provisions of the
American Jobs Creation Act. The $309 million tax benefit resulted from the reversal of net deferred tax liabilities
previously provided under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” net of additional taxes associated
with these qualifying earnings.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
such differences are expected to reverse. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and
liabilities at November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004 were as follows:

November 30, November 30,
2005 2004

(dollars in millions)

Deferred tax assets:

Employee compensation and benefitplans ............... ... ... ... ..... $2,313 $2,075
Loanloss allowance .. ........... ...t 305 341
Other valuation and liability allowances . ........... ... .. .. ... ... .... 1,047 806
Deferred eXpenses . . .. ..ottt e 20 21
Other ... 1,452 1,014

Total deferred tax assets ... ..ottt 5,137 4,257

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid commissions . ... ...ttt 132 118
Fixed assets . ..o 551 692
Other ... 887 812

Total deferred tax liabilities . .......... .. .. 1,570 1,622

Net deferred tax assetS . . ..ottt e e $3,567 $2.635

Cash paid for income taxes was $1,536 million, $818 million and $746 million in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and
fiscal 2003, respectively.

The Company recorded income tax benefits of $317 million, $331 million and $333 million related to employee
stock compensation transactions in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. Such benefits were
credited to Paid-in capital.

As of November 30, 2005, the amount of goodwill that is expected to be tax deductible was approximately $500
million.

Income Tax Examinations. The Company is under continuous examination by the Internal Revenue Service
(the “IRS”) and other tax authorities in certain countries, such as Japan and the U.K., and states in which the
Company has significant business operations, such as New York. The tax years under examination vary by
jurisdiction; for example, the current IRS examination, which recently began, covers 1999-2004. The Company
has filed an appeal with respect to unresolved issues relative to the IRS examination of years 1994-1998. The
Company believes that the settlement of the IRS examination of years 1994-1998 will not have a material
negative impact on the consolidated statement of income of the Company. The Company regularly assesses the
likelihood of additional assessments in each of the taxing jurisdictions resulting from these and subsequent years’
examinations. The Company has established tax reserves that the Company believes are adequate in relation to
the potential for additional assessments. Once established, the Company adjusts tax reserves only when more
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information is available or when an event occurs necessitating a change to the reserves. The Company believes
that the resolution of tax matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial condition of the
Company, although a resolution could have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of
income for a particular future period and on the Company’s effective income tax rate for any period in which
such resolution occurs.

17. Segment and Geographic Information.

The Company structures its segments primarily based upon the nature of the financial products and services
provided to customers and the Company’s management organization. The Company provides a wide range of
financial products and services to its customers in each of its business segments: Institutional Securities, Retail
Brokerage, Asset Management and Discover. For further discussion of the Company’s business segments, see
Note 1. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

Revenues and expenses directly associated with each respective segment are included in determining their
operating results. Other revenues and expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment are
allocated based upon the Company’s allocation methodologies, generally based on each segment’s respective net
revenues, non-interest expenses or other relevant measures.

As a result of treating certain intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company includes
an “Intersegment Eliminations” category to reconcile the segment results to the Company’s consolidated results.
Income before taxes in Intersegment Eliminations represents the effect of timing differences associated with the
revenue and expense recognition of commissions paid by Asset Management to Retail Brokerage associated with
sales of certain products and the related compensation costs paid to Retail Brokerage’s global representatives.

Beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company renamed three of its business segments. The
Individual Investor Group was renamed “Retail Brokerage,” Investment Management was renamed ‘“‘Asset
Management” and Credit Services was renamed “Discover.” In addition, beginning in the third quarter of fiscal
2005, the principal components of the residential mortgage loan business previously included in the Discover
business segment are managed by and included within the results of the Institutional Securities business segment.
Prior years have been restated to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Selected financial information for the Company’s segments is presented below:

Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
Fiscal 2005 Securities  Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
Net revenues excluding net interest . . . . . . $13,652 $4,695 $2,895 $2,059 $(273)  $23,028
Netinterest . ... ......cvuvrvnenene... 2,021 324 12 1,393 — 3,750
NEt reVENUES . .o voe e e e e e $15,673 $5,019 $2,907 $3,452 $(273)  $26,778

Income from continuing operations
before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes and cumulative

effect of accounting change, net . ..... $ 4,754 $ 585 $1,007 $ 921 $ 94 $ 7,361
Losses from unconsolidated investees . . . 311 — — — — 311
Provision for income taxes ............ 909 197 378 340 34 1,858

Income from continuing operations
before cumulative effect of accounting
change, net(1)(2) .................. $ 3,534 $ 388 $ 629 $ 581 $ 60 $ 5,192
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Fiscal 2004(3)

Net revenues excluding net interest . . ..
Netinterest .......................

Netrevenues ..............couuun..

Income from continuing operations
before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes and dividends
on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption ............

Losses from unconsolidated investees . .

Provision for income taxes ...........

Dividends on preferred securities subject
to mandatory redemption ..........

Income from continuing
operations(l) ....................

Fiscal 2003(3)

Net revenues excluding net interest . . . .
Netinterest ...............c.coo...

Netrevenues ................ccouu..

Income from continuing operations
before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes and dividends
on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption ............

Losses from unconsolidated investees . .

Provision for income taxes ...........

Dividends on preferred securities subject
to mandatory redemption ..........

Income from continuing
operations(l) ....................

Total Assets(4)

At November 30,2005 ..............
At November 30,20043) ............
At November 30,2003(3) ............
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(1) See Note 18 for a discussion of discontinued operations.

(2) See Note 2 for a discussion of the cumulative effect of accounting change, net.
(3) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(4) Corporate assets have been fully allocated to the Company’s business segments.

Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
Securities  Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
$ 10,702 $ 4,362 $2,736 $ 2,322 $(291) $ 19,831
2,411 253 2 1,211 — 3,877
$ 13,113 $ 4,615 $2,738 $ 3,533 $(291) $ 23,708
$ 4281 $ 371 $ 827 $ 1,221 $118 $ 6,818
328 — — — — 328
932 120 318 443 43 1,856
45 — — — — 45
$ 2976 $ 251 $ 509 $ 778 $ 75 $ 4,589
Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
Securities  Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
$ 9,727 $ 4,021 $2,282 $ 2,047 $(305) $ 17,772
1,574 221 (6) 1,256 — 3,045
$ 11,301 $ 4,242 $2,276 $ 3,303 $(305) $ 20,817
$ 4,006 $ 464 $ 482 $ 1,027 $ 121 $ 6,160
279 — — — — 279
924 194 161 378 50 1,707
154 — — — — 154
$ 2,709 $ 270 $ 321 $ 649 $ 71 $ 4,020
Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
Securities  Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
$848,943  $19,290 $3,543 $26,866 $(119)  $898,523
$701,853  $17,339 $3,759 $24,096 $(213)  $747,334
$558,807 $16,665 $3,748 $23,954 $(331)  $602,843
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The Company operates in both U.S. and non-U.S. markets. The Company’s non-U.S. business activities are
principally conducted through European and Asian locations. The following table presents selected income
statement information and the total assets of the Company’s operations by geographic area. The principal
methodologies used in preparing the geographic area data are as follows: commission revenues are recorded
based on the location of the sales force; trading revenues are principally recorded based on location of the trader;
investment banking revenues are based on location of the client; and asset management and portfolio service fees
are recorded based on the location of the portfolio manager:

Fiscal 2005(1)(2) U.S. Europe Asia Other Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
Netrevenues . ............uoeeuuenn.. $ 18,796 $ 6,701 $ 2,480 $ 359 $ (1,558) $ 26,778

Income from continuing operations
before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting

change,net ...................... 4,185 1,965 931 280 — 7,361
Total assets at November 30, 2005 .. ... 1,104,823 586,825 54,037 29,858 (877,020) 898,523
Fiscal 2004(1)(3) U.S. Europe Asia Other Eliminations Total

(dollars in millions)
Netrevenues . .. ........ooeueeunenn.. $ 17,365 $ 5219 $ 1,950 $ 520 $ (1,346) $ 23,708

Income from continuing operations
before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes and dividends
on preferred securities subject to

mandatory redemption ............. 4,324 1,387 639 468 — 6,818
Total assets at November 30, 2004 .. ... 973,471 463,300 40,074 26,402  (755913) 747,334
Fiscal 2003(1)(3) U.S. Europe Asia Other Eliminations Total

(dollars in millions)
Netrevenues . . . . ovoeeeeee .. $ 15746 $ 4,127 $ 1,731 $ 86 % (873) $ 20,817

Income from continuing operations

before losses from unconsolidated

investees, income taxes and dividends

on preferred securities subject to

mandatory redemption ............. 4,614 918 591 37 — 6,160
Total assets at November 30, 2003 ..... 773,609 305,256 48,666 22,917 (547,605) 602,843

(1) See Note 18 for a discussion of discontinued operations.
(2) See Note 2 for a discussion of the cumulative effect of accounting change, net.
(3) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

18. Discontinued Operations.
Fiscal 2005.

On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved management’s
recommendation to sell the Company’s non-core aircraft leasing business. In connection with this action, the
aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 and reported as
discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In addition, in the third quarter of
fiscal 2005, the Company recognized a charge of approximately $1.7 billion ($1.0 billion after-tax) to reflect the
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write-down of the aircraft leasing business to its estimated fair value of approximately $2.0 billion. In
determining the charge that was recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company estimated the value to
be realized in selling the aircraft leasing business as a whole. The estimated value of the business was based on
the appraised values of the aircraft portfolio, an evaluation of then current market conditions, recent transactions
involving the sales of similar aircraft leasing businesses, a detailed assessment of the portfolio and additional
valuation analyses.

On January 30, 2006, the Company announced that it had signed a definitive agreement under which it will sell
its aircraft leasing business to Terra Firma, a European private equity group, for approximately $2.5 billion in
cash and the assumption of liabilities. Based on the terms of the agreement and in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, the Company revised its estimate of the fair value (less selling costs) of the aircraft leasing business
and, as a result, in the fourth quarter reduced the pre-tax charge recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 2005 by
approximately $1.1 billion. Full year results for fiscal 2005 reflected a charge of $509 million ($316 million
after-tax).

The sale is subject to customary regulatory approvals and closing conditions and is expected to close in the first
half of fiscal 2006.

Fiscal 2004.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company entered into agreements for the sale of certain aircraft.
Accordingly, the Company designated such aircraft as “held for sale” and recorded a $42 million pre-tax loss
related to the write-down of these aircraft to fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 144. As of February 3,
2005, all of these aircraft were sold.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft were reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an aircraft may not be recoverable. During the
second quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company evaluated various financing strategies for its aircraft financing
business. As part of that evaluation and to determine the potential debt ratings associated with the financing
strategies, the Company commissioned appraisals of the aircraft portfolio from three independent aircraft
appraisal firms. The appraisals indicated a decrease in the aircraft portfolio average market value of 12% from
the appraisals obtained at the date of the prior impairment charge (May 31, 2003). In accordance with SFAS
No. 144, the Company considered the decline in appraisal values a significant decrease in the market price of its
aircraft portfolio and thus a trigger event to test for impairment in the carrying value of its aircraft.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each
aircraft’s projected undiscounted cash flows with its respective carrying value. For those aircraft for which
impairment was indicated (because the projected undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying value), the
Company adjusted the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value if lower than the carrying value. To
determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company used the market value appraisals provided by independent
appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims Limited). As a result of this review,
the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $109 million in the second quarter of fiscal
2004 based on the average of the market value appraisals provided by the three independent appraisers. The
impairment charge was primarily concentrated in two particular types of aircraft, the MD-83 and A300-600R,
which contributed approximately $85 million of the $109 million charge. The decrease in the projected
undiscounted cash flows and the significant decline in the appraisal values for these aircraft reflects, among other
things, a very small operator base and therefore limited opportunities to lease such aircraft.
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Fiscal 2003.

Prior to fiscal 2003, the Company had used “base value” estimates provided by independent appraisers to
estimate the fair value of its impaired aircraft. Accordingly, during the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company
recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $36 million to adjust the carrying value of previously impaired aircraft to
“market value.”

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company reviewed the carrying value of its aircraft portfolio for
impairment during the second quarter of fiscal 2003 given the difficult conditions that existed in the commercial
aircraft industry at the time, including the adverse impact of the military conflict in Iraq, the outbreak of Severe
Acute Respiratory Syndrome and the bankruptcy of several airlines.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each
aircraft’s projected undiscounted cash flows with its respective carrying value. For each aircraft for which
impairment was indicated, the Company adjusted the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value if lower than
carrying value. To determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company used market value estimates provided by
independent appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims Limited). As a result of
this review, the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $287 million based on the
average market value provided by independent appraisers in the second quarter of fiscal 2003.

The Company had followed a valuation methodology designed to align the changes in projected undiscounted cash
flows for impaired aircraft with the change in carrying value of such aircraft. Under this methodology, the Company
calculated the $36 million impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 using the highest portfolio valuation
provided by the appraisers and calculated the $287 million impairment charge recorded in the second quarter of
fiscal 2003 based on the average of the three appraisal values. The Company determined that future impairment
charges would be based upon the average market appraisal values from independent appraisers.

Summarized financial information for the Company’s discontinued operations:

The table below provides information regarding amounts included within discontinued operations (dollars in
millions):

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

Gross revenues from discontinued Operations . .................iiiniiaiiaan... $417 $473  $481
Pre-tax loss on discontinued OPerations .. .............ouumtutonenennenenenenn... 486 172 393

The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities of the Company’s aircraft leasing business as of
November 30, 2005:

At
November 30,
2005
(dollars in millions)

Assets:

Aircraft under operating 1eases . . .. ... .. $3,145
OthETr @SSELS .« . v v it ittt e e 54
TOtal ASSELS . . . o oot $3,199
Liabilities:

Payable to affiliates ... ... ... ...t $2,055
Other Habilities . . . ...t e 690
Total Habilities . . . . ... ... $2.,745
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19. Variable Interest Entities.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, which clarified the application of Accounting Research Bulletin
No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties (“variable interest entities”).
Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are required to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if they do not
effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Under FIN 46, the primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party
that absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of its expected residual returns, or
both, as a result of holding variable interests. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about VIEs. In December 2003,
the FASB issued a revision of FIN 46 to address certain technical corrections and implementation issues.

The Company is involved with various entities in the normal course of business that may be deemed to be VIEs
and may hold interests therein, including debt securities, interest-only strip investments and derivative
instruments that may be considered variable interests. Transactions associated with these entities include asset-
and mortgage-backed securitizations and structured financings (including collateralized debt, bond or loan
obligations and credit-linked notes). The Company engages in these transactions principally to facilitate client
needs and as a means of selling financial assets. The Company consolidates entities in which it is deemed to be
the primary beneficiary. For those entities deemed to be qualifying special purpose entities (as defined in SFAS
No. 140), which includes the credit card asset securitization master trusts (see Note 5), the Company does not
consolidate the entity.

The Company purchases and sells interests in entities that may be deemed to be VIEs in the ordinary course of its
business. As a result of these activities, it is possible that such entities may be consolidated and deconsolidated at
various points in time. Therefore, the Company’s variable interests included below may not be held by the
Company at the end of future quarterly reporting periods.

At November 30, 2005, in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of VIEs,
including financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization, collateralized debt obligation,
credit-linked note, structured note, municipal bond trust, loan issuing, commodities monetization, equity-linked
note and exchangeable trust entities, for which the Company was the primary beneficiary of the entities was
approximately $8.5 billion, which is the carrying amount of the consolidated assets recorded as Financial
instruments owned that are collateral for the entities’ obligations. The nature and purpose of these entities that the
Company consolidated were to issue a series of notes to investors that provide the investors a return based on the
holdings of the entities. These transactions were executed to facilitate client investment objectives. The
structured note, equity-linked note, certain credit-linked note, mortgage-backed securitization, certain financial
asset-backed securitization and municipal bond transactions also were executed as a means of selling financial
assets. The Company holds either the entire class or a majority of the class of subordinated notes or entered into a
derivative instrument with the VIE, which bears the majority of the expected losses or receives a majority of the
expected residual returns of the entities. The Company consolidates these entities, in accordance with its
consolidation accounting policy, and as a result eliminates all intercompany transactions, including derivatives
and other intercompany transactions such as fees received to underwrite the notes or to structure the transactions.
The Company accounts for the assets held by the entities as Financial instruments owned and the liabilities of the
entities as Other secured financings. For those liabilities that include an embedded derivative, the Company has
bifurcated such derivative in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended. The beneficial interests of these
consolidated entities are payable solely from the cash flows of the assets held by the VIE.

At November 30, 2005, also in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of the
entities for which the Company holds significant variable interests, which consist of subordinated and other
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classes of beneficial interests, derivative instruments, limited partnership investments and secondary guarantees,
was approximately $26.1 billion. The Company’s variable interests associated with these entities, primarily
credit-linked note, structured note, exchangeable trust, loan and bond issuing, collateralized debt obligation,
financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization and tax credit limited liability entities,
including investments in affordable housing tax credit funds and underlying synthetic fuel production plants,
were approximately $13.4 billion consisting primarily of senior beneficial interests, which represent the
Company’s maximum exposure to loss at November 30, 2005. The Company may hedge the risks inherent in its
variable interest holdings, thereby reducing its exposure to loss. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss does
not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company utilizes to hedge these risks.

20. Guarantees.

FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” requires the Company to disclose information about its
obligations under certain guarantee arrangements. FIN 45 defines guarantees as contracts and indemnification
agreements that contingently require a guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed party based on changes in
an underlying (such as an interest or foreign exchange rate, security or commodity price, an index or the
occurrence or non-occurrence of a specified event) related to an asset, liability or equity security of a guaranteed
party. FIN 45 also defines guarantees as contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make payments to
the guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement as well as indirect
guarantees of the indebtedness of others.

Derivative Contracts. Under FIN 45, certain derivative contracts meet the accounting definition of a guarantee,
including certain written options, contingent forward contracts and credit default swaps. Although the
Company’s derivative arrangements do not specifically identify whether the derivative counterparty retains the
underlying asset, liability or equity security, the Company has disclosed information regarding all derivative
contracts that could meet the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee. The maximum potential payout for certain
derivative contracts, such as written interest rate caps and written foreign currency options, cannot be estimated
as increases in interest or foreign exchange rates in the future could possibly be unlimited. Therefore, in order to
provide information regarding the maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make under certain derivative contracts, the notional amount of the contracts has been disclosed.

The Company records all derivative contracts at fair value. For this reason, the Company does not monitor its
risk exposure to such derivative contracts based on derivative notional amounts; rather the Company manages its
risk exposure on a fair value basis. Aggregate market risk limits have been established, and market risk measures
are routinely monitored against these limits. The Company also manages its exposure to these derivative
contracts through a variety of risk mitigation strategies, including, but not limited to, entering into offsetting
economic hedge positions. The Company believes that the notional amounts of the derivative contracts generally
overstate its exposure. For further discussion of the Company’s derivative risk management activities, see
Note 11.

Financial Guarantees to Third Parties. In connection with its corporate lending business and other corporate
activities, the Company provides standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees to counterparties. Such
arrangements represent obligations to make payments to third parties if the counterparty fails to fulfill its
obligation under a borrowing arrangement or other contractual obligation.

Market Value Guarantees. Market value guarantees are issued to guarantee return of principal invested to fund
investors associated with certain European equity funds and to guarantee timely payment of a specified return to
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investors in certain affordable housing tax credit funds. The guarantees associated with certain European equity
funds are designed to provide for any shortfall between the market value of the underlying fund assets and
invested principal and a stipulated return amount. The guarantees provided to investors in certain affordable
housing tax credit funds are designed to return an investor’s contribution to a fund and the investor’s share of tax
losses and tax credits expected to be generated by a fund.

Liquidity Guarantees. The Company has entered into liquidity facilities with special purpose entities and other
counterparties, whereby the Company is required to make certain payments if losses or defaults occur. The
Company often may have recourse to the underlying assets held by the special purpose entities in the event
payments are required under such liquidity facilities.

The table below summarizes certain information regarding these guarantees at November 30, 2005:

Maximum Potential Payout/Notional

Years to Maturity Carrying Collateral/
Type of Guarantee Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total Amount Recourse
(dollars in millions)

Derivative contracts . .......... $477,387 $408,869 $537,232 $444.284 $1,867,772 $28,563  $106
Standby letters of credit and other

financial guarantees . ......... 4,432 250 603 1,756 7,041 83 854
Market value guarantees . ....... 15 131 78 676 900 54 135
Liquidity facilities ............. 1,437 8 49 98 1,592 — —

Indemnities. In the normal course of its business, the Company provides standard indemnities to counterparties
for taxes, including U.S. and foreign withholding taxes, on interest and other payments made on derivatives,
securities and stock lending transactions, certain annuity products and other financial arrangements. These
indemnity payments could be required based on a change in the tax laws or change in interpretation of applicable
tax rulings. Certain contracts contain provisions that enable the Company to terminate the agreement upon the
occurrence of such events. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make under these indemnifications cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any
contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for these indemnifications and believes that the
occurrence of any events that would trigger payments under these contracts is remote.

Exchange/Clearinghouse Member Guarantees. The Company is a member of various U.S. and non-U.S.
exchanges and clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or futures contracts. Associated with its
membership, the Company may be required to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another
member who may default on its obligations to the exchange or the clearinghouse. While the rules governing
different exchange or clearinghouse memberships vary, in general the Company’s guarantee obligations would
arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had previously exhausted its resources. In addition, any such
guarantee obligation would be apportioned among the other non-defaulting members of the exchange or
clearinghouse. Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated. The
Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for these agreements
and believes that any potential requirement to make payments under these agreements is remote.

General Partner Guarantees. As a general partner in certain private equity and real estate partnerships, the
Company receives distributions from the partnerships according to the provisions of the partnership agreements.
The Company may, from time to time, be required to return all or a portion of such distributions to the limited
partners in the event the limited partners do not achieve a certain return as specified in various partnership
agreements, subject to certain limitations. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company
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could be required to make under these provisions at November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004 was
$349 million and $265 million, respectively. As of November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, the Company’s
accrued liability for distributions that the Company has determined it is probable it will be required to refund
based on the applicable refund criteria specified in the various partnership agreements was $36 million and $68
million, respectively.

Securitized Asset Guarantees. As part of the Company’s Institutional Securities and Discover securitization
activities, the Company provides representations and warranties that certain securitized assets conform to
specified guidelines. The Company may be required to repurchase such assets or indemnify the purchaser against
losses if the assets do not meet certain conforming guidelines. Due diligence is performed by the Company to
ensure that asset guideline qualifications are met, and, to the extent the Company has acquired such assets to be
securitized from other parties, the Company seeks to obtain its own representations and warranties regarding the
assets. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make would be
equal to the current outstanding balances of all assets subject to such securitization activities. Also, in connection
with originations of residential mortgage loans under the Company’s FlexSource® program, the Company may
permit borrowers to pledge marketable securities as collateral instead of requiring cash down payments for the
purchase of the underlying residential property. Upon sale of the residential mortgage loans, the Company may
provide a surety bond that reimburses the purchasers for shortfalls in the borrowers’ securities accounts up to
certain limits if the collateral maintained in the securities accounts (along with the associated real estate
collateral) is insufficient to cover losses that purchasers experience as a result of defaults by borrowers on the
underlying residential mortgage loans. The Company requires the borrowers to meet daily collateral calls to
ensure the marketable securities pledged in lieu of a cash down payment are sufficient. At November 30, 2005
and November 30, 2004, the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company may be required to
make under its surety bond was $157 million and $198 million, respectively. The Company has not recorded any
contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for these representations and warranties and
reimbursement agreements and believes that the probability of any payments under these arrangements is remote.

Merchant Chargeback Guarantees. In connection with its Discover business, the Company issues general
purpose credit cards in the U.S. and U.K. and owns and operates the Discover Network in the U.S. The Company
is contingently liable for transactions processed on the Discover Network in the event of a dispute between the
cardmember and a merchant. If a dispute is resolved in the cardmember’s favor, the Discover Network will credit
or refund the disputed amount to the Discover Network card issuer, who in turn credits its cardmember’s account.
Discover Network will then charge back the transaction to the merchant. If the Discover Network is unable to
collect the amount from the merchant, it will bear the loss for the amount credited or refunded to the
cardmember. In most instances, a payment requirement by the Discover Network is unlikely to arise because
most products or services are delivered when purchased, and credits are issued by merchants on returned items in
a timely fashion. However, where the product or service is not provided until some later date following the
purchase, the likelihood of payment by the Discover Network increases. Similarly, the Company is also
contingently liable for the resolution of cardmember disputes associated with its general purpose credit cards
issued in the U.K. The maximum potential amount of future payments related to these contingent liabilities is
estimated to be the total Discover Network sales transaction volume processed to date as well as the total U.K.
cardmember sales transaction volume billed to date that could qualify as a valid disputed transaction under the
Company’s merchant processing network, issuer and cardmember agreements; however, the Company believes
that this amount is not representative of the Company’s actual potential loss exposure based on the Company’s
historical experience. This amount cannot be quantified as the Company cannot determine whether the current or
cumulative transaction volumes may include or result in disputed transactions.
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The table below summarizes certain information regarding merchant chargeback guarantees during fiscal 2005
and fiscal 2004:

Fiscal Year

2005 2004
Losses related to merchant chargebacks (dollars in millions) ............................. $ 6 $ 6
Aggregate credit card sales volume (dollars in billions) .. ......... .. .. .. .. .. ... 872 795

The amount of the liability related to the Company’s credit cardmember merchant guarantee was not material at
November 30, 2005. The Company mitigates this risk by withholding settlement from merchants or obtaining
escrow deposits from certain merchants that are considered higher risk due to various factors such as time delays
in the delivery of products or services. The table below provides information regarding the settlement
withholdings and escrow deposits:

At November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
Settlement withholdings and escrow deposits . ........ ...ttt .. $42 $53

Other. The Company may, from time to time, in its role as investment banking advisor be required to provide
guarantees in connection with certain European merger and acquisition transactions. If required by the regulating
authorities, the Company provides a guarantee that the acquirer in the merger and acquisition transaction has or
will have sufficient funds to complete the transaction and would then be required to make the acquisition
payments in the event the acquirer’s funds are insufficient at the completion date of the transaction. These
arrangements generally cover the time frame from the transaction offer date to its closing date and therefore are
generally short term in nature. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make cannot be estimated. The likelihood of any payment by the Company under these arrangements
is remote given the level of the Company’s due diligence associated with its role as investment banking advisor.

21. Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

The majority of the Company’s assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value or at amounts that approximate fair
value. Such assets and liabilities include: cash and cash equivalents, cash and securities deposited with clearing
organizations or segregated under federal and other regulations or requirements, customer and broker receivables
and payables, certain other assets, commercial paper, and other short-term borrowings and payables.

The fair value of certain of the Company’s other assets and liabilities is presented below.

Financial Instruments Owned and Financial Instruments Sold, not yet Purchased. The Company’s financial
instruments used for trading and investment and for asset and liability management are recorded at fair value as
discussed in Note 2.

Consumer Loans. The fair value of consumer loans is determined by discounting cash flows using current
market rates of loans having similar characteristics. The cash flow calculation methodologies, which vary by
product, include adjustments for credit risk and prepayment rates commensurate with recent and projected trends.
At November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004, the carrying value of the Company’s consumer loans was
approximately $0.2 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, less than their estimated fair value.

Collateralized Transaction Activities. Securities purchased under agreements to resell, Securities borrowed,
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase and Securities loaned, are recorded at their original contract
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amount plus accrued interest. As the majority of such activities are short term in nature, the carrying value of
these instruments approximates fair value.

Deposits. The estimated fair value of the Company’s deposits, using current rates for deposits with similar
remaining maturities, approximated carrying value at November 30, 2005 and November 30, 2004.

Long-Term Borrowings. The Company’s long-term borrowings are recorded at historical amounts unless
designated as a hedged item in a fair value hedge under SFAS No. 133. The fair value of the Company’s long-
term borrowings was estimated using either quoted market prices or discounted cash flow analyses based on the
Company’s current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. At November 30, 2005 and
November 30, 2004, the carrying value of the Company’s long-term borrowings was approximately $0.9 billion
and approximately $1.2 billion, respectively, less than fair value.

22. Investments in Unconsolidated Investees.

The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own synthetic fuel production plants. The Company
accounts for these investments under the equity method of accounting. The Company’s share of the operating
losses generated by these investments is recorded within Losses from unconsolidated investees, and the tax
credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses are recorded within the Company’s Provision
for income taxes.

In fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the losses from unconsolidated investees were more than offset by the
respective tax credits and tax benefits on the losses. The table below provides information regarding the losses
from unconsolidated investees, tax credits and tax benefits on the losses:

Fiscal Year
2005 2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Losses from unconsolidated INVESIEES . . ..o v vttt et et $311 $328 $279
Tax Credits . . .ot e 336 351 308
Tax benefits On 10SSES . . ..ot e 124 132 112

Under the current tax law, synthetic fuels tax credits are granted under Section 29 (or, for the Company’s fiscal
years beginning after 2005, under Section 45K) of the Internal Revenue Code. Synthetic fuels tax credits are
available in full only when the price of oil is less than a base price specified by the tax code, as adjusted for
inflation (“Base Price”). The Base Price for each calendar year is determined by the Secretary of the Treasury by
April 1 of the following year. If the annual average price of a barrel of oil in 2005 or future years exceeds the
applicable Base Price, the synthetic fuels tax credits generated by the Company’s synthetic fuel facilities will be
phased out, on a ratable basis, over the phase-out range. Synthetic fuels tax credits realized in prior years are not
affected by this limitation. Based on the annual average price of a barrel of oil in 2005, the Company does not
expect to lose any synthetic fuels tax credits generated in 2005 due to phase-out. In fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2006,
the Company entered into derivative contracts designed to reduce its exposure to rising oil prices and the
potential phase-out of the synthetic fuels tax credits in 2005 and 2006. Changes in fair value relative to these
derivative contracts are included within Principal transactions—trading revenues.

IRS field auditors had contested the placed-in-service date of several synthetic fuel facilities owned by one of the
Company’s unconsolidated investees (“the LLC”). To qualify for the Section 29 tax credits, the production
facility must have been placed-in-service before July 1, 1998. The IRS has issued a Technical Advice
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Memorandum confirming that the LLC synthetic fuel facilities at issue meet the placed-in-service requirement
under Section 29 of the Internal Revenue Code. The LLC has been informed that the IRS field auditors have
decided to close the audit without any disallowance of tax credits.

23. Business Acquisitions and Sales.

PULSE. On January 12, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of PULSE, a U.S.-based automated
teller machine/debit and electronic funds transfer network currently serving banks, credit unions and savings and
other financial institutions. The Company believes that the combination of the PULSE and Discover Networks
will create a leading electronic payments company offering a full range of products and services for financial
institutions, consumers and merchants. As of the date of acquisition, the results of PULSE are included within the
Discover business segment. The acquisition price was approximately $324 million, which was paid in cash
during fiscal 2005. The Company recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of $329 million in connection
with the acquisition.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition.

At January 12, 2005
(dollars in millions)

Cash and cash equivalents .. ......... ... it $ 1
Receivables . ... ... 22
Office faCilities . ... ...ttt 16
OthET @SSELS . . ot ittt e e et e e e e 14
Amortizable intangible assets .. ... ... ... .. 73
GoodWill .. 256
Total assets acquired . . ... ... ..ottt 382
Total liabilities assumed .. ... ...ttt 58
Net assets aCqUITEd . .. ... vttt et e e e e $324

The $73 million of acquired amortizable intangible assets include customer relationships of $70 million (15-year
estimated useful life) and trademarks of $3 million (25-year estimated useful life).

Barra. On June 3, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of Barra, a global leader in delivering risk
management systems and services to managers of portfolio and firmwide investment risk. The Company believes
that the combination of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Barra created a leading global provider of benchmark indices and risk management analytics. Since the date
of acquisition, the results of Barra have been included within the Institutional Securities business segment. The
acquisition price was $41.00 per share in cash, or an aggregate consideration of approximately $800 million. The
Company recorded goodwill and other intangible assets totaling $663 million in connection with the acquisition.
In February 2005, the Company sold its 50% interest in POSIT, an equity crossing system that matches
institutional buyers and sellers, to Investment Technology Group, Inc. The Company acquired the POSIT interest
as part of its acquisition of Barra in June 2004. As a result of the sale, the net carrying amount of intangible
assets decreased by approximately $75 million.
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The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:
At June 3, 2004
(dollars in millions)

Cash and cash equivalents ... .. ... .. .. ...ttt $ 46
Receivables and prepaid €XPenses . . .. ...vu ittt e 54
Financial instruments owned . .......... ... ... 169
Office facilities . . ... ... . 6
Other @SSELS . . . o\ttt e e e e 10
Amortizable intan@ible assets . . .. ... ... e 350
GoodWIll . .. 313

Total assets acqUIred . . . ... .ottt e 948

Total liabilities assumed . ... ... ...ttt 145

Net assets aCqUIred . ... ...ttt $803

The $350 million of acquired amortizable intangible assets included technology-related assets of $222 million
(seven-year weighted average useful life), trademarks of $102 million (21-year weighted average useful life) and
customer relationships of $26 million (11-year weighted average useful life).

Lend Lease. 1In fiscal 2003, the Company acquired selected components of the U.S. real estate equity advisory
businesses of Lend Lease Corporation, an Australia-based company. The financial statement impact related to
this acquisition, which is included in the Company’s Institutional Securities segment, was not significant.

The pro forma impact of each of the above business acquisitions was not material to the consolidated financial
statements.

Goldfish. On December 20, 2005, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement to
acquire the Goldfish credit card business (“Goldfish”) from Lloyds TSB for approximately £1 billion. The
acquisition of Goldfish will add approximately 800,000 accounts and approximately £0.8 billion of receivables to
the Company’s existing U.K. credit card business. The Company currently expects the transaction to be completed
in February 2006. The results of Goldfish will be included within the Discover business segment as of the date of
acquisition.

24. Insurance Settlement.

On September 11, 2001, the U.S. experienced terrorist attacks targeted against New York City and Washington,
D.C. The attacks in New York resulted in the destruction of the World Trade Center complex, where
approximately 3,700 of the Company’s employees were located, and the temporary closing of the debt and equity
financial markets in the U.S. Through the implementation of its business recovery plans, the Company relocated
its displaced employees to other facilities.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company settled its claim with its insurance carriers related to the events of
September 11, 2001. The Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $251 million as the insurance recovery was in
excess of previously recognized costs related to the terrorist attacks (primarily write-offs of leasehold
improvements and destroyed technology and telecommunications equipment in the World Trade Center complex,
employee relocation and certain other employee-related expenditures).

The pre-tax gain, which was recorded as a reduction to non-interest expenses, is included within the Retail
Brokerage ($198 million), Asset Management ($43 million) and Institutional Securities ($10 million) segments.
The insurance settlement was allocated to the respective segments in accordance with the relative damages
sustained by each segment.
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25. Lease Adjustment.

Prior to the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company did not record the effects of scheduled rent increases and
rent-free periods for certain real estate leases on a straight-line basis. In addition, the Company had been
accounting for certain tenant improvement allowances as reductions to the related leasehold improvements
instead of recording funds received as deferred rent and amortizing them as reductions to lease expense over the
lease term. In the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company changed its method of accounting for these rent
escalation clauses, rent-free periods and tenant improvement allowances to properly reflect lease expense over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The cumulative effect of this correction resulted in the Company recording
$109 million of additional rent expense in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The impact of this change was included
within non-interest expenses and reduced income before taxes within the Institutional Securities ($71 million),
Retail Brokerage ($29 million), Asset Management ($5 million) and Discover ($4 million) segments. The impact
of this correction was not material for all periods presented to the pre-tax income of each of the segments or to
the Company.

26. Limited Partnerships.

In June 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus reached in EITF Issue No. 04-5, “Determining Whether a General
Partner, or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited
Partners Have Certain Rights.” Under the provisions of EITF Issue No. 04-5, a general partner in a limited
partnership is presumed to control that limited partnership and therefore should include the limited partnership in
its consolidated financial statements regardless of the amount or extent of the general partner’s interest unless a
majority of the limited partners can vote to dissolve or liquidate the partnership or otherwise remove the general
partner without having to show cause or the limited partners have substantive participating rights that can
overcome the presumption of control by the general partner. EITF Issue No. 04-5 was effective immediately for
all newly formed limited partnerships and existing limited partnerships for which the partnership agreements
have been modified. For all other existing limited partnerships for which the partnership agreements have not
been modified, the Company is required to adopt EITF Issue No. 04-5 on December 1, 2006 in a manner similar
to a cumulative-effect-type adjustment or by retrospective application. The Company is currently assessing the
impact on these existing limited partnerships of adopting the provisions of EITF Issue No. 04-5; however,
because the Company generally expects to provide limited partners in these funds with rights to remove the
Company as general partner or rights to terminate the partnership, the Company does not expect the impact of
EITF Issue No. 04-5 to be material.

27. Asset Management and Account Fees.

Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company was improperly recognizing certain management fees,
account fees and related compensation expense paid at the beginning of the relevant contract periods, which is
when such fees were billed. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company changed its method of accounting
for such fees to properly recognize such fees and related expenses over the relevant contract period, generally
quarterly or annually. As a result of the change, the Company’s results in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004
included an adjustment to reflect the cumulative impact of the deferral of certain management fees, account fees
and related compensation expense paid to representatives. The impact of this change reduced net revenues by
$107 million, non-interest expenses by $27 million and income before taxes by $80 million, at both the Company
and the Retail Brokerage segment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Such adjustment reduced net income by
approximately $50 million and basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.05.
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28. Quarterly Results (unaudited).

Total TeVEeNUES . . . oo vt
Interest eXpense . ... ...oov i e
Provision for consumer loan losses . .. ..............

NELTEVENUES . ..ottt ettt e eeens
Total non-interest eXpenses . . ............c...oou...

Income from continuing operations before losses from
unconsolidated investees, income taxes and dividends
on preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption . . .. ..ovui i

Losses from unconsolidated investees ..............

Provision for income taxes . ......................

Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption ............ ... il

Income from continuing operations . ...............
Discontinued operations(2):

Gain/(loss) from discontinued operations . ...........
Income tax (provision)/benefit ....................

Basic earnings per share(4):

Income from continuing operations ................
(Loss)/gain on discontinued operations .............
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net(3) ........

BasicEPS ... ... ..
Diluted earnings per share(4):
Income from continuing operations ................

(Loss)/gain on discontinued operations .............
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net(3) ........

Diluted EPS . .. ... ...

Dividends to common shareholders ................
Bookvalue ......... .. .. .. .

MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

2005 Fiscal Quarter(1) 2004 Fiscal Quarter(1)
First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth
(dollars in millions, except per share data)
$11,598 $11,801 $13,157 $15,525 $9,434 $9,758 $9,788 $10,361
4,625 5,561 5,986 8,253 2,934 2,910 4,150 4,713
135 209 224 310 262 200 240 224
6,838 6,031 6,947 6,962 6,238 6,648 5,398 5,424
4,743 4,637 5,205 4,832 4,310 4,721 4,125 3,734
2,095 1,394 1,742 2,130 1,928 1,927 1,273 1,690
73 67 105 66 93 81 77 77
673 396 471 318 557 548 339 412
— — — — 45 _ — —
1,349 931 1,166 1,746 1,233 1,298 857 1,201
7 %) (1,700) 1,212 (12) (125) (33) 2)
3) 2 678 (493) 5 50 13 1
4 3)  (1,022) 719 ) (75) (20) )]
49 — — — — — — —
$ 1,402 $ 928 $ 144 $ 2465 $1,226 $1,223 $ 837 $ 1,200
$ 126 $ 088 $ 1.12 $ 169 $1.15 $ 120 $08 $ 1.11
—_ —_ (0.98) 0.70 (0.01) (0.07) (0.02) —_
0.05 — — — — — — —
$ 131 $ 088 $ 014 $ 239 $1.14 $1.13 $078 $ 1.11
$ 124 $ 08 $ 1.09 $ 164 $1.12 $1.17 $078 $ 1.09
—_ —_ (0.96) 0.68 (0.01) (0.07) (0.02) —_
0.05 — — — — — — —
$ 129 $ 08 $ 013 $ 232 $ 111 $ 110 $076 $ 1.09
$ 027 $ 027 $ 027 $ 027 $025 $025 $025 $ 025
$ 2583 $26.07 $26.07 $27.59 $23.75 $24.59 $25.00 $ 2595

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to previously reported quarterly amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.
(2) See Note 18 for a discussion of discontinued operations.
(3) See Note 2 for a discussion of the cumulative effect of accounting change, net.
(4) Summation of the quarters’ earnings per common share may not equal the annual amounts due to the averaging effect of the number of

shares and share equivalents throughout the year.
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Item9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term
is defined under Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the
period covered by this annual report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Morgan Stanley’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

e Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of Morgan Stanley;

e Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts
and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of Morgan Stanley’s
management and directors; and

e Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Morgan Stanley’s internal control over financial reporting as of
November 30, 2005. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.
Based on management’s assessment and those criteria, management believes that Morgan Stanley maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2005.

Morgan Stanley’s independent registered public accounting firm has audited and issued their report on
management’s assessment of Morgan Stanley’s internal control over financial reporting, which appears below.

167 Morgan Stanley



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Morgan Stanley:

We have audited management’s assessment, included within this November 30, 2005 Form 10-K of Morgan
Stanley and subsidiaries (the “Company”) at Item 9A under the heading “Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting,” that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of November 30, 2005, based on criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework”
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of November 30, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in
“Internal Control—Integrated Framework™ issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2005, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control—
Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated statement of financial condition as of November 30, 2005 and the related
consolidated statement of income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the
year ended November 30, 2005 of the Company and our report dated February 8, 2006 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption
in 2005 of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” and the change in
classification of repurchase transactions in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
February 8, 2006
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in Morgan Stanley’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f)) occurred during the fiscal quarter ended November 30, 2005 that materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, Morgan Stanley’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

Information relating to Morgan Stanley’s directors and nominees under the following captions in Morgan
Stanley’s definitive proxy statement for its annual stockholders meeting to be held on April 4, 2006 (to be filed
within 120 days after November 30, 2005) (“Morgan Stanley’s Proxy Statement”) is incorporated by reference
herein.

¢ “Item 1—Election of directors”

e “Item 1—Election of directors—Board meetings and committees”

Information relating to Morgan Stanley’s executive officers is contained in Part I, Item 1 of this report under the
following caption.

» “Executive Officers of Morgan Stanley”

Morgan Stanley’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct applies to all directors, officers and employees,
including our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and our Controller and Principal Accounting
Officer. You can find our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct on our internet site, www.morganstanley.com.
We will post any amendments to the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, and any waivers that are required to
be disclosed by the rules of either the SEC or the NYSE, on our internet site.

Because our common stock is listed on the NYSE and the Pacific Exchange, our Chief Executive Officer is
required to make, and he has made, an annual certification to each of the NYSE and the Pacific Exchange stating
that he was not aware of any violation by Morgan Stanley of the corporate governance listing standards of the
applicable exchange. Our previous Chief Executive Officer made his annual certification to that effect to the
NYSE and the Pacific Exchange as of April 13, 2005. In addition, Morgan Stanley has filed, as exhibits to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, the certifications of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to be filed with the SEC regarding the quality of
Morgan Stanley’s public disclosure.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information relating to director and executive officer compensation under the following captions in Morgan
Stanley’s Proxy Statement is incorporated by reference herein.

e “Item 1—Election of directors—Director compensation”

¢ “Executive compensation”
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters.

Equity Compensation Plan Information.

The following table provides information about stock options outstanding and shares available for future awards
under all of Morgan Stanley’s equity compensation plans as of November 30, 2005. Morgan Stanley has not
made any grants outside of its equity compensation plans.

(a) (b) ©
Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to be issued future issuance under
upon exercise of Weighted-average exercise equity compensation
outstanding options, warrants price of outstanding options,  plans (excluding securities
Plan Category and rights® warrants and rights®) reflected in column (a))®

Equity compensation plans

approved by security

holders ................ 125,832,092® $51.0060® 153,999,093®
Equity compensation plans

not approved by security

holders ................ — — 13,324,111®
Total ......... ..., 125,832,092® $51.0060 167,323,204

(1) This column contains information regarding employee and non-employee director stock options only; there are no warrants or stock
appreciation rights outstanding.
(2) Includes stock options to purchase 189,180 shares of common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $17.6273 that were assumed

as a result of the merger of Dean Witter, Discover & Co. and Morgan Stanley Group Inc. effected on May 31, 1997.

(3) This column does not (a) include 13,127,868 shares available under Morgan Stanley’s 401(k) retirement plan or (b) take into account

31,928,225 shares issued with respect to fiscal 2005 year-end equity awards, which were granted to employees in December 2005.

(4) Includes the following:

* 68,907,418 shares available under the 1995 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, Morgan Stanley’s principal plan for making equity
awards to employees. Awards under this plan may consist of stock awards, stock units that are settled by the delivery of shares of
common stock, stock options, stock appreciation rights and other forms of equity-based or equity-related awards approved by the
Compensation, Management Development & Succession Committee of Morgan Stanley’s Board of Directors. To date, awards under
this plan have consisted principally of stock units and stock options.

e 44,643,786 shares available under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Pursuant to this plan, which is qualified under Section 423 of
the Internal Revenue Code, eligible employees may purchase shares of common stock at a discount to market price through regular
payroll deduction.

e 33,479,839 shares available under the Employees’ Equity Accumulation Plan. Awards under this plan may consist of stock options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units to be settled by the delivery of shares of common stock (or the value
thereof), other awards that are valued by reference to or otherwise based on the fair market value of common stock, and other equity-
based or equity-related awards approved by the Compensation, Management Development & Succession Committee.

* 6,293,377 shares available under the Tax Deferred Equity Participation Plan. Awards under this plan consist of restricted stock units
which are settled by the delivery of shares of common stock. Morgan Stanley currently does not grant awards under this plan.

* 674,673 shares available under the Directors’ Equity Capital Accumulation Plan. This plan provides for periodic awards of shares of
common stock to non-employee directors and also provides non-employee directors the ability to defer the fees they earn from
services as a director in the form of stock units. See “Director Compensation” in Part III, Item 11.

(5) 209,249 shares available under the Branch Manager Compensation Plan and 13,114,862 shares available under the Financial Advisor

Productivity Compensation Plan. Morgan Stanley currently does not grant awards under these plans. The material features of these plans

are described below as required by SEC rules.

The material features of certain of Morgan Stanley’s equity compensation plans that have not been approved by
security holders under SEC rules are described below. These descriptions do not purport to be complete and are
qualified in their entirety by reference to the plan documents. All plans through which awards may currently be
granted are included as exhibits to this report.

Branch Manager Compensation Plan. Branch managers of MSDWTI are eligible to receive awards under this
plan, which provides for “challenge bonuses” based on the branch manager’s achievement of challenge goals.
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80% of a branch manager’s challenge bonus is paid in cash and the remaining 20% is paid in the form of a
restricted stock award that generally vests approximately four years after the grant. Branch managers may also
receive restricted stock awards upon satisfaction of other criteria.

Financial Advisor Productivity Compensation Plan. Representatives whose production exceeds gross revenue
or other criteria for a fiscal year are eligible to receive awards under this plan. Awards are expressed as a
percentage of gross revenue production for the relevant fiscal year and are paid in restricted stock that generally
vests approximately four and a half years after the grant. Representatives may also receive restricted stock
awards upon satisfaction of other criteria.

kock ook

Other information relating to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is set forth under
the caption “Beneficial ownership of Company common stock” in Morgan Stanley’s Proxy Statement and such
information is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions under the following caption in Morgan
Stanley’s Proxy Statement is incorporated by reference herein.

e “Other Matters—Certain transactions”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information regarding principal accountant fees and services under the following caption in Morgan Stanley’s
Proxy Statement is incorporated by reference herein.

e “Item 2—Ratification of appointment of Morgan Stanley’s independent auditors” (excluding the
information under the subheading “Audit Committee report”)
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Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Documents filed as part of this report.
* The financial statements required to be filed hereunder are listed on page S-1.
» The financial statement schedules required to be filed hereunder are listed on page S-1.

* An exhibit index has been filed as part of this report beginning on page E-1 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 13,
2006.

MORGAN STANLEY
(REGISTRANT)

By:_/s/ JOHNJ. MACK

(John J. Mack)
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Power of Attorney

We, the undersigned directors and executive officers of Morgan Stanley, hereby severally constitute Gary G.
Lynch, David H. Sidwell and Ronald T. Carman, and each of them singly, our true and lawful attorneys with full
power to them and each of them to sign for us, and in our names in the capacities indicated below, any and all
amendments to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby
ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorneys to any and all amendments to
said Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 13th day of February, 2006.

Signature Title
/s/ _JOHN J. MACK Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(John J. Mack) (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ _DAvVID H. SIDWELL Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(David H. Sidwell) (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ _PauL C. WIRTH Controller and Principal Accounting Officer
(Paul C. Wirth) (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ ROy J. BOSTOCK Director

(Roy J. Bostock)

/s/ ERSKINE B. BOWLES Director
(Erskine B. Bowles)

/s/ __SIR HOWARD J. DAVIES Director
(Sir Howard J. Davies)

/s/ C. ROBERT KIDDER Director
(C. Robert Kidder)
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Signature

/s/  CHARLES H. NOsK1

(Charles H. Noski)

/s/ O. GRIFFITH SEXTON

(O. Griffith Sexton)

/s/ LAURA D’ANDREA TYSON

(Laura D’ Andrea Tyson)

/s/  KLAUS ZUMWINKEL

(Klaus Zumwinkel)
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SCHEDULE I

MORGAN STANLEY
(Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Financial Condition
(dollars in millions, except share data)

November 30, November 30,

2005 2004
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ............. ... .. $ 13,779 $ 20,996
Financial instruments owned . . ....... ... . 13,399 15,559
Securities purchased under agreement to resell with affiliate . .. ............. 24,298 10,001
Advances to subSIdiaries . . .. ...ttt 113,835 114,675
Investment in subsidiaries, at equity ... ........ ...t 29,499 30,971
Other @SSELS .« . . e e e e e 7,608 6,408
Total ASSELS . . vttt e $202,418 $198,610
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings ...................... $ 17,630 $ 28,809
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased ........................... 9,706 10,542
Payables to subsidiaries . . .. ... e 32,903 33,683
Other liabilities and accrued eXpenses .. ..........uoevrvrenennenenenen.. 7,992 5,729
Long-term DOITOWINGS . . ..ottt e e e e 105,005 91,641

173,236 170,404

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value;
Shares authorized: 3,500,000,000 in 2005 and 2004;
Shares issued: 1,211,701,522 in 2005 and 2004;

Shares outstanding: 1,057,677,994 in 2005 and 1,087,087,116 in 2004 ... 12 12

Paid-in capital ... ... ... 2,389 2,088

Retained €arnings ... ... .. ..ottt 35,185 31,426

Employee stock trust . ... ... 3,060 3,824

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ......... ... .. .. .. . L (190) (56)
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, $0.01 par value; 154,023,558 shares in

2005 and 124,614,436 shares in 2004 . . ......... . ... . .. ... (8,214) (6,614)

Common stock issued to employee trust .. .. ...t (3,060) (2,474)

Total shareholders” equity .. ........cvuiriiin .. 29,182 28,206

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ............ ... .. .. .. .. .. .. ... .... $202,418 $198,610

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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SCHEDULE I

MORGAN STANLEY
(Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(dollars in millions)

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003

Revenues:
Interest and dividends . . . ... . . ... .. $3,698 $1,827 $1,929
Principal transactions . ......... ... 159 49 50
Other . .. 6 2) 1
Total TEVENUES . . . o oottt e e 3,863 1,874 1,980
Expenses:
INEETESt EXPENSE . . v vt ettt et e e 3,126 1,978 2,214
NON-INLETESE EXPENSES . v ot vt et ettt et e et e e e e et e e 106 124 90
Total EXPENSES . . v v vttt e e 3,232 2,102 2,304
Income (loss) before income tax (provision) benefit and equity in earnings of
SUDSIAIATIES . . . oottt et e e e 631 (228)  (324)
Income tax (provision) benefit .. ...... .. .. .. . (143) 54 92
Income (loss) before equity in earnings of subsidiaries .. ....................... 488 (174)  (232)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries, net of tax (including a cumulative effect of
accounting change of $49 in fiscal 2005) ........... ... ... 4,451 4,660 4,019
NELINCOME . . ..ottt et et e e e e e $4,939 $4,486 $3,787
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment . ................... ... ......... (89) 76 78
Net change in cash flow hedges . ............ ... .. .. .. .. ... .. . ... (70) 26 26
Minimum pension liability adjustment ................ ... .. .. ... ....... 25 2) )
Comprehensive iNCOME .. ...ttt $4,805 $4,586 $3,882

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
(Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in millions)

SCHEDULE I

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
NELINCOME . . .ottt et et e e e e e i $ 4939 $§ 4486 $ 3,787
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change of subsidiaries ............... (49) — —
Compensation payable in common stock and stock options ............ 836 663 309
Equity in subsidiaries’ earnings, net of dividends .................... 1,269 (1,327) (1,656)
Change in assets and liabilities:
Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased ... ... ... 554 (570) (2,665)
Other aSSetS . . oottt (4,123) (2,734) 3,056
Other liabilities and accrued eXpenses . .. .........oueirerenenenn .. 1,255 5,831 (221)
Net cash provided by operating activities .......................... 4,681 6,349 2,610
Cash flows from investing activities:
Advances to and investments in subsidiaries .. .............. ... ..... 1,044  (16,034) 7,224
Securities purchased under agreement to resell with affiliate ........... (14,297)  (10,001) —
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities .............. (13,253) (26,035) 7,224
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from (payments for) short-term borrowings ............. (11,179) 7,622 (17,100)
Tax benefits associated with stock based awards .................... 355 — —
Net proceeds from:
Issuance of common stock . ......... ... . ... ... ... ... 327 322 222
Issuance of long-term borrowings . ................ouiiiinenaon... 31,304 32,000 21,058
Payments for:
Repurchases of common stock .. ........ ... .. ... .. ... ... (3,693) (1,132) (350)
Repayments of long-term borrowings ............................. (14,579) (11,129) (13,164)
Cashdividends . .......... i e (1,180)  (1,096) (994)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities .............. 1,355 26,587  (10,328)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ..................... (7,217) 6,901 (494)
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period ....................... 20,996 14,095 14,589
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period ............................ $ 13,779 $ 20,996 $ 14,095

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.

Morgan Stanley 4



MORGAN STANLEY
(Parent Company Only)

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation.

Basis of Financial Information. The accompanying condensed financial statements (the “Parent Company
Financial Statements”), including the notes thereto, should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements of Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) and the notes thereto found on pages 107 to 166 in this
Form 10-K.

The Parent Company Financial Statements for the 12 months ended November 30, 2005 (“fiscal
2005), November 30, 2004 (“fiscal 2004”) and November 30, 2003 (“fiscal 2003”") are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make estimates and
assumptions regarding valuations of certain financial instruments, the potential outcome of litigation and other
matters that affect the Parent Company Financial Statements and related disclosures. The Company believes that
the estimates utilized in the preparation of the Parent Company Financial Statements are prudent and reasonable.
Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current presentation.

2. Transactions with Subsidiaries.

The Company has transactions with its consolidated subsidiaries determined on an agreed-upon basis and has
guaranteed certain unsecured lines of credit and contractual obligations of certain of its consolidated subsidiaries.

The Company received cash dividends from its consolidated subsidiaries totaling $5,720 million, $3,333 million
and $2,363 million in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively.

3. Guarantees.

In the normal course of its business, the Company guarantees certain of its subsidiaries’ obligations under
derivative and other financial arrangements. The Company records all derivative contracts and Financial
instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased at fair value on its consolidated statements
of financial condition. For a discussion of the Company’s risk management activities, see Note 11 to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company also, in the normal course of its business, provides standard indemnities to counterparties on
behalf of its subsidiaries for taxes, including U.S. and foreign withholding taxes, on interest and other payments
made on derivatives, securities and stock lending transactions and certain annuity products. These indemnity
payments could be required based on a change in the tax laws or change in interpretation of applicable tax
rulings. Certain contracts contain provisions that enable the Company to terminate the agreement upon the
occurrence of such events. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make under these indemnifications cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any
contingent liability in the condensed financial statements for these indemnifications and believes that the
occurrence of any events that would trigger payments under these contracts is remote.

The Company has issued guarantees on behalf of its subsidiaries to various U.S. and non-U.S. exchanges and
clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or futures contracts. Under these guarantee arrangements, the
Company may be required to pay the financial obligations of its subsidiaries related to business transacted on or
with the exchanges and clearinghouses in the event of a subsidiary’s default on its obligations to the exchange or
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the clearinghouse. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the condensed financial statements
for these arrangements and believes that any potential requirements to make payments under these arrangements
is remote.

The Company guarantees certain debt instruments issued by subsidiaries which totaled $15.2 billion at
November 30, 2005. In addition, the Company has provided guarantees for Morgan Stanley & Co. International
Limited’s and Morgan Stanley Japan Limited’s obligations under committed credit facilities of $500 million and
70 billion Japanese yen, respectively. In connection with subsidiary lease obligations, the Company has issued
guarantees to various lessors.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Morgan Stanley:

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
November 30, 2005 and 2004, and for each of the three years in the period ended November 30, 2005,
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
November 30, 2005, and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
November 30, 2005, and have issued our reports thereon dated February 8, 2006 (such report on the consolidated
financial statements expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph concerning the
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” and the change in
classification of repurchase transactions in the consolidated statements of cash flows); such consolidated
financial statements and reports are included in this 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our audits also included
Schedule I listed in the Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules. This financial
statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion based on our audits. In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein.

In 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment.”

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
February 8, 2006
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Exhibit Index

Certain of the following exhibits, as indicated parenthetically, were previously filed as exhibits to registration
statements filed by Morgan Stanley or its predecessor companies under the Securities Act or to reports or
registration statements filed by Morgan Stanley or its predecessor companies under the Exchange Act,
respectively, and are hereby incorporated by reference to such statements or reports. Morgan Stanley’s Exchange
Act file number is 1-11758. The Exchange Act file number of Morgan Stanley Group Inc., a predecessor
company (“MSG”), was 1-9085.1

Exhibit

No.

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

ey

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Morgan Stanley, as amended to date (Exhibit
3.1 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2005).

By-Laws of Morgan Stanley, as amended to date (Exhibit 3 to Morgan Stanley’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated September 19, 2005).

Indenture dated as of February 24, 1993 between Morgan Stanley and JPMorgan Trust Company, as
trustee (Exhibit 4 to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 33-57202)).

Amended and Restated Senior Indenture dated as of May 1, 1999 between Morgan Stanley and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as trustee (Exhibit 4-e to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement on
Form S-3/A (No. 333-75289)) as supplemented by First Supplemental Senior Indenture dated as of
September 15, 2000 between Morgan Stanley and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as trustee (Exhibit 4-f
to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement on Form S-3/A (No. 333-47576)) and Third
Supplemental Senior Indenture dated as of August 29, 2003 between Morgan Stanley and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as trustee (Exhibit 4 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended May 31, 2004).

Senior Indenture dated as of November 1, 2004 between Morgan Stanley and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as trustee (Exhibit 4-f to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement on Form S-3/A
(No. 333-117752)).

Amended and Restated Subordinated Indenture dated as of May 1, 1999 between Morgan Stanley and
J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (Exhibit 4-f to Morgan Stanley’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3/A (No. 333-75289)).

Subordinated Indenture dated as of October 1, 2004 between Morgan Stanley and J.P. Morgan Trust
Company, National Association, as trustee (Exhibit 4-g to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement
on Form S-3/A (No. 333-117752)).

Junior Subordinated Indenture dated as of March 1, 1998 between Morgan Stanley and The Bank of
New York, as trustee (Exhibit 4.1 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended February 28, 1998).

Junior Subordinated Indenture dated as of October 1, 2004 between Morgan Stanley and The Bank of
New York as trustee (Exhibit 4-ww to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement on Form S-3/A
(No. 333-117752)).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of Morgan Stanley Capital Trust II dated as of July 19, 2001
among Morgan Stanley, as depositor, The Bank of New York, as property trustee, The Bank of New
York (Delaware), as Delaware trustee and the administrators named therein (Exhibit 10.4 to Morgan
Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2001).

For purposes of this Exhibit Index, references to “JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.” mean the entity formerly
known as The Chase Manhattan Bank, in some instances as the successor to Chemical Bank; references to
“J.P. Morgan Trust Company, N.A.” mean the entity formerly known as Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as
successor to The First National Bank of Chicago; and references to “Discover Bank” mean the entity
formerly known as Greenwood Trust Company.
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Exhibit
No.

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4%

Description

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of Morgan Stanley Capital Trust III dated as of February 27,
2003 among Morgan Stanley, as depositor, The Bank of New York, as property trustee, The Bank of
New York (Delaware), as Delaware trustee, and the administrators named therein (Exhibit 4 to
Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2003).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of Morgan Stanley Capital Trust IV dated as of April 21,
2003 among Morgan Stanley, as depositor, The Bank of New York, as property trustee, The Bank of
New York (Delaware), as Delaware Trustee and the administrators named therein (Exhibit 4 to
Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2003).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of Morgan Stanley Capital Trust V dated as of July 16, 2003
among Morgan Stanley, as depositor, The Bank of New York, as property trustee, The Bank of New
York (Delaware), as Delaware trustee and the administrators named therein (Exhibit 4 to Morgan
Stanley’s Quarterly Report a Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2003).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement of Morgan Stanley Capital Trust VI dated as of January 26,
2006 among Morgan Stanley, as depositor, The Bank of New York, as property trustee, The Bank of
New York (Delaware), as Delaware trustee and the administrators named therein (Form of Trust
Agreement filed as Exhibit 4-vv to Registration Statement on Form S-3 No. 333-11752).

Instruments defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures—Except as set forth in
Exhibits 4.1 through 4.12 above, the instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt
securities of Morgan Stanley and its subsidiaries are omitted pursuant to Section (b)(4)(iii) of Item
601 of Regulation S-K. Morgan Stanley hereby agrees to furnish copies of these instruments to the
SEC upon request.

Amended and Restated Pooling and Servicing Agreement dated as of November 3, 2004 between
Discover Bank, as master servicer, servicer and seller, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(Exhibit 4.2 to the Discover Card Master Trust I Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 29, 2004
(Exchange Act file number 0-23108)) as amended by Amendment dated as of January 4, 2006
between Discover Bank, as master servicer, servicer and seller, and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee (Exhibit 4.1 to the Discover Card Master Trust Current Report on Form 8-K dated
January 4, 20006).

Series Supplement with respect to Discover Card Master Trust I Series 2004-2 dated as of December
2, 2004 between Discover Bank, as master servicer, servicer and seller, and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee (Exhibit 4.2 to the Discover Card Master Trust I Current Report on Form 8-K
dated December 2, 2004 (Exchange Act file number 0-23108)).

Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated as of November 30, 2000 between Morgan Stanley
and State Street Bank and Trust Company (Exhibit T to Amendment No. 5 to the Schedule 13D dated
as of November 30, 2000 filed by certain senior officers of Morgan Stanley) as amended by
Amendment No. 1 dated as of November 30, 2000 between Morgan Stanley and State Street Bank
and Trust Company, effective January 1, 2002 (Exhibit 10.10 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2001), Amendment No. 2 dated as of November
30, 2000 between Morgan Stanley and State Street Bank and Trust Company, effective January 1,
2003 (Exhibit 10.12 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2002) and Amendment No. 3 dated as of November 30, 2000 between Morgan Stanley
and State Street Bank and Trust Company, effective September 15, 2003 (Exhibit 10.11 to Morgan
Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003).

Dean Witter Reynolds Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan (formerly known as the Dean Witter Reynolds
Financial Services Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan for Executives) (amended and restated) (Exhibit
10.32 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1993).
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Exhibit
No.

10.5F

10.6F

10.7¢

10.8¢*

10.9%

10.107

10.11¢

10.127

10.137

10.14+

10.157

10.167

10.17%

10.187

Description

Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 4.1 to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(No. 33-63024)).

Employees Replacement Stock Plan (Exhibit 4.2 to Morgan Stanley’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (No. 33-63024)) as amended by Amendment (Exhibit 10.1 to Morgan Stanley’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated November 18, 1993).

Morgan Stanley 401(k) Plan (f/k/a the Morgan Stanley DPSP/START Plan) (amended and restated
effective as of October 1, 2002) (Exhibit 10.17 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002) as amended by Amendment (Exhibit 10.18 to Morgan
Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002), Amendment
(Exhibit 10.18 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November
30, 2003), Amendment (Exhibit 10.19 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended November 30, 2003), Amendment (Exhibit 10 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2004), Amendment (Exhibit 10.16 to Morgan
Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2004), Amendment
(Exhibit 10.1 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28,
2005), Amendment (Exhibit 10.2 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended February 28, 2005) and Amendment (Exhibit 10.1 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2005).

Amendment to Morgan Stanley 401(k) Plan, dated as of November 30, 2005.

1993 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (Exhibit 4.3 to Morgan Stanley’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (No. 33-63024)) as amended by Amendment (Exhibit 10.37 to Morgan
Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993).

Transferred Executives Pension Supplement (amended and restated) (Exhibit 10 to Morgan Stanley’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1995).

1994 Omnibus Equity Plan (amended and restated) (Exhibit 10.23 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003).

Tax Deferred Equity Participation Plan (amended and restated) (Exhibit 10.3 to Morgan Stanley’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 1999) as amended by Amendment
(Exhibit 10.7 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31,
2005).

Directors’ Equity Capital Accumulation Plan (amended and restated) (Exhibit 10.22 to Morgan
Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2004).

Select Employees’ Capital Accumulation Program (Exhibit 10.2 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 29, 2004).

Employees Equity Accumulation Plan (Exhibit 10.34 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996) as amended by Amendments (Exhibit 10.6 to
Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2005).

Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended October 5, 2004 (Exhibit 10.2 to Morgan Stanley’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2004).

Form of Agreement under the Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated Owners’ and Select Earners’ Plan
(Exhibit 10.1 to MSG’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 1993).

Form of Agreement under the Officers’ and Select Earners’ Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to MSG’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 1993).
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Exhibit
No.

10.197

10.207*

10.21F

10.22%*
10.237

10.24%

10.257

10.267

10.27+

10.287

10.297

10.307

10.31¢

Description

Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated Excess Benefit Plan (Exhibit 10.31 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 1998) as amended by Amendment
(Exhibit 10.32 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November
30, 2000), Amendment (Exhibit 10.2 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended August 31, 2002), Amendment (Exhibit 10.32 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002), Amendment (Exhibit 10.34 to Morgan
Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2003), and
Amendment (Exhibit 10.33 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended November 30, 2004).

Amendment to Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated Excess Benefit Plan, dated as of November 30,
2005.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (Exhibit 10.32 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 1998) as amended by Amendment (Exhibit 10.37 to
Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 1999),
Amendment (Exhibit 10.35 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended November 30, 2000), Amendment (Exhibit 10.3 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2002), Amendment (Exhibit 10.37 to Morgan Stanley’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002) and Amendment (Exhibit
10.40 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30,
2003).

Amendment to Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, dated as of November 30, 2005.

1988 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended (Exhibit 10.12 to MSG’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year ended January 31, 1993).

1995 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (Annex A to MSG’s Proxy Statement for its 1996 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders) as amended by Amendment (Exhibit 10.39 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2000) and Amendment (Exhibit 10.5 to
Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2005).

Form of 1995 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan Award Certificate (Exhibit 10.1 to Morgan
Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2004).

Form of Equity Incentive Compensation Plan Award Certificate (Exhibit 10.10 to Morgan Stanley’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2005).

1988 Capital Accumulation Plan, as amended (Exhibit 10.13 to MSG’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended January 31, 1993).

Form of Deferred Compensation Agreement under the Pre-Tax Incentive Program (Exhibit 10.12 to
MSG’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 1994).

Form of Deferred Compensation Agreement under the Pre-Tax Incentive Program 2 (Exhibit 10.12 to
MSG’s Annual Report for the fiscal year ended November 30, 1996).

Key Employee Private Equity Recognition Plan (Exhibit 10.43 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2000).

MSDWI Branch Manager Compensation Plan, as amended December 11, 2001 (Exhibit 10.46 to
Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002) as
amended by Amendment (Exhibit 10.8 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended August 31, 2005).
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Exhibit
No.

10.32¢

10.337

10.347

10.357

10.367

10.37

11

12%

18%*
21%
23.1%
23.2%
23.3*
23.4%
24
31.1%
31.2%
32.1%
32.2%

Description

MSDWI Financial Advisor Productivity Compensation Plan, as amended December 11, 2001
(Exhibit 10.47 to Morgan Stanley’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2002) as amended by Amendment (Exhibit 10.9 to Morgan Stanley’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 31, 2005).

Settlement and Release Agreement dated June 30, 2005 between Morgan Stanley and Mr. Philip
J. Purcell (Exhibit 10.1 to Morgan Stanley’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 2005).

Agreement dated June 30, 2005 between Morgan Stanley and Mr. Stephen S. Crawford (Exhibit 10.2
to Morgan Stanley’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 2005).

Agreement dated June 30, 2005 between Morgan Stanley and Mr. David H. Sidwell (Exhibit 10.3 to
Morgan Stanley’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 2005) as amended by Agreement dated
December 20, 2005 between Morgan Stanley and Mr. David H. Sidwell (Exhibit 10 to Morgan
Stanley’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 20, 2005).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of September 20, 2005 between Morgan
Stanley and Mr. John J. Mack (Exhibit 10 to Morgan Stanley’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
September 19, 2005) as amended by Amendment dated December 13, 2005 (Exhibit 10.1 to Morgan
Stanley’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 12, 2005).

Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement (Exhibit 10 to Morgan Stanley’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated November 22, 2005).

Statement Re: Computation of Earnings Per Common Share (The calculation of per share earnings is
in Part II, Item 8, Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Earnings per Share) and is
omitted in accordance with Section (b)(11) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

Statement Re: Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Computation of Earnings to
Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.

Letter Re: Change in Accounting Principles.
Subsidiaries of Morgan Stanley.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Consent of BK Associates, Inc.

Consent of Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc.

Consent of Airclaims Limited.

Powers of Attorney (included on signature page).

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

*  Filed herewith.
T Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K
pursuant to Item 15(b).
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